
 
 
________________________________________________________________________________   

Microsoft Teams meeting  

Join on your computer, mobile app or room device  

Click here to join the meeting  

Meeting ID: 226 113 017 543  

Passcode: YqdhdJ  

Download Teams | Join on the web 

Learn More | Meeting options  

________________________________________________________________________________  
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

ELIZABETH FIRE PROTECTION DISTRICT 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETING 

AGENDA 
April 11th, 2023, at 6:00 pm 

1. Call to Order 

2. Roll Call 

3. Pledge of Allegiance 

4. Public Comment (3 minutes per person) 

5. Additions/Deletions to Agenda 

6. Approval of Minutes 

7. Financial Matters 

• Ratify the bills 

o Discussion and possible approval 

8. Staff Report 

9. Legal Report 

10. Old Business 

• Discussion and Possible Approval of Resolution #23-04-03: Resolution of the 
Corporate Authority Relating to a Retirement Healthcare Funding Plan 

• Signature for 115 Trust Agreement Retiree Healthcare Funding Plan 

• Signature for Administrative Services Agreement 

11. New Business 

• Discussion and Possible Approval of Resolution #23-04-04: A Resolution 
Adopting the Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 2023 Update as the 
Elizabeth Fire Protection District’s Multi-Hazard Mitigation Plan 

12. Adjournment 

https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-join/19%3ameeting_OWVjM2I4YzEtMzY2NC00MWUzLWE5YTAtMGFjMjhmYzI4ZDdk%40thread.v2/0?context=%7b%22Tid%22%3a%2283c70a80-5bf9-4478-8615-5cdde7020a88%22%2c%22Oid%22%3a%22131273ff-dae4-4865-bf6a-3f6c41d47e81%22%7d
https://www.microsoft.com/en-us/microsoft-teams/download-app
https://www.microsoft.com/microsoft-teams/join-a-meeting
https://aka.ms/JoinTeamsMeeting
https://teams.microsoft.com/meetingOptions/?organizerId=131273ff-dae4-4865-bf6a-3f6c41d47e81&tenantId=83c70a80-5bf9-4478-8615-5cdde7020a88&threadId=19_meeting_OWVjM2I4YzEtMzY2NC00MWUzLWE5YTAtMGFjMjhmYzI4ZDdk@thread.v2&messageId=0&language=en-US


RECORD OF PROCEEDINGS 

 
 

MARCH 14, 2023 

EFPD MEETING MINUTES 
  

 PAGE 1  
3802354.1 

 MINUTES OF THE REGULAR MEETING OF  
THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE  
ELIZABETH FIRE PROTECTION DISTRICT   
                                
 

 Held:   Tuesday, March 14, 2023, 6:00 p.m.  
 

Attendance The regular meeting of the Board of Directors of the Elizabeth 
Fire Protection District ("District") was called and held in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Colorado.  
 
The following Directors were in attendance: 
 
Rick Young, Board President 
Scott Christensen, Board Vice President 
Wayne Austgen, Board Secretary 
Don Means, Board Treasurer 
Stacey Collis, Board Director (via Zoom) 
 
Also present were: 
  
T.J. Steck, Fire Chief 
Kara Gerczynski, Division Chief Fire Prevention and 

Administration  
Sarah Fischer, Director of Finance and HR 
Taylor Clark, HR Generalist – Executive Assistant 
Michelle Ferguson, District Legal Counsel 
 
George Berry, Citizen (via Zoom) 
 
 

Call to Order Director Young called to order the regular meeting of the Board of 
Directors of the Elizabeth Fire Protection District at 6:00 p.m.  
 
 

Pledge of Allegiance 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Director Young led the Pledge of Allegiance.  



RECORD OF PROCEEDINGS 

 
 

MARCH 14, 2023 

EFPD MEETING MINUTES 
  

 PAGE 2  
3802354.1 

 

Public Comment 
 
 

 

Director Young opened the meeting for public comment. 
There was no public comment.  
 
 

Addition/Deletions to Agenda Director Young asked if there were any changes to the Agenda. 
There were no changes to the Agenda. 
 
 

Approval of Minutes The Board reviewed the draft minutes from the February 14, 
2023, regular Board meeting.  
 
Director Young called for a motion to approve the February 14, 
2023, minutes as presented. Director Christensen seconded the 
motion. All in favor. 

 
 
Financial Matters 

 

• Ratify the bills 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Staff Report 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Director Young stated that the Board has been provided with the 
financials and asked if there were any questions.   
 
Discussion followed. 
 
Director Young called for a motion to ratify the payment of the bills. 
Director Austgen made the motion.  Director Means seconded the 
motion.  All in favor. 
 
 
Chief Steck presented an overview of the staff report.  
 
Chief Steck stated that the kitchen remodel at Station 271 was 
coming along nicely. He stated that Lieutenant Reeder had ordered 
extra flooring to redo the kitchen flooring at the administrative 
office as well. He commended Lieutenant Reeder on his excellent 
work on the remodel. 
 
Chief Steck stated that he had found a contractor for Station 272 
who would be able to move the hydrant to a usable location. He 
stated that the cistern would also be refilled. 
 



RECORD OF PROCEEDINGS 

 
 

MARCH 14, 2023 

EFPD MEETING MINUTES 
  

 PAGE 3  
3802354.1 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Legal Report 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Chief Steck stated that staff was planning on decommissioning the 
department’s Zoom account. He stated that Board meetings would 
still be accessible virtually via a Microsoft Teams link. He stated 
that staff would work on updating the link accordingly and 
providing it to both the Board and the public. 
 
Chief Steck stated that, earlier that day, he had received a gift from 
a developer he had been working with. The gift was a bottle of 
bourbon valued at $65.00. He stated that, per the District’s 
Members Handbook, any gift exceeding the value of $53.00 was 
required to be reported to the Fire Chief. He stated that, as the Fire 
Chief, he had reported the gift to Legal Counsel and was now 
informing the Board. Attorney Ferguson stated that the $53.00 
limit was instituted per state statute. Chief Steck stated that he 
would be regifting the gift, but that he wanted to disclose that the 
gift had been received to the Board. The Board confirmed that 
appropriate procedure would be to inform them of similar gifts in 
the future. 
 
Chief Steck stated that calls for the District had decreased by a 
significant amount through the month of February. 
 
Chief Steck provided an update on the new staff vehicles. 
 
Discussion followed. 
 
Director Young asked if there were any questions. There were no 
questions.  
 
 
Director Young stated that the next order of business was the legal 
report.  
 
Attorney Ferguson stated that the legal report included the most 
recent legislative tracker updates. She stated that one of the bills 
affecting property taxes had not passed, though we had anticipated 
that the bill would not impact the District in light of the revenue 
stabilization measure passed by the District’s citizens. She stated 
that Bill #HB23-1023 had passed; HB23-1023 increases the 
threshold amount that triggers the requirement to post public 
notice for bids from $60,000 to $120,000 to keep up with inflation. 
 



RECORD OF PROCEEDINGS 

 
 

MARCH 14, 2023 

EFPD MEETING MINUTES 
  

 PAGE 4  
3802354.1 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Old Business 

• Ratification of Signed IGA 
Establishing the Public 
Sector Health Care Group 
Authority 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

• Discussion and Possible 
Approval of Section 115 
Employee Contribution 
Rates 

 
 
 
 
 

Attorney Ferguson stated that she would like to request the Board 
to allow her to attend the Board meetings virtually part of the time. 
She stated that she intends to participate in-person at least once a 
quarter and on an as-needed basis beyond that. The Board stated 
that they would be happy to accommodate her request, and that 
she was welcome to attend the meetings virtually. 
 
Discussion followed. 
 
Director Young asked if there were any questions. There were no 
questions. 
 
 
 
Director Young stated that the next order of business was the 
Ratification of Signed IGA Establishing the Public Sector Health 
Care Group Authority. 
 
Chief Steck stated that the Public Sector Health Care Group 
Authority had been formed, and that all five founding agencies had 
signed at the discretion of their respective boards. He stated that 
he had a follow-up document for the Board to sign designating 
Chief Steck as the representative to the Authority’s executive 
committee. 
 
Director Young called for a motion to ratify the decision for the 
District to participate as part of the Public Sector Health Care 
Group Authority. Director Christensen made the motion. Director 
Austgen seconded the motion. All in favor. 
 
Director Young called for a motion to designate Chief Steck as the 
District’s representative for the Authority’s executive board. 
Director Christensen made the motion. Director Means seconded 
the motion. All in favor. 
 
Director Young stated that the next order of business was the 
Discussion and Possible Approval of Section 115 Employee 
Contribution Rates. 
 
Director of Finance and HR Fischer stated that Staff had spoken to 
all the crews and conducted a survey regarding the Section 115 
Employee Contribution Rates, and that the District had decided to 
create 3 different contribution rates groups. She stated that the 



RECORD OF PROCEEDINGS 

 
 

MARCH 14, 2023 

EFPD MEETING MINUTES 
  

 PAGE 5  
3802354.1 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
New Business 

• Notice of Cancellation of 
May 2, 2023, Election and 
Statement of Results 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

firefighter/paramedic/lieutenant group would contribute 1%, the 
administrative employee group would contribute 2%, and the 
chief staff group would contribute 2%. She stated that the chief 
staff group would also have the option, when the employee enters 
the drop with FPPA, to add the District’s 9% contribution to the 
Section 115 plan. She stated that she expected the District to make 
some changes to the rates in 2024 and that the DROP option could 
possibly be incorporated to the firefighter/paramedic/lieutenant 
group at that time. Division Chief Fire Prevention and 
Administration Gerczynski stated that several employees had 
expressed concern over higher percentages being deducted, but 
that the majority of staff had approved of the 1% contribution, and 
that the District would keep the contribution to 1% until 2024. 
 
Discussion followed. 
 
Director Young called for a motion to approve the Section 115 
Employee Contribution Rates. Director Christensen made the 
motion. Director Means seconded the motion. All in favor. 
 
Director Young stated that he would be interested in any research 
conducted on the benefit usage of the firefighters employed by the 
District. Chief Steck stated that Director of Finance and HR Fischer 
had scheduled a benefit summit later in the year that employees of 
the District could attend, along with their spouses, and ask 
questions regarding their benefits. 
 
 
 
Director Young stated that the next order of business was the 
Notice of Cancellation of May 2, 2023, Election and Statement of 
Results. 
 
HR Generalist – Executive Assistant Clark stated that, because the 
District did not receive more self-nomination and acceptance 
forms than number of vacancies to be filled on the Board of 
Directors, including affidavits of intent to be a write-in candidate, 
the District was able to cancel the May 2, 2023, election. She stated 
that Director Means, Director Christensen, and Director Austgen 
had been re-elected by acclimation to serve on the Board of 
Directors from May 2023 to May 2027. 
 



RECORD OF PROCEEDINGS 

 
 

MARCH 14, 2023 

EFPD MEETING MINUTES 
  

 PAGE 6  
3802354.1 

 
 
 
 
 

• Discussion of Potential 
Utility Easement for Town 
of Elizabeth 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

• Consideration of Vehicle 
Disposal 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Executive Session 
 

Attorney Ferguson stated that Director Means, Director 
Christensen, and Director Austgen would serve out the remainder 
of their terms until the May 2023 regular Board meeting, at which 
time they would be required to take their Oaths of Office. 
 
Director Young stated that the next order of business was the 
Discussion of Potential Utility Easement for Town of Elizabeth.  
 
Chief Steck stated that the District has been hiring a sewer 
company to clean out tree roots growing through the sewer lines 
at Station 271 approximately every six months, and that staff was 
looking for a better long-term solution. He stated that he had 
decided to speak to the Town of Elizabeth about potential solutions 
to the issue. He stated that the Town had expressed interest in 
trading easement for a water line in exchange for assistance 
relocating the sewer line to the District owned property behind 
Station 271. He stated that the water line would also benefit the 
District, as it would increase fire flow to the hydrants on the Station 
271 property. He stated that he wanted direction from the Board 
on whether or not to proceed with the initial contractual 
agreement. The Board provided direction to proceed with the 
initial contractual agreement with the Town.   
 
Director Young stated that the next order of business was the 
Consideration of Vehicle Disposal. 
 
Chief Steck stated that the District’s two white Tahoes and 
Excursion would no longer be needed with the addition of new 
command vehicles. He stated that he had buyers for both Tahoes 
offering $10,000 for each, and that he would prefer to sell the 
Excursion to a private individual, as it required a lot of 
maintenance work to make it usable. 
 
Director Young called for a motion to authorize Chief Staff to 
dispose of the three old staff vehicles addressed above. Director 
Austgen made the motion. Director Christensen seconded the 
motion. All in favor. 
 
Director Young asked if there were any questions involving New 
Business. There were no questions. 
 
 
Director Young stated that the next order of business was 



RECORD OF PROCEEDINGS 

 
 

MARCH 14, 2023 

EFPD MEETING MINUTES 
  

 PAGE 7  
3802354.1 

 

 

___________________________ Date:  April 11, 2023 

 Rick Young, Board President 

 

 

___________________________ Date:  April 11, 2023  

Wayne Austgen, Secretary   

 Executive Session pursuant to C.R.S. 24-6-402-(4)(f) to discuss 
personnel matters relating to Fire Chief succession planning and 
updates on third-party interactions with Staff. 
 
Director Young called for a motion to enter into Executive Session. 
Director Austgen made the motion. Director Christensen seconded 
the motion. All in favor. The Board entered Executive Session at 
7:00 p.m. 
 
Director Young called for a motion to come out of Executive 
Session. Director Means made the motion. Director Christensen 
seconded the motion. All in favor. The Board exited Executive 
Session at 7:28 p.m. 
 
 

Adjournment 
 
 
 
 
 
Meeting Schedule 

There being no further business to come before the Board, 
Director Means moved to adjourn, Director Christensen 
seconded, and the vote was unanimously carried. The meeting 
adjourned at 7:29 p.m. 
 
 
The next regular Board meeting is scheduled for April 11, 2023, 
at 6:00 p.m. at 155 West Kiowa Ave, Elizabeth, Colorado.  



Financial Statements for April 2023 Board Meeting 

 

 

 

  



 

 

 

 -

 500,000.00

 1,000,000.00

 1,500,000.00

 2,000,000.00

 2,500,000.00

 3,000,000.00

Expenses by Division versus Budget

Actual Budget

 -

 500,000.00

 1,000,000.00

 1,500,000.00

 2,000,000.00

 2,500,000.00

January February March

2023 Revenue Expenses vs Fund Balance

Revenue Expenses Fund Balance



Mar 31, 23

ASSETS
Current Assets

Checking/Savings
1.10100 · BOK Financial Operating 112,961.00
1.10150 · BOK Financial Payroll 25,144.27
1.10200 · Community Bank of Colorado 40,919.02
1.10300 · Wells Fargo -153.60
1.10400 · Colorado Trust General Account 311,354.34
1.10500 · CO Statewide Investment Pool 1,626,555.83
1.10600 · CSafe Fund General Account 7,291.31
1.10700 · Colorado Trust Scholarship Fund 562.39
1.10950 · Claim on Pooled Cash -15,310.00

Total Checking/Savings 2,109,324.56

Accounts Receivable
1.11600 · Accounts Receivable 8,030.50

Total Accounts Receivable 8,030.50

Other Current Assets
1.12500 · Petty Cash Fund 100.00

Total Other Current Assets 100.00

Total Current Assets 2,117,455.06

Other Assets
1.13000 · Property Tax Receivable 2,733,810.84
1.13600 · Transport Fees Receivable 172,781.92
1.13700 · Allowance for Doubtful Debt -91,224.24

Total Other Assets 2,815,368.52

TOTAL ASSETS 4,932,823.58

LIABILITIES & EQUITY
Liabilities

Current Liabilities
Accounts Payable

1.20000 · *Accounts Payable -2.10

Total Accounts Payable -2.10

Other Current Liabilities
1.20200 · Accounts Payable 29.14
1.21000 · Deferred Property Tax Revenue 2,733,810.84
1.21100 · Federal Payroll Tax -3.12
1.21200 · State Payroll Tax 720.00
1.21400 · Colorado Unemployment 800.92
1.22100 · Colonial 1,274.25
1.22200 · Colonial - Pre-Tax 950.94
1.22300 · Medical FSA 2,828.40
1.23000 · Deferred Grant Revenue 2,000.00

Total Other Current Liabilities 2,742,411.37

Total Current Liabilities 2,742,409.27

Total Liabilities 2,742,409.27

Equity
1.31100 · Unapplied Fund Balance 826,302.18
32000 · Unrestricted Net Assets 1,065,660.00
Net Income 298,452.13

Total Equity 2,190,414.31

TOTAL LIABILITIES & EQUITY 4,932,823.58

7:34 AM Elizabeth Fire Protection District
04/05/23 General Fund Balance Sheet
Accrual Basis As of March 31, 2023

Page 1



Jan - Mar 23

Income
1.40100 · General Fund Property Tax Reven 1,075,375.31
1.40200 · S.O.T. Revenue 69,182.64
1.40300 · Transport Revenue 105,064.91
1.40400 · Permit Fees 2,559.00
1.40500 · Developer Contributions 4,250.00
1.40600 · CPR Income 225.00
1.40800 · Grant Income 13,526.00
1.41000 · Sale of Capital Assets 10,000.00
1.41100 · Interest Revenue 17,360.46
1.41200 · Other Miscellaneous Income 10,679.27

Total Income 1,308,222.59

Gross Profit 1,308,222.59

Expense
1.50000 · Administration 835,798.58

1.51000 · Professional Services 51,180.13

1.52000 · Apparatus 6,589.60

1.53000 · Facilities 27,795.02

1.54000 · Equipment Maintenance and Testi 17,195.36

1.55000 · Fire Prevention/Investigations 332.88

1.56000 · Communications 17,825.64

1.57000 · Technology 21,360.18

1.58000 · Operations 31,693.07

Total Expense 1,009,770.46

Net Income 298,452.13

3:02 PM Elizabeth Fire Protection District
04/04/23 Income Statement General Fund
Accrual Basis January through March 2023

Page 1



Jan - Mar 23 Budget $ Over Budget % of Budget

Income
1.40100 · General Fund Property Tax Reven 1,075,375.31 2,733,810.84 (1,658,435.53) 39.3%
1.40200 · S.O.T. Revenue 69,182.64 475,000.00 (405,817.36) 14.6%
1.40300 · Transport Revenue 105,064.91 500,000.00 (394,935.09) 21.0%
1.40400 · Permit Fees 2,559.00 20,000.00 (17,441.00) 12.8%
1.40500 · Developer Contributions 4,250.00 43,000.00 (38,750.00) 9.9%
1.40600 · CPR Income 225.00 2,400.00 (2,175.00) 9.4%
1.40700 · CFFHC Benefit Trust 0.00 2,600.00 (2,600.00) 0.0%
1.40800 · Grant Income 13,526.00 75,000.00 (61,474.00) 18.0%
1.41000 · Sale of Capital Assets 10,000.00 5,000.00 5,000.00 200.0%
1.41100 · Interest Revenue 17,360.46 20,000.00 (2,639.54) 86.8%
1.41200 · Other Miscellaneous Income 10,679.27 200,000.00 (189,320.73) 5.3%
1.49000 · Transfer In From Other Funds 0.00 72,000.00 (72,000.00) 0.0%

Total Income 1,308,222.59 4,148,810.84 (2,840,588.25) 31.5%

Gross Profit 1,308,222.59 4,148,810.84 (2,840,588.25) 31.5%

Expense
1.50000 · Administration 835,798.58 3,583,320.00 (2,747,521.42) 23.3%

1.51000 · Professional Services 51,180.13 164,514.33 (113,334.20) 31.1%

1.52000 · Apparatus 6,589.60 55,000.00 (48,410.40) 12.0%

1.53000 · Facilities 27,795.02 227,129.08 (199,334.06) 12.2%

1.54000 · Equipment Maintenance and Testi 17,195.36 49,650.00 (32,454.64) 34.6%

1.55000 · Fire Prevention/Investigations 332.88 28,800.00 (28,467.12) 1.2%

1.56000 · Communications 17,825.64 25,765.00 (7,939.36) 69.2%

1.57000 · Technology 21,360.18 54,200.00 (32,839.82) 39.4%

1.58000 · Operations 31,693.07 187,750.00 (156,056.93) 16.9%

1.80900 · Contingency 0.00 10,000.00 (10,000.00) 0.0%

Total Expense 1,009,770.46 4,386,128.41 (3,376,357.95) 23.0%

Net Income 298,452.13 (237,317.57) 535,769.70 (125.8)%

12:33 PM Elizabeth Fire Protection District
04/05/23 General Fund Comparison Budget

January through March 2023

Page 1



Jan - Mar 23 Budget $ Over Budget % of Budget

Income
2.40100 · Capital Improvement Tax Revenue 180,464.13 458,152.52 (277,688.39) 39.4%
2.41100 · Interest Revenue-CMF 5,007.09 500.00 4,507.09 1,001.4%

Total Income 185,471.22 458,652.52 (273,181.30) 40.4%

Gross Profit 185,471.22 458,652.52 (273,181.30) 40.4%

Expense
2.49000 · Grant Equipment 0.00 10,000.00 (10,000.00) 0.0%
2.55000 · County Treasurer Fee-CMF 5,413.93 13,744.58 (8,330.65) 39.4%
2.80010 · PPE Capital Expense 0.00 10,000.00 (10,000.00) 0.0%
2.80012 · Apparatus Capital Expense 0.00 175,000.00 (175,000.00) 0.0%
2.80013 · Equipment Capital Expense 9,600.00 92,000.00 (82,400.00) 10.4%
2.80014 · Station 271 Capital Expense 0.00 60,000.00 (60,000.00) 0.0%
2.80015 · Station 272 Capital Expense 0.00 17,000.00 (17,000.00) 0.0%
2.80016 · Station 273 Capital Expense 0.00 74,500.00 (74,500.00) 0.0%
2.80017 · General Facilities Capital Exp 0.00 10,000.00 (10,000.00) 0.0%
2.80201 · PNC Lease Principal 111,041.65 111,041.65 0.00 100.0%
2.80220 · PNC Lease Interest 17,049.93 17,049.93 0.00 100.0%

Total Expense 143,105.51 590,336.16 (447,230.65) 24.2%

Net Income 42,365.71 (131,683.64) 174,049.35 (32.2)%

12:34 PM Elizabeth Fire Protection District
04/05/23 Capital Mill Comparison Budget

January through March 2023

Page 1



Jan - Mar 23 Budget $ Over Budget % of Budget

Income
3.40100 · Zone 1 Income 15,310.00 72,000.00 (56,690.00) 21.3%
3.41100 · Interest 539.07 30.00 509.07 1,796.9%
4.40200 · Zone 2 Income 0.00 2,452.00 (2,452.00) 0.0%
4.41100 · Interest Impact fee Zone 2 12.46
5.40300 · Zone 3 Income 0.00 1,226.00 (1,226.00) 0.0%
5.41100 · Interest Impact Fee Zone 3 30.92

Total Income 15,892.45 75,708.00 (59,815.55) 21.0%

Gross Profit 15,892.45 75,708.00 (59,815.55) 21.0%

Expense
3.60000 · Zone 1 Transfer Out 0.00 77,000.00 (77,000.00) 0.0%
3.60100 · Zone 1 Admin Building 0.00 10,000.00 (10,000.00) 0.0%

Total Expense 0.00 87,000.00 (87,000.00) 0.0%

Net Income 15,892.45 (11,292.00) 27,184.45 (140.7)%

12:35 PM Elizabeth Fire Protection District
04/05/23 Impact Fee Funds Comparison Budget

January through March 2023

Page 1



Jan - Mar 23 Budget $ Over Budget % of Budget

Income
6.40100 · Infrastructure Fee Income 0.00 5,200.00 (5,200.00) 0.0%
6.41100 · Interest Revenue IF 630.93 25.00 605.93 2,523.7%

Total Income 630.93 5,225.00 (4,594.07) 12.1%

Gross Profit 630.93 5,225.00 (4,594.07) 12.1%

Expense
6.80017 · Infrastructure Facilities Exp 0.00 15,000.00 (15,000.00) 0.0%

Total Expense 0.00 15,000.00 (15,000.00) 0.0%

Net Income 630.93 (9,775.00) 10,405.93 (6.5)%

12:35 PM Elizabeth Fire Protection District
04/05/23 Infrastructure Fee Fund Comparison Budget

January through March 2023

Page 1



Mar 31, 23
Debit Credit

1.10100 · BOK Financial Operating 112,961.00
1.10150 · BOK Financial Payroll 25,144.27
1.10200 · Community Bank of Colorado 40,919.02
1.10300 · Wells Fargo 153.60
1.10400 · Colorado Trust General Account 311,354.34
1.10500 · CO Statewide Investment Pool 1,626,555.83
1.10600 · CSafe Fund General Account 7,291.31
1.10700 · Colorado Trust Scholarship Fund 562.39
1.10950 · Claim on Pooled Cash 15,310.00
2.10400 · Colo Trust Cap Mill 25,495.55
2.10500 · Cap Co Statewide Investment Poo 440,826.04
2.10950 · Claim on Pooled Cash-CMF 0.00
2.13500 · Cash with County Treasurer-CMF 0.00
3.10100 · Colorado Trust Impact Fee Zn1 6,103.60
3.10500 · CO Statewide Investment Impact 42,688.74
3.10950 · Claims on Pooled Cash Zone 1 15,310.00
4.10101 · Colorado Trust Impact Fee Zn 2 1,083.53
4.10950 · Claims on Pooled Cash Zone 2 0.00
5.10102 · Colorado Trust Impact Fee Zn 3 2,674.49
5.10950 · Claim on Pooled Cash Zone3 0.00
6.10200 · Colorado Trust Infrastructure 4,657.06
6.10500 · CO Statewide Investment Infrast 50,326.19
6.10950 · Claims on Pooled Cash Infrastru 0.00

TOTAL 2,713,953.36 15,463.60

12:36 PM Elizabeth Fire Protection District
April 5, 2023 Bank Balances
Accrual Basis As of March 31, 2023

Page 1



Num Date Name Account Paid Amount Original Amount

03/14/2023 QuickBooks Pay... 1.10150 · BOK Financial Payroll -73,735.53

QuickBooks Payr... 2110 · Direct Deposit Liabilities -73,735.53 73,735.53

TOTAL -73,735.53 73,735.53

03/30/2023 QuickBooks Pay... 1.10150 · BOK Financial Payroll -75,032.12

QuickBooks Payr... 2110 · Direct Deposit Liabilities -75,032.12 75,032.12

TOTAL -75,032.12 75,032.12

03/31/2023 1.10100 · BOK Financial Operating -379.40

1.50102 · Bank Fees -379.40 379.40

TOTAL -379.40 379.40

26727 03/09/2023 Agfinity 1.10100 · BOK Financial Operating -2,135.20

I69367 03/09/2023 1.58701 · Fuel -2,135.20 2,135.20

TOTAL -2,135.20 2,135.20

26728 03/09/2023 Black Hills 1.10100 · BOK Financial Operating -1,305.46

7272235064 03/09/2023 1.53803 · Admin Natural Gas -142.49 142.49
0654784598 03/09/2023 1.53103 · 271 Gas -703.43 703.43
7708368470 03/09/2023 1.53203 · 272 Gas -459.54 459.54

TOTAL -1,305.46 1,305.46

26729 03/09/2023 Boundtree 1.10100 · BOK Financial Operating -1,896.14

84871658 03/09/2023 1.58202 · EMS Supplies -1,896.14 1,896.14

TOTAL -1,896.14 1,896.14

26730 03/09/2023 CC ADMIN 1.10100 · BOK Financial Operating -325.64

8497202000... 03/09/2023 1.53805 · Admin Internet -325.64 325.64

TOTAL -325.64 325.64

26731 03/09/2023 CC Station 273 ... 1.10100 · BOK Financial Operating -19.00

8497202240... 03/09/2023 1.53306 · 273 Cable -19.00 19.00

TOTAL -19.00 19.00

26732 03/09/2023 CC Station 273 I... 1.10100 · BOK Financial Operating -157.63

8497202240... 03/09/2023 1.53305 · 273 Internet -157.63 157.63

TOTAL -157.63 157.63

26733 03/09/2023 CDPC 1.10100 · BOK Financial Operating -120.00

23-61708 03/09/2023 1.58108 · Firefighter Cert. Testing -120.00 120.00

12:37 PM Elizabeth Fire Protection District
04/05/23 Check Register

March 2023

Page 1



Num Date Name Account Paid Amount Original Amount

TOTAL -120.00 120.00

26734 03/09/2023 conner, Crystal 1.10100 · BOK Financial Operating -66.47

Flicker 03/09/2023 1.50104 · Meeting E pense -66.47 66.47

TOTAL -66.47 66.47

26735 03/09/2023 CORE 1.10100 · BOK Financial Operating -1,230.81

71184002 03/09/2023 1.53102 · 271 Electric -531.34 531.34
95602299 03/09/2023 1.53802 · Admin Electrict -169.35 169.35
23608400 03/09/2023 1.53302 · 273 Electric -530.12 530.12

TOTAL -1,230.81 1,230.81

26736 03/09/2023 CS  Human 1.10100 · BOK Financial Operating -2,238.19

2/27/2023 03/09/2023 1.50410 · CFFC  Benefit Trust -2,238.19 2,238.19

TOTAL -2,238.19 2,238.19

26737 03/09/2023 E DORA 1.10100 · BOK Financial Operating -273.75

131340 03/09/2023 1.53308 · 273 Drinking ater -82.55 82.55
131339 03/09/2023 1.53109 · 271 Drinking ater -191.20 191.20

TOTAL -273.75 273.75

26738 03/09/2023 Fire Safety Educ... 1.10100 · BOK Financial Operating 0.00

TOTAL 0.00 0.00

26739 03/09/2023 HBS 1.10100 · BOK Financial Operating -200.00

F 2862986 03/09/2023 1.53108 · 271 Trash -75.00 75.00
1.53207 · 272 Trash -55.00 55.00
1.53307 · 273 Trash -70.00 70.00

TOTAL -200.00 200.00

26740 03/09/2023 IC HREADS 1.10100 · BOK Financial Operating -385.00

4540 03/09/2023 1.58107 · eser e Academy -385.00 385.00

TOTAL -385.00 385.00

26741 03/09/2023 IMA E 1.10100 · BOK Financial Operating -251.04

141323 03/09/2023 1.57104 · ecords Management -251.04 251.04

TOTAL -251.04 251.04

26742 03/09/2023 ohn Deere 1.10100 · BOK Financial Operating -18.99

11112-61971 03/09/2023 1.53211 · 272 E uipment/ pgrades -18.99 18.99

TOTAL -18.99 18.99

26743 03/09/2023 MES 1.10100 · BOK Financial Operating -379.15

12:37 PM Elizabeth Fire Protection District
04/05/23 Check Register

March 2023

Page 2



Num Date Name Account Paid Amount Original Amount

IN1537983 03/09/2023 1.54201 · Firefighting E uip. Maintenance -379.15 379.15

TOTAL -379.15 379.15

26744 03/09/2023 NAPA 1.10100 · BOK Financial Operating -448.88

12928 03/09/2023 1.52101 · Apparatus Pre entati e Maint -377.98 377.98
1.52101 · Apparatus Pre entati e Maint -37.72 37.72
1.52101 · Apparatus Pre entati e Maint -33.18 33.18

TOTAL -448.88 448.88

26745 03/09/2023 National esting... 1.10100 · BOK Financial Operating -385.00

12078 03/09/2023 1.50504 · ecruiting Misc -385.00 385.00

TOTAL -385.00 385.00

26746 03/09/2023 ROI Fire 1.10100 · BOK Financial Operating -890.00

19041 03/09/2023 1.54201 · Firefighting E uip. Maintenance -890.00 890.00

TOTAL -890.00 890.00

26747 03/09/2023 RSFPD 1.10100 · BOK Financial Operating -1,292.25

687 03/09/2023 1.52102 · Apparatus epairs -475.25 475.25
690 03/09/2023 1.52102 · Apparatus epairs -232.68 232.68
693 03/09/2023 1.52102 · Apparatus epairs -584.32 584.32

TOTAL -1,292.25 1,292.25

26748 03/09/2023 SCHAAF 1.10100 · BOK Financial Operating -900.00

2/24/2023 03/09/2023 1.51103 · I.T. Ser ices -900.00 900.00

TOTAL -900.00 900.00

26749 03/09/2023  echnical So... 1.10100 · BOK Financial Operating -798.12

SO8269 03/09/2023 1.58501 · Operations E uipment/ pgrades -798.12 798.12

TOTAL -798.12 798.12

26750 03/09/2023 race 1.10100 · BOK Financial Operating -106.35

23-00374 03/09/2023 1.54104 · Fill Station Compressor Testing -106.35 106.35

TOTAL -106.35 106.35

26751 03/09/2023 rue alue 1.10100 · BOK Financial Operating -547.97

1718 03/09/2023 1.53111 · 271 Maintenance/ epairs -17.79 18.96
1.53210 · 272 Maintenance/ epairs -26.28 27.99
1.52103 · Apparatus E uipment/ pgrades -32.83 34.96
1.53210 · 272 Maintenance/ epairs -18.18 19.36
1.54201 · Firefighting E uip. Maintenance -14.98 15.95
1.53111 · 271 Maintenance/ epairs -47.85 50.96
1.53112 · 271 E uipment/ pgrades -46.59 49.62
1.53112 · 271 E uipment/ pgrades -131.22 139.74
1.53112 · 271 E uipment/ pgrades -27.37 29.15
1.53310 · 273 Maintenance/ epairs -23.92 25.47
1.53112 · 271 E uipment/ pgrades -11.26 11.99

12:37 PM Elizabeth Fire Protection District
04/05/23 Check Register

March 2023

Page 3



Num Date Name Account Paid Amount Original Amount

1.52102 · Apparatus epairs -15.20 16.19
1.53310 · 273 Maintenance/ epairs -30.98 32.99
1.53112 · 271 E uipment/ pgrades -11.14 11.86
1.53310 · 273 Maintenance/ epairs -30.98 32.99
1.53111 · 271 Maintenance/ epairs -30.02 31.97
1.53310 · 273 Maintenance/ epairs -31.38 33.42

TOTAL -547.97 583.57

26752 03/09/2023 NE 1.10100 · BOK Financial Operating -325.24

61.01 03/09/2023 1.53107 · 271 ater/Se er -236.36 236.36
2000.03 03/09/2023 1.53812 · Admin Building ater/Se er -88.88 88.88

TOTAL -325.24 325.24

26753 03/09/2023 olner 1.10100 · BOK Financial Operating -231.96

Flicker 03/09/2023 1.50104 · Meeting E pense -231.96 231.96

TOTAL -231.96 231.96

26755 03/28/2023 Airgas 1.10100 · BOK Financial Operating -872.69

9135603893 03/28/2023 1.58202 · EMS Supplies -274.48 274.48
9995452717 03/28/2023 1.58202 · EMS Supplies -598.21 598.21

TOTAL -872.69 872.69

26756 03/28/2023 Allcopy 1.10100 · BOK Financial Operating -437.63

A 3875938 03/28/2023 1.57109 · Copier -437.63 437.63

TOTAL -437.63 437.63

26757 03/28/2023 Black Hills 1.10100 · BOK Financial Operating -314.71

7708368470 03/28/2023 1.53203 · 272 Gas -314.71 314.71

TOTAL -314.71 314.71

26758 03/28/2023 Boundtree 1.10100 · BOK Financial Operating -862.02

84884005 03/28/2023 1.58202 · EMS Supplies -862.02 862.02

TOTAL -862.02 862.02

26759 03/28/2023 CC Station 271 ... 1.10100 · BOK Financial Operating -27.00

8497202000... 03/28/2023 1.53106 · 271 Cable -27.00 27.00

TOTAL -27.00 27.00

26760 03/28/2023 CC Station 271 I... 1.10100 · BOK Financial Operating -163.43

8497202000... 03/28/2023 1.53105 · 271 Internet -163.43 163.43

TOTAL -163.43 163.43

26761 03/28/2023 CDPC 1.10100 · BOK Financial Operating -30.00

12:37 PM Elizabeth Fire Protection District
04/05/23 Check Register

March 2023

Page 4



Num Date Name Account Paid Amount Original Amount

23-61741 03/28/2023 1.58108 · Firefighter Cert. Testing -30.00 30.00

TOTAL -30.00 30.00

26762 03/28/2023 Community Med... 1.10100 · BOK Financial Operating -23.04

80605 03/28/2023 1.51101 · Legal Fees -23.04 23.04

TOTAL -23.04 23.04

26763 03/28/2023 CORE 1.10100 · BOK Financial Operating -704.78

23608400 03/28/2023 1.53302 · 273 Electric -509.77 509.77
73157800 03/28/2023 1.53202 · 272 Electric -195.01 195.01

TOTAL -704.78 704.78

26764 03/28/2023 C R IS 1.10100 · BOK Financial Operating -1,999.08

IN 686663 03/28/2023 1.58501 · Operations E uipment/ pgrades -556.18 556.18
IN 674335 03/28/2023 1.58501 · Operations E uipment/ pgrades -1,442.90 1,442.90

TOTAL -1,999.08 1,999.08

26765 03/28/2023 Heathone 1.10100 · BOK Financial Operating -260.00

CO1184-407... 03/28/2023 1.50503 · Drug Testing/DOT -260.00 260.00

TOTAL -260.00 260.00

26766 03/28/2023 IC HREADS 1.10100 · BOK Financial Operating -263.00

4558 03/28/2023 1.58302 · Class B niforms -224.00 224.00
4554 03/28/2023 1.58304 · T-Shirts/ ob Shirts -39.00 39.00

TOTAL -263.00 263.00

26767 03/28/2023 laurich, Mary 1.10100 · BOK Financial Operating -150.00

9651 03/28/2023 1.40300 · Transport e enue -150.00 150.00

TOTAL -150.00 150.00

26768 03/28/2023 ME IFE 1.10100 · BOK Financial Operating -3,916.26

TS05348811 03/28/2023 1.50404 · Dental Insurance -2,299.70 2,299.70
1.50405 · ision Insurance -406.45 406.45
1.50414 · Short/Long Term Disability -1,210.11 1,210.11

TOTAL -3,916.26 3,916.26

26769 03/28/2023 My arage uy 1.10100 · BOK Financial Operating -278.00

27590256152 03/28/2023 1.53111 · 271 Maintenance/ epairs -278.00 278.00

TOTAL -278.00 278.00

26770 03/28/2023 Otterson, Anya 1.10100 · BOK Financial Operating -975.00

SAFE  2023 03/28/2023 1.51104 · Admin Consulting -975.00 975.00

12:37 PM Elizabeth Fire Protection District
04/05/23 Check Register

March 2023

Page 5



Num Date Name Account Paid Amount Original Amount

TOTAL -975.00 975.00

26771 03/28/2023 rattle, snake drain 1.10100 · BOK Financial Operating -250.00

14622 03/28/2023 1.53111 · 271 Maintenance/ epairs -250.00 250.00

TOTAL -250.00 250.00

26772 03/28/2023 RO EN 1.10100 · BOK Financial Operating -2,070.00

11545 03/28/2023 1.53303 · 273 Gas -2,070.00 2,070.00

TOTAL -2,070.00 2,070.00

26773 03/28/2023 ROI Fire 1.10100 · BOK Financial Operating -566.00

19082 03/28/2023 1.58306 · Protecti e Clothing -566.00 566.00

TOTAL -566.00 566.00

26774 03/28/2023 Skaggs 1.10100 · BOK Financial Operating -115.00

100 A 1552... 03/28/2023 1.58302 · Class B niforms -115.00 115.00

TOTAL -115.00 115.00

26775 03/28/2023 app, eanne 1.10100 · BOK Financial Operating -307.84

9544 03/28/2023 1.40300 · Transport e enue -307.84 307.84

TOTAL -307.84 307.84

26776 03/28/2023  echnical So... 1.10100 · BOK Financial Operating -798.12

01523 03/28/2023 1.58501 · Operations E uipment/ pgrades -798.12 798.12

TOTAL -798.12 798.12

ACH033023 03/30/2023 nited States r... 1.10150 · BOK Financial Payroll -12,213.71

1.21100 · Federal Payroll Ta -7,723.37 7,723.37
1.21100 · Federal Payroll Ta -850.02 850.02
1.21100 · Federal Payroll Ta -850.02 850.02
1.21100 · Federal Payroll Ta -1,395.15 1,395.15
1.21100 · Federal Payroll Ta -1,395.15 1,395.15

TOTAL -12,213.71 12,213.71

ACH033024 03/30/2023 E uitable 1.10150 · BOK Financial Payroll -648.07

1.21500 · ICMA 457 -648.07 648.07

TOTAL -648.07 648.07

ACH033025 03/30/2023 E uitable 1.10150 · BOK Financial Payroll -1,084.86

1.21600 · ICMA Pension -542.43 542.43
1.21600 · ICMA Pension -542.43 542.43

TOTAL -1,084.86 1,084.86

12:37 PM Elizabeth Fire Protection District
04/05/23 Check Register

March 2023

Page 6



Num Date Name Account Paid Amount Original Amount

ACH033026 03/15/2023 Optum 1.10100 · BOK Financial Operating -19.54

1.51106 · EMS Billing -19.54 19.54

TOTAL -19.54 19.54

ACH033026 03/31/2023 FPPA 1.10150 · BOK Financial Payroll -17,313.84

1.21800 · FPPA Pension Cont -6,947.62 6,947.62
1.21800 · FPPA Pension Cont -6,947.62 6,947.62
1.21800 · FPPA Pension Cont -875.69 875.69
1.21900 · FPPA 457 -1,112.34 1,112.34
1.21800 · FPPA Pension Cont -1,430.57 1,430.57

TOTAL -17,313.84 17,313.84

ACH033027 03/31/2023 Colorado Depart... 1.10150 · BOK Financial Payroll -6,898.00

1.21200 · State Payroll Ta -6,898.00 6,898.00

TOTAL -6,898.00 6,898.00

ACH033027 03/31/2023 Security 1.10100 · BOK Financial Operating -1,026.93

1.53113 · Life Safety System Main repairs -1,026.93 1,026.93

TOTAL -1,026.93 1,026.93

ACH033028 03/31/2023 nited States r... 1.10150 · BOK Financial Payroll -1,393.03

1.50102 · Bank Fees -1,393.03 1,393.03

TOTAL -1,393.03 1,393.03

ACH033029 03/01/2023 ROCK  Mountai... 1.10150 · BOK Financial Payroll -25.00

1.22300 · Medical FSA -25.00 25.00

TOTAL -25.00 25.00

ACH033030 03/07/2023 ROCK  Mountai... 1.10150 · BOK Financial Payroll -1,812.02

1.22300 · Medical FSA -1,812.02 1,812.02

TOTAL -1,812.02 1,812.02

ACH033031 03/16/2023 ROCK  Mountai... 1.10150 · BOK Financial Payroll -36.68

1.22300 · Medical FSA -36.68 36.68

TOTAL -36.68 36.68

ACH033032 03/20/2023 ROCK  Mountai... 1.10150 · BOK Financial Payroll -58.40

1.50402 · ellness/EAP Program -58.40 58.40

TOTAL -58.40 58.40

ACH122040 03/01/2023 Colonial ife Ins... 1.10100 · BOK Financial Operating -2,453.02

1.22100 · Colonial -1,434.70 1,434.70

12:37 PM Elizabeth Fire Protection District
04/05/23 Check Register

March 2023

Page 7



Num Date Name Account Paid Amount Original Amount

1.22200 · Colonial - Pre-Ta -1,018.32 1,018.32

TOTAL -2,453.02 2,453.02

ACH122041 03/01/2023 Public Sector H... 1.10100 · BOK Financial Operating -43,290.87

1.50403 · ealth Insurance -43,290.87 43,290.87

TOTAL -43,290.87 43,290.87

ACH122042 03/01/2023 Kriz Consulting 1.10100 · BOK Financial Operating -2,540.28

1.51106 · EMS Billing -2,540.28 2,540.28

TOTAL -2,540.28 2,540.28

ACH122045 03/01/2023 RCN Communic... 1.10100 · BOK Financial Operating -13,579.41

1.56107 · Communications E uipment/ pgrad -13,579.41 13,579.41

TOTAL -13,579.41 13,579.41

ACH122047 03/10/2023 PNC 1.10100 · BOK Financial Operating -128,091.58

2.80201 · PNC Lease Principal -111,041.65 111,041.65
2.80220 · PNC Lease Interest -17,049.93 17,049.93

TOTAL -128,091.58 128,091.58

ACH122048 03/03/2023 H MANA 1.10100 · BOK Financial Operating -295.80

1.50407 · Life Insurance -295.80 295.80

TOTAL -295.80 295.80

ACH122048 03/15/2023 FPPA 1.10150 · BOK Financial Payroll -17,314.28

1.21800 · FPPA Pension Cont -6,947.84 6,947.84
1.21800 · FPPA Pension Cont -6,947.84 6,947.84
1.21800 · FPPA Pension Cont -875.69 875.69
1.21900 · FPPA 457 -1,112.34 1,112.34
1.21800 · FPPA Pension Cont -1,430.57 1,430.57

TOTAL -17,314.28 17,314.28

ACH122049 03/13/2023 A  Mobility 1.10100 · BOK Financial Operating -884.84

1.56105 · Connecti ity E pense -884.84 884.84

TOTAL -884.84 884.84

ACH122049 03/15/2023 nited States r... 1.10150 · BOK Financial Payroll -12,688.99

1.21100 · Federal Payroll Ta -8,448.77 8,448.77
1.21100 · Federal Payroll Ta -678.08 678.08
1.21100 · Federal Payroll Ta -678.08 678.08
1.21100 · Federal Payroll Ta -1,442.03 1,442.03
1.21100 · Federal Payroll Ta -1,442.03 1,442.03

TOTAL -12,688.99 12,688.99

ACH122050 03/14/2023 E 1.10100 · BOK Financial Operating -784.24

12:37 PM Elizabeth Fire Protection District
04/05/23 Check Register

March 2023

Page 8



Num Date Name Account Paid Amount Original Amount

1.58701 · Fuel -784.24 784.24

TOTAL -784.24 784.24

ACH122050 03/15/2023 ICMA 1.10150 · BOK Financial Payroll -1,398.07

1.21500 · ICMA 457 -1,398.07 1,398.07

TOTAL -1,398.07 1,398.07

ACH122051 03/14/2023 Pinnacol Assura... 1.10100 · BOK Financial Operating -6,632.00

1.50409 · orkers Comp -6,632.00 6,632.00

TOTAL -6,632.00 6,632.00

ACH122051 03/15/2023 E uitable 1.10150 · BOK Financial Payroll -1,084.86

1.21600 · ICMA Pension -542.43 542.43
1.21600 · ICMA Pension -542.43 542.43

TOTAL -1,084.86 1,084.86

ACH122052 03/07/2023 BOK Financial CC 1.10100 · BOK Financial Operating -11,964.39

1.53112 · 271 E uipment/ pgrades -840.50 840.50
1.55102 · Fire Pre ention Supplies -7.88 7.88
1.55203 · In estigation Dues/Certificatio -75.00 75.00
1.55302 · Support Ser ices Supplies -5.34 5.34
1.55302 · Support Ser ices Supplies -48.00 48.00
1.52101 · Apparatus Pre entati e Maint -439.94 439.94
1.52103 · Apparatus E uipment/ pgrades -1,039.84 1,039.84
1.52103 · Apparatus E uipment/ pgrades -1,039.83 1,039.83
1.52103 · Apparatus E uipment/ pgrades -73.98 73.98
1.52103 · Apparatus E uipment/ pgrades -64.74 64.74
1.53112 · 271 E uipment/ pgrades -328.19 328.19
1.53112 · 271 E uipment/ pgrades -136.91 136.91
1.53808 · Admin Drinking ater -64.32 64.32
1.50104 · Meeting E pense -87.90 87.90
1.55204 · Training -60.00 60.00
1.57102 · Accounting Soft are -585.99 585.99
1.57112 · Permit/Plan e ie  Soft are -159.00 159.00
1.50107 · Admin Training -225.00 225.00
1.58104 · Physical Fitness 649.00 -649.00
1.58107 · eser e Academy -836.23 836.23
1.50101 · Office Supplies -38.99 38.99
1.50107 · Admin Training -150.00 150.00
1.50502 · Background Checks -145.78 145.78
1.53111 · 271 Maintenance/ epairs -95.00 95.00
1.53206 · 272 Cable -124.29 124.29
1.53210 · 272 Maintenance/ epairs -60.00 60.00
1.53310 · 273 Maintenance/ epairs -90.00 90.00
1.56106 · Cell Phone E pense -84.80 84.80
1.50104 · Meeting E pense -151.44 151.44
1.58501 · Operations E uipment/ pgrades -482.67 482.67
1.58501 · Operations E uipment/ pgrades -124.68 124.68
1.58501 · Operations E uipment/ pgrades 158.03 -158.03
1.50413 · LOSAP/ etention -330.00 330.00
1.58105 · Firefighter Training -214.78 214.78
1.50101 · Office Supplies -104.85 104.85
1.50101 · Office Supplies -117.98 117.98
1.50101 · Office Supplies -89.99 89.99
1.50101 · Office Supplies -49.94 49.94
1.50101 · Office Supplies -25.98 25.98

12:37 PM Elizabeth Fire Protection District
04/05/23 Check Register

March 2023

Page 9



Num Date Name Account Paid Amount Original Amount

1.50104 · Meeting E pense -36.53 36.53
1.50104 · Meeting E pense -69.49 69.49
1.53904 · Quartermaster Supplies -130.52 130.52
1.53904 · Quartermaster Supplies -22.90 22.90
1.53904 · Quartermaster Supplies -822.95 822.95
1.54105 · SCBA Testing/Maintenance -132.40 132.40
1.54201 · Firefighting E uip. Maintenance -29.95 29.95
1.50104 · Meeting E pense -6.00 6.00
1.50106 · Dues -1,130.00 1,130.00
1.52101 · Apparatus Pre entati e Maint -69.04 69.04
1.52103 · Apparatus E uipment/ pgrades -125.99 125.99
1.52103 · Apparatus E uipment/ pgrades -39.54 39.54
1.52103 · Apparatus E uipment/ pgrades -16.52 16.52
1.53109 · 271 Drinking ater -109.19 109.19
1.53810 · Admin Maint/ epairs -35.64 35.64
1.53902 · E uipment/ pgrades -4.99 4.99
1.54201 · Firefighting E uip. Maintenance -20.19 20.19
1.57110 · I.T. E uipment/ pgrades -1,298.00 1,298.00
1.58501 · Operations E uipment/ pgrades -71.82 71.82

TOTAL -11,964.39 11,964.39

ACH122053 03/22/2023 IRE AND 1.10100 · BOK Financial Operating -1,210.50

1.51101 · Legal Fees -1,210.50 1,210.50

TOTAL -1,210.50 1,210.50

12:37 PM Elizabeth Fire Protection District
04/05/23 Check Register

March 2023

Page 10



Colotrust General CO Statewide Community Bank BOK 
Investment

Beginning Balance 4/1/2023 311,354.34              1,626,555.83  40,919.02               138,105.27    
    Tax Revenue 3/2023 175,000.00      
    Transfer to Capital Mil for Taxes (18,000.00)       

311,354.34              1,783,555.83  40,919.02               138,105.27    
Forecasted Expenses
    Estimated Payroll (200,000.00)  
    Estimated Accounts Payable (60,000.00)     

Transfer Needed (260,000.00)    260,000.00    

Forecasted Ending Balance 311,354.34              1,523,555.83  40,919.02               138,105.27    

April 30, 2023
Cash Flow Forecast

Elizabeth Fire Protection District



Elizabeth Fire Protection District

Fire Chief's Report

ELIZABETHFPD.COLORADO.GOV |  303-646-3800

11  APRIL 2023

146 N ELBERT ST.
P.O. BOX 441

ELIZABETH, CO
80107

Staffing Analysis

Facilities

Correspondence

We are enjoying our newest members as they gear up for academy. It is
fun for me to watch everyone be engaged and to see the energy that is
forming around the stations. We are performing a number of
onboarding orientations while only losing a couple of our members to
new hires in other agencies. 

We have an excellent crew right now. Even with some off duty injuries
and vacations, the shifts are running clean with backfill, part-time, and
reserve members stepping up. 

Administration

We have decided to stop waiting for contractor bids and take
matters into our own hands. We plan to replace the camera
systems and install a new entry door with access controls for
remote entry if needed. 

I finally received the bids for the Admin and Station 272
generators. They are $25,000 and $42,000, respectively. We
obviously did not budget enough for either project. We will 

Photo of fire crews on the 125 Fire (taken by Mike Bilbo)

Calls for Service Analysis
As of the report date, we are on call #309 for the year. We are currently
averaging 3.19 calls per day with an annual pace of 1162. We are still at a
slightly slower pace for the year but I have no doubt we will catch up.  

I didn’t receive any thank you cards this month. I’m feeling a little left
out. But we have been able to help a couple of citizens with
addressing and access concerns to make their lives a little easier. 

We have some spring maintenance projects coming up which
include sign painting, gutter maintenance, and outdoor
lighting. 

Station 271

The remodeled kitchen looks amazing! Our crews are so cool to
want to do this stuff themselves. It saves so much money so
that we can afford other things to help our operations.

           need to look at other options or get creative. I may look at solar
           options for Station 272 to include in the grant. 

Our sewer line project is progressing in concept. We have an
initial bid of $117,000 for the complete repair including new
water line and hydrant install. We now plan to take the concept
to DOLA for some funding options.  It will take you 25 hours and
7 minutes to watch all 11 live-action Star Wars movies. We will
also need to look at our easement options for the project so
that can be done prior to the beginning, assuming it moves
forward. In the meantime, we plan to rent a sewer machine and
proactively clean our sewer every 6 months.  

        
Photo of Station 271 kitchen remodel



Elizabeth Fire Protection District

ELIZABETHFPD.COLORADO.GOV |  303-646-3800

11  APRIL 2023

146 N ELBERT ST.
P.O. BOX 441

ELIZABETH, CO
80107

Apparatus

ELCO Fire Chiefs

Legislative

Grant Updates

Google: The MDT portion of this grant is
substantially complete, and it came in
under budget. We are now working on
the training portion of the funding. This
includes sending members to wildland
specific training, S-270 air ops, and
structure protection classes. 

DOLA – Energy Impact: The new cycle for
the Green funding from DOLA will begin
March 1st, 2023. As I stated above, I am
compiling the costs for that grant now
and hope to submit soon. We will see how
this goes. 

DOLA – Joint Grant: We are still working
on this project with the town. I think we
have a good chance of getting funding for
this project if we can just get people in
the same room long enough to work the
details. 

Fire Prevention and Safety Grant: We
were denied this grant but not for a lack
of trying. STO Einarsen wrote a great
grant, but they were prioritizing very basic
needs for agencies that still don’t have
PPE. Additional protection was less of a
priority. We plan to reapply at the next
cycle. 

El Pomar: We requested $39k on this
grant to fund a project to standardize all
of our wildland hose and appliances. We
did get funding but only $10k. We now
have to prioritize the project to see how
we can get it done. Regardless, we got
$10k in funding to enhance our wildland
inventory. 

** Neither of the DOLA grants or the El Pomar
grants were included in the budget due to
the announcement timing, so if we were to
receive these grants, we would likely have to
amend the 2023 budget. This was likely
anyways due to the delays with the Federal
grants. Sarah is aware and supportive. 

Station 272

The hydrant relocation project is
scheduled. I anticipate them to be in
and out within a week. 

As mentioned in the Admin section, we
wont be installing a generator right
away. Looking at new options for that
project. 

Station 273

Crews are gearing up for their spring
exterior projects. We will be adding a
small connex box for additional storage
to free up bay space. The county has
made some leadership changes in
public works, so we need to just move
forward with our own fueling solution. I
have a call into our fuel supplier to get
pricing for our own small fuel tank. 

I had a good meeting with Panterra
and a geothermal designer to discuss
our heating options. As expected, we
wont be able to completely eliminate
our LPG heat but we will be able to cut
our consumption and costs way down.
I'm hoping to have a project meeting in
the next two weeks to finalize our plans
so that we can submit for grant
funding. 

Still no update on the remount project. I
haven’t had a response from Fire Trucks
Unlimited since my last inquiry. I’m
beginning to think customer service
among all disciplines is a thing of the past.

LAWS currently has the new Tahoe and
will be receiving the truck this week. I
believe we will see at least one of them by
the 3rd week in April. 

Chief Brown will have more detailed info
on the fleet repairs that are occurring in
his section. 

 

Public Sector Healthcare
Group
The new authority is officially formed and
EFPD is one of the 5 founding members. For
2023, we will be meeting as both PSHCG and
the new PSHCGA. The authority now has the
same statutory requirements as a special
district and will be the sole organization
beginning January 1st, 2024. The older PSHCG
will dissolve on December 31st, 2023 and
transfer all assets (money) to the new 

authority. At that point, this entire thing
should be clean and sparkly. Our member
agencies and, most importantly, the
employees should see no effects and none of
the benefits will change. This entire effort was
to further formalize the group after it had
such a tremendous success over the last 5
years.  

Our meeting with ELCO leadership will likely
be postponed again since they recently
separated employment with the Public Works
director. We will be discussing some concerns
regarding the CR125 fire in Simla last week
and will develop solutions for those problems. 

A new bill just popped that amends the
CORA sections of Title 24. I am reading
through it right now and will have more
for the meeting if it concerns us. Initially, I
don’t see too many problems with it. 

We finally convinced the Colorado State
Chiefs to oppose SB-111. The bill was
intended to protect workers' rights when
off duty, but it became a bill that would
hurt rural Colorado local governments on
both sides of labor and management. 

We continue to wait for a viable solution
to the property tax credit efforts from the
legislature. I don’t believe they have
determined a method to backfill Fire
Districts for the losses in revenue that
their efforts created. I'm hoping to have a
better update for Tuesday as well,
however, this issue doesn’t affect us as
much due to the proactive voter
approved measured that we have in
place. 

Assistance to Firefighters Grant: Joint
Grant by ELCO fire agencies for new
SCBAs total $1,000,000 (our funding will
be $380,000). The grant was submitted by
our contract grant writer, and we are
much more confident in our results this
cycle. I received a text from one of the
peer reviewers last week that said our
grant looks good. 

SAFER: Grant for 6 full-time positions. This
grant will fund all positions 100% for 3
years. Total funding would be 1.6 million.
This grant was submitted on time and
should be reviewed in the next couple of
months. Photo of Chief Steck taking a puppy break

with Cash (Chief Gerczynski's dog)



Elizabeth Fire Protection District

2023 Business Inspections have been assigned to the shift personnel.
Each shift has also been assigned pre-plans for certain buildings using
our new software: Flow MSP. By the end of 2024, we should have pre-
plans in place for all of our commercial buildings. These business
inspections are to be completed by December 1st.  

ELIZABETHFPD.COLORADO.GOV |  303-646-3800

11  APRIL 2023

146 N ELBERT ST.
P.O. BOX 441

ELIZABETH, CO
80107

Flow MSP has notification software that we will demo to see if it
works for our operations. This will replace Active 911 if it works for
our department. There will be cost savings with this software. 

            wanting for consistency in data and actual apparatus times. It has 
            now become affordable for us to integrate that technology. 

Pre-Application Meetings

Risk Reduction

Photos of Flow MSP software

Photo of crews  and kids during the station tours

We had two station tours. We finally got to meet our friend Alex. He
has been planning a station tour for three months! And calling
every now and then to check in.

I re-certified one of our CPR Instructors.

We have our Community CPR class coming up on April 22nd. John
Humphrey will be teaching it.

Prevention/Administration

Division Chief

We have started planning meetings for The Elizabeth Stampede
Rodeo and Concert. Here are the events for the weekend. They are
changing times of the parade and afternoon rodeos. 

We are working with the Elbert County Emergency Manager to
provide fire service information to complete the Elbert County
Emergency Preparedness Assessment. This has not been updated in
Elbert County for a very long time. 

IT updates:
Working on finalizing our purchase of new iPads for our apparatus
that will be paid through the Google Grant.

We are changing phone vendors due to our new company not
having the support that we were promised. Taylor is heading up
the integration to a local vendor. The crews will see no difference in
the phone system, as it will be the same phones and structure. We
will be seeing savings in our monthly payments with our new
vendor. 

The new Battalion and Chief’s vehicle will be getting new
Cradlepoints and tablets with keyboards. The division chief will be
getting a new tablet and keyboard as well (the computers were
paid through the Google Grant).

Working with Imagetrend and Douglas County to integrate CAD
into our RMS. This has been something our crews have been 

Photo of Stampede weekend schedule

Photo of Pre-Application Meetings



Elizabeth Fire Protection District

ELIZABETHFPD.COLORADO.GOV |  303-646-3800

11  APRIL 2023

146 N ELBERT ST.
P.O. BOX 441

ELIZABETH, CO
80107

Performance reviews were complete at the end of March. We
included part-time employees also to make sure they are
getting some feedback about their performance.

We completed orientations for 3 new reserve employees. We
have been getting about 6-8 applications a month, and then we
are interviewing about 5 each month. From this number, we are
moving about 3 applicants to the ride-along process. Our
membership committee is doing a great job selecting the right
candidates for EFPD.

I worked on getting information ready for the auditor, who will
be here in April. I hope to bring the completed 2022 financial
statements to the June board meeting.

The SAFER grant application was completed in March. We will
find out the results in September.

     EMS collection for February was $42,812.37.

     Development and Impact Fees: 

               Zone 1  $196,603.12

               Zone 2  $15,545.15

               Zone 3  $18,416.05

               Gift Agreement $166,500.00

               Infrastructure Fund $66,029.00

Finance and Human Resources Battalion Chief of Operations

Apparatus remain in good shape with mostly just normal
maintenance and small repair items needed so far. Brush trucks have
all been sent in for their yearly PMs and should be complete by the
end of the first week of April. (And just like that, changes happen.) As
I am writing this, I got a call from Aaron at fleet. The pump seal on
Brush 272 has failed for the third time with only 16 hours of operation
on the pump. Waterous is warranting the repairs but is asking Aaron
for additional information to determine the issue. So, the Brush PMs
will be delayed for a short time. The ambulance remount process is
still in limbo waiting on an available box to put on the new chassis.
We are considering keeping our current ambulance intact with its
current box while another box is located for our remount. This allows
us to maintain an in-service ambulance while the remount process is
taking place and improves the resale value of the old unit when we
dispose of it.

I have been making numerous changes to response plans this last
month. The changes mostly pertain to system reliability and ease of
use when making future changes so, for the most part, they won’t be
seen on the front end. While making these changes, I noticed we still
had a few response plans that were missing backups for every
apparatus on the response plans and a few station orders needing
updates and additions. These are being corrected as the new
response plans are being built out. My plan is that when all the new
response plans are built, I will apply the new plans to our call types
and then delete the old plans.

Station 271 improvements continue. The kitchen remodel is looking
great and is almost complete. We are still waiting for delivery of the
new countertops for those to be installed. Two new garage doors
have finally been delivered and replacement is scheduled for April
15th. New hardware will also be installed which should significantly
improve reliability on those doors. If we still have money left in the
station, the next project will be landscaping in the front. That has
needed freshening up for quite a while now.

We are still sending members to monthly tech rescue trainings with
South Metro. We are starting to see the benefits of this and our
members are bringing this information back to make operational
changes where needed and provide trainings to our members. I am
working with Chief Carnesi now to get two of our members to the 11
day all hazard tech rescue training with South Metro and Castle Rock
Fire. This will be another huge step forward for our operations as
these two agencies are already on our response plans for all tech
rescue calls. Having familiarity with personnel and procedures will
benefit us greatly. 

We continue to get applicants monthly and getting them through
their interviews, ride-alongs, and orientations. It’s always great to see
the new faces in the stations and see their excitement to start the
job.

Photo of 125 Fire taken from brush truck



Elizabeth Fire Protection District

ELIZABETHFPD.COLORADO.GOV |  303-646-3800

11  APRIL 2023

146 N ELBERT ST.
P.O. BOX 441

ELIZABETH, CO
80107

Battalion Chief of EMS
March EMS call volume picked up slightly but still on the slow
side. We’ll never say increased call volume is an indicator of
success. 

We participated in the RETAC hearing for the EMTS (power
pram) grant. All in all, the feedback was positive from the
reviewers, and we are looking forward to the SEMTAC hearing
in May. 

Our DFPC Firefighter Safety grant for particulate hoods was
unfortunately denied, but not for lack of effort! We will
revaluate our needs and prepare to apply again next year. 

We interviewed a firefighter paramedic to fill an opening in our
part-time program. He will be doing his 12-hour ride along with
our crews early April as a final evaluation of the interview
process. 

We purchased the “Check It” module to add to our Vector
Solutions suite for controlled substance tracking. I’ve been
going through the implementation process with their staff and
will be beta testing with some of our staff through the month
of April before we go live. So far, I think it will be very beneficial
for the agency and help keep us compliant with the DEA
standards. 

Congratulations to all those who recertified their NREMT in
March!

Stryker performed annual maintenance on all of our Lifepak-
15s, Lucas, and AEDs which is covered under our service
contract. 

I’ve started the ambulance license renewal process which will
happen in April. 

EMS Calls (excluding 
"no patient"):

Mar 2022 = 56 

Mar 2023 = 64 

      (39 Transports / 70%)
 

      (42 Transports / 67%)

Battalion Chief of Training
During March, the 2023 Academy recruits completed the classroom
lecture portion of Haz Mat. On March 31 and April 1, they received
some hands-on experience and practiced JPRs with a FEMA Haz
Mat instructor who is also a volunteer with Kiowa Fire. On April 2nd,
they all passed their State Haz Mat practical. They will be taking
their State written exam on April 10th. We continue to explore new
approaches to our Haz Mat program due to a low initial success
rate on this written exam. I'm hoping this year's approach will be
the one that changes the trend. Chief Lamansky sent me positive
feedback on the performance of our recruits during the long Haz
Mat weekend.

On April 15th, the recruits will begin the FFI portion of the
Academy. We had quite a few of our newer members step out of
their comfort zone and sign up to help instruct during the FFI
portion of the academy. I truly believe this is a first step in the
development of our future leaders, and it is really fun to watch it
unfold! I know I say this in every staff report around this time of
year - I can't thank the STOs enough for the work and the pride
that they put into our Academy. I could not imagine trying to put
on an Academy without them.

Our members continue to pursue valuable outside trainings every
month. This can be expensive when I have to cover shifts for
outside trainings, but as long as the knowledge is brought back to
our shifts, it is worth every penny. 

In March, Fairmount Fire and Arvada Fire completed a joint
training exercise involving strategy and tactics on 3-4 story
apartment complexes. I have a class with Battalion Chief Retmer
from Fairmount Fire on April 12th, and I'm going to work with him
to get this training to us. I can't guarantee that we have the
resources to complete the level of drills that they did, but we can
start small and build on the subject matter. You can follow this link
to get an idea of what the training involved:
https://5280fire.com/2023-incidents/arvada-and-fairmount-multi-
company-drills/

I'll be setting up dates for a Landing Zone training with AirLife.
They'll come to us and give a 30-minute classroom training,
followed by multiple challenging take-off and landing scenarios. I
received a lot of interest from the staff for the training, so I'm going
to try and get it set up for a weekend. 

I received an email from the 3M/Scott "Inside Team" to discuss the
purchase of new SCBAs, and/or the status and maintenance of our
current equipment. In order to get this accomplished, I have to
follow a link and request a meeting with them. Since we have
aging equipment, I'm going to swallow my pride and request the
meeting. I don't like the idea of a customer requesting a meeting
with a vendor; I think it should be the other way around. I could
make a phone call to any MSA rep in our region and, at a minimum,
have someone on the phone within a couple of hours.

As I mentioned earlier in the year, I've been appointed to the NFPA
1001 FFI review committee. The committee works with the DFPC to
review and update FFI JPRs as needed. I was out of town when
they met last week, but they have kept me in the loop and given
me homework. This process will only really affect any of our current
members when they recert their FFI, or for the future members
who take their first FFI practical. It sounds like these JPRs might
get a little more challenging and more in line with where we
currently are in the fire service.  

Photo of  AirLife helicopter and EFPD apparatus
on scene during a call

https://5280fire.com/2023-incidents/arvada-and-fairmount-multi-company-drills/


Elizabeth Fire Protection District – March 2023      

      

 
 

 

68

26

16

EMS PUBLIC SERVICE FIRE

Incidents by Type
110 Incidents Total

10

2

Mutual Aid
12 Incidents Total

Given

Received

1

2

3

3

1

0 1 2 3 4

BIG SANDY FIRE DEPARTMENT

ELBERT FIRE PROTECTION DISTRICT

FRANKTOWN FIRE

KIOWA FIRE

RATTLESNAKE FIRE PROTECTION 
DISTRICT

Mutual Aid Given

1

1

0 1 2

FRANKTOWN FIRE

KIOWA FIRE

Mutual Aid Received

Current Staffing 

Command                  11 

Admin                           3 

Career-Full Time       12 

Career-Part Time      11   

Water Ops                   2 

Reserve                      17 

On Leave             3 

Part-Time Hours   1,078 

Reserve Hours          642  

Average Response 

Time 

6.49 minutes 

Total Incidents 2023  

286 



Elite rattlesnake Project List  

Project Name Project Description Occupant Full
Address

Permit Name Permit Type Project
Status

Project Number: 23-005

Kinsch-
Giancalone EDZ
Site Plan

60' x 160' building for a small product distribution
company with an office and warehouse

39540 CR 13,
Town of
Elizabeth, CO
80107

Kinsch-Giacalone
EDZ Site Plan

General Plan Review
(No Permit Issued)

Plan
Review/Permit

Approved

Project Number: 23-004

Evans Park
Building Cellular
Dialer

Cellular dialer for Evans Park Building 34201 CR 17
80107

Evans Park Building
Fire Alarm
Installation

Fire Alarm and
Detection Systems and
Related Equipment
Construction Permit

Plan
Review/Permit

Approved

Project Number: 23-003

Casey Jones
Park and
Campground
Rezone

Rezoning 27 acres of Parkland from (RA) Residential
Agriculture to (A) Agriculture

4189 HWY 86
80107

Casey Jones Park
and Campground
Rezone

General Plan Review
(No Permit Issued)

Plan
Review/Permit

Approved

Casey Jones
Park and
Campground
Rezone

Rezoning 27 acres of Parkland from (RA) Residential
Agriculture to (A) Agriculture

4189 HWY 86
80107

Casey Jones Park
and Campground
Special Use Review

General Plan Review
(No Permit Issued)

Plan
Review/Permit

Approved

Project Number: 23-002

Silver J Ranch  80107 Silver J Ranch Minor
Plat

General Plan Review
(No Permit Issued)

Plan
Review/Permit

Approved

Silver J Ranch  80107 Silver J Ranch
Rezone

General Plan Review
(No Permit Issued)

Plan
Review/Permit

Approved

Project Number: 23-001

Walnut Grove Townhomes planned development 80107 Walnut Grove Sketch
Plan

General Plan Review
(No Permit Issued)

Plan
Review/Permit

Approved

Walnut Grove Townhomes planned development 80107 Walnut Grove 2nd
Review Sketch Plan

General Plan Review
(No Permit Issued)

Plan
Review/Permit

Approved

Project Number: 22-048

Colorado Lining
International

Small office building 1062 SINGING
HILLS Road
80138

Colorado Lining
International
Remodel and Tenant
Finish

General Plan Review
(No Permit Issued)

Plan
Review/Permit

Approved

Project Number: 22-047

Elizabeth School
Superintendent
Building
Remodel

Adding 2 non-load bearing walls, 2 fire-rated doors,
and 1 non-fire rated door. Replacing existing light

fixtures with LED fixtures. Replacing carpet.

634 South
ELBERT Street
80107

Elizabeth School
Superintendent
Building Remodel

General Plan Review
(No Permit Issued)

Plan
Review/Permit

Approved

Project Number: 22-046

114 S Tabor St
Tenant Finish

Update lighting, plumbing fixtures, adding a couple
interior walls

30 South TABOR
Street, Elizabeth
80107

114 S Tabor St
Tenant Finish

General Plan Review
(No Permit Issued)

Plan
Review/Permit

Denied

Project Number: 22-045

Gigi's Grooming
Expansion

Expansion of the business in Suite E requiring the
demolition of interior walls to open the space and

creating 2 door ways to the adjoining business

240 South
ELIZABETH
Street # E 80107

Gigi's Grooming
Expansion

General Plan Review
(No Permit Issued)

Plan
Review/Permit

Approved

Project Number: 22-044

The Patch Special use review for a pumpkin patch, agritourism,
and special events

7360 Highway
86, Elizabeth,
CO

The Patch Special
Use Review

General Plan Review
(No Permit Issued)

Plan
Review/Permit

Approved

The Patch Special use review for a pumpkin patch, agritourism,
and special events

7360 Highway
86, Elizabeth,
CO

The Patch SUR
Resubmittal

General Plan Review
(No Permit Issued)

Plan
Review/Permit

Approved

Project Number: 22-043

Maverick
Rezone

Rezone A to AR, split of 20-ac into 2 lots 80107 Maverick Rezone
and Minor Plat

General Plan Review
(No Permit Issued)

Plan
Review/Permit

Approved

Project Number: 22-041

144 S Main
Street Tenant

Tenant finish 144 South Main
Street, elizabeth,

144 S Main Street
Tenant Finish

General Plan Review
(No Permit Issued)

Plan
Review/Permit

Printed On: 04/06/2023 01:13:03 PM1 of 7



Project Name Project Description Occupant Full
Address

Permit Name Permit Type Project
Status

Finish CO 80107 Approved

Project Number: 22-040

350 Elbert St
Minor
Subdivision

Split 1 lot into 3 lots in the Town of Elizabeth 80107 350 Elbert St Minor
Subdivision

General Plan Review
(No Permit Issued)

Plan
Review/Permit

Approved

350 Elbert St
Minor
Subdivision

Split 1 lot into 3 lots in the Town of Elizabeth 80107 350 Elbert St.
Special Use Review

General Plan Review
(No Permit Issued)

Plan
Review/Permit

Approved

Project Number: 22-039

Roach
Residence

Roach residence sprinkler system installation 415 Rockhaven
Drive, Elizabeth

Roach Residence
Sprinkler System
Installation

Automatic Fire
Extinguishing System
Construction Permit

Plan
Review/Permit

Approved

Project Number: 22-038

Reformation
Church New
Building

Site plan amendment for addition of an outbuilding to
serve as an accessory to the approved religious

institution use on the site

489 Rocky Cliff
Circle 80107

Reformation Church
New Building
Addition

General Plan Review
(No Permit Issued)

Plan
Review/Permit

Approved

Project Number: 22-037

Craig
Residence

New building sprinkler system installation 741 CR 146,
Elizabeth 80107

Craig Residence
Sprinkler System
Installation

Automatic Fire
Extinguishing System
Construction Permit

Plan
Review/Permit

Approved

Project Number: 22-036

Voronkov Plat
Amendment

Plat amendment to modify a building envelope  Voronkov Plat
Amendment

General Plan Review
(No Permit Issued)

Plan
Review/Permit

Approved

Project Number: 22-033

Rampart
Landscape

Plat amendment to vacate previously dedicated
easements and combine two 2.5- acre commercial PUD
lots & site development plan for a landscaping business

on undeveloped land

49993 Piasa,
Elizabeth

Rampart
Landscaping Plat
Amendment and Site
Development Plan

General Plan Review
(No Permit Issued)

Plan
Review/Permit

Denied

Project Number: 22-028

Brakes Plus
(Wild Pointe)
Site
Development
Plan

Site development plan application and construction of a
Brakes Plus Automotive Service Building

1962 Legacy,
Circle 80107

Brakes Plus Site
Development Plan

General Plan Review
(No Permit Issued)

Plan
Review/Permit

Approved

Brakes Plus
(Wild Pointe)
Site
Development
Plan

Site development plan application and construction of a
Brakes Plus Automotive Service Building

1962 Legacy,
Circle 80107

Brakes Plus New
Building

General Plan Review
(No Permit Issued)

Plan
Review/Permit

Approved

Project Number: 22-027

Independence
Coffee Shop

Coffee shop 39101 Hancock
Way, Elizabeth
80107

Independence
Coffee Shop
Remodel

General Plan Review
(No Permit Issued)

Plan
Review/Permit

Approved

Project Number: 22-024

Systems
Properties

Rezone to PUD, Minor Plat, and Site Plan 80107 Systems Properties
Rezone

General Plan Review
(No Permit Issued)

Plan
Review/Permit

Approved

Systems
Properties

Rezone to PUD, Minor Plat, and Site Plan 80107 Systems Properties
Minor Plat

General Plan Review
(No Permit Issued)

Plan
Review/Permit

Approved

Systems
Properties

Rezone to PUD, Minor Plat, and Site Plan 80107 Systems Properties
Site Development
Plan

General Plan Review
(No Permit Issued)

Plan
Review/Permit

Approved

Project Number: 22-022

Elizabeth Street
Plaza

621, 625, 631, and 635 Beverly St., Lots 2A-2D
Elizabeth St. Plaza, 1st Amendment

 Elizabeth Street
Plaza Site Plan

General Plan Review
(No Permit Issued)

Plan
Review/Permit

Approved

Project Number: 22-014

TD Residence
Rezone and
Minor Plat

Split 10-acres from 62-acres, rezone to AR 80107 TD Residence
Rezone and Minor
Plat

General Plan Review
(No Permit Issued)

Plan
Review/Permit

Approved

Project Number: 22-013

Elizabeth
Substation
Rebuild Project

Expand existing CORE owned property by purchasing
1.70 acres from adjoining property

37475 CR 13,
Elizabeth, CO
80107

CORE Elizabeth
Substation Rebuild

General Plan Review
(No Permit Issued)

Plan
Review/Permit

Approved

Printed On: 04/06/2023 01:13:03 PM2 of 7



Project Name Project Description Occupant Full
Address

Permit Name Permit Type Project
Status

Elizabeth
Substation
Rebuild Project

Expand existing CORE owned property by purchasing
1.70 acres from adjoining property

37475 CR 13,
Elizabeth, CO
80107

CORE Substation
Building Plan Review

General Plan Review
(No Permit Issued)

Plan
Review/Permit

Approved

Elizabeth
Substation
Rebuild Project

Expand existing CORE owned property by purchasing
1.70 acres from adjoining property

37475 CR 13,
Elizabeth, CO
80107

CORE Electric
Substation Smoke
Detection System

Fire Alarm and
Detection Systems and
Related Equipment
Construction Permit

Plan
Review/Permit

Approved

Project Number: 22-012

Reformation
Church of the
Rockies
Addition

Addition of a new fellowship hall on to an existing
church building

489 Rocky Cliff
Circle 80107

Reformation Church
of the Rockies
Addition

General Plan Review
(No Permit Issued)

Plan
Review/Permit

Approved

Reformation
Church of the
Rockies
Addition

Addition of a new fellowship hall on to an existing
church building

489 Rocky Cliff
Circle 80107

Reformation Church
Fire Alarm
Installation Service

Fire Alarm and
Detection Systems and
Related Equipment
Construction Permit

Plan
Review/Permit

Approved

Reformation
Church of the
Rockies
Addition

Addition of a new fellowship hall on to an existing
church building

489 Rocky Cliff
Circle 80107

Reformation Church
of the Rockies
Addition Sprinkler
Installation

Automatic Fire
Extinguishing System
Construction Permit

Plan
Review/Permit

Approved

Project Number: 22-009

Ritoro
Operations
Building

Ritoro operations building 1103 Snowberry
Avenue, Town of
Elizabeth, CO
80107

Ritoro Operations
Building Fire Alarm
System

Fire Alarm and
Detection Systems and
Related Equipment
Construction Permit

Plan
Review/Permit

Approved

Project Number: 22-008

Schluter (Minor
Subdivision)

Rezone from Agriculture to Agriculture-Residential and
split of 39-acres into two 10-acre lots and one 19+ acre

lot

80107 Schluter Rezone and
Minor Plat

General Plan Review
(No Permit Issued)

Plan
Review/Permit

Approved

Project Number: 22-006

Independence
Community
Center New
Building

New building 39099 Hancock
Parkway,
Elizabeth, CO
80107

Independence
Community Center
New Building

General Plan Review
(No Permit Issued)

Plan
Review/Permit

Approved

Independence
Community
Center New
Building

New building 39099 Hancock
Parkway,
Elizabeth, CO
80107

Independence
Community Center
New Building #2

General Plan Review
(No Permit Issued)

Plan
Review/Permit

Approved

Independence
Community
Center New
Building

New building 39099 Hancock
Parkway,
Elizabeth, CO
80107

Independence
Homestead Revised
Site Plan

General Plan Review
(No Permit Issued)

Plan
Review/Permit

Approved

Project Number: 22-005

Liscott Homes
Rezone and Site
Development
Plan

New office/show home and shop 40900 Wind
Spirit Lane, Town
of Parker, CO
80138

Liscott Homes
Rezone and Site
Development Plan

General Plan Review
(No Permit Issued)

Plan
Review/Permit

Approved

Liscott Homes
Rezone and Site
Development
Plan

New office/show home and shop 40900 Wind
Spirit Lane, Town
of Parker, CO
80138

Liscott Custom
Homes Showroom

General Plan Review
(No Permit Issued)

Plan
Review/Permit

Approved

Project Number: 22-004

McDonald's New building 1950 Legacy
Circle, Elizabeth,
CO 80107

McDonald's New
Building

General Plan Review
(No Permit Issued)

Inspections
Approved

McDonald's New building 1950 Legacy
Circle, Elizabeth,
CO 80107

McDonald's Site
Development Plan
and Plat Amendment

General Plan Review
(No Permit Issued)

Inspections
Approved

McDonald's New building 1950 Legacy
Circle, Elizabeth,
CO 80107

McDonald's Lot Line
Adjustment

General Plan Review
(No Permit Issued)

Inspections
Approved

McDonald's New building 1950 Legacy
Circle, Elizabeth,
CO 80107

McDonald's Kitchen
Hood System
Installation

Commerical Kitchen
Hood Automatic Fire-
Extinguishing System

Inspections
Approved

McDonald's New building 1950 Legacy
Circle, Elizabeth,
CO 80107

McDonald's
Underground
Sprinkler Main

Underground Sprinkler
System Construction
Permit

Inspections
Approved

McDonald's New building 1950 Legacy McDonald's Fire Fire Alarm and Inspections

Printed On: 04/06/2023 01:13:03 PM3 of 7



Project Name Project Description Occupant Full
Address

Permit Name Permit Type Project
Status

Circle, Elizabeth,
CO 80107

Alarm Detection Systems and
Related Equipment
Construction Permit

Approved

McDonald's New building 1950 Legacy
Circle, Elizabeth,
CO 80107

McDonald's Sprinkler
System Installation

Underground Sprinkler
System Construction
Permit

Inspections
Approved

Project Number: 22-003

Cleary Building New building for office/warehouse 755 Crossroads
Circle, Town of
Elizabeth, CO
80107

Cleary Site Plan General Plan Review
(No Permit Issued)

Plan
Review/Permit

Approved

Cleary Building New building for office/warehouse 755 Crossroads
Circle, Town of
Elizabeth, CO
80107

Cleary New Building General Plan Review
(No Permit Issued)

Plan
Review/Permit

Approved

Project Number: 22-002

Gold Creek RV
Storage New
Building

New Building 34675
Gaudreault
Court, Town of
Elizabeth 80107

Gold Creek RV
Storage New Building

General Plan Review
(No Permit Issued)

Plan
Review/Permit

Approved

Gold Creek RV
Storage New
Building

New Building 34675
Gaudreault
Court, Town of
Elizabeth 80107

Gold Creek RV
Storage Second
Building

Fire Alarm and
Detection Systems and
Related Equipment
Construction Permit

Plan
Review/Permit

Approved

Project Number: 22-001

Dirt Dogs
Excavating

 7940
Cherrywood
Loop, Kiowa, CO
80117

Dirt Dogs Excavating
Site Plan

General Plan Review
(No Permit Issued)

Plan
Review/Permit

Approved

Dirt Dogs
Excavating

 7940
Cherrywood
Loop, Kiowa, CO
80117

Dirt Dogs Holdings
Warehouse/Storage
Facility

General Plan Review
(No Permit Issued)

Plan
Review/Permit

Approved

Dirt Dogs
Excavating

 7940
Cherrywood
Loop, Kiowa, CO
80117

Building Review #2 General Plan Review
(No Permit Issued)

Plan
Review/Permit

Approved

Project Number: 21-0040

Elizabeth
Express
Laundry

Tenant finish 243 SPRUCE
Court 80107

Elizabeth Express
Laundry Change of
Use

General Plan Review
(No Permit Issued)

Plan
Review/Permit

Approved

Elizabeth
Express
Laundry

Tenant finish 243 SPRUCE
Court 80107

Elizabeth Express
Laundry
Remodel/Tenant
Finish

General Plan Review
(No Permit Issued)

Plan
Review/Permit

Approved

Project Number: 21-0034

True Value
Lumber Building

New building -  on hold 175 West KIOWA
Avenue 80107

  Open

Project Number: 21-0033

North 40 RV &
Boat Storage

  North 40 RV & Boat
Storage EDZ Site
Plan

General Plan Review
(No Permit Issued)

Plan
Review/Permit

Approved

Project Number: 21-0026

Weiss Variance Turn existing building into residence    Plan
Review/Permit

Approved

Project Number: 21-0018

36480 Antler
Grove Circle

13D Residential Sprinkler System 36480 Antler
Grove Circle,
Elizabeth 80107

36480 Antler Grove
Circle

Automatic Fire
Extinguishing System
Construction Permit

Inspections
Approved

Project Number: 21-0013

Main Street
Station Final
Plat

Minor Development  Main Street Station
Plat

 Plan
Review/Permit

Approved

Project Number: 21-0012

Martin Rezone Rezone one lot into 2 by Timber Ridge 80107 Martin Rezone General Plan Review
(No Permit Issued)

Plan
Review/Permit

Printed On: 04/06/2023 01:13:03 PM4 of 7



Project Name Project Description Occupant Full
Address

Permit Name Permit Type Project
Status

Approved

Project Number: 21-0007

Abraham
Subdivision
Rezoning

Split 44.23 acres 80107 Abraham Subdivision
Rezone

General Plan Review
(No Permit Issued)

Plan
Review/Permit

Approved

Project Number: 21-0005

Potestio
Brother's
Equipment;
John Deere
Dealership

Expand the existing building 7993
CHERRYWOOD
80107

Potestio Brothers
Site Plan Review

General Plan Review
(No Permit Issued)

Plan
Review/Permit

Approved

Project Number: 20-0053

Kaufman 13D
Sprinkler
System

Install a 13D sprinkler System 900 CR 146,
Elizabeth

Kaufman 13D Fire
Suppression System

Automatic Fire
Extinguishing System
Construction Permit

Plan
Review/Permit

Approved

Project Number: 20-0051

Elizabeth 44 Construct 1 28 unit 3-story apartment building and  14-
3 story townhomes

 Elizabeth 44 Site
Plan

General Plan Review
(No Permit Issued)

Plan
Review/Permit

Approved

Project Number: 20-0050

Britt Residence
13D Sprinkler
System

Install a 13D Residential Sprinkler System+ 1800 CR 118,
Elizabeth

Britt 13D Fire
Sprinkler System

Automatic Fire
Extinguishing System
Construction Permit

Plan
Review/Permit

Approved

Project Number: 20-0045

Elizabeth West 623 Homes on 425.9 Acres in the Town of Elizabeth 80107 Elizabeth West
Rezone

General Plan Review
(No Permit Issued)

Plan
Review/Permit

Approved

Elizabeth West 623 Homes on 425.9 Acres in the Town of Elizabeth 80107 Elizabeth West
Rezone Resubmittal

General Plan Review
(No Permit Issued)

Plan
Review/Permit

Approved

Project Number: 20-0043

Holly Acres New Buildings on site 5403 HWY 86
80107

Holly Acres Variance
Review

General Plan Review
(No Permit Issued)

Plan
Review/Permit

Approved

Holly Acres New Buildings on site 5403 HWY 86
80107

Holly Acres Site
development Plan

General Plan Review
(No Permit Issued)

Plan
Review/Permit

Approved

Holly Acres New Buildings on site 5403 HWY 86
80107

Holly Acres New
Building Construction

General Plan Review
(No Permit Issued)

Plan
Review/Permit

Approved

Holly Acres New Buildings on site 5403 HWY 86
80107

Holly Acres
Mezzanine Tenant
Finish

General Plan Review
(No Permit Issued)

Plan
Review/Permit

Approved

Holly Acres New Buildings on site 5403 HWY 86
80107

Holly Acres Nursery
Interior Tenant Finish

General Plan Review
(No Permit Issued)

Plan
Review/Permit

Approved

Project Number: 20-0040

Goose Creek
Business Park

Commercial business park on Singing Hills Road  Goose Creek
Business Park Site
Plan Review

General Plan Review
(No Permit Issued)

Plan
Review/Permit

Approved

Goose Creek
Business Park

Commercial business park on Singing Hills Road  Goose Creek
Business Park EDZ
Site Plan and Plat

General Plan Review
(No Permit Issued)

Plan
Review/Permit

Approved

Project Number: 20-0027

Independence
Subdivision

New Subdivision with 932 homes 80107 Homstead Site Plan General Plan Review
(No Permit Issued)

Plan
Review/Permit

Approved

Independence
Subdivision

New Subdivision with 932 homes 80107 Independence Water
Review

Fire Hydrant System
Approval

Plan
Review/Permit

Approved

Independence
Subdivision

New Subdivision with 932 homes 80107 Plat amendment to
filing 1

General Plan Review
(No Permit Issued)

Plan
Review/Permit

Approved

Independence
Subdivision

New Subdivision with 932 homes 80107 Independence Filing
2 Subdivision and
Water System
Review

General Plan Review
(No Permit Issued)

Plan
Review/Permit

Approved

Printed On: 04/06/2023 01:13:03 PM5 of 7



Project Name Project Description Occupant Full
Address

Permit Name Permit Type Project
Status

Independence
Subdivision

New Subdivision with 932 homes 80107 Independence Filing
3

General Plan Review
(No Permit Issued)

Plan
Review/Permit

Approved

Independence
Subdivision

New Subdivision with 932 homes 80107 Industry Night
Temporary
Membrane Structure
Permit

Tents, Canopies, and
Membrane Structures
Operational Permit

Plan
Review/Permit

Approved

Independence
Subdivision

New Subdivision with 932 homes 80107 Independence PUD
Amendment

General Plan Review
(No Permit Issued)

Plan
Review/Permit

Approved

Independence
Subdivision

New Subdivision with 932 homes 80107 Independence Filing
4 Final Plat

General Plan Review
(No Permit Issued)

Plan
Review/Permit

Approved

Project Number: 20-0026

Miller Ranch 193 lots on 970 acres - CR 154 and CR 21 80107 Miller Ranch Filing 3
(FP - 20-0053)

 Plan
Review/Permit

Approved

Miller Ranch 193 lots on 970 acres - CR 154 and CR 21 80107 Miller Ranch Filing 2
Final Plat )FP-20-
0052)

General Plan Review
(No Permit Issued)

Plan
Review/Permit

Approved

Miller Ranch 193 lots on 970 acres - CR 154 and CR 21 80107 Financial Plan Miller
Ranch Service Plan

General Plan Review
(No Permit Issued)

Plan
Review/Permit

Approved

Project Number: 20-0011

Legacy Village
Subdivision

226 New single Family Homes , CO Final Plat Plan
Review

 Plan
Review/Permit

Approved

Legacy Village
Subdivision

226 New single Family Homes , CO Preliminary Plat
Review

General Plan Review
(No Permit Issued)

Plan
Review/Permit

Approved

Legacy Village
Subdivision

226 New single Family Homes , CO Final Plat Plan
Review Filing 1

General Plan Review
(No Permit Issued)

Plan
Review/Permit

Approved

Legacy Village
Subdivision

226 New single Family Homes , CO Final Plat Plan
Review Filing 2

General Plan Review
(No Permit Issued)

Plan
Review/Permit

Approved

Project Number: 18-001

Pine Ridge
Crossing

 623 Brooke
Street, Elizabeth,
CO 80107

Pine Ridge Crossing
Underground
Sprinkler Main
Building #4

Underground Sprinkler
System Construction
Permit

Plan
Review/Permit

Approved

Pine Ridge
Crossing

 623 Brooke
Street, Elizabeth,
CO 80107

Pine Ridge Crossing
Building #1 Fire
Alarm Installation

Fire Alarm and
Detection Systems and
Related Equipment
Construction Permit

Plan
Review/Permit

Approved

Pine Ridge
Crossing

 623 Brooke
Street, Elizabeth,
CO 80107

Pine Ridge Crossing
Building #2 Fire
Alarm Installation

Fire Alarm and
Detection Systems and
Related Equipment
Construction Permit

Plan
Review/Permit

Approved

Pine Ridge
Crossing

 623 Brooke
Street, Elizabeth,
CO 80107

Pine Ridge Crossing
Building #3 Fire
Alarm Installation

Fire Alarm and
Detection Systems and
Related Equipment
Construction Permit

Plan
Review/Permit

Approved

Pine Ridge
Crossing

 623 Brooke
Street, Elizabeth,
CO 80107

Pine Ridge Crossing
Building #4 Fire
Alarm Installation

Fire Alarm and
Detection Systems and
Related Equipment
Construction Permit

Plan
Review/Permit

Approved

Pine Ridge
Crossing

 623 Brooke
Street, Elizabeth,
CO 80107

Pine Ridge Crossing
Building #1 Sprinkler
System Installation

Underground Sprinkler
System Construction
Permit

Plan
Review/Permit

Approved

Pine Ridge
Crossing

 623 Brooke
Street, Elizabeth,
CO 80107

Pine Ridge Crossing
Building #2 Sprinkler
System Installation

Underground Sprinkler
System Construction
Permit

Plan
Review/Permit

Approved

Pine Ridge
Crossing

 623 Brooke
Street, Elizabeth,
CO 80107

Pine Ridge Crossing
Building #3 Sprinkler
System Installation

Underground Sprinkler
System Construction
Permit

Plan
Review/Permit

Approved

Pine Ridge
Crossing

 623 Brooke
Street, Elizabeth,

Pine Ridge Crossing
Building #4 Sprinkler

Underground Sprinkler
System Construction

Plan
Review/Permit

Printed On: 04/06/2023 01:13:03 PM6 of 7



Project Name Project Description Occupant Full
Address

Permit Name Permit Type Project
Status

Project Status:

CO 80107 System Installation Permit Approved

Pine Ridge
Crossing

 623 Brooke
Street, Elizabeth,
CO 80107

Pine Ridge Crossing
Building #1
Underground
Sprinkler Main

Underground Sprinkler
System Construction
Permit

Plan
Review/Permit

Approved

Pine Ridge
Crossing

 623 Brooke
Street, Elizabeth,
CO 80107

Pine Ridge Crossing
Building #2
Underground
Sprinkler Main

Underground Sprinkler
System Construction
Permit

Plan
Review/Permit

Approved

Pine Ridge
Crossing

 623 Brooke
Street, Elizabeth,
CO 80107

Pine Ridge Crossing
Building #3
Underground
Sprinkler Main

Underground Sprinkler
System Construction
Permit

Plan
Review/Permit

Approved

Pine Ridge
Crossing

 623 Brooke
Street, Elizabeth,
CO 80107

Pine Ridge Crossing
Site Review and
Inspection

General Plan Review
(No Permit Issued)

Plan
Review/Permit

Approved

Pine Ridge
Crossing

 623 Brooke
Street, Elizabeth,
CO 80107

Pine Ridge Crossing
Site Plan
Amendment

General Plan Review
(No Permit Issued)

Plan
Review/Permit

Approved

Report Criteria

Does Not Contain completed

Printed On: 04/06/2023 01:13:03 PM7 of 7



RESOLUTION #23-04-03 

 

ELIZABETH FIRE PROTECTION DISTRICT 

RESOLUTION OF THE CORPORATE AUTHORITY 

RELATING TO A RETIREMENT HEALTHCARE FUNDING PLAN 

 

WHEREAS, The ELIZABETH FIRE PROTECTION DISTRICT is a Municipal Corporation, 

organized as a Fire Protection District and is a member of the National Public Pension Fund 

Association ("NPPFA"); 

 
WHEREAS, NPPFA has created a Retirement Healthcare Funding Plan (the "Plan") for the 

use of its member jurisdictions and offers the Plan for adoption by Governmental Employers for 
the benefit of their respective employees and beneficiaries; 
 

WHEREAS, NPPFA has created for execution a Health and Welfare Document, and the 

corresponding Specifications; 
 

 WHEREAS, NPPFA, on behalf of sponsoring entities that adopt and maintain the Plan, has 
provided for coordinated investment management and administrative services for the 

accumulation phase of the Plan through an Administrative Services Agreement, hereto (the 

"Services Agreement"), pursuant to which Transamerica Retirement Solutions (the "Service 

Agent") has been appointed to provide certain record keeping and administrative services with 
respect to the Plan, as more specified in the Services Agreement and to provide investment 

management  under a Group Mutual Fund Agreement ; 
 

WHEREAS, the ELIZABETH FIRE PROTECTION DISTRICT has employees rendering valuable 

services to the ELIZABETH FIRE RESCUE and has, upon due deliberation, concluded that it would 

be prudent and appropriate to adopt and administer the Plan on behalf of such employees of the 

ELIZABETH FIRE PROTECTION DISTRICT who are subject to a Collective Bargaining Agreement 

with the ELIZABETH FIRE PROTECTION DISTRICT (as specified in schedule A of the Specifications) 

that requires inclusion in the Plan or have been designated as a covered class by the employer (as 

specified in schedule A of the Specifications) in order to allow such employees to provide for 

their retirement security and to serve the interest of the ELIZABETH FIRE PROTECTION DISTRICT  in 

attracting and retaining competent personnel; 

 

WHEREAS, the Corporate Authority has reviewed the Plan documents including, and the 

investment media via prospectus, and has found the NPPFA's arrangements to be reasonable and 

beneficial to the Plan and will serve the objectives of the ELIZABETH FIRE PROTECTION DISTRICT 

and its employees who participate in the Plan and; 

 

WHEREAS, the ELIZABETH FIRE PROTECTION DISTRICT is empowered by the laws, rules 

and regulations of State of Illinois to take on its behalf the actions contemplated by this 

Resolution; 

 

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the ELIZABETH FIRE PROTECTION DISTRICT hereby 

adopts the Health and Welfare Document, and the corresponding Trust Agreement, and 



corresponding Specifications and as may be amended from time to time to comply with any 

changes in applicable laws, rules and regulations or as otherwise necessary or appropriate; 

 

FURTHER RESOLVED, that the ELIZABETH FIRE PROTECTION DISTRICT hereby authorizes 

the program coordinator to execute the BMI TRS Administrative Service Agreement, including 

without limitation which may be amended from time to time to comply with any changes in 
applicable laws, rules and regulations or as otherwise necessary or appropriate; 

 

FURTHER RESOLVED, that the ELIZABETH FIRE PROTECTION DISTRICT hereby appoints 

State Street Bank and Trust as passive trustee of the plan pursuant to its master trustee agreement 
with Transamerica Retirement Solutions.   

 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the ELIZABETH FIRE PROTECTION DISTRICT Board direct 

the CHIEF or his/her designee shall be the coordinator for this program; shall receive necessary 

reports, notices, etc. from BMI and Transamerica Retirement Solutions may assign administrative 

duties to carry out the Plan to the appropriate departments, and is authorized to execute all 

necessary agreements incidental to the administration of the Plan. 

 

I, ____________________________, Secretary of the ELIZABETH FIRE PROTECTION 

DISTRICT do hereby certify that the foregoing resolution, proposed by Trustee 

_______________________, was duly passed and adopted in the Board of Trustees of the 

ELIZABETH FIRE PROTECTION DISTRICT at a regular meeting thereof assembled this  11th day of 

April, 2023.    

 
 
 
 
 
 
__________________________________________________     
Secretary of the ELIZABETH FIRE PROTECTION DISTRICT 
 
     

 

 
 



 

 

WELFARE BENEFIT PLAN  

RETIREE HEALTHCARE FUNDING PLAN 

(RHFP) 

 

 

 

Elizabeth Fire Protection District 

 

 

 

Effective Date: March 1, 2023 

 



 

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 

 



 

 

ELIZABETH FIRE PROTECTION DISTRICT 

RETIREE HEALTHCARE FUNDING PLAN (RHFP) 

WELFARE BENEFIT PLAN 

The Employer/Sponsoring Entity identified in the Retiree Healthcare Funding Plan Specifications 

(“Employer/Sponsoring Entity”) hereby adopts and establishes a welfare benefit plan (herein 

referred to as the “Plan”) for the benefit of its Eligible Employees, their eligible Dependents and 

Beneficiaries by completion of the RHFP® Plan Specifications. 

BABBITT MUNICIPALITES INC. (“BMI”), an Illinois corporation, reserves all rights with 

respect to this Welfare Benefit Plan document, the RHFP® Plan Trust Agreement (the “Trust”) 

and the Plan Specifications associated with it. 

BMI and the Employer/Sponsoring Entity intend that this Plan and the Trust attached hereto, and 

by reference incorporated herein, constitute an “employee welfare benefit plan” under Title I, 

section 3(1), of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 as amended (“ERISA”) 

and an arrangement governed by section 115 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. 

ARTICLE 1. 

DEFINITIONS 

1.1. “Account Balance” means the aggregate value of the Participant’s Employer/Sponsoring 

Entity Contribution Account and Accrued Leave Contribution Account. 

1.2. “Accrued Leave Contribution” or “Employer/Sponsoring Entity Accrued Leave 

Contribution” means a contribution to the Participant’s account made by the Employer/Sponsoring 

Entity, to the extent such contribution is selected in the Plan Specifications. 

1.3. “Accrued Leave Contribution Account” means that portion of the Trust Fund held by the 

Trustee and separately maintained by the Administrator on behalf of and for the purpose of 

providing benefits to a Participant, his or her Dependent(s) and Beneficiaries, pursuant to Section 

5.1 hereof, attributable to Employer/Sponsoring Entity Accrued Leave Contributions. 

1.4.  “Administrator” or “Plan Administrator” means the individual, entity or group designated 

by the Employer/Sponsoring Entity in the Plan Specifications pursuant to Section 2.2 hereof to 

administer the Plan on behalf of the Employer/Sponsoring Entity and the Participants. 

1.5. “Adopting Employer/Sponsoring Entity” means a corporation or other organization other 

than the Employer/Sponsoring Entity which adopts this Plan by executing Plan Specifications 

setting forth its terms of adoption pursuant to Article 11 hereof. 

1.6.  “Adoption Date” means the date as of which the Employer/Sponsoring Entity adopts this 

Plan as set forth in the Plan Specifications. 



 

 

1.7.  “Allocation Date” means the date as of which Employer/Sponsoring Entity contributions 

are credited to the accounts of Participants as elected in the Plan Specifications. 

1.8. “Anniversary Date” means the last day of each Plan Year. 

1.9. “Authorized Leave of Absence” means a temporary cessation of active employment with 

the Employer/Sponsoring Entity pursuant to an established policy, whether occasioned by illness, 

military service, maternity or paternity leave, or any other reason. An Authorized Leave of 

Absence shall not be considered a termination of employment. 

1.10. “Beneficiary” or “Beneficiaries” means the person or persons designated by the Participant 

pursuant to Section 8.4 to receive benefits payable from the Plan (or directly from insurance 

Policies purchased by the Plan) in the event of the Participant’s death. 

1.11. “BMI” means BABBITT MUNICIPALITES INC. and any successor that shall maintain 

this Plan document. 

1.12. “Break in Service” means a 12-consecutive month period during which an Employee fails 

to complete more than 500 Hours of Service. 

1.13. “Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended or replaced from time to 

time. 

1.14. “Collective Bargaining Agreement” means a bona fide agreement between the 

Employer/Sponsoring Entity and Employee representatives provided that health and welfare 

benefits were the subject of good faith bargaining between such Employee representatives and the 

Employer/Sponsoring Entity. The term “Employee representatives” does not include an 

organization more than half of whose members are owners, officers or executives of the 

Employer/Sponsoring Entity. 

1.15. “Compensation” with respect to a Participant means the total wages or salary, overtime, 

commissions, bonuses, and any other taxable remuneration earned while a Participant from the 

Employer/Sponsoring Entity and actually paid (determined as elected in the Plan Specifications) 

during the 12-month period elected in the Plan Specifications. The Employer/Sponsoring Entity 

may elect in the Plan Specifications to exclude as Compensation any amount which is contributed 

by the Employer/Sponsoring Entity pursuant to a salary reduction agreement and which is not 

includible in the gross income of an employee under Code sections 125, 402(e)(3), 402(h), or 

403(b). The Employer/Sponsoring Entity may also elect in the Plan Specifications to eliminate 

categories of Compensation which do not result in discrimination in favor of Highly-Compensated 

Employees, including: 

(a) Amounts paid in commissions, bonuses or overtime compensation; 

(b) Contributions under a salary reduction agreement to a cash or deferred plan under Code 

section 403(b), 457(b), or to a simplified employee pension plan under Code section 408(k). 

(c) Compensation in excess of a maximum amount specified. 



 

 

1.16. “Covered Group” means those Employees whom the Employer/Sponsoring Entity has 

elected to cover under this Plan in the Plan Specifications. 

1.17. “Dependent” means, with respect to any Participant: 

(a) The Participant’s spouse; 

(b) A child of the Participant or the Participant’s spouse (including a child placed for adoption 

with or under legal guardianship of the Participant or spouse) who is unmarried and is less than 19 

years of age or is less than 25 years of age and is a full-time student at an accredited educational 

institution during at least five (5) months of the calendar year. The age requirement is waived for 

any child who is mentally or physically disabled prior to age 19, is incapable of self-sustaining 

employment and who is a “dependent” of the Participant within the meaning of section 152 of the 

Code; 

(c) Any other person that the Administrator, relying on information furnished by the 

Participant, in good faith determines to meet the definition of a dependent within the meaning of 

section 152(a) of the Code. 

1.18. “Disability” means a physical or mental condition of a Participant expected to last for a 

continuous period of not less than twelve (12) months, resulting from bodily injury, disease, or 

mental disorder which renders the Employee incapable of engaging in or continuing his or her 

usual and customary employment. A licensed physician selected by the Administrator shall 

determine the Disability of a Participant. The determination shall be applied uniformly to all 

Participants. 

1.19. “Discretionary Contribution” or “Employer/Sponsoring Entity Discretionary 

Contribution” means a contribution to the Participant’s account made by the Employer/Sponsoring 

Entity, to the extent such contribution is selected in the Plan Specifications. 

1.20. “Early Retirement Date” means the combination of age and Years of Service established 

by the Employer/Sponsoring Entity in the Plan Specifications, which is the earliest date on which 

a Participant may retire and receive post-retirement benefits under the Plan. 

1.21. “Earned” means that portion of a Participant’s Employer/Sponsoring Entity Contribution 

Account to which the Participant has become entitled by virtue of his or her age and Years of 

Service (or Years of Participation) in accordance with the Earned benefit schedule set forth in the 

Plan Specifications. 

1.22. “Effective Date” means the date on which this Plan initially is effective, as set forth in the 

Plan Specifications. 

1.23. “Eligible Employee” means an Employee who has satisfied the eligibility requirements set 

forth in the Plan Specifications. 

1.24. “Employee” means any person employed by the Employer/Sponsoring Entity who receives 

compensation for personal services to the Employer/Sponsoring Entity that is subject to 

withholding for federal income tax purposes. The term “Employee” does not include an 



 

 

independent contractor or leased employee or any individual who is classified by the 

Employer/Sponsoring Entity other than as an Employee even if it is later determined that the 

classification is incorrect. 

1.25. “Employer/Sponsoring Entity” means a corporation or other organization that adopts this 

Plan by executing Plan Specifications setting forth its terms of adoption and any predecessor or 

successor thereto. Where appropriate, Employer/Sponsoring Entity shall also mean any Adopting 

Employer/Sponsoring Entity, including any organization that must be aggregated with the 

Employer/Sponsoring Entity under Code Sections 414(b)(c) or (m). 

1.26. “Employer/Sponsoring Entity Contribution Account” means that portion of the Trust Fund 

held by the Trustee and separately maintained by the Administrator on behalf of and for the 

purpose of providing benefits to a Participant, his or her Dependent(s) and Beneficiaries, pursuant 

to Section 5.1 hereof, attributable to Employer/Sponsoring Entity Discretionary Contributions. 

1.27. “Entry Date” means the date on which an Employee commences participation in the Plan 

as elected by the Employer/Sponsoring Entity in the Plan Specifications. After an Employee’s 

Entry Date, such Employee shall be considered to be a Participant in the Plan. 

1.28. “ERISA” means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as it may be 

amended from time to time. 

1.29. “Fiduciary” means any person who: (i) exercises any discretionary authority or control 

respecting management of the Plan or exercises any authority or control respecting management 

or disposition of its assets; (ii) renders investment advice for a fee or other compensation, direct 

or indirect, with respect to any moneys or other property of the Plan or has any authority or 

responsibility to do so, or (iii) has any discretionary authority or discretionary responsibility in the 

administration of the Plan, including, but not limited to, the Trustee, the Employer/Sponsoring 

Entity and the Administrator. 

1.30. “Fund” or “Trust Fund” means the assets of the Plan held in trust, as the same shall exist 

from time to time, including earnings and appreciation thereon. 

1.31. “Highly Compensated Employee” means any Employee who, for the preceding year 

received Compensation from the Adopting Employer/Sponsoring Entity (or from all entities 

required to be aggregated with the Adopting Employer/Sponsoring Entity pursuant to sections 

414(b), (c) or (m) of the Code) in excess of $80,000 [as adjusted pursuant to Code section 415(d)], 

and was in the “top-paid group of employees” (as described in Code section 414(q) for such 

preceding year. 

1.32. “Highly Compensated Individual”, for purposes of testing whether the Plan meets the 

requirements of Code section 105(h) means an individual who is--  

(a) One of the five (5) highest paid officers, 

; or 



 

 

(b) Among the highest paid twenty-five percent (25%) of all Employees (other than employees 

described in section 105(h)(3)(B) who are not participants in this Plan or in any self-insured 

medical or in a health maintenance organization plan maintained by the Employer/Sponsoring 

Entity). 

The status of an Employee as an officer is determined with respect to a particular benefit 

on the basis of the Employee’s officer status at the time during the Plan Year at which the 

benefit is provided. In calculating the highest paid twenty-five percent (25%) of all 

Employees, the number of Employees included will be rounded to the next highest number. 

The level of an Employee’s compensation is determined on the basis of the Employee’s 

compensation for the Plan Year. For purposes of the preceding sentence, fiscal year plans 

may determine Employee compensation on the basis of the calendar year ending within the 

Plan Year. 

1.33. “Hour of Service” means (i) each hour for which an Employee is paid, or entitled to 

payment, for the performance of duties for the Employer/Sponsoring Entity, and (ii) each hour (up 

to a maximum of 501 hours) for which an Employee is paid, or entitled to payment, by the 

Employer/Sponsoring Entity on account of a period of time during which no duties are performed 

(irrespective of whether the employment relationship has terminated) due to vacation, holiday, 

illness, incapacity (including disability), layoff, jury duty, military duty or Authorized Leave of 

Absence. Hours of Service shall be determined on the basis elected in the Plan Specifications. 

Hours of Service shall be credited for employment with the Employer/Sponsoring Entity 

and with any Adopting Employer/Sponsoring Entity or other entity required to be 

aggregated with the Employer/Sponsoring Entity pursuant to Code section 414(o) and the 

Regulations thereunder. Hours of Service shall also be credited for any individual 

considered an Employee for purposes of this Plan under Code section 414(n) or Code 

section 414(o) and the Regulations thereunder. 

Solely for purposes of determining whether a Break in Service, as defined in paragraph 

1.12, for purposes of participation and earning of benefits has occurred in a computation 

period, an individual who is absent from work for maternity or paternity reasons shall 

receive credit for the Hours of Service which would otherwise have been credited to such 

individual but for such absence, or in any case in which such hours cannot be determined, 

eight (8) Hours of Service per day of such absence. For purposes of this paragraph, an 

absence from work for maternity or paternity reasons means an absence by reason of the 

pregnancy of the individual, by reason of a birth of a child of the individual, by reason of 

the placement of a child with the individual in connection with the adoption of such child 

by such individual, or for purposes of caring for such child for a period beginning 

immediately following such birth or placement. The Hours of Service credited under this 

paragraph shall be credited in the computation period in which the absence begins if the 

crediting is necessary to prevent a Break in Service in that period, or in all other cases, in 

the following computation period. No more than 501 hours will be credited under this 

paragraph. 

1.34. “Investment Manager” means any person, firm or corporation who is a registered 

investment adviser under the Investment Advisers Act of 1940, a bank or an insurance company, 



 

 

and (i) who has the power to manage, acquire, or dispose of Plan assets, and (ii) who acknowledges 

in writing his Fiduciary responsibility to the Plan. 

1.35. “Key Employee” means any Employee or former Employee (and the Beneficiaries of such 

Employee) who at any time during the determination period was an officer of the 

Employer/Sponsoring Entity if such individual’s annual Compensation exceeds 50% of the dollar 

limitation under Code section 415(b)(1)(A) (the defined benefit maximum annual benefit). For 

purposes of determining who is a Key Employee, annual Compensation means Compensation 

determined under Code section 415, but including amounts deferred to a cash or deferred plan 

under code section 401(k), a simplified employee pension plan under Code section 408(k), a 

cafeteria plan under Code section 125 or a tax-deferred annuity under Code section 403(b). The 

determination period is the Plan Year containing the Determination Date. The determination of 

who is Key Employee will be made in accordance with Code section 416(i)(1) and the Regulations 

thereunder. 

1.36. “Leased Employee” means any person (other than an Employee of the recipient) who, 

pursuant to an agreement between the recipient and any other person (“leasing organization”), has 

performed services for the recipient [or for the recipient and related persons determined in 

accordance with Code section 414(n)(6)] on a substantially full-time basis for a period of at least 

one year, and such services are under the primary direction or control of the recipient 

Employer/Sponsoring Entity. 

1.37. “Medical Expense” means any expense paid for medical care of a Participant and his or 

her spouse and other Dependents within the meaning of Section 213 of the Code. Such expenses 

include physician’s and hospital charges, dental charges, hearing and vision expenses, 

prescriptions, ambulance, laboratory fees, convalescent and nursing home care, hospice care, 

private nursing care, Medigap or Medicare supplement insurance premiums, other medical 

insurance premiums, convalescent or nursing home care, the cost of medications and/or 

prescriptions, private nursing and hospice care, amounts paid or due as deductibles, co-pay 

amounts, co-insurance costs, and other medical expenses within the meaning of Section 213(d) of 

the Internal Revenue Code. 

1.38. “Normal Retirement Date” means the combination of age and Years of Service established 

by the Employer/Sponsoring Entity in the Plan Specifications, at or after which a Participant may 

receive his or her post-retirement benefits under the Plan. 

1.39. “Participant” means any Eligible Employee who has not for any reason become ineligible 

to participate in the Plan. 

1.40. “Plan” means the welfare benefit plan adopted by the Employer/Sponsoring Entity under 

this Plan document, the Plan Specifications and the separate Trust Agreement, including all 

amendments thereto, all of which are incorporated by reference and made a part hereof. 

1.41. “Plan Specifications” means the RHFP® Plan Specifications document attached hereto and 

incorporated herein by reference, by which the Employer/Sponsoring Entity establishes or by 

which an Adopting Employer/Sponsoring Entity adopts a welfare benefit plan pursuant to the 

terms of this Plan for the benefit of its Eligible Employees. 



 

 

1.42. “Plan Year” means the Plan’s accounting year of twelve (12) consecutive months 

designated by the Employer/Sponsoring Entity in the Plan Specifications. 

1.43. “Policy” means an insurance or annuity policy or policies, either group or individual, issued 

by an insurer. 

1.44. “Qualified Medical Child Support Order” means a signed judgment, decree or order 

(including approval of a settlement agreement) issued by a state court or administrative agency 

which requires or purports to require a Participant to provide medical or health insurance to a 

Dependent child. 

1.45. “Regulation” means a section of the Income Tax Regulations promulgated by the Secretary 

of the Treasury or his delegate, as amended from time to time. 

1.46. “Retirement Date” means the date as of which a Participant actually retires, whether such 

retirement occurs on or after the Participant’s Early Retirement Date or Normal Retirement Date. 

The Early Retirement Date and Normal Retirement Date are set forth in the Plan Specifications. 

1.47. “Service” means the period of current or prior employment with the Employer/Sponsoring 

Entity. If the Employer/Sponsoring Entity maintains a plan of a predecessor Employer/Sponsoring 

Entity, Service for the predecessor shall be treated as Service for the Employer/Sponsoring Entity. 

1.48. “Severance” or “Severance of Employment” means the termination of a period of Service 

with the Employer/Sponsoring Entity, other than an Authorized Leave of Absence, for reasons 

other than death, disability or retirement. 

1.49. “Severed Participant” means a Participant whose employment has been terminated for 

reasons other than death or retirement. 

1.50. “Trustee” means the person or persons named or appointed as Trustee under the Trust in 

any separate trust forming a part of this Plan, and his, their, or its successors. 

1.51. “Trust” means the separate trust or trusts created pursuant to this Plan, incorporated herein 

by reference. 

1.52. “Valuation Date” means the last day of the Plan Year and such other date or dates selected 

by the Employer/Sponsoring Entity on which Participant accounts are valued in accordance with 

Article 5 hereof. 

1.53. “Year of Participation” means a Year of Service during which an Employee is eligible to 

participate in the plan and is credited by the Employer/Sponsoring Entity with the number of Hours 

of Service specified in the Plan Specifications. The initial computation period for determining 

Years of Participation shall commence on the first day of the Plan Year that includes the 

Participant’s Entry Date. 

1.54. “Year of Service” means , with respect to any Participant, any Plan Year in which such 

Participant performs an average of thirty (30) Hours of Service per week or is credited with 1,000 

Hours of Service total. 



 

 

Years of Service with the Employer/Sponsoring Entity and with a predecessor 

Employer/Sponsoring Entity or any Adopting Employer/Sponsoring Entity shall be 

recognized. 

Years of Service for eligibility to participate in the Plan, for allocation of 

Employer/Sponsoring Entity contributions and for Earning of benefits may be different, as 

elected in the Plan Specifications. To determine Years of Service and Breaks in Service for 

purposes of eligibility, the 12-consecutive month period shall commence on the date on 

which an Employee first performs an Hour of Service for the Employer/Sponsoring Entity 

and each anniversary thereof, such that the succeeding 12-consecutive month period 

commences with the employee’s first anniversary of employment and so on. 

ARTICLE 2. 

ADMINISTRATION 

2.1. POWERS AND RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE EMPLOYER/SPONSORING ENTITY 

The Employer/Sponsoring Entity shall have the following duties, powers and responsibilities with 

regard to the Administration of the Plan: 

(a) To appoint and remove the Trustee and the Administrator from time to time as it deems 

necessary for the proper administration of the Plan to assure that the Plan is being operated for the 

benefit of the Participants, their Beneficiaries and Dependents in accordance with the terms of this 

Plan, the Plan Specifications, the Trust, the Code, ERISA and other applicable federal and state 

laws and any applicable Collective Bargaining Agreement. 

(b) To review periodically the performance of any Fiduciary or other person to whom duties 

have been delegated or allocated under the provisions of this Plan or pursuant to procedures 

established hereunder. This requirement may be satisfied by formal periodic review by the 

Employer/Sponsoring Entity or by a qualified person specifically designated by the 

Employer/Sponsoring Entity, through day-to-day conduct and evaluation, or through other 

appropriate ways. 

2.2. APPOINTMENT OF ADMINISTRATOR 

The Plan Administrator or Administrator means the Employer/Sponsoring Entity or a person 

designated by the Employer/Sponsoring Entity in the Plan Specifications. The Plan Administrator 

is a named fiduciary for operation and management of the Plan and shall have the powers and 

duties set forth below. 

2.3. POWERS AND DUTIES OF THE ADMINISTRATOR 

The primary responsibility of the Administrator is to administer the Plan in accordance with the 

Code and Regulations and other applicable laws, subject to the specific terms of the Plan. The 

Administrator shall administer the Plan in accordance with its terms and shall have the power and 

discretion to construe the terms of the Plan and to determine all questions arising in connection 

with the administration, interpretation, and application of the Plan. Any such determination by the 



 

 

Administrator shall be conclusive and binding upon all persons. The Administrator may establish 

procedures, correct any defect, supply any information, or reconcile any inconsistency in such 

manner and to such extent as shall be deemed necessary or advisable to carry out the purpose of 

the Plan. The Administrator shall have all powers necessary or appropriate to accomplish his duties 

under this Plan. 

The Administrator shall be charged with the duties of the general administration of the Plan, 

including the following: 

(a) The Administrator may establish a “funding policy and method”, i.e., determine whether 

the Plan has a short-run need for liquidity (e.g., to pay benefits) or whether liquidity is a long-term 

goal and investment growth (and stability of same) is a more current need, or shall appoint a 

qualified person to do so; provided, however, that assets of the Plan may be invested only in those 

investments in which a “public entity” is permitted to invest “public funds” in accordance with 

Colorado Revised Statutes § 24-75-601 et seq. The Employer/Sponsoring Entity or its delegate 

shall communicate such needs and goals to the Trustee and to the Administrator; 

(b) To appoint an Investment Manager to manage all or a designated portion of the assets of 

the Plan. In such event, the Trustee shall follow the written directions of the Investment Manager 

in investing the assets of the Plan managed by the Investment Manager; provided, however, that 

assets of the Plan may be invested only in those investments in which a “public entity” is permitted 

to invest “public funds” in accordance with Colorado Revised Statutes § 24-75-601 et seq.; 

(c) The discretion to determine all questions relating to the eligibility of Employees to 

participate or continue participation hereunder and to receive benefits under the Plan; 

(d) To compute, certify, and direct the Trustee with respect to the amount and the kind of 

benefits to which any Participant, Dependent or Beneficiary shall be entitled hereunder; 

(e) To authorize and direct the Trustee with respect to all non-discretionary or otherwise 

directed disbursements from the Trust; 

(f) To maintain all necessary records for the administration of the Plan; 

(g) To determine the size and type of any Policy or Policies to be purchased from any insurer, 

to designate the insurer from which such policy shall be purchased, and to direct the Trustee with 

respect to the purchase thereof. All policies shall be issued on a uniform basis as of each 

Anniversary Date with respect to all Participants under similar circumstances; 

(h) To compute and certify to the Employer/Sponsoring Entity and to the Trustee from time to 

time the sums of money necessary or desirable to be contributed to the Trust Fund; 

(i) To consult with the Employer/Sponsoring Entity regarding the short-term and long-term 

liquidity needs of the Plan in order that the Employer/Sponsoring Entity can exercise any 

investment discretion in a manner designed to accomplish specific objectives; 

(j) To provide information to any Participant regarding his participation in and rights, benefits, 

or elections available under the Plan, including the administration of any claims procedures; 



 

 

(k) To communicate to Employees, Participants and their Beneficiaries a summary plan 

description outlining the provisions of the Plan; 

(l) To appoint the Plan’s attorney, accountant, actuary custodian or any other party needed to 

administer the Plan or the Fund; 

(m) To direct the Trustee or custodian with respect to payments from the Fund; 

(n) To file any returns and reports with the Internal Revenue Service, Department of Labor, or 

any other governmental agency; 

(o) To review and approve any financial reports, investment reviews, or other reports prepared 

by any party appointed by the Employer/Sponsoring Entity under paragraph (a), and 

(p) To interpret or construe the provisions of the Plan, to resolve any question of Plan 

interpretation and to make and publish such rules for regulation of the Plan as are consistent with 

the terms hereof. The Plan Administrator’s interpretation of Plan provisions, including eligibility 

and benefits under the Plan, is final, and, unless it can be shown to be arbitrary and capricious, will 

not be subject to “de novo” review. 

2.4. RESIGNATION, REMOVAL AND SUCCESSION OF ADMINISTRATOR 

(a) The Administrator may resign at any time by mailing by registered or certified mail, 

addressed to such Employer/Sponsoring Entity at his last known address, at least ninety (90) days 

before the effective date thereof. 

(b) The Employer/Sponsoring Entity may remove the Administrator by mailing by registered 

or certified mail, addressed to such Administrator at his last known address, at least thirty (30) 

days before its effective date, a written notice of its removal and a copy, certified by the 

Employer/Sponsoring Entity of the resolution adopted effecting its removal. 

(c) Upon the death, resignation, incapacity, dissolution or removal of any Administrator, the 

Employer/Sponsoring Entity shall, prior to the effective date thereof, appoint a successor 

Administrator. Upon being notified of such appointment, the Administrator shall deliver its records 

to its successor on the effective date of the resignation or removal, or as soon thereafter as 

practicable, and such delivery shall not waive any lien the Administrator may have upon the Fund 

for its compensation or expenses. 

(d) In the event that the Employer/Sponsoring Entity does not name a successor Administrator 

by the effective date of the removal or resignation of the Administrator, the Employer/Sponsoring 

Entity shall be deemed the successor Administrator. 

(e) The Successor Administrator, upon accepting such appointment in writing and delivering 

same to the Employer/Sponsoring Entity, shall, without further act, become vested with all the 

estate, rights, powers, discretions, and duties of his predecessor with like respect as if he were 

originally named as the Administrator herein. Until such a successor is appointed, the remaining 

Administrator or Administrators shall have full authority to act under the terms of this agreement. 



 

 

(f) The Employer/Sponsoring Entity may designate a successor Administrator prior to the 

resignation or removal of an Administrator. In the event a successor is so designated by the 

Employer/Sponsoring Entity and accepts such designation, the successor shall, without further act, 

become vested with all the estate, rights, powers, discretions, and duties of his predecessor with 

the like effect as if he were originally named as Administrator herein immediately upon the death, 

resignation, incapacity, or removal of his predecessor. 

2.5. EMPLOYMENT OF AGENTS AND ADVISERS 

The Administrator, in furtherance of its duties and pursuant to its powers enumerated in Section 

2.3, may employ counsel, specialists, contract administrative agents and advisers, and other 

persons as the Administrator, in its sole discretion, deems necessary or desirable for the 

administration of this Plan. 

2.6. RECORDS AND REPORTS 

The Employer/Sponsoring Entity and Administrator shall keep a record of all actions taken and 

shall keep all other books of accounts, records, and other data that may be necessary for proper 

administration of the Plan and shall be responsible for supplying all information and reports to the 

Internal Revenue Service, Participants, Beneficiaries and others as required by law. 

2.7. INFORMATION FROM EMPLOYER/SPONSORING ENTITY 

To enable the Administrator to perform his functions, the Employer/Sponsoring Entity shall supply 

full and timely information to the Administrator on all matters relating to the Compensation of all 

Participants, their Hours of Service, their Years of Service, their retirement, death, Disability or 

Severance, and such other pertinent facts as the Administrator may require; and the Administrator 

shall advise the Trustee of such of the foregoing facts as may be pertinent to the Trustee’s duties 

under the Plan. The Administrator may rely upon such information as is supplied by the 

Employer/Sponsoring Entity and shall have no duty or responsibility to verify such information. 

2.8. PAYMENT OF EXPENSES 

All reasonable expenses of administration may be paid out of the Trust Fund unless paid by the 

Employer/Sponsoring Entity. Such expenses shall include any expenses incident to the functioning 

of the Administrator or of the Trustee, including, but not limited to, fees of accountants, counsel, 

and other specialists and their agents, and other costs of administering the Plan. Until paid, the 

expenses shall constitute a liability of the Trust Fund. 

2.9. CLAIMS PROCEDURE 

(a) Claims Procedures: Claims for benefits under the Plan must be filed with the Administrator 

on forms supplied by the Administrator within 90 days following the end of the Plan Year in which 

the expense was incurred. Claims submitted after this period will not be eligible for payment. If 

an application for benefits is made, the Administrator shall accept, reject, or modify such request. 

Written notice of the disposition of a claim shall be furnished to the claimant as set forth below: 



 

 

(i) Time Periods for Notification of Adverse Benefit. If any person believes he or she is being 

denied any rights or benefits under the Plan, such person may file a claim in writing with the 

Administrator. If any such claim is wholly or partially denied, the Administrator will notify such 

person (now called claimant) of its denial with written or electronic notification within the time 

periods indicated below: 

(1) Pre-Service Claims. Pre-service claims means any claim for a benefit where the terms of 

the plan condition receipt of the benefit, in whole or in part, on approval of the benefit in advance 

of obtaining medical care. The Administrator shall notify the claimant of the plan’s adverse benefit 

not later than 15 days after receipt of the claim for pre-service claims. 

(2) Post-Service Claims. Post-service claims means any claim for a benefit that is not a pre-

service claim as described above. The Administrator shall notify the claimant of the plan’s adverse 

benefit not later than 30 days after receipt of the claim for post-service claims. 

(3) Disability Claims. Disability claims means any claim for disability benefits as described in 

the plan documents. The Administrator shall notify the claimant of the plan’s adverse benefit not 

later than 45 days after receipt of the claim for disability claims. 

(4) Urgent Care Claims. Urgent care claims means any claim for medical care or treatment 

where applying the time conditions for non-urgent care could seriously jeopardize the life or health 

of the claimant or the ability of the claimant to regain maximum function or in the opinion of a 

physician with knowledge of the claimant’s medical condition, would subject the claimant to 

severe pain that could not be adequately managed without the care or treatment that is the subject 

of the claim. The Administrator shall notify the claimant of the plan’s adverse benefit not later 

than 72 hours after receipt of the claim for urgent care claims. 

(5) Concurrent Care Claims. Concurrent care claims means an ongoing course of treatment to 

be provided over a period of time or number of treatments. The Administrator shall notify the 

claimant of the plan’s adverse benefit at a time sufficiently in advance of the reduction or 

termination to allow the claimant to appeal and obtain a determination on review before the benefit 

is reduced or terminated. 

(ii) Notification Requirements. Each notice to claimant for denial of benefits will include the 

following: 

(1) The specific reason for the adverse determination. 

(2) Reference to the specific plan provisions, internal rule, guideline, protocol or other similar 

criterion on which the adverse determination is based. If the reference is to a medical necessity or 

experimental treatment or similar exclusion, an explanation of the scientific or clinical judgment 

for the adverse determination shall be provided. 

(3) A description of any additional information necessary for the claimant to provide and the 

reason for the request for such information. 

(4) A description of the plan’s review procedures. 



 

 

(b) Review Procedures: 

(i) Procedure After Notification of Denial of Claim. Within sixty (60) days after the date on 

which a claimant receives a written notice of a denied claim (or, if applicable, within 60 days after 

the date on which such denial is considered to have occurred), such claimant (or his or her duly 

authorized representative) may: 

(1) File a written request with the Administrator for a review of the denied claim. 

(2) Submit written issues and comments to the Administrator, including all additional 

information requested by the Administrator. 

(3) Have reasonable access to all information related to the denied claim. If copies are 

requested, the copies shall be provided to the claimant at no cost. 

(4) Any review of the denied claim must consider all information presented in making the 

determination of the claim. 

(c) Appeal Procedures: 

(i) Within one hundred eighty (180) days after the date on which a claimant receives a written 

notice of a denied claim, such claimant (or his or her duly authorized representative) may appeal 

the adverse determination. This appeal process encompasses the following: 

(1) The appeal determination will be conducted by an appropriate named fiduciary of the plan. 

The named fiduciary cannot be a party previously involved with the first adverse determination. 

(2) The named fiduciary shall consult with a health care professional who has appropriate 

training and experience in the field that is the subject of the adverse determination. This health 

care profession cannot be a party previously involved with the first adverse determination. 

(3) All medical experts whose advice was obtained will be identified to the claimant (or his or 

her representative), whether or not the advice was relied upon in making the adverse determination. 

(4) Time Periods for Notification. Notification to the claimant of an adverse benefit 

determination on appeal shall be in writing and be according to the following: 

a. Pre-service claims. The Administrator shall notify the claimant not later than 15 

days after receipt of the appeal of the adverse claim for pre-service claims. 

b. Post-service claims. The Administrator shall notify the claimant not later than 30 

days after receipt of the appeal for post-service claims. 

c. Disability claims. The Administrator shall notify the claimant not later than 

45 days after receipt of the appeal for disability claims. 



 

 

d. Urgent care claims. The Administrator shall notify the claimant not later than 72 

hours after receipt of the appeal for urgent care claims. Urgent care notification 

may be orally communicated. 

(d) Miscellaneous Information: 

(i) Claimant’s Failure to Follow Plan’s Procedures. Claimants will be notified within five days 

(24 hours if an urgent care claim is involved) of the filing of a claim of the failure and/or the proper 

procedures to be followed in filing the initial claim. 

(ii) Civil Action. No more than two appeals of an adverse benefit determination need be filed 

prior to the claimant bringing a civil action. 

2.10. CLAIMS REVIEW PROCEDURE 

Any Participant, former Participant, or Beneficiary of either, who has been denied a benefit by a 

decision of the Administrator pursuant to Section 2.9 shall be entitled to request the Administrator 

to give further consideration to his claim by filing with the Administrator (on a form which may 

be obtained from the Administrator) a request for a review of the determination. Such request, 

together with a written statement of the reasons why the claimant believes his claim should be 

allowed, shall be filed with the Administrator no later than sixty (60) days after receipt of the 

written notification provided for in Section 2.9. The Administrator shall make a final decision as 

to the allowance of the claim within sixty (60) days of receipt of the appeal [unless there has been 

an extension of sixty (60) days due to special circumstances, provided the delay and the special 

circumstances occasioning it are communicated to the claimant within the sixty (60) day period]. 

Such communication shall be written in a manner calculated to be understood by the claimant and 

shall include specific reasons for the decision and specific references to the pertinent Plan 

provisions on which the decision is based. 

2.11. NAMED FIDUCIARIES AND ALLOCATION OF RESPONSIBILITY 

The “Named Fiduciaries” of this Plan are: (i) the Administrator, (ii) the Trustee, (iii) the 

Employer/Sponsoring Entity, and (iv) any Investment Manager appointed hereunder. The named 

Fiduciaries shall have only those specific powers, duties, responsibilities, and obligations as are 

specifically given them under this Plan and in the Trust. 

Each named Fiduciary warrants that any directions given, information furnished, or action taken 

by it shall be in accordance with the provisions of this Plan, authorizing or providing for such 

direction, information or action. Furthermore, each named Fiduciary may rely upon any such 

direction, information or action of another named Fiduciary as being proper under this Plan, and 

is not required under this Plan to inquire into the propriety of any such direction, information or 

action. It is intended under this Plan that each named Fiduciary shall be responsible for the proper 

exercise of its own powers, duties, responsibilities and obligations under this Plan. No named 

Fiduciary guarantees the Trust Fund in any manner against investment loss or depreciation in asset 

value. Any person or group may serve in more than one Fiduciary capacity. 

ARTICLE 3. 



 

 

ELIGIBILITY AND PARTICIPATION 

3.1. CONDITIONS OF ELIGIBILITY 

An Employee who is a member of the Covered Group and has completed the age and service 

Eligibility Requirements set forth in the Plan Specifications shall become a Participant in this Plan. 

The Employer/Sponsoring Entity shall give each Participant written notice of his or her 

participation in the Plan, which notice may be in the form of a copy of the Summary Plan 

Description. 

3.2. PARTICIPATION 

Employees who meet the eligibility requirements in the Plan Specifications on the Effective Date 

of the Plan shall become Participants as of such date. If so elected in the Plan Specifications, all 

Employees employed on the Effective Date of the Plan shall participate as of the Effective Date, 

even if they have not satisfied the Plan’s specified eligibility requirements. Other Employees shall 

become Participants on the Entry Date coinciding with or immediately following the date on which 

they meet the eligibility requirements specified in the Plan Specifications provided that they are 

still employed on such Entry Date. A former Participant who returns to the employ of the 

Employer/Sponsoring Entity shall again become a Participant immediately. 

3.3. CHANGE IN CLASSIFICATION OF EMPLOYMENT 

In the event an Employee who is not a member of the Covered Group subsequently becomes a 

member of the Covered Group, such Employee shall participate immediately if he or she has 

satisfied the minimum age and service requirements and would have previously become a 

Participant had he or she been a member of the Covered Group. In the event a Participant becomes 

ineligible to participate because he or she is no longer a member of the Covered Group, such 

Employee may participate immediately upon his or her return to an eligible class of Employees. 

Alternatively, at the Employer’s/Sponsoring Entity’s discretion at time of adoption of this Plan the 

Employer/Sponsoring Entity may elect that a member of a Covered Group that has been promoted 

out of the Covered Group to a new classification that does not have a plan, that member will 

continue under the terms and conditions of the prior Covered Group as noted in the Plan 

Specifications. 

3.4. LEASED EMPLOYEES 

Any Leased Employee shall be treated as an Employee of the recipient Employer/Sponsoring 

Entity for purposes of discrimination testing to the extent required by law. Leased Employees shall 

be eligible to participate in the Plan only if so elected in the Plan Specifications. For purposes of 

testing for discrimination in favor of Highly-Compensated Employees, contributions or benefits 

provided by the leasing organization which are attributable to services performed for the recipient 

Employer/Sponsoring Entity shall be treated as provided by the recipient Employer/Sponsoring 

Entity. 



 

 

3.5. ENROLLMENT FORM 

(a) Each Eligible Employee shall automatically be a Participant in this Plan as of the 

Participant’s Entry Date; however, in order to receive benefits hereunder, an Eligible Employee 

shall enroll on a form provided by the Employer/Sponsoring Entity and agree to the terms of this 

Plan. The enrollment form shall be filed before the Participant’s Entry Date and shall be effective 

upon filing. 

(b) A Participant may decline benefits by so indicating on the enrollment form or by failure to 

return the enrollment form to the Employer/Sponsoring Entity prior to the Entry Date. If the 

Participant declines benefits, such Participant shall be given the opportunity to elect benefits on 

the next Entry Date. 

(c) An Eligible Employee whose eligibility to participate hereunder is provided for under a 

Collective Bargaining Agreement shall participate in the Plan as provided for in the Plan 

Specifications. Upon ratification by the collective bargaining unit, the adoption of the Plan by the 

members of such unit shall be presumed to be voluntary with respect to Eligible Employee, and 

no additional action or application shall be required in order to participate hereunder. 

(d) Upon the acceptance of any benefits under this Plan, a Participant shall automatically be 

bound by the terms and conditions of this Plan and all amendments hereto. 

3.6. ENTRY DATE 

An Eligible Employee shall become a Participant as of the Entry Date set forth in the Plan 

Specifications. A Dependent shall participate as of the related Employee’s Entry Date. 

3.7. DETERMINATION OF ELIGIBILITY 

The Administrator shall determine the eligibility of each Employee to participate in the Plan based 

upon information furnished by the Employer/Sponsoring Entity. Such determination shall be 

conclusive and binding upon all persons, as long as the same is made in accordance with this Plan 

and the Collective Bargaining Agreement, if applicable. 

3.8. OMISSION OF A PARTICIPANT 

If, in any Plan Year, any person who should be included as a Participant in the Plan is erroneously 

omitted and discovery of such omission is not made until after a contribution by the 

Employer/Sponsoring Entity for the year has been made, the Employer/Sponsoring Entity shall 

make a subsequent contribution with respect to the omitted Participant in the amount which the 

Employer/Sponsoring Entity would have contributed with respect to him had he not been omitted, 

plus interest computed at the current rate to the date of such subsequent contribution. Such 

contribution shall be made regardless of whether it is deductible in whole or in part in any taxable 

year, under applicable provisions of the Internal Revenue Code by such Employer/Sponsoring 

Entity. 

ARTICLE 4. 



 

 

CONTRIBUTIONS 

4.1. CONTRIBUTIONS BY EMPLOYER/SPONSORING ENTITY 

If so elected in the Plan Specifications, the Employer/Sponsoring Entity shall make periodic 

contributions to the Trust from time to time in cash or property acceptable to the Trustee in 

accordance with the formula or formulas selected in the Plan Specifications. 

(a) Discretionary Contributions. As of each Allocation Date, the Employer/Sponsoring Entity 

shall make a contribution to the Plan equal to the amount elected in the Plan Specifications. If no 

amount has been elected in the Plan Specifications, the Employer/Sponsoring Entity may make a 

contribution to the Plan in the amount it determines to be appropriate in its sole discretion. 

(b) Accrued Leave Contributions. If so elected in the Plan Specifications, the 

Employer/Sponsoring Entity shall contribute as of the date elected in the Plan Specifications an 

amount calculated pursuant to the formula designated in the Plan Specifications. 

(c) Eligible Participants. Only those Participants who meet the requirements set forth in the 

Plan Specifications shall receive an allocation of Employer/Sponsoring Entity Contributions as of 

an Allocation Date. 

(d) Mistake of Fact. In the event a contribution is made due to a mistake of fact, such 

contribution shall be returned to the Employer/Sponsoring Entity within one year after the payment 

of the contribution. 

(e) Responsibility for Contributions. The Employer/Sponsoring Entity shall have sole 

responsibility to determine the amount of Employer/Sponsoring Entity Contributions to the Plan. 

Neither the Trustee nor the Administrator shall be required to determine if the 

Employer/Sponsoring Entity has made a contribution or if the amount contributed is in accordance 

with the Plan Specifications or with any law. 

ARTICLE 5. 

PARTICIPANT ACCOUNTS 

5.1. EMPLOYER/SPONSORING ENTITY CONTRIBUTION ACCOUNT 

(a) If the Employer/Sponsoring Entity has elected Discretionary Contributions or Accrued 

Leave Contributions in the Plan Specifications, the Administrator shall keep an account known as 

the “Employer/Sponsoring Entity Contribution Account,” for each Participant for whom the 

Employer/Sponsoring Entity makes a Discretionary Contribution and a second account known as 

the “Accrued Leave Contribution Account,” for each Participant for whom the 

Employer/Sponsoring Entity makes an Accrued Leave Contribution. The Employer/Sponsoring 

Entity Contribution Account shall consist of all amounts contributed pursuant to Section 4.1 hereof 

(except for the amount of Accrued Leave Contributions), and any adjustments to such account 

provided in Section 5.2. 



 

 

A Participant will become eligible to receive an allocation of Employer/Sponsoring Entity 

Discretionary Contributions or Employer/Sponsoring Entity Accrued Leave Contributions for a 

Plan Year according to the provisions elected by the Employer/Sponsoring Entity in the Plan 

Specifications. 

5.2. ADJUSTMENTS TO EMPLOYER/SPONSORING ENTITY CONTRIBUTION ACCOUNT 

As of each Valuation Date, the Administrator shall make the following adjustments to the 

Participant’s Employer/Sponsoring Entity Contribution Account: 

(a) Add the Participant’s share of the Discretionary Contributions, Accrued Leave 

Contributions and forfeitures as determined in the Plan Specifications and pursuant to this Article 

since the last Valuation Date; 

(b) Add (or subtract) the Participant’s proportionate share of any investment earnings (or 

losses) and change in the fair market value of the Fund since the last Valuation Date, determined 

and allocated as provided under paragraph 5.5; 

(c) Add the increase in cash value of any insurance policies held by the Plan with respect to 

the Participant; 

(d) Deduct premiums paid from the Employer/Sponsoring Entity Contribution Account with 

respect to any insurance policies held by the Plan with respect to the Participant; 

(e) Deduct any withdrawals or payments made from the Plan on behalf of the Participant, his 

or her Dependents and Beneficiaries since the last Valuation Date, and 

(f) Deduct the Participant’s proportionate share of any expenses of the Plan since the last 

Valuation Date that are not paid by the Employer/Sponsoring Entity, as determined under 

paragraph 5.3. 

5.3. INVESTMENT OF ACCOUNTS 

Any investment funds holding any assets of the Plan shall be under the full control of the Trustee; 

provided, however, that assets of the Plan may be invested only in those investments in which a 

“public entity” is permitted to invest “public funds” in accordance with Colorado Revised Statutes 

§ 24-75-601 et seq. A Participant’s share of investment earnings and any increase or decrease in 

the fair market value of the Fund shall be based on the proportionate value of all active accounts 

(excluding those accounts with segregated investments) as of the last Valuation Date less 

withdrawals and plus contributions since the last Valuation Date. Contributions to the Plan and 

withdrawals from the Plan shall be included to the extent that the funds were in the Plan during 

the Plan Year. 

5.4. EXPENSES AND FEES 

The Employer/Sponsoring Entity shall also be authorized to reimburse the Fund for all expenses 

and fees incurred in the administration of the Plan or Trust and paid out of the assets of the Fund. 

Such expenses shall include, but shall not be limited to, fees for professional services, printing and 



 

 

postage. Brokerage commissions may not be reimbursed. Apportionment of administration fees 

between the Employer/Sponsoring Entity and the Participants shall be determined in accordance 

with the Employer/Sponsoring Entity’s election in the Plan Specifications. 

5.5. PARTICIPANT STATEMENTS 

Upon completing the allocations described above for the Valuation Date coinciding with the end 

of the Plan Year, the Employer/Sponsoring Entity shall prepare a statement for each Participant 

showing the additions to and subtractions from his or her account since the last such statement and 

the fair market value of his or her account as of the current Valuation Date. Employer/Sponsoring 

Entities so choosing may prepare Participant statements for each Valuation Date. 

ARTICLE 6. 

EARNED BENEFITS 

6.1. EMPLOYER/SPONSORING ENTITY CONTRIBUTION ACCOUNT 

A Participant shall acquire an Earned interest in his or her Employer/Sponsoring Entity 

Contribution Account in accordance with the Earned benefit schedule selected by the 

Employer/Sponsoring Entity in the Plan Specifications. A Participant or Beneficiary shall be 

entitled to use the Earned portion of his or her Earned Employer/Sponsoring Entity Contribution 

Account on the terms and under the conditions described in this Plan and in the Plan Specifications. 

6.2. COMPUTATION PERIOD 

The computation period for determining Years of Service and Breaks in Service in computing the 

Earned portion of a Participant’s Employer/Sponsoring Entity Contribution Account will be the 

Plan Year. In the event a former Participant with no Earned Employer/Sponsoring Entity 

Contribution Account requalifies for participation in the Plan after incurring a Break in Service, 

such Participant shall be credited with all pre-break and post-break Service in computing his or 

her Earned benefit. 

6.3. RESUMPTION OF PARTICIPATION 

For a Participant who resumes participation in the Plan following a termination of employment 

and prior to incurring five (5) consecutive Breaks in Service, all Service of the Participant, both 

prior to and following the termination of employment, shall be counted when computing the 

Participant’s Earned benefit. 

6.4. CALCULATING EARNED BENEFIT 

The Earned portion of a Participant’s Employer/Sponsoring Entity Contribution Account shall be 

calculated by multiplying his or her Employer/Sponsoring Entity Contribution Account on the 

Valuation Date by the decimal equivalent of the Earned percentage from the Earned benefit 

schedule set forth in the Plan Specifications as of the Valuation Date. The Employer/Sponsoring 

Entity Contribution Account for purposes of the calculation includes amounts previously paid as 

benefits under the Plan, and the Participant’s Earned benefits, once calculated above, shall be 



 

 

reduced to reflect those amounts previously paid out to or on behalf of the Participant. In making 

this adjustment, the Participant’s Earned interest so determined shall continue to share in the 

investment earnings and any increase or decrease in the fair market value of the Fund up to the 

Valuation Date. 

6.5. FORFEITURES 

Any unearned balance in the Employer/Sponsoring Entity Contribution Account of a Participant 

who has separated from Service shall be forfeited and applied as provided in the Plan 

Specifications. If not otherwise specified in the Plan Specifications, such forfeitures will be 

allocated to Participants in the same manner as the Employer/Sponsoring Entity’s contribution. If 

not otherwise specified in the Plan Specifications, forfeitures shall be applied as of the end of the 

Plan Year during which the former Participant incurs a Break in Service. 

6.6. AMENDMENT OF EARNED BENEFIT SCHEDULE 

If the Earned benefit schedule of the Plan is amended, or the Plan is amended in any way that 

directly or indirectly affects the computation of any Participant’s Earned benefits, or if the Plan is 

deemed amended by an automatic change to or from another Earned benefit schedule, each 

Participant with at least five (5) Years of Service with the Employer/Sponsoring Entity may elect, 

within a reasonable period after the adoption of the amendment or change, to have his or her Earned 

benefits computed under the Plan without regard to such amendment or change. The period during 

which the election may be made shall commence with the later of the date the amendment is 

adopted or deemed to be made and shall end sixty (60) days after the latest of the date: 

(a) The amendment is adopted; 

(b) The Amendment becomes effective; or 

(c) The Participant receives written notice of the amendment from the Employer/Sponsoring 

Entity or the Trustee. 

ARTICLE 7. 

ELECTIONS 

7.1. ELECTION PROCEDURES 

The Plan Administrator shall provide an election form to each Participant prior to the Participant’s 

first Entry Date. Each Participant shall specify on the election form the benefits desired under the 

Plan. 

An election shall be valid for the coverage period for which it is made (as selected in the Plan 

Specifications) and for each subsequent coverage period unless the Participant files a new election 

form with the Plan Administrator during a subsequent election period. A completed election form 

must be returned to the Plan Administrator on or before the first day of the coverage period to 

which it applies or, in the case of a new Participant, on or before the Participant’s Entry Date into 

the Plan. 



 

 

7.2. INITIAL ELECTION FOR NEW EMPLOYEES 

A new Employee shall receive an election form when the Employee becomes eligible to participate 

in this Plan. If the Employee desires to elect benefits, he or she shall so specify on the election 

form and shall agree to have Compensation adjusted accordingly. The completed election form 

must be returned to the Plan Administrator on or before the Employee’s entry into the Plan. The 

election shall be effective as soon as administratively feasible. 

7.3. FAILURE TO MAKE AN ELECTION 

If a Participant fails to return a completed election form during the initial election period any 

amount in the Participant’s Account will be allocated to medical benefits. 

7.4. IRREVOCABILITY OF ELECTION 

A Participant may not revoke or otherwise change an election after the coverage period begins 

until the next election period. 

ARTICLE 8. 

MEDICAL BENEFITS 

8.1. INSURANCE COVERAGE  

(a) If elected in the Plan Specifications, a Participant may elect coverage under a health plan 

or health insurance Policy approved by the Administrator, including the Employer/Sponsoring 

Entity’s health plan and any of the following types of insurance policies: 

(i) Basic medical benefits; 

(ii) Major medical and hospitalization benefits; 

(iii) Dental benefits; 

(iv) Vision care benefits; 

(v) Prescription drug benefits; 

(vi) Qualified Long-term care insurance; 

(vii) Medicare Part B; 

(viii) Medicare supplement insurance; and/or 

(ix) Other insurance providing medical benefits. 

(b) Premiums to purchase the medical benefits coverage provided for in this Section shall be 

paid from Earned portion of the Participant’s Employer/Sponsoring Entity Contribution Account. 



 

 

8.2. MEDICAL REIMBURSEMENT BENEFIT  

(a) If so elected in the Plan Specifications, the Plan will provide a Medical Reimbursement 

Benefit. Such benefit will pay or reimburse the Participant for Medical Expenses that are not 

eligible for payment under a health plan of the Employer/Sponsoring Entity, an 

Employer/Sponsoring Entity-provided health insurance Policy, or other plan or policy providing 

health coverage, including Medicare. 

(b) Payment of benefits under this Section shall be made from the Earned portion of the 

Participant’s Employer/Sponsoring Entity Contribution Account. 

8.3. REQUIREMENTS 

(a) In General. The benefits provided under Section 8.2 constitute a self-insured medical 

reimbursement benefit under Code section 105(h). In accordance with Code section 105(b), 

amounts received by an Employee pursuant to Section 8.2 hereof that are attributable to 

Employer/Sponsoring Entity contributions are not included in the Employee’s gross income if such 

amounts are paid directly or indirectly to the Employee to reimburse for expenses incurred by the 

Employee and his or her Dependents for Medical Expenses so long as the Plan is 

nondiscriminatory under Code Section 105(h). 

(b) Nondiscrimination Requirements. The Plan may not discriminate in favor of Highly 

Compensated Individuals as to eligibility to participate nor as to benefits provided under a self-

insured medical reimbursement plan. For purposes of this Section, the requirements of Code 

sections 105(b) and 105(h) and the Regulations thereunder are incorporated by reference. 

8.4. CLAIMS FOR BENEFITS  

(a) In order to obtain payment of medical benefits claimed in connection with a health plan of 

the Employer/Sponsoring Entity, a Participant or Dependent shall file a claim for benefits on a 

form and/or in such manner as provided by the administrator of such health plan or by the insurance 

company issuing the Policy. 

(b) In order to obtain payment or reimbursement of medical benefits provided under Section 

8.2 hereof, a Participant or Dependent shall file a claim for benefits on a form and/or in such 

manner as provided by the Administrator. The Administrator may require such proper proof of 

claim and such evidence of the right of any person to receive a medical benefit payable as a result 

of incurring medical treatment of a Participant or Dependent as the Administrator may deem 

desirable. 

(c) The Plan Administrator shall direct the Trustee to pay only those medical expenses that are 

submitted on acceptable claim forms with appropriate evidence of claim. 

(d) The Plan Administrator’s determination of Medical Expenses and the right of a person to 

receive payment shall be conclusive. 

(e) If a participant in the Plan were to die and not have a tax dependent, the 

Employer/Sponsoring Entity will forward the proceeds of the account to a named beneficiary. This 



 

 

will only occur in the event a participant dies without a tax dependent. The recipient of the funds 

will receive an IRS Form 1099 for said distribution. Preparation and delivery of the Form 1099 is 

the responsibility of the Employer/Sponsoring Entity. 

8.5. PAYMENT OF MEDICAL BENEFITS.  

Medical benefits hereunder shall be paid upon the Administrator’s receiving claims for medical 

expenses from the Participant or his or her Dependent. The Administrator shall direct the Trustee 

to pay claims for Medical Expenses that the Administrator deems properly payable in accordance 

with the terms of the Plan. Participants will be required to adequately substantiate claims in 

accordance with procedures established by the Plan Administrator. The Administrator shall not be 

required to verify Medical Expenses submitted by the Participant but may rely upon an explanation 

of benefits from the administrator of the Employer/Sponsoring Entity’s health plan or from the 

insurance company issuing a health insurance Policy. 

8.6. LIMITATION OF BENEFITS 

Medical Benefits payable under this Article are subject to the following limitations: 

(a) No benefit payable to any Participant or Beneficiary shall exceed the Participant’s Account 

Balance. In no event shall the Administrator direct the Trustee to pay amounts in excess of the 

Participant’s Account Balance. In the event there are insufficient Trust assets to pay in full any 

benefit for which the Participant is otherwise eligible, neither the Administrator nor the 

Employer/Sponsoring Entity shall bear any liability to any Participant or Beneficiary on account 

of such insufficiency. 

(b) The benefits provided under this Article are for the purpose of paying or reimbursing 

Medical Expenses not covered under Medicare, an Employer/Sponsoring Entity-provided health 

insurance Policy, or under any other plan of health insurance. No benefit shall be payable in 

connection with this Plan for which payment has been received or which may be eligible for 

payment or reimbursement from any other public or private welfare benefit plan. Medical benefits 

payable hereunder are secondary to all medical and health coverages under which the Participant 

is covered. 

(c) Except as required to avoid duplicate payments under this Section, the Administrator shall 

not be required to coordinate benefits paid with any other medical benefit program. 

8.7. TERMINATION OF COVERAGE  

(a) Subject to any continuation coverage requirements imposed under applicable federal or 

state laws, the right of a Participant to receive a Medical Benefit shall terminate upon the earliest 

of: 

(i) The depletion of the Participant’s Account Balance; 

(ii) The death of the Participant; or 

(iii) The termination of the plan. 



 

 

(b) Subject to the terms of the Plan Specifications, in the event that amounts remain in the 

Participant’s Employer/Sponsoring Entity Contribution Accounts after the death of the Participant, 

said amount shall be available to provide the Participant’s Dependents with payment or 

reimbursement of Medical Expenses. In the event that no Dependent survives a Participant (or 

after the demise of all surviving Dependents prior to exhaustion of the Participant’s Account 

Balance), the Employer/Sponsoring Entity will forward the proceeds of the account to a named 

beneficiary. The beneficiary recipient of the funds will receive an IRS Form 1099 for said 

distribution. 

ARTICLE 9. 

PAYMENT OF BENEFITS 

9.1. TIME OF SEGREGATION OR PAYMENT  

Whenever the Administrator is to direct the Trustee to make a payment before, on or as of an 

Anniversary Date, the payment may be made or begun on such date or as soon thereafter as is 

practicable; provided, however, that payments for which an insurance Policy has been purchased 

shall not be made before the Trustee receives payment from the Insurer on any Policy or Policies 

issued with respect to such Participant. 

9.2. RECEIPT AND RELEASE FOR PAYMENTS  

Any payment to any Participant, his legal representative, Beneficiary, or to any guardian or 

committee appointed for such Participant or Beneficiary in accordance with the provisions of this 

Plan, shall, to the extent thereof, be in full satisfaction of all claims hereunder against the 

Administrator and the Employer/Sponsoring Entity, either of whom may require such Participant, 

legal representative, Beneficiary, Guardian or committee, as a condition precedent to such 

payment, to execute a receipt and release thereof in such form as shall be determined by the 

Administrator. 

9.3. PAYMENT FOR MINOR BENEFICIARY  

In the event a payment is to be made to a minor, then the Administrator may, in the Administrator’s 

sole discretion, direct that such payment be paid to the legal guardian, or, if none, to a parent of 

such Beneficiary or a responsible adult with whom the Beneficiary maintains his or her residence, 

or to a custodian for such Beneficiary under the Uniform Gift to Minors Act or Gift to Minors Act, 

if such is permitted by the laws of the state in which said Beneficiary resides. Any such a payment 

to a Beneficiary shall fully discharge the Trustee, the Employer/Sponsoring Entity, and the Plan 

from further liability on account thereof. 

9.4. LOCATION OF PARTICIPANT OR BENEFICIARY UNKNOWN  

In the event that all, or any portion, of an amount payable to a Participant or his or her Beneficiary 

hereunder shall, at the expiration of five (5) years after it shall become payable, remain unpaid 

solely by reason of the inability of the Administrator, after sending a registered letter, return receipt 

requested, to the last known address, and after further diligent effort, to ascertain the whereabouts 



 

 

of such Participant or his or her Beneficiary, the amount so distributable shall remain in the Trust 

to be used as part of the general Trust Fund. 

ARTICLE 10. 

AMENDMENT, TERMINATION AND MERGERS  

10.1. AMENDMENT OF PLAN  

Subject to the terms of a governing Collective Bargaining Agreement, if applicable, the 

Employer/Sponsoring Entity shall have the right at any time and from time to time to amend, in 

whole or in part, any or all of the provisions of the Plan or of the Plan Specifications. However, 

no such amendment shall authorize or permit any part of the corpus or income of the Trust (other 

than such part as is required to pay taxes and administration expenses) to be used for or diverted 

to, or inure privately to individuals or for purposes other than the benefit of Participants, 

Dependents or Beneficiaries as provided herein; and no such amendment which affects the rights, 

duties or responsibilities of the Administrator may be made without the Administrator’s written 

consent. 

10.2. TERMINATION OF SPONSORSHIP BY BMI  

BMI shall have the right at any time to terminate its sponsorship of the Plan by delivering to the 

Employer/Sponsoring Entity and to the Administrator written notice of such termination. Upon 

such termination of sponsorship, the Employer/Sponsoring Entity may either terminate its 

adoption of the Plan or may amend the Plan to eliminate BMI as the entity administering claims 

under the Plan and related documents. 

10.3. TERMINATION OF ADOPTION BY EMPLOYER/SPONSORING ENTITY   

Subject to the terms of a governing Collective Bargaining Agreement, if applicable, the 

Employer/Sponsoring Entity shall have the right at any time to terminate the Plan by delivering to 

the Administrator and to BMI written notice of termination. If the Plan is terminated or if there is 

a complete discontinuance of contributions, all amounts credited to the Employer/Sponsoring 

Entity Contribution Accounts of Participants shall become nonforfeitable. In the event of 

termination, the Administrator may direct either: 

(a) Complete distribution of the assets in the Trust Fund to the Participants or their 

Beneficiaries as soon as the Administrator deems it to be in the best interests of the Participants or 

their Beneficiaries, except, however, such distribution shall only be made: (i) pursuant to the terms 

of a governing Collective Bargaining Agreement, if applicable, or (ii) on the basis of objective and 

reasonable standards which do not result in unequal payments to similarly situated Participants or 

their Beneficiaries or in disproportionate payments to officers or Highly-Compensated Employees 

of the Employer/Sponsoring Entity; or 

(b) That any assets remaining in the Plan, after the satisfaction of all liabilities to existing 

Participants or their Beneficiaries, be applied to provide such Participants or their Beneficiaries 

with the benefits set forth in the Plan, provided, however, that such benefits shall not be provided 



 

 

in disproportionate amounts to officers or Highly-Compensated Employees of the 

Employer/Sponsoring Entity. 

Upon termination of the Plan, the Employer/Sponsoring Entity incur a residual liability beyond 

the end of the current Plan Year (other than the provision of benefits to Participants and their 

Beneficiaries by the Plan). 

10.4. MERGER, CONSOLIDATION OR TRANSFER  

This Plan may be merged or consolidated with, or its assets and/or liabilities may be transferred to 

or from another Plan on such terms and conditions as the Administrator, acting pursuant to the 

direction of the Employer/Sponsoring Entity, shall deem appropriate. 

(a) In the case of any merger or consolidation of the Plan with, or transfer of assets or liabilities 

of the Plan to any other plan, each Participant in the Employer/Sponsoring Entity’s Plan shall be 

entitled to receive benefits immediately after the merger, consolidation, or transfer which are 

equivalent to or greater than the benefits the Participant or his or her Beneficiaries would have 

received if the Plan had terminated immediately before the merger, consolidation or transfer. 

(b) In the event that the Trustee is an institution, that corporation into which the Trustee or any 

successor trustee may be merged or with which it may be consolidated, or any corporation resulting 

from any merger or consolidation to which the Trustee or any successor trustee may be a party, or 

any corporation to which all or substantially all the trust business of the Trustee or any successor 

trustee may be transferred, shall be the successor of such Trustee without the filing of any 

instrument or performance of any further act, before any court. 

 

ARTICLE 11. 

ADOPTING EMPLOYER/SPONSORING ENTITYS  

11.1. ADOPTION BY OTHER ENTITIES  

With the consent of the Employer/Sponsoring Entity, an unrelated Employer/Sponsoring Entity 

who is a party to a Collective Bargaining Agreement or an affiliate or subsidiary of the 

Employer/Sponsoring Entity may adopt this Plan and any or all of the provisions hereof. 

11.2. REQUIREMENTS OF ADOPTING EMPLOYER/SPONSORING ENTITY  

If the Plan is adopted pursuant to the terms of a Collective Bargaining Agreement, and if the 

Adopting Employer/Sponsoring Entity intends that this Plan comply with the requirements of 

section 419A(f)(5) of the Code in that it is a plan made available for adoption for groups employed 

by the Adopting Employer/Sponsoring Entity and eligible for adoption, then 

(a) Each Adopting Employer/Sponsoring Entity shall be required to use the Trustee designated 

in the Trust Agreement; and 



 

 

(b) The Administrator may, but shall not be required to, direct the Trustee to commingle, hold 

and invest as one Trust Fund all contributions made by Adopting Employer/Sponsoring Entity, as 

well as all increments thereof. 

11.3. EMPLOYEE TRANSFERS  

It is anticipated that an Employee may be transferred between one Adopting Employer/Sponsoring 

Entity and another Adopting Employer/Sponsoring Entity. In the event of any such transfer, the 

Employee involved shall carry with him or her his or her accumulated service and eligibility. No 

such transfer shall create a Severance hereunder, and the Adopting Employer/Sponsoring Entity 

to which the Employee is transferred shall thereupon become obligated hereunder with respect to 

such Employee in the same manner as the Adopting Employer/Sponsoring Entity from which the 

Employee transferred. 

11.4. CONTRIBUTIONS FOR ADOPTING EMPLOYER/SPONSORING ENTITY’S EMPLOYEES  

All contributions made by an Adopting Employer/Sponsoring Entity for its Employees shall be 

determined separately with respect to the Participants employed by such Adopting 

Employer/Sponsoring Entity. Such contribution shall be paid to and held by the Trustee for the 

benefit of the Participants, their Dependents and Beneficiaries, subject to all the terms and 

conditions of this Plan. The Administrator shall keep separate records concerning the affairs of 

each Adopting Employer/Sponsoring Entity hereunder and as to the accounts and credits of the 

Participants. The Administrator may, but need not, direct the Trustee to register insurance 

company Policies so as to evidence that a particular Adopting Employer/Sponsoring Entity is the 

interested Adopting Employer/Sponsoring Entity hereunder, but in the event of a Participant’s 

transfer from one Adopting Employer/Sponsoring Entity to another, the Adopting 

Employer/Sponsoring Entity shall immediately notify the Administrator thereof. 

11.5. AMENDMENT BY ADOPTING EMPLOYER/SPONSORING ENTITY  

Subject to the terms of a governing Collective Bargaining Agreement, if applicable, the Adopting 

Employer/Sponsoring Entity shall have the right at any time and from time to time to amend, in 

whole or in part, its adoption of the Plan Specifications by executing a new Plan Specifications. 

No such amendment shall authorize or permit any part of the Trust Fund (other than such part as 

is required to pay taxes and administration expenses) to inure to private individuals or for purposes 

other than for the benefit of Participants, Dependents or Beneficiaries as provided herein. 

11.6. DISCONTINUANCE OF PARTICIPATION BY ADOPTING EMPLOYER/SPONSORING ENTITY  

Subject to the terms of a governing Collective Bargaining Agreement, if applicable, the Adopting 

Employer/Sponsoring Entity shall have the right at any time to discontinue its participation in the 

Plan by delivering to the Administrator written notice of such discontinuance. Upon such 

discontinuance of participation: 

(a) All amounts in the Participants’ Employer/Sponsoring Entity Contribution Accounts shall 

be fully vested and nonforfeitable. 



 

 

(b) The Adopting Employer/Sponsoring Entity, by written notice to the Administrator, may 

direct that: 

(i) The Trustee retain such assets for the Participants of said Adopting Employer/Sponsoring 

Entity pursuant to the provisions of the Trust. Any Trustee fees or administration fees due shall be 

paid from the assets of the Trust Fund on a nondiscriminatory basis to the extent not paid by the 

Adopting Employer/Sponsoring Entity. In no such event shall any part of the corpus or income of 

the Trust as it relates to such Adopting Employer/Sponsoring Entity be used or diverted to, or inure 

to private individuals or for purposes other than the benefit of Participants, Dependents or 

Beneficiaries as provided herein; or 

(ii) In the event that the Adopting Employer/Sponsoring Entity shall have established a 

separate plan for the benefit of its Employees, the Trustee shall transfer, deliver and assign Policies 

and other Trust Fund assets allocable to the Participants of such Adopting Employer/Sponsoring 

Entity to such new Trustee as shall have been designated by the Administrator. 

(c) In the event that the Adopting Employer/Sponsoring Entity shall fail to notify the 

Administrator on a timely basis as to the disposition of the assets held on behalf of the Employees 

of the Adopting Employer/Sponsoring Entity, the Administrator shall operate as though the 

Adopting Employer/Sponsoring Entity had directed the Administrator to follow the foregoing 

paragraph (b)(i) or (b)(ii). 

(d) Any excess assets remaining in the Plan, after the satisfaction of all liabilities to current 

Participants or their Beneficiaries, shall be applied to provide such Participants or their 

Beneficiaries with the benefits set forth in the Plan, provided that such payment shall only be made: 

(i) pursuant to the terms of a Collective Bargaining Agreement, if applicable, or (ii) on the basis 

of objective and reasonable standards which do not result in unequal payments to similarly situated 

Participants or their Beneficiaries or in disproportionate payments to officers or Highly-

Compensated Employees of the Adopting Employer/Sponsoring Entity; 

(e) No Adopting Employer/Sponsoring Entity shall incur a residual liability beyond the end of 

the current Plan Year (other than, in the case of the Plan, the provision of benefits to Participants 

and their Beneficiaries). 

ARTICLE 12. 

MISCELLANEOUS 

12.1. ALIENATION  

(a) Except as provided in paragraph (c) below, no benefit which shall be payable under the 

Plan to any person (including a Participant or his Beneficiary) shall be subject in any manner to 

anticipation, alienation, sale, transfer, assignment, pledge, encumbrance, or charge, and any 

attempt to anticipate, alienate, sell, transfer, assign, pledge, encumber, or charge the same shall be 

void; and no such benefit shall in any manner be liable for, or subject to, the debts, contracts, 

liabilities, engagements, or torts of any such person, nor shall it be subject to attachment or legal 

process for or against such person, and the same shall not be recognized by the Administrator, 

except to such extent as may be required by law. 



 

 

(b) In the event a Participant’s benefits are garnished or attached by order of any court, the 

Administrator may bring an action for a declaratory judgment in a court of competent jurisdiction 

to determine the proper recipient of the benefits to be paid by the Plan. During the pendency of 

said action, any benefits that become payable shall be paid into the court as they become payable, 

to be distributed by the court to the recipient it deems proper at the close of said action. 

(c) This provision shall not apply to a “Qualified Medical Child Support Order”. The 

Administrator shall establish a written procedure to validate the status of such orders and to 

administer payments thereunder. 

12.2. PROHIBITION AGAINST DIVERSION OR INUREMENT  

It shall be impossible by operation of the Plan or by termination thereof, by power of revocation 

or amendment, by the happening of any contingency, by collateral arrangement or by any other 

means, for any part of assets of the Trust Fund maintained pursuant to the Plan or any funds 

contributed thereto, to be used for, or diverted to, or to inure (other than through the payment of 

benefits provided under the terms of the Plan) to the benefit of any private individual. 

12.3. ADDITIONAL REQUIREMENTS  

If the Plan is held by a court of competent jurisdiction or a governmental agency with jurisdiction 

thereover to be subject to the requirements of section 505 of the Code, it shall be operated in 

accordance with the nondiscrimination requirements and limitations of that section and the 

Regulations thereunder. 

12.4. APPROVAL BY INTERNAL REVENUE SERVICE  

The Employer/Sponsoring Entity intends that this welfare benefit Plan and the Trust attached 

hereto meet the requirements of Section 115 of the Code. 

(a) Should the Commissioner of Internal Revenue or any delegate of the Commissioner at any 

time determine that the Plan and Trust fails to meet the requirements of Section 115 the Code, the 

Employer/Sponsoring Entity will amend the Plan and Trust to maintain its qualified status 

thereunder. 

(b) Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, if, pursuant to an application filed by or 

on behalf of the Trust, the Commissioner of Internal Revenue Service or his delegate should 

determine that the Trust does not initially qualify as a tax-exempt plan and trust under Section 115 

of the Code, and such determination is not contested, or if contested, is finally upheld, then the 

Plan shall be void ab initio and the Trustee shall direct the Administrator to return all amounts 

contributed to the Plan by the Employer/Sponsoring Entity, less expenses paid, within one year 

and the Plan shall terminate, and the Administrator shall be discharged from all further obligations. 

12.5. ADMINISTRATOR’S PROTECTIVE CLAUSE  

(a) Neither the Administrator nor its successor shall be responsible for the validity of any 

Policy issued hereunder or for the failure on the part of the insurer to make payments provided by 



 

 

any such Policy, or for the action of any person which may delay payment or render a Policy null 

and void or unenforceable in whole or in part. 

(b) In the event any lawsuit, claim or proceeding is brought involving the Plan or the Trust in 

which the Administrator is named as a defendant, if such claim, suit, or proceeding is resolved in 

favor of the Administrator, they shall be entitled to be reimbursed from the Trust Fund for any and 

all costs, attorneys’ fees, and other expenses pertaining thereto incurred for which the 

Administrator shall have become liable. 

12.6. INDEMNIFICATION OF AGENTS 

The Administrator shall indemnify and hold harmless its appointed agents from all loss or liability 

(including expenses and reasonable attorneys’ fees) to which such agent may be subject by reason 

of its execution of its duties under this Plan, or by reason of any acts taken in good faith in 

accordance with directions, or acts omitted in good faith in the absence of directions from the 

Administrator, unless such loss or liability is due to the agent’s gross negligence or willful 

misconduct. The agent is entitled to collect on the indemnity provided by this Section from the 

Administrator only if such amounts are not paid directly or indirectly from assets of the Trust. 

In the event that any lawsuit, claim, suit, or proceeding is brought involving the Plan or the Trust 

in which the agent is named as a defendant, the agent shall be entitled to receive, on a current basis, 

indemnity payments as provided for in this Section, provided, however, that if the final judgment 

entered in the lawsuit or proceeding holds that the agent is guilty of gross negligence or willful 

misconduct with respect to the Plan, the agent shall be required to refund the indemnity payments 

that it has received. 

12.7. GOVERNING LAW 

This Plan shall be construed and enforced according to the laws of the state of domicile of the 

Adopting Employer/Sponsoring Entity to the extent not pre-empted by applicable federal law. The 

laws of such state shall govern the construction, validity and administration of the Plan, as 

embodied in the Plan and the Plan Specifications. 

12.8. GENDER AND NUMBER 

Wherever any words are used herein in the masculine, feminine or neuter gender, they shall be 

construed as though they were also used in another gender in all cases where they would so apply, 

and whenever any words are used herein in the singular or plural form, they shall be construed as 

though they were also used in the other form in all cases where they would so apply. 

12.9. PROVISIONS RELATING TO INSURANCE 

Any Policies purchased under this Plan shall be held subject to the following rules: 

(a) The Trustee shall be applicant and owner of any Policies issued. 



 

 

(b) A Participant shall be entitled to designate a Beneficiary under the terms of any Policy 

issued under the Plan. Such designation shall remain in force until revoked by the Participant, by 

filing a new Beneficiary designation form with the Administrator. 

(c) In the event a Participant is uninsurable or insurable at substandard rates, he or she may 

elect to receive a reduced amount of insurance, if available, or may waive the purchase of 

insurance. 

(d) All dividends or other returns received on any Policy purchased shall be applied to reduce 

the next premium due on such policy, or if no further premium is due, such amount shall be credited 

to the Fund as part of the account of the Participant for whom the policy is held. 

(e) Upon the retirement or Severance of Employment of a Participant, the Administrator shall 

offer the Participant the right to purchase any Policy on the life of such Participant for its cash 

surrender value. If the Participant shall exercise such right, the Participant’s payment shall be 

credited to the Participant’s Account Balance. If the Participant shall not exercise such right, the 

Administrator shall direct the Trustee to surrender the Participant’s policy and credit the proceeds 

to his or her account for payment under the terms of the Plan. 

(f) Any insurer who shall issue Policies hereunder shall not have any responsibility for the 

validity of this Plan or for the tax or legal aspects of this Plan. The insurer shall be protected and 

held harmless in acting in accordance with any written direction of the Administrator, and shall 

have no duty to see to the application of any funds paid to the Trustee, nor be required to question 

any actions directed by the Administrator. Regardless of any provision of this Plan, the insurer 

shall not be required to take or permit any action or allow any benefit or privilege contrary to the 

terms of any Policy that it issues hereunder, or the rules of the insurer. 

The Administrator shall be solely responsible to see that these insurance provisions are 

administered properly. If there is any conflict between the provisions of this Plan and any insurance 

Policies issued, the terms of this Plan will control. 

12.10. HEADINGS 

The headings and subheadings of this Plan have been inserted for convenience of reference and 

are to be ignored in any construction of the provisions hereof. 

12.11. PARTICIPANTS’ RIGHTS  

This Plan shall not be deemed to constitute a contract of employment between the 

Employer/Sponsoring Entity and any Participant or to be a consideration or an inducement for the 

employment of any Participant or Employee. Nothing contained in this Plan shall be deemed to 

give any Participant or Employee the right to be retained in the service of the Employer/Sponsoring 

Entity or to interfere with the right of the Employer/Sponsoring Entity to discharge any Participant 

or Employee at any time regardless of the effect such discharge shall have upon him as a 

Participant of this Plan. 



 

 

12.12. UNIFORMITY  

All provisions of this Plan shall be interpreted and applied in a uniform, nondiscriminatory manner. 

In the event of any conflict between the terms of this Plan and any Policy purchased or provided 

hereunder, the Plan provisions shall control. 



115 TRUST AGREEMENT 
RETIREE HEALTHCARE FUNDING PLAN 

 
 
 
 
 

Elizabeth Fire Protection District 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Effective Date:  __________________________ 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

tclark
Text Box
March 1, 2023



 (i) 

ELIZABETH FIRE RESCUE 
RETIREE HEALTHCARE FUNDING PLAN 

 
115 TRUST AGREEMENT 

 
 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 

 

ARTICLE I TRUST AND TRUST FUND ......................................................................................................... 1 

1.1 NAME OF TRUST .............................................................................................................. 1 
1.2 TRUST FUND ..................................................................................................................... 2 
1.3 TRUSTEE’S RECEIPT OF CONTRIBUTIONS ................................................................ 2 

ARTICLE II PLAN ................................................................................................................................................ 2 

2.1 DELIVERY OF PLAN DOCUMENT TO TRUSTEE ........................................................ 2 

ARTICLE III ADMINISTRATOR ........................................................................................................................ 2 

3.1 APPOINTMENT OF ADMINISTRATOR ......................................................................... 2 
3.2 DIRECTIONS TO TRUSTEE ............................................................................................. 2 
3.3 DETERMINATION OF INTERESTS ................................................................................ 3 

ARTICLE IV CONTRIBUTIONS ......................................................................................................................... 3 

4.1 RECEIPT OF CONTRIBUTIONS ...................................................................................... 3 

ARTICLE V TRUSTEE ........................................................................................................................................ 3 

5.1 APPOINTMENT OF TRUSTEE ......................................................................................... 3 
5.2 INVESTMENT POWERS AND DUTIES OF THE TRUSTEE ......................................... 4 
5.3 OTHER POWERS OF THE TRUSTEE .............................................................................. 5 
5.4 DUTIES OF THE TRUSTEE REGARDING PAYMENTS ............................................... 7 
5.5 TRUSTEE'S COMPENSATION, EXPENSES AND TAXES ............................................ 7 
5.6 PAYMENT OF EXPENSES ............................................................................................... 7 
5.7 VALUATION OF THE TRUST FUND .............................................................................. 7 
5.8 METHOD OF VALUATION .............................................................................................. 7 
5.9 ANNUAL REPORT OF THE TRUSTEE ........................................................................... 8 
5.10 AUDIT ................................................................................................................................. 8 
5.11 RESIGNATION, REMOVAL AND SUCCESSION OF TRUSTEE .................................. 9 

ARTICLE VI AMENDMENT, TERMINATION AND MERGERS ................................................................ 10 

6.1 AMENDMENT ................................................................................................................. 10 
6.2 TERMINATION OF TRUST BY NAME ......................................................................... 10 
6.3 MERGER, CONSOLIDATION OR TRANSFER ............................................................ 10 
6.4 TRANSFER OF INTEREST ............................................................................................. 11 

ARTICLE VII MISCELLANEOUS ...................................................................................................................... 11 

7.1 QUALIFIED TRUST ........................................................................................................ 11 
7.2 PARTICIPANTS' RIGHTS ............................................................................................... 11 
7.3 ALIENATION ................................................................................................................... 12 
7.4 CONSTRUCTION OF AGREEMENT ............................................................................. 12 



TABLE OF CONTENTS 
(continued) 

Page 

 

 -ii-  
 

7.5 GENDER AND NUMBER................................................................................................ 12 
7.6 PROHIBITION AGAINST DIVERSION OR INUREMENT .......................................... 12 
7.7 BONDING ......................................................................................................................... 12 
7.8 ERRORS AND OMISSIONS ............................................................................................ 13 
7.9 SPONSOR’S, ADMINISTRATOR'S AND TRUSTEE'S PROTECTIVE 

CLAUSE ............................................................................................................................ 13 
7.10 INSURER'S PROTECTIVE CLAUSE .............................................................................. 13 
7.11 INDEMNIFICATION OF TRUSTEE ............................................................................... 13 
7.12 LIMITATION OF TRUSTEE'S LIABILITY .................................................................... 14 
7.13 RECEIPT AND RELEASE FOR PAYMENTS ................................................................ 14 
7.14 HEADINGS ....................................................................................................................... 14 

ARTICLE VIII EXECUTION ................................................................................................................................ 15 

8.1 SIGNATURES .................................................................................................................. 15 
 
 



 

1 
 

 
ELIZABETH FIRE RESCUE 

RETIREE HEALTHCARE FUNDING 
 

115 TRUST AGREEMENT 

THIS AGREEMENT is hereby established by Elizabeth Fire Rescue   

W I T N E S S E T H   T H A T: 

WHEREAS, the STATE STREET BANK AND TRUST COMPANY (herein referred to as the 
"Trustee"), is recognized as Trustee by way of the funding arrangement with Transamerica 
Retirement Solutions 

WHEREAS, the Elizabeth Fire Rescue has previously or concurrently adopted the Elizabeth Fire 
Rescue Retiree Healthcare Funding Plan, herein referred to as the "Plan" and incorporated by 
reference including all definitions therein; and 

WHEREAS, under the terms of the Plan, funds will from time to time be contributed to the Trustee, 
which funds as and when received by the Trustee, will constitute a trust fund to be held by said 
Trustee under the Plan for the benefit of the Participants, their Dependents or their Beneficiaries; 
and 

WHEREAS, the party(s) desires the Trustee to hold and administer such funds and the Trustee is 
willing to hold and administer such funds pursuant to the terms of this Agreement; and 

WHEREAS, the party(s) intends that this Trust, as defined herein, comply with Section 115 of the 
Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (the "Code").  

NOW, THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the promises and of the mutual covenants herein 
contained, the party(s), the Trustee and the Administrator do hereby covenant and agree as follows: 

ARTICLE I 
 

TRUST AND TRUST FUND 

1.1 NAME OF TRUST 

This Trust shall be entitled Elizabeth Fire Rescue Retiree Healthcare Funding Plan 115 Trust 
Agreement (hereinafter referred to as the "Trust"), and shall carry into effect the provisions of the 
Plan created prior to, or concurrently herewith and forming a part hereof.  All of the definitions in 
such Plan are hereby incorporated herein by reference.  The Trustee hereby agrees to act as Trustee 
of the Trust, and to take, hold, invest, administer and distribute in accordance with the following 
provisions, any and all contributions and assets paid or delivered to the Trustee pursuant to the 
Plan. 



 

2 
 

1.2 TRUST FUND 

All of the assets at any time held hereunder by the Trustee are hereinafter referred to collectively 
as the "Trust Fund".  All right, title and interest in and to the assets of the Trust Fund shall be at 
all times vested exclusively in the Trustee. 

1.3 TRUSTEE’S RECEIPT OF CONTRIBUTIONS 

The Trustee shall receive, take, and hold any contributions paid to the Trustee in cash or in other 
property acceptable to the Trustee.  All contributions so received together with the income 
therefrom and any other increment thereon shall be held, managed, and administered by the Trustee 
pursuant to the terms of this Agreement without distinction between principal and income and 
without liability for the payment of interest thereon.  The Trustee shall not be responsible for the 
collection of any contributions under the Plan. 

ARTICLE II 
 

PLAN 

2.1 DELIVERY OF PLAN DOCUMENT TO TRUSTEE 

The Administrator or its agent shall deliver to the Trustee a copy of the Plan document and of 
any amendments thereto for convenience of reference, but rights, powers, titles, duties, discretions 
and immunities of the Trustee shall be governed solely by this instrument without reference to the 
Plan. 

ARTICLE III 
 

ADMINISTRATOR 

3.1 APPOINTMENT OF ADMINISTRATOR 

Babbitt Municipalities, Inc. is hereby designated as the Administrator of the Plan and Trust 
(herein referred to as the "Administrator").  The Administrator shall notify the Trustee in writing 
of any change in the identity of such Administrator.  Until notified of the change, the Trustee shall 
be fully protected in acting upon the assumption that the identity of the Administrator has not been 
changed.   

3.2 DIRECTIONS TO TRUSTEE 

(a) All directions by the Administrator to the Trustee shall be in writing signed by such 
Administrator, or by the Administrator’s duly appointed and authorized agent or 
representative. 

(b) The Administrator shall furnish to the Trustee a specimen signature of the 
Administrator or Administrators, or of the Administrator’s duly appointed and 
authorized agent or representative at the time he or she is appointed. 



 

3 
 

3.3 DETERMINATION OF INTERESTS 

The Administrator shall have sole responsibility for determining the existence, non-existence, 
nature and amount of the rights and interests of all persons in the Trust Fund. 

ARTICLE IV 
 

CONTRIBUTIONS 

4.1 RECEIPT OF CONTRIBUTIONS 

The Trustee or its designated custodian shall receive all contributions paid in cash or other property 
acceptable to the Trustee, and all contributions so received together with the income therefrom and 
any increment thereon shall be held, managed and administered by the Trustee pursuant to this 
Agreement without distinction between principal and income.  The Trustee shall have no duty to 
require any contributions to be made to the Trustee by the sponsoring employer or to determine 
that the amounts received comply with the Plan, or to determine that the Trust Fund is adequate to 
provide the benefits payable pursuant to the Plan. 

ARTICLE V 
 

TRUSTEE 

5.1 APPOINTMENT OF TRUSTEE 

The Trustee hereunder shall be State Street Trust and Bank. Any successor shall be a bank or trust 
company chartered and regulated by Federal banking authorities or by similar authorities of one 
of the United States.  The Trustee shall have the following general categories of responsibilities: 

(a) to invest, manage, and control the Plan assets as directed by the Administrator (or by 
an Investment Manager, if one is appointed in accordance with Sections 5.2 and 5.3).  
The Trustee shall not be responsible for verifying that investment of Plan assets is 
consistent with any "funding plan and method" adopted by the party(s), but may rely 
on the direction of the Administrator and/or the Investment Manager; 

(b) to pay benefits required under the Plan to be paid to Participants, their Dependents 
or, in the event of  death, their Beneficiaries, including withholding and depositing 
of income taxes with respect to taxable benefit payments, pursuant to the direction of 
the Administrator; 

(c) to maintain records of receipts and disbursements and furnish to the party(s) and/or 
Administrator for each Fiscal Year a written annual report per Section 5.9. 



 

4 
 

5.2 INVESTMENT POWERS AND DUTIES OF THE TRUSTEE 

Subject to the direction of the Administrator and consistent with any “Funding Policy and 
Method”, the Trustee shall have the following powers and duties with respect to the investment of 
the Plan Assets: 

(a) to apply for, own, and pay premiums on life insurance Contracts or Policies; 

(b) to invest and reinvest the Trust Fund to keep the Trust Fund invested without 
distinction between principal and income and in such securities or property, real or 
personal, wherever situated, including, but not limited to, stocks, common or 
preferred, bonds and other evidences of indebtedness or ownership, and real estate 
or any interest therein.  In directing the Trustee to make such investments, the 
Administrator shall give due regard to any limitations imposed by the Code or 
ERISA, if applicable. 

(c) From time to time with the consent of the Administrator, to transfer to a common, 
collective, or pooled trust fund maintained by any corporate Trustee hereunder, all or 
such part of the Trust Fund as the Administrator may deem advisable, and such part 
or all of the Trust Fund so transferred shall be subject to all the terms and provisions 
of the common, collective, or pooled trust fund which contemplate the commingling 
for investment purposes of such trust assets with trust assets of other trusts.  The 
Trustee may, from time to time with the consent of the Administrator, withdraw from 
such common, collective, or pooled trust fund all or such part of the Trust Fund as 
the Administrator may deem advisable. 

(d) To maintain one or more accounts within the Trust for the purpose of: (i) keeping 
track of and charging the Trustee’s fees due from the Plan, or (ii) segregating assets 
held for investment within the Trust Fund by type of investment or investment 
strategy, and to transfer from any such account to another account within the Trust 
Fund. 

(e) The powers granted to the Trustee shall be exercised in the sole fiduciary discretion 
of the Trustee.  However, if Participants, Dependents or Beneficiaries are 
empowered, each of them may direct the Trustee to separate and keep separate all or 
a portion of his account; and further each such person is authorized and empowered, 
to give directions to the Trustee in such form as the Trustee may require concerning 
the investment of the Participant's, Dependent's or Beneficiary's directed account.  
The Trustee shall comply as promptly as practicable with investment directions given 
hereunder.  The Trustee may refuse to comply with any investment direction in the 
event the Trustee deems such directions to be improper by virtue of applicable law.  
Any costs and expenses related to compliance with the Participant's, Dependent's or 
Beneficiary's direction shall be borne by his account. 



 

5 
 

5.3 OTHER POWERS OF THE TRUSTEE 

The Trustee, in addition to all powers and authorities under common law, statutory authority, 
including ERISA, if applicable, and consistent with the other provisions of this Agreement, shall 
have the following powers and authorities, to be exercised under the direction of the Administrator:   

(a) To purchase, or subscribe for, any securities or other property and to retain the same. 

(b) To sell, exchange, convey, transfer, grant options to purchase, or otherwise dispose 
of any securities or other property held by the Trustee, by private contract or at public 
auction.  No person dealing with the Trustee shall be bound to see to the application 
of the purchase money or to inquire into the validity, expediency, or propriety of any 
such sale or other disposition, with or without advertisement; 

(c) To vote upon any stocks, bonds, or other securities; to give general or special proxies 
or powers of attorney with or without power of substitution; to exercise any 
conversion privileges, subscription rights or other options, and to make any payments 
incidental thereto; to oppose, or to consent to, or otherwise participate in, corporate 
reorganizations or other changes affecting corporate securities, and to delegate 
discretionary powers, and to pay any assessments or charges in connection therewith; 
and generally to exercise any of the powers of an owner with respect to stocks, bonds, 
securities, or other property; 

(d) To cause any securities or other property to be registered in the Trustee's own name 
or in the name of one or more of the Trustee's nominees, and to hold any investments 
in bearer form, but the books and records of the Trustee shall at all times show that 
all such investments are part of the Trust Fund; 

(e) To keep such portion of the Trust Fund in cash or cash balances as the Trustee may, 
from time to time, deem to be in the best interests of the Plan, without liability for 
interest thereon; 

(f) To accept and retain for such time as it may deem advisable any securities or other 
property received or acquired by it as Trustee hereunder, whether or not such 
securities or other property would normally be purchased as investments hereunder; 

(g) To make, execute, acknowledge, and deliver any documents of transfer and 
conveyance or any other instruments that may be necessary or appropriate to carry 
out the powers herein granted; 

(h) To settle, compromise, or submit to arbitration any claims, debts, or damages due or 
owing to or from the Plan, to commence or defend suits or legal or administrative 
proceedings, and to represent the Plan in all suits and legal and administrative 
proceedings; 

(i) To employ suitable agents and counsel and to pay their reasonable expenses and 
compensation, and such agent or counsel may or may not be agent or counsel for the 
party(s); 



 

6 
 

(j) To do all such acts and exercise all such rights and privileges, although not 
specifically mentioned herein, as the Trustee may deem necessary to carry out the 
purposes of the Plan; 

(k) To apply for and procure from responsible insurance companies selected by the 
Administrator, such endowment and other life insurance Contracts on the life of any 
Participant as required to insure or protect the benefits under the Plan as the 
Administrator shall deem proper; to exercise, at any time or from time to time, 
whatever rights and privileges may be granted under such endowment or other 
insurance contracts; to collect, receive, and settle for the proceeds of all such 
endowment or other insurance contracts as and when entitled to do so under the 
provisions thereof; 

(l) To invest funds of the Trust in time deposits or savings accounts bearing a reasonable 
rate of interest in the Trustee's bank; 

(m) To invest in Treasury Bills and other forms of United States government obligations; 

(n) Except as hereinafter expressly authorized, the Trustee is prohibited from selling or 
purchasing stock options.  The Trustee is expressly authorized to write and sell call 
options under which the holder of the option has the right to purchase shares of stock 
held by the Trustee as a part of the assets of this Trust, if such options are traded on 
and sold through a national securities exchange registered under the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, which exchange has been authorized to provide 
a market for option contracts pursuant to Rule 9B-l promulgated under such Act, and 
so long as the Trustee at all times up to and including the time of exercise or 
expiration of any such option holds sufficient stock in the assets of this Trust to meet 
the obligations under such option if exercised.  In addition, the Trustee is expressly 
authorized to purchase and acquire call options for the purchase of shares of stock 
covered by such options if the options are traded on and purchased through a national 
securities exchange as described in the immediately preceding sentence, and so long 
as any such option is purchased solely in a closing purchase transaction, meaning the 
purchase of an exchange traded call option the effect of which is to reduce or 
eliminate the obligations of the Trustee with respect to a stock option contract or 
contracts which it has previously written and sold in a transaction authorized under 
the immediate prior sentence; 

(o) To deposit moneys in federally insured savings accounts or certificates of deposit in 
banks or savings and loan associations; 

(p) With the consent of the Administrator, to pool all or any of the Trust Fund, from time 
to time, with assets belonging to any other qualified employee benefit trust or 115 
trust as permitted by the Code, and to commingle such assets and make joint or 
common investments and carry joint accounts on behalf of the Plan and such other 
trust or trusts, allocating undivided shares or interests in such investments or accounts 
or any pooled assets of the two or more trusts in accordance with their respective 
interests; 



 

7 
 

5.4 DUTIES OF THE TRUSTEE REGARDING PAYMENTS 

At the direction of the Administrator, the Trustee shall, from time to time, in accordance with the 
terms of the Plan, make payments out of the Trust Fund. The Trustee shall not be responsible in 
any way for the application of such payments. 

5.5 TRUSTEE'S COMPENSATION, EXPENSES AND TAXES 

The Trustee shall be paid such reasonable compensation as shall from time to time be agreed upon 
in writing by the party(s) and the Trustee.  In addition, the Trustee shall be reimbursed for any 
reasonable expenses, including reasonable counsel fees incurred by it as Trustee.  Such 
compensation and expenses shall be paid from the Trust Fund unless paid or advanced by the 
party(s).  All taxes of any kind and all kinds whatsoever that may be levied or assessed under 
existing or future laws upon, or in respect of, the Trust Fund or the income thereof, shall be paid 
from the Trust Fund. 

5.6 PAYMENT OF EXPENSES 

All expenses of administration may be paid out of the Trust Fund unless previously paid by the 
party(s).  Such expenses shall include any expenses incident to the functioning of the 
Administrator, including, but not limited to, fees of Trustees, accountants, counsel, and other 
specialists and their agents, and other costs of administering the Plan.  Until paid, the expenses 
shall constitute a liability of the Trust Fund. 

5.7 VALUATION OF THE TRUST FUND 

As of each Anniversary Date, and at such other date or dates deemed necessary by the 
Administrator, herein called "valuation date", the Trustee shall determine the net worth of the 
assets comprising the Trust Fund as it exists on the "valuation date" prior to taking into 
consideration any contribution for that Plan Year.  In determining such net worth, the Trustee shall 
value the assets comprising the Trust Fund at their fair market value as of the "valuation date" and 
shall deduct all expenses for which the Trustee has not yet obtained reimbursement from the Trust 
Fund. 

5.8 METHOD OF VALUATION 

In determining the fair market value of securities held in the Trust Fund which are listed on a 
registered stock exchange, the Trustee shall value the same at the prices they were last traded on 
such exchange preceding the close of business on the "valuation date".  If such securities were not 
traded on the "valuation date", or if the exchange on which they are traded was not open for 
business on the "valuation date", then the securities shall be valued at the prices at which they were 
last traded prior to the "valuation date".  Any unlisted security held in the Trust Fund shall be 
valued at its bid price next preceding the close of business on the "valuation date", which bid price 
shall be obtained from a registered broker or an investment banker 



 

8 
 

5.9 ANNUAL REPORT OF THE TRUSTEE 

Within sixty (60) days after the Anniversary Date for each Plan Year, the Trustee or its designated 
custodian shall furnish to the party(s) and to the Administrator a written statement of account with 
respect to the Fiscal Year for which such contribution was made setting forth: 

(a) the net income, or loss, of the Trust Fund; 

(b) the gains, or losses, realized by the Trust Fund upon sales or other disposition of the 
assets; 

(c) the increase, or decrease, in the value of the Trust Fund; 

(d) all payments and distributions made from the Trust Fund; and 

(e) such further information as the Trustee and/or Administrator deems appropriate.  The 
party(s), forthwith upon its receipt of each such statement of account, shall 
acknowledge receipt thereof in writing and advise the Trustee and/or Administrator 
of its approval or disapproval thereof.  Failure by the party(s) to disapprove any such 
statement of account within ninety (90) days after its receipt thereof shall be deemed 
an approval thereof.  The approval by the party(s) of any statement of account shall 
be binding as to all matters embraced therein as between the party(s) and the Trustee 
to the same extent as if the account of the Trustee had been settled by judgment or 
decree in an action for a judicial settlement of its account in a court of competent 
jurisdiction in which the Trustee, the party(s) and all persons having or claiming an 
interest in the Plan were parties; provided, however, that nothing herein contained 
shall deprive the Trustee of its right to have its accounts judicially settled if the 
Trustee so desires. 

5.10 AUDIT 

(a) If an audit of the Plan's records shall be required by ERISA and the regulations 
thereunder for any Plan Year, the Administrator shall direct the Trustee to engage on 
behalf of all Participants an independent qualified public accountant for that purpose.  
Such accountant shall, after an audit of the books and records of the Plan in 
accordance with generally accepted auditing standards, within a reasonable period 
after the close of the Plan Year, furnish to the Administrator and the Trustee a report 
of his audit setting forth his opinion as to whether each of the following statements, 
schedules or lists, or any others that are required by the Secretary of Labor to be filed 
with the Plan's annual report, are presented fairly in conformity with generally 
accepted accounting principles applied consistently: 

(1) statement of the assets and liabilities of the Plan; 

(2) statement of changes in net assets available to the Plan; 

(3) statement of receipts and disbursements, a schedule of all assets held for 
investment purposes, a schedule of all loans or fixed income obligations in 
default at the close of the Plan Year; 



 

9 
 

(4) a list of all leases in default or uncollectible during the Plan Year; 

(5) the most recent annual statement of assets and liabilities of any bank 
common or collective trust fund in which Plan assets are invested or such 
information regarding separate accounts or trusts with a bank or insurance 
company as the Trustee and Administrator deem necessary; and 

(6) a schedule of each transaction or series of transactions involving an amount 
in excess of three percent (3%) of Plan assets. 

All auditing and accounting fees shall be an expense of and may, at the direction of the 
Administrator, be paid from the Trust Fund. 

(b) If some or all of the information necessary to enable the Administrator to comply 
with Federal regulations or the Internal Revenue Code is maintained by a bank, 
insurance company, or similar institution, regulated and supervised and subject to 
periodic examination by a state or federal agency, it shall transmit and certify the 
accuracy of that information to the Administrator within one hundred twenty (120) 
days after the end of the Plan Year or such other date as may be prescribed under 
regulations of the Secretary of Labor. 

5.11 RESIGNATION, REMOVAL AND SUCCESSION OF TRUSTEE 

(a) The Trustee may resign at any time by delivering to the party(s), at least ninety (90) 
days before its effective date, a written notice of its resignation. 

(b) The party(s) may remove the Trustee by mailing, by registered or certified mail, 
addressed to such Trustee at his last known address, at least thirty (30) days before 
its effective date, a written notice of its removal and a copy, certified by the party(s),  
of the resolution adopted effecting its removal. 

(c) Upon the death, resignation, incapacity, dissolution or removal of any Trustee, a 
successor may be appointed by the party(s); and such successor, upon accepting such 
appointment in writing and delivering same to the party(s), shall, without further act, 
become vested with all the estate, rights, powers, discretions, and duties of his 
predecessor with like respect as if he were originally named as a Trustee herein.  Until 
such a successor is appointed, the remaining Trustee or Trustees shall have full 
authority to act under the terms of this Agreement.  In the event that the party(s) does 
not name a successor Trustee by the effective date of the removal or resignation of 
the Trustee, the sponsoring employer shall become the Trustee hereunder. 

(d) The party(s) may designate a successor Trustee prior to the resignation or removal of 
a Trustee.  In the event a successor is so designated by the party(s) and accepts such 
designation, the successor shall, without further act, become vested with all the estate, 
rights, powers, discretions, and duties of his predecessor with the like effect as if he 
were originally named as Trustee herein immediately upon the death, resignation, 
incapacity, or removal of his predecessor. 



 

10 
 

(e) Whenever any Trustee hereunder ceases to serve as such, he shall furnish to the 
party(s) and Administrator a written statement of account with respect to the portion 
of the Fiscal Year during which he served as Trustee.  This statement shall be either 
(i) included as part of the annual statement of account for the Fiscal Year required 
under Section 5.9 or (ii) set forth in a special statement.  Any such special statement 
of account should be rendered no later than the due date of the annual statement of 
account for the Fiscal Year.  The procedures set forth in Section 5.9 for the approval 
by the party(s) of annual statements of account shall apply to any special statement 
of account rendered hereunder and approval by the party(s) of any such special 
statement in the manner provided in Section 5.9 shall have the same effect upon the 
statement as the party(s)'s approval of an annual statement of account.  No successor 
to the Trustee shall have any duty or responsibility to investigate the acts or 
transactions of any predecessor who has rendered all statements of account required 
by Section 5.9 and this subparagraph. 

ARTICLE VI 
 

AMENDMENT, TERMINATION AND MERGERS 

6.1 AMENDMENT 

The party(s) shall have the right at any time and from time to time to amend, in whole or in part, 
any or all of the provisions of this Agreement.   

6.2 TERMINATION OF TRUST BY PARTY(S) 

The party(s) shall have the right at any time to terminate the Trust by delivering to the Trustee and 
Administrator written notice of such termination.  Upon such termination of the Trust, the party(s), 
by written notice to the Trustee and Administrator, may direct either: 

6.3 MERGER, CONSOLIDATION OR TRANSFER 

This Trust may be merged or consolidated with, or its assets and/or liabilities may be transferred 
to or from another Trust only if the benefits which would be received by a Participant or his or her 
Beneficiaries under the Plan, in the event of a termination of the Trust immediately after such 
transfer, merger or consolidation, are at least equal to the benefits the Participant or his or her 
Beneficiaries would have received if the Plan had terminated immediately before the transfer, 
merger or consolidation. 

The Trustee, at the direction of the Administrator, may transfer the interest of a Participant to, or 
receive the transferred interest from, another trust forming part of Code Section 501(c)(9) or Code 
Section 115 trust as permitted by the Code, maintained by such participant's new or previous 
sponsoring employer and represented by said trustee in writing as meeting the requirements of the 
Code, provided that the trust to which such transfers are made permits the transfer to be made. 



 

11 
 

6.4 TRANSFER OF INTEREST 

Pursuant to the direction of the Administrator, the Trustee may accept funds transferred from 
another trust forming part of a welfare benefit meeting the requirements of Code Section 115.  The 
Administrator shall maintain records with respect to the separate "Participant's Transferred 
Account" on behalf of the party(s) and the Participant with respect to the amount transferred.  In 
the event of such a transfer under this Plan, the Trustee may act upon the direction of the 
Administrator without determining the facts concerning a transfer. 

ARTICLE VII 
 

MISCELLANEOUS 

7.1 QUALIFIED TRUST 

(a) The Trust is intended to continue to qualify and to be tax exempt under the 
governmental authority provided by IRC Section 115, as amended from time to time.   

(b) Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, if, pursuant to an application filed 
by or in behalf of the Plan, the Commissioner of the Internal Revenue Service or his 
delegate should determine that the Plan does not initially qualify as a tax-exempt plan 
and trust under  IRC Section 115, and such determination is not contested, or if 
contested, is finally upheld, then the Plan shall be void ab initio and the Trustee shall 
direct the Administrator to return all amounts contributed to the Plan by the 
sponsoring employer, less expenses paid, within one year and the Plan shall 
terminate, and the Administrator shall be discharged from all further obligations. 

7.2 PARTICIPANTS' RIGHTS 

The Plan shall not be deemed to constitute a contract between the sponsoring employer and any 
Participant or to be a consideration or an inducement for the employment of any Participant or 
Employee.  Nothing contained in the Plan shall be deemed to give any Participant or Employee 
the right to be retained in the service of the sponsoring employer or to interfere with the right of 
the sponsoring employer to discharge any Participant or Employee at any time regardless of the 
effect, which such discharge shall have upon him as a Participant in the Plan. 

7.3 ALIENATION 

No benefit which shall be payable out of the Trust Fund to any person (including a Participant or 
Beneficiary) shall be subject in any manner to anticipation, alienation, sale, transfer, assignment, 
pledge, encumbrance, or charge, and any attempt to anticipate, alienate, sell, transfer, assign, 
pledge, encumber, or charge the same shall be void; and no such benefit shall in any manner be 
liable for, or subject to, the debts, contracts, liabilities, engagements, or torts of any such person, 
nor shall it be subject to attachment or legal process for or against such person, and the same shall 
not be recognized by the Trustee, except to such extent as may be required by law. 

In the event a Participant's benefits are garnished or attached by order of any court, the 
Administrator may bring an action for a declaratory judgment in a court of competent jurisdiction 



 

12 
 

to determine the proper recipient of the benefits to be paid by the Plan.  During the pendency of 
said action, any benefits that become payable shall be paid into the court as they become payable, 
to be distributed by the court to the recipient it deems proper at the close of said action. 

7.4 CONSTRUCTION OF AGREEMENT 

This Trust shall be construed and enforced according to any applicable Federal rule, regulation or 
code and the laws of the state of Illinois of the Trustee.  

7.5 GENDER AND NUMBER 

Wherever any words are used herein in the masculine, feminine or neuter gender, they shall be 
construed as though they were also used in another gender in all cases where they would so apply, 
and whenever any words are used herein in the singular or plural form, they shall be construed as 
though they were also used in the other form in all cases where they would so apply. 

7.6 PROHIBITION AGAINST DIVERSION OR INUREMENT 

It shall be impossible by operation of the Plan or of the Trust, by termination of either, by power 
of revocation or amendment, by the happening of any contingency, by collateral arrangement or 
by any other means, for any part of the corpus or income of the Trust Fund maintained pursuant to 
this trust, or any funds contributed thereto, to inure (other than through the payment of benefits 
provided under the terms of the Plan) to the benefit of any private shareholder or individual. 

7.7 BONDING 

Every Fiduciary who handles funds or other property of the Trust, except a bank or an insurance 
company, unless exempted by ERISA, if applicable, and regulations thereunder, shall be bonded 
in an amount not less than 10% of the amount of the funds such Fiduciary handles; provided, 
however, that the minimum bond shall be $1,000 and the maximum bond, $500,000.  The amount 
of funds handled shall be determined at the beginning of each Plan Year by the amount of funds 
handled by such person, group, or class to be covered and their predecessors, if any, during the 
preceding Plan Year, or if there is no preceding Plan Year, then by the amount of the funds to be 
handled during the then current year.  The bond shall provide protection to the Plan against any 
loss by reason of acts of fraud or dishonesty by the Fiduciary alone or in connivance with others.  
The surety shall be a corporate surety company (as such term is used in Section 412(a)(2) of 
ERISA), and the bond shall be in a form approved by the Secretary of Labor.  The cost of such 
bonds shall be an expense of and may, at the election of the Administrator, be paid from the Trust 
Fund or by the party(s). 

7.8 ERRORS AND OMISSIONS 

The Administrator shall direct the Trustee to purchase a Contract of insurance to protect the Trust 
Fund and its advisors against any potential liability which may arise in the day to day 
administration of the Plan and Trust from any error in action or failure to act as required under the 



 

13 
 

provisions of the Plan and/or Trust by the Administrator, its representatives, agents, employees or 
advisers. 

7.9 SPONSOR’S, ADMINISTRATOR'S AND TRUSTEE'S PROTECTIVE CLAUSE 

Neither the Sponsor, Administrator nor the Trustee, nor their successors, shall be responsible for 
the validity of any Contract of insurance issued hereunder or for the failure on the part of the 
insurer to make payments provided by any such Contract, or for the action of any person which 
may delay payment or render a Contract null and void or unenforceable in whole or in part. 

7.10 INSURER'S PROTECTIVE CLAUSE 

Any insurer who shall issue Contracts of insurance hereunder shall not have any responsibility for 
the validity of the Plan or for the tax or legal aspects of the Plan.  The insurer shall be protected 
and held harmless in acting in accordance with any written direction of the Trustee, and shall have 
no duty to see to the application of any funds paid to the Trustee, nor be required to question any 
actions directed by the Trustee.  Regardless of any provision of the Plan or Trust, the insurer shall 
not be required to take or permit any action or allow any benefit or privilege contrary to the terms 
of any Contract which it issues hereunder, or the rules of the insurer. 

7.11 INDEMNIFICATION OF TRUSTEE 

The party(s) shall indemnify and hold harmless the Trustee from all loss or liability (including 
expenses and reasonable attorneys' fees) to which the Trustee may be subject by reason of its 
execution of its duties under this Trust Agreement, or by reason of any acts taken in good faith in 
accordance with directions, or acts omitted in good faith in the absence of directions, from the 
Administrator, its agent or representative, or from an Investment Manager, unless such loss or 
liability is due to the Trustee's negligence or misconduct.  The Trustee is entitled to collect on the 
indemnity provided by this Section only from the Administrator and is not entitled to any direct or 
indirect payment from assets of the Trust Fund. 

The Trustee shall indemnify and hold harmless the party(s) and administrator from all loss or 
liability unless the such loss or liability is due to the party(s) and administrator’s negligence or 
misconduct. 

In the event that any lawsuit, claim, suit, or proceeding is brought involving the Plan or the Trust 
Fund in which the Trustee is named as a defendant, the Trustee shall be entitled to receive, on a 
current basis, indemnity payments as provided for in this Section.  Provided, however, that if the 
final judgment entered in the lawsuit or proceeding holds that the Trustee is guilty of negligence 
or misconduct with respect to the Trust Fund, the Trustee shall be required to refund the indemnity 
payments that it has received. 

7.12 LIMITATION OF TRUSTEE'S LIABILITY 

The Trustee shall accept and rely upon any documents executed by the Administrator until such 
time as the sponsoring party(s) or Administrator files with the Trustee a written revocation of such 
designation.  If the Trustee makes a written request for directions from the sponsoring party(s), the 
Administrator, or an Investment Manager, the Trustee may await such directions without incurring 
liability.  The Trustee has no duty to act in the absence of such requested directions, but may in its 



 

14 
 

discretion take such action, as it deems appropriate to carry out the purpose of this Trust 
Agreement. 

7.13 RECEIPT AND RELEASE FOR PAYMENTS 

(a) No benefit payable to any Participant or Beneficiary shall exceed the value of the 
Trust assets allocated to that benefit.  In the event that there are insufficient Trust 
assets to pay in full any benefit provided hereunder, neither the Trustee, the 
administrator nor the party(s) shall bear any liability to any Participant or Beneficiary 
on account of such insufficiency. 

(b) Any payment to any Participant, his legal representative, Beneficiary, or to any 
guardian or committee appointed for such Participant or Beneficiary in accordance 
with the provisions of this Agreement, shall, to the extent thereof, be in full 
satisfaction of all claims hereunder against the Trustee, the Administrator and the 
party(s), any of whom may require such Participant, legal representative, Beneficiary, 
guardian or committee, as a condition precedent to such payment, to execute a receipt 
and release thereof in such form as shall be determined by the Trustee, Administrator 
or party(s). 

7.14 HEADINGS 

The headings and subheadings of this Agreement have been inserted for convenience of reference 
and are to be ignored in any construction of the provisions hereof. 



 

15 
 

ARTICLE VIII 
 

EXECUTION 

8.1 SIGNATURES 

In witness of the foregoing promises and mutual covenants herein contained, the Parties have 
adopted and executed this Trust and the related Plan document as of the dates shown below: 

  Dated this ____ day of              20__. 

(a)  Signed by: ____________________________________ 

  Title:  ____________________________________ 

  Signature: ____________________________________ 

 

(b)  Signed by: ____________________________________ 

  Title:  ____________________________________ 

  Signature: ____________________________________ 

 



 i 

 
ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICES AGREEMENT 

 
 
THIS ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICES AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) between BABBITT 
MUNICIPALITIES, INC, CHICAGO, IL (“BMI”) and Elizabeth Fire Protection District (the 
“Sponsoring Entity”) sets forth the basis on which BMI agrees to provide certain services with 
respect to the Sponsoring Entity's employee benefit plan known as the Elizabeth Fire Protection 
District Retirement Healthcare Funding Plan (RHFP) Plan (the “Plan”).   
 
 

PURPOSE 
 
The Plan provides for the payment of various health and welfare expenses for eligible employees 
of the Sponsoring Entity.  The Sponsoring Entity desires that BMI provide certain services relating 
to the Plan.  Accordingly, the Sponsoring Entity and BMI now wish to enter into an agreement to 
provide for these services, as set forth in this Agreement.   
 
 

ARTICLE I  

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE SPONSORING ENTITY 

The Sponsoring Entity has the responsibilities and duties outlined in this Article I below: 

1.01 Interpret the Plan and Determine Participant Eligibility and Benefit Entitlement.  As 
Plan Sponsor and Plan Administrator, the Sponsoring Entity possesses the ultimate 
authority to interpret the Plan for decisions involving eligibility for Plan participation, 
termination of Plan participation, and the calculation and payment of benefits to Plan 
participants.  Nevertheless, the Sponsoring Entity will not direct BMI to take any action 
that would violate federal or state laws. 

1.02 Fund Plan Benefits and Pay Plan Expenses.  The Sponsoring Entity is solely responsible 
for the funding of benefits under the Plan.  Ordinary Plan expenses shall be paid from the 
administration fee and investment contract funds. Extraordinary expenses such as fees of 
legal counsel, actuaries, accountants, trustees, auditors, health consultants, or other 
professionals appointed by the Sponsoring Entity or required in connection with the Plan 
shall be paid by the party that incurs the expense.  

1.03 Control Plan Assets.  The Sponsoring Entity has complete authority regarding the 
investment, management, and use of Plan assets, and BMI neither has nor is deemed to 
exercise any authority, control, or discretion over Plan assets.   

1.04 Amend and Terminate the Plan.  The Sponsoring Entity has complete discretion for all 
decisions involving the establishment, amendment, and termination of the Plan.  



 ii 

1.05 Fulfill Legal Obligations of the Plan.  The Sponsoring Entity possesses the ultimate 
authority and responsibility for the Plan’s compliance with and all applicable laws and 
regulations.  Depending on the terms agreed to by the parties, BMI may assist in preparing 
filing reports and performing discrimination testing.  See Section 2.13 to determine 
whether or not BMI will provide such services.    

1.06 Appoint Necessary Advisors.  The Sponsoring, Employer, BMI or the Plan may appoint 
necessary advisors, whether individuals or entities, to assist in the administration of the 
Plan.  This may include legal counsel, actuaries, accountants, auditors, health consultants, 
and other professionals required by the Sponsoring Employer, the Plan or BMI.  The entity 
that incurs the expense will pay the expenses associated with these appointments if not 
mutually agreed to on a prior basis. BMI will consult with the Sponsoring Employer 
whether such expenses are extraordinary Plan Expenses under Section 1.02, prior to 
incursion.  

 
ARTICLE II 

 
RESPONSIBILITIES OF BMI 

BMI has the responsibilities and duties outlined in this Article II below: 

2.01 Provide Certain Plan-Related Documents.  BMI will provide the following documents 
relating to the Plan for the Sponsoring Entity’s review and approval: 

 
RHFP Plan Document (Welfare Benefit Plan) 
RHFP Trust Agreement 
Specifications 
 

2.02 Establish Trust and Help Select Trustee.  BMI will assist the Sponsoring Entity in 
selecting a trustee for the trust.     

  
2.03 Arrange for Insurance Coverage That is Selected by Sponsoring Entity.  BMI will 

assist the Sponsoring Entity in performing the administrative tasks necessary to identify 
and procure the insurance coverages, if any, that will be offered under the Plan.   

2.04 Coordinate With Service Providers.  BMI will coordinate the Plan’s interactions with 
the various providers of services and products, including trustees, record keepers, 
investment advisors, product vendors, and legal, accounting, actuarial, and other service 
providers as necessary to carry out its duties and responsibilities under this Agreement. 

2.05 Coordinate Enrollment Meetings and Participant Communications.  BMI will 
organize and coordinate enrollment meetings with Sponsoring Entity’s employees.  BMI 
will also coordinate communication between such employees and the Plan. 

2.06 Evaluate Claims for Benefits.  BMI will review and evaluate all benefit claims submitted 
by participants, in accordance with the terms of the Plan.  When BMI deems that further 
evaluation of a benefit claim is necessary, BMI may recommend that the   Sponsoring 
Entity engage the services of legal counsel, actuaries, accountants, auditors, health 



 iii 

consultants or other professionals at Sponsoring Entity’s cost.  

2.07 Process Payments.  At the direction of the Sponsoring Entity, BMI will prepare payment 
from the trust to the provider or insurance issuer for claims payable under the Plan. 

2.08 Maintain Relevant Records: Make Records Available for Inspection.  BMI will 
maintain reasonable records regarding its administration of the Plan.  BMI will ensure that 
the Sponsoring Entity may, if it so desires, periodically inspect all relevant records relating 
to the administration of the Plan.  Such inspections may be done at a mutually agreeable 
time for the parties. 

2.09 Accuracy of Information.  The Sponsoring Entity understands and agrees that in order for 
BMI to fulfill its duties under the Agreement, BMI will need to rely on the oral and written 
statements of the Sponsoring Entity, officers, directors, employees, and agents of the 
Sponsoring Entity, Plan participants, Plan advisors, and Plan service providers.  BMI is not 
responsible for verifying the accuracy of such information.  The Sponsoring Entity agrees 
to hold harmless BMI for any loss or damage to the Plan or the Sponsoring Entity resulting 
from BMI’s good faith reliance on such information. 

2.10 Provide Quarterly Reports.  BMI will submit to the Sponsoring Entity a quarterly 
accounting of all payments made from the Plan’s trust. 

2.11   Assist With Plan Amendments.  BMI will provide advice to the Sponsoring Entity on 
possible revisions to the Plan’s terms and benefits, and will assist in preparing any such 
amendments elected by the Sponsoring Entity.   

 
2.12 Maintain Confidentiality.  BMI will comply with the HIPAA Privacy Rules and keep 

confidential all individually identifiable personal health information relating to Plan 
participants.  BMI will not disclose such personal information, except as required by law 
or as necessary for the administration of the Plan.  If the Sponsoring Entity is deemed to 
be a covered entity under HIPAA, then BMI will execute a business associate agreement 
with the Sponsoring Entity. 

 
2.13 Outsource Certain Tasks.  BMI may utilize the services of any outside professional in 

performing of its responsibilities under the agreement.  BMI bears the same responsibility 
for any services rendered by an outside professional on behalf of the Plan as BMI would if 
BMI had rendered the services itself. 

 
2.14 Express Limitations on Responsibilities of BMI.  Except for the duties and 

responsibilities expressly set forth in this Agreement, BMI does not assume any other 
obligations related to the Plan or the Sponsoring Entity.  This limitation on the 
responsibilities of BMI includes, but is not limited to, the following     

 
a. BMI does not have any discretionary authority or control over the design, 

management, or operation of the Plan and is neither a sponsor nor a fiduciary under 
the Plan.  BMI may assist the Sponsoring Entity with, but does not assume 
responsibility for, operating the Plan in compliance with applicable state and 
federal laws and regulations. 



 iv 

 
b. BMI is not a trustee of the Plan. 

 
c. BMI does not and will not render investment advice to the Plan. 

 
d. Except as directed by the Sponsoring Entity, BMI does not have access to Plan 

assets and BMI is not responsible for verifying the existence of Plan assets. 
 

e. BMI does not pay benefits, provide insurance for benefits or control the 
circumstances under which an excess loss insurer will provide insurance for 
benefits. 

 

ARTICLE III 

FEES FOR SERVICES 
 

3.01 Fee Schedule.  There are no fees paid by the Sponsoring Entity.   

 

ARTICLE IV 

EFFECTIVE DATES OF AGREEMENT 

4.01 Effective Date/Term.  This Agreement shall be in effect for an initial term beginning on 
the Inception Date and ending 5 years after the Inception Date. This Agreement will be 
renewed automatically for each succeeding year unless written notice of termination is 
provided by either party to the other no less than 60 days before the end of such Agreement 
year. 

4.02 Year to Year Renewal.  This Agreement will automatically be renewed for one year 
periods unless terminated by BMI or the Sponsoring Entity upon written notice of not less 
than sixty (60) days prior to the end of the current expiration date. 

4.03 Termination of Agreement by Either Party Without Cause.  This Agreement may be 
terminated at any time by either party, for any reason, upon sixty (60) days written notice 
to the other party.   

4.04 Termination of Agreement by Either Party with Cause.  This Agreement may also be 
terminated by either party with 14 days written notice, if either party fails to materially 
comply with the terms of this Agreement, has engaged in any illegal activity or a petition 
under bankruptcy laws is filed by or against the Sponsoring Entity or BMI. Parties will 
have 14 days to correct a breach upon notification prior to termination. An extension of 
this period of not more than 14 days may be allowed if the breach cannot be reasonably 
cured with the 14 days provided agreed upon by both parties.  

 

ARTICLE V 



 v 

LIABILITY AND INDEMNITY 

5.01 Limitation on Liability.  BMI does not insure nor underwrite the liability of the 
Sponsoring Entity under the Plan. The Sponsoring Entity retains the ultimate responsibility 
for all claims made under the Plan and all expenses incident to the Plan, except as 
specifically assumed in this Agreement by BMI.  

5.02 Gross Indemnification.  The Sponsoring Entity agrees to indemnify and hold harmless 
BMI and its directors, officers, agents, and employees against any and all claims, lawsuits, 
settlements, judgments, costs, penalties and expenses, including attorney’s fees, resulting 
from or arising out of or in connection with any function or action of BMI under this 
Agreement or in connection with a claim for benefits under the Plan, at any time, unless it 
is determined that the liability was the result of negligence or misconduct on the part of 
BMI or any of its directors, officers, agents or employees.  

 
BMI agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the Sponsoring Entity and its directors, 
officers, agents, and employees against any and all claims, lawsuits, settlements, 
judgments, costs, penalties and expenses, including attorney’s fees, resulting from or 
arising out of or in connection with any function or action of BMI under this Agreement 
or in connection with a claim for benefits under the Plan, at any time, unless it is determined 
that the liability was the result of negligence or misconduct on the part of the Sponsoring 
Entity or any of its directors, officers, agents or employees. 
 

5.03 Proof of Insurance.  BMI will provide to the Sponsoring Entity Proof of Liability 
Insurance and Errors and Omissions coverage on an annual basis. 

 
ARTICLE VI 

 
MISCELLANEOUS 

 
6.01 Headings.  The section headings used throughout the Agreement are for convenience of 

reference only, and will not be construed to explain or modify the construction or meaning 
of the Agreement.   
 

6.02 Severability.  In the event that any portion of this Agreement is invalidated by a court of 
competent jurisdiction, the remainder of the Agreement will be given effect to the 
maximum extent possible.   
 

6.03 Entire Agreement.  This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the parties 
and any prior negotiations are merged into this Agreement.  No oral agreements or 
understanding will be binding on either of the parties.  
 

6.05 Applicable Law.  This Agreement is governed by and is to be construed in accordance 
with the laws of the State of Illinois. 

 
6.06 No Third Party Beneficiaries.  Only parties to this Agreement shall gain any rights to 

enforce any provision of this Agreement. 



 vi 

 
6.07    Non-Assignment.  This Agreement is binding on the parties’ legal successors and heirs.  

This Agreement may not be assigned by either party without the prior written approval of 
an officer of the other party. 

 
6.08 Revisions to the Agreement.  This Agreement may be revised at any time by written 

agreement signed by both parties, except as otherwise provided herein.  
 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Agreement has been executed the day and year first above 
written.  
   
 
FOR THE SPONSORING ENTITY:                               FOR BMI:         
                                                                         
By ___________________________                By__________________________ 
 
Title _________________________               Title ________________________ 
                                                                         
Date _________________________             Date ________________________ 
 
 
739668-1 



                                

ELIZABETH FIRE PROTECTION DISTRICT 

RESOLUTION NO. 23-04-04 

 

A RESOLUTION ADOPTING THE ELBERT COUNTY HAZARD MITIGATION PLAN 2023 

UPDATE AS THE ELIZABETH FIRE PROTECTION DISTRICT’S MULTI-HAZARD 

MITIGATION PLAN 

 

WHEREAS, THE ELIZABETH FIRE PROTECTION DISTRICT (“DISTRICT”) IS A QUASI-

MUNICIPAL CORPORATION AND POLITICAL SUBDIVISION OF THE STATE OF COLORADO, 

DULY ORGANIZED AND EXISTING AS A FIRE PROTECTION DISTRICT UNDER THE 

CONSTITUTION AND THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF COLORADO TO PROVIDE FIRE 

SUPPRESSION, FIRE PREVENTION, RELATED INVESTIGATORY ACTIVITIES, RESCUE, 

HAZARDOUS MATERIALS SERVICES, EMERGENCY MEDICAL SERVICES, AND 

ENFORCEMENT AND ADMINISTRATION OF THE FIRE CODE (COLLECTIVELY, “FIRE 

SERVICES”);  AND 

 

WHEREAS, THE COUNTY OF ELBERT (“COUNTY”) IS A COUNTY OF THE STATE OF 

COLORADO AUTHORIZED TO EXERCISE ITS POWERS UNDER AND PURSUANT TO THE 

COLORADO CONSTITUTION AND STATE LAW; AND   

 

WHEREAS, THE COUNTY, WITH THE ASSISTANCE FROM THE DISTRICT AND 

OTHER LOCAL GOVERNMENTS, HAS GATHERED INFORMATION AND PREPARED THE 

ELBERT COUNTY HAZARD MITIGATION PLAN 2023 UPDATE; AND, 

 

WHEREAS, THE ELBERT COUNTY HAZARD MITIGATION PLAN 2023 UPDATE HAS 

BEEN PREPARED IN ACCORDANCE WITH FEMA REQUIREMENTS AT 44 C.F.R.201.6; AND, 

 

WHEREAS, THE COUNTY AND THE DISTRICT HAVE REVIEWED THE PLAN AND 

AFFIRM THAT THE PLAN WILL BE UPDATED NO LESS THAN EVERY FIVE YEARS; 

 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE 

ELIZABETH FIRE PROTECTION DISTRICT IN THE COUNTY OF ELBERT, STATE OF 

COLORADO THAT: 

 

SECTION 1.  THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE ELIZABETH FIRE PROTECTION 

DISTRICT ADOPTS THIS RESOLUTION ADOPTING THE ELBERT COUNTY HAZARD 

MITIGATION PLAN 2023 UPDATE AS THE ELIZABETH FIRE PROTECTION DISTRICT’S 

MULTI-HAZARD MITIGATION PLAN, AND RESOLVES TO EXECUTE THE ACTIONS IN THE 

PLAN. 

 

ADOPTED APRIL 11, 2023, BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS ELIZABETH FIRE 

PROTECTION DISTRICT 

 

______________________________________  __________________________________ 

RICK YOUNG, PRESIDENT     DON MEANS, TREASURER 

 

 ______________________________________  __________________________________ 

SCOTT CHRISTENSEN, VICE PRESIDENT   WAYNE AUSTGEN, SECRETARY 

 

 



______________________________________ 

STACEY COLLIS, DIRECTOR  



 

Elbert County  
Hazard Mitigation Plan 

2023 Update 

 

  



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Table of Contents 2 

1 TABLE OF CONTENTS 
Executive Summary ....................................................................................................................................... 4 

Hazards Overview ......................................................................................................................................... 5 

1 Mitigation Strategy ................................................................................................................................ 7 

1.1 Mitigation Goals and Objectives ................................................................................................... 7 

1.2 2017 Mitigation Actions Report .................................................................................................... 8 

1.3 2023 Mitigation Actions .............................................................................................................. 16 

1.4 Mitigation Capabilities ................................................................................................................ 31 

1.5 Plan Monitoring and Maintenance ............................................................................................. 34 

1.6 Planning Integration .................................................................................................................... 34 

1.7 Continued Public Engagement .................................................................................................... 35 

2 Planning Process .................................................................................................................................. 37 

2.1 Background ................................................................................................................................. 37 

2.2 Hazard Mitigation Planning Committee ...................................................................................... 42 

2.3 Public and Stakeholder Participation .......................................................................................... 47 

3 County Profile ...................................................................................................................................... 55 

3.1 History and Resource Overview .................................................................................................. 55 

3.2 Climate ........................................................................................................................................ 55 

3.3 Community Lifelines ................................................................................................................... 56 

3.4 Demographics ............................................................................................................................. 58 

3.5 Community Inclusion .................................................................................................................. 59 

3.6 Housing ....................................................................................................................................... 60 

3.7 Economy ...................................................................................................................................... 64 

3.8 Public Lands ................................................................................................................................ 65 

3.9 Future Development ................................................................................................................... 65 

4 Hazard Identification and Risk Assessment ......................................................................................... 67 

4.1 Risk Assessment Overview .......................................................................................................... 67 

4.2 Previous Disaster Declarations ................................................................................................... 75 

4.3 Cyber Hazards ............................................................................................................................. 79 

4.4 Dam / Levee Incident .................................................................................................................. 83 

4.5 Drought ....................................................................................................................................... 92 

4.6 Earthquake ................................................................................................................................ 100 

4.7 Extreme Heat ............................................................................................................................ 108 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Table of Contents 3 

4.8 Flood ......................................................................................................................................... 112 

4.9 Hazardous Materials Release .................................................................................................... 126 

4.10 Public Health Hazards ............................................................................................................... 131 

4.11 Severe Weather (Hail, Lightning, Windstorm) .......................................................................... 136 

4.12 Severe Winter Weather ............................................................................................................ 146 

4.13 Tornado ..................................................................................................................................... 161 

4.14 Wildfire...................................................................................................................................... 171 

5 Fire Protection Districts ..................................................................................................................... 187 

5.1 FPD Capabilities ......................................................................................................................... 187 

6 Wildfire Risk Assessment Summary Report ...................................................................................... 192 

7 Earthquake Hazus Risk Report .......................................................................................................... 273 

8 Mitigation Zones................................................................................................................................ 296 

9 Mitigation Strategy Action Ideas ....................................................................................................... 302 

10 Hazard Mitigation Planning Committee Roster ............................................................................ 310 

11 Meeting Agendas, Invites, and Participants ................................................................................. 312 

12 FEMA Approval and Local Government Adoptions ...................................................................... 324 

 

 

 

Professional planning services for this plan update provided by: 

 
 

  



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Executive Summary 4 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 

The Disaster Mitigation Act (DMA) is federal legislation 
that requires proactive, pre-disaster hazard mitigation 
planning as a prerequisite for some funding available 
under the Robert T. Stafford Act. The DMA encourages 
state and local authorities to work together on pre-
disaster planning. The planning network called for by 
the DMA helps local governments articulate accurate 
needs for mitigation, resulting in faster allocation of 
funding and more cost-effective risk reduction projects. 

Hazard mitigation is the use of long- and short-term 
strategies to reduce or alleviate the loss of life, personal 
injury, and property damage that can result from a 
disaster. It involves strategies such as planning, policy 
changes, programs, projects, and other actions that can 
mitigate the impacts of hazards. It is impossible to 
predict exactly when and where disasters will occur or 
the extent to which they will impact an area, but with 
careful planning and collaboration among public 
agencies, stakeholders, and citizens, it is possible to 
minimize losses that disasters can cause. The 
responsibility for hazard mitigation lies with many, 
including private property owners; business and 
industry; and local, state, and federal government. 

Elbert County and a partnership of local governments 
and organizations within the county have developed 
and maintained a hazard mitigation plan (HMP) to 
reduce risks from natural disasters and to comply with 
the DMA. This 2022 plan update builds upon the 
community’s previous efforts and identifies the 
mitigation strategy that Elbert County and its 
municipalities will follow over the next five years. 

 
Hazard Mitigation is a 

sustained action taken to 
reduce or eliminate long-
term risk to people and 

property from hazards and 
their effects. 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Hazards Overview 5 

HAZARDS OVERVIEW 
A brief overview of the hazards profiled in this 2023 Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan (HMP) is 
provided below. In addition to those hazards profiled in the 2017 HMP, the hazard mitigation planning 
committee (HMPC) decided to add the hazards of Cyber Hazards, Extreme Heat, Hazardous Materials 
Release, and Public Health Hazards to this updated HMP. Also included below is the relative hazard risk 
ranking for each hazard, as determined by the HMPC. 

High Risk Hazards: 

Drought – Frequent with greatly varied severity since 2000. There have been multiple periods of 
extreme drought, including an almost year long period when 100% of the county was affected. Multiple 
exceptional drought periods have occurred, impacting approximately 10% - 15%  of the county. 

Flood – Significant history of flooding and flash flooding events in Elbert County. There is the potential 
for extensive building damage and losses, as well as economic impacts to multiple areas in the county. 
Agricultural structures and parcels are the majority of buildings and property exposed to flooding. 

Public Health Hazards – Impacted by a number of factors. Water quality issues can quickly affect the 
entire population and drought has been shown to increase the concentration of undesirable metals in 
water sources. Air quality may be a concern due to potential dust from drought affected areas and 
wildfire smoke. Mental health should be a commonly supported concept across organizations. Epidemic 
and pandemic will continue to be a risk for the foreseeable future. 

Severe Weather (Hail, Lightning, Windstorm) – Thunderstorms are a frequent occurrence and present 
multiple risks to people and property. There has been great variance in size of hailstones and wind 
speeds, both of which have done considerable damage in the county. One lightning death occurred in 
1988. 

Severe Winter Weather – The effects of severe winter weather are wide-reaching and dangerous. Each 
year preparation for severe events is a concern. The county has seen large amounts of damages to 
property and crops, as well as events that halted day-to-day operations, due to extreme cold and 
excessive amounts of snow. Those at risk of isolation or having an inability to handle the effects of an 
event are a priority, as they are at greater risk of effects. 

Wildfire – Elbert County has had a minimal number of fires, all 1,000 acres or less. However, wildfire is 
one of the most concerning hazards for the county, as wildfire is a risk to most areas. Wildfire season is 
becoming longer in duration and fires increase in size more rapidly. While Elbert County has had small 
fires, the potential rate of spread risk across the county is very high to extreme. 

Moderate Risk Hazards: 

Cyber Hazards – Increasingly more common for local governments, private infrastructure organizations, 
hospitals, and other important operational entities to be targeted. Ransomware, overriding control of 
critical processes, and other evolving threats are impacting safety and security. No known cyber attacks 
in the county to date. 

Dam / Levee Incident – All of the 82 jurisdictional dams listed by the Colorado Division of Water 
Resources Dam Safety Branch, (listed as 72 jurisdictional dams by the National Inventory of Dams), are 
classified as low hazard or no public hazard (NPH). There is a single levee and no known dam or levee 
incident occurrences.  



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Hazards Overview 6 

Earthquake – Historical 3.0 magnitude event in 1966. Low probability of a large magnitude earthquake 
occurring. If there is an event, would likely have a low magnitude.  

Extreme Heat – History shows a high of 24 events in 2011. Extreme heat events are a minimum duration 
of 2 consecutive days with temperatures over 90°, between the months of May and September. 
Between 1979 to 2019, a total of 181 extreme heat events occurred, with varying numbers of days for 
each event.  

Hazardous Materials Release – Hazardous materials present a risk to the public, as there are 17 fixed 
storage facilities and a designated transport route, on I-70, in the county. While there have been very 
few incidents reported, the amount of hazardous materials being handled or transported presents a 
notable risk. Responder and public education are a priority for preparedness should an incident occur. 

Tornado – Tornadoes are infrequent but have occurred multiple times in the county. The largest 
tornado rating that has been recorded was an F2/EF2. Some damages have been reported for tornado 
events; however, for the majority of events, no damages were recorded. 

No hazards ranked Low Risk by the HMPC. 

  



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Mitigation Strategy   7 

1 MITIGATION STRATEGY 

1.1 Mitigation Goals and Objectives 
The hazard mitigation planning committee (HMPC) reviewed the mission statement and mitigation goals 
for the 2017 Plan. During discussion, the HMPC decided to update the mitigation goals to include the 
topics of Lifelines impacts and redevelopment planning. Also, during discussion, it was decided the goals 
would benefit from the addition of objectives which will provide direction toward achieving success in 
mitigation implementation. These goals and objectives are below, as well as Elbert County’s mission 
guiding the mitigation strategy. Human-caused hazards were added to the mission to reflect the hazards 
of concern for the county. 

Mission Statement: Reduce Risk to the People, Property, and Environment of Elbert County from the 
Impacts of Natural & Human-caused Hazards 

Mitigation Goals & Objectives: 

1. Improve education and awareness of hazards and risk reduction measures 
• Create engagement opportunities to educate the public, community leaders, and 

jurisdictions on hazard risk and mitigation goals. 
• Continue to develop and expand programs for community preparedness and resilience 

education, including that of community Lifelines. 
• Communicate ongoing mitigation and disaster preparedness efforts across the county and 

with neighboring counties. 
• Educate the public on reducing personal risk, including those with access and functional 

needs (AFN), and increasing property protection. 
• Communicate the importance of the public and community leaders in community 

preparedness education, inclusive planning, and mitigation strategy. 
2. Protect and reduce the impacts to Lifelines, critical facilities, infrastructure, and other community 

assets from hazards 
• Implement and assess mitigation programs and activities to evaluate progress and 

effectiveness in reducing risk. 
• Cooperate with area partners in long-term planning efforts and mutual aid agreements. 
• Conduct training and exercises with all agencies in the county, communities, and adjacent 

jurisdictions to improve preparedness and response capabilities. 
• Review plans, trainings, exercises, and policies frequently to update with any change in 

hazard risk and any increase of assets. 
3. Incorporate hazard mitigation into future development and redevelopment plans and policies 

• Consider adoption of codes, standards, rules, and regulations to aid in mitigation 
implementation. 

• Incorporate relevant emergency management plans into institutional county plans, 
documents, and practices. 

• Update existing policy documents and initiatives to include risk reduction principles and 
ensure inclusion in future documents. 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Mitigation Strategy   8 

4. Enhance local mitigation capabilities, including human, technical, financial, and regulatory 
capabilities 
• Collaborate across jurisdictional boundaries and interagency operations to develop and 

share operational policies, practices, and procedures. 
• Continually evaluate and develop plans, programs, and trainings to improve mitigation 

capabilities. 
• Identify potential cost sharing opportunities to fund mitigation projects. 

5. Improve communication and coordination of mitigation activities between state and local 
governments and with private and non-profit organizations 
• Build and strengthen partnerships with representatives from all local stakeholders involved 

in mitigation strategy implementation. 
• Communicate mitigation efforts and success stories across the county, region, and to the 

state. 
• Invite and encourage participation of government representatives and stakeholders when 

developing mitigation activities. 
• Coordinate with the state for assistance regarding potential mitigation activities in the 

county or region. 

1.2 2017 Mitigation Actions Report 
The HMPC reviewed and reported on the status of mitigation actions from the 2017 HMP. Figure 1.1 
illustrates the reported statuses and Table 1.1 breaks down the 2017 mitigation actions by organization 
and current status of each. 

As the progress of actions is evaluated it is crucial to recognize those actions that have been successful.  

Elbert County achieved the inclusion of hazard mitigation into 2018 Comprehensive Plan. The county 
also created an access and functional needs database and stored shelter information in a tool used to 
coordinate sheltering efforts. 

The Town of Elizabeth is making use of numerous platforms to keep residents and other agencies better 
informed. As the town is developing, water availability is a priority. The town is updating well permits, 
reviewing additional water sources, and has implemented future development rule for sustainable 
water resources. 

Elizabeth Fire Protection District has made advancements on planning and processes for winter storms, 
collaborating with county emergency management in identifying shelters, shelter managers, and 
organizing multiagency response. 

As important as acknowledging projects that completed deliverables effectively, actions in a community 
that are on-going are often overlooked as examples of positive implementation of mitigation strategy. 
On-going projects are those without a timeline and that may not have deliverables that bring closure to 
a project but rather continued milestones. Examples include education and outreach efforts, continual 
work on updating plans and organizational coordination, and constant work to improve processes and 
infrastructure.  



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Mitigation Strategy   9 

Figure 1.1 2017 Mitigation Action Status 

 
 

 

Table 1.1 Status of 2017 Mitigation Actions 

ID Organization Title Description 2022 
Status 2022 Notes 

Elbert - 1 Elbert County Multi-
Hazard 

Convene Elbert County 
Hazard Mitigation 
Planning Committee 
semi-annually to 
monitor, evaluate, and 
update the hazard 
mitigation plan. 

In Progress 

Minimal 
actions / 
progress made 
on goal 4.  
Goals 3 & 5 - 
No actions 
taken 

Elbert - 2 Elbert County 

Severe 
Weather, 
Winter 
Storm, 
Tornado 

Continue to pursue 
StormReady designation On-going 

 

Elbert - 3 Elbert County Multi-
Hazard 

Establish a hazards and 
risk education campaign On-going 

Education 
takes various 
forms, 
continuing 

4

8

3
2

3

1

2

6

1

2

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

Elbert Elizabeth Kiowa Elizabeth FPD Kiowa
 FPD

Elbert County 2017 Mitigation Action Status

No Progress - Continue Action On-going In Progress Complete



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Mitigation Strategy   10 

ID Organization Title Description 2022 
Status 2022 Notes 

Elbert - 4 Elbert County Flood 

Improve coordination 
between Community 
Development, Building, 
and Road and Bridge 
departments related to 
the National Flood 
Insurance Program 
(NFIP). 

In Progress 

Updated flood-
plain mapping 
project in the 
County has 
begun. FEMA 
and AECOM 
are 
spearheading 

Elbert - 5 Elbert County Multi-
Hazard 

Incorporate hazard 
mitigation in Elbert 
County Master Plan 
update. 

Complete 

2018 
Comprehensive 
Plan update 
includes a Goal 
and 6 Policies 

Elbert - 6 Elbert County Flood 

Identify and prioritize 
locations for stormwater 
drainage system 
improvements. Devise an 
implementation plan for 
identified projects. 

In Progress 

Still need to 
coordinate 
with Public 
Health 

Elbert - 7 Elbert County Flood 

Develop county-wide 
drainage/erosion 
mitigation plan — 
coordinating objectives 
of various agencies to 
reduce future flood 
damage. 

In Progress 

Still need to 
coordinate 
Elizabeth and 
Kiowa 

Elbert - 8 Elbert County Multi-
Hazard 

Protect historical 
community documents 
through digitization 
project. 

In Progress 

Some 
documentation 
exists, ongoing 
process 

Elbert - 9 Elbert County Multi-
Hazard 

Develop access and 
functional needs 
populations’ 
database/inventory/ 
registry. 

In Progress 

Database 
created. 
Additional 
coordination 
between Elbert 
County and 
Fire districts 
needed to 
consolidate 
efforts and 
information 
sharing. 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Mitigation Strategy   11 

ID Organization Title Description 2022 
Status 2022 Notes 

Elbert - 10 Elbert County Multi-
Hazard 

Assess and designate 
shelters and distribute 
information to 
public/agencies. 

Complete 

Shelters 
identified, 
stored within 
incident 
management 
tool OEM 
deploys to 
coordinate 
sheltering 
efforts 

Elizabeth - 1 Town of 
Elizabeth Flood 

Identify and prioritize 
locations for stormwater 
drainage system 
improvements. Devise an 
implementation plan for 
identified projects. 

On-going 

Focus placed 
on stormwater 
planning and 
mitigation 
during public 
area updates, 
and new 
development 

Elizabeth - 2 Town of 
Elizabeth Drought 

Identify and implement 
water delivery system 
improvements. 

On-going 

Additional 
water sources 
are being 
reviewed, 
updating well 
permits and 
implemented 
future dev-
elopment rule 
for sustainable 
water 
resources 

Elizabeth - 3 Town of 
Elizabeth 

Multi-
Hazard 

Identify and plan a 
secondary crossing of 
Running Creek 

No 
Progress – 
Continue 

Action 

No substantial 
progress made 

Elizabeth - 4 Town of 
Elizabeth 

Multi-
Hazard 

Establish and implement 
a public communications 
protocol to increase 
coordination with 
agencies and residents 

On-going 

Town using 
social media, 
setting up 
email opt-in 
notifications, 
exploring 
Everbridge 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Mitigation Strategy   12 

ID Organization Title Description 2022 
Status 2022 Notes 

Elizabeth - 5 Town of 
Elizabeth Tornado Establish a tornado 

shelter location 

No 
Progress – 
Continue 

Action 

Admins. deter-
mined shelter 
in place was 
preferable. 
Matter will be 
reviewed again 

Elizabeth - 6 Town of 
Elizabeth Tornado Implement a Town-wide 

tornado siren system 

No 
Progress – 
Continue 

Action 

Previous 
budget 
concerns, 
renewed 
interest 

Elizabeth - 7 Town of 
Elizabeth 

Multi-
Hazard 

Establish and implement 
an Emergency Action 
Plan for Town Staff and a 
Continuity 
of Operations Plan 

In Progress 

Basic plan was 
established 
during COVID. 
Needs to be 
updated, 
revised, and 
completed 

Elizabeth - 8 Town of 
Elizabeth 

Multi-
Hazard 

Formalize and provision 
the shelter at Frontier 
High School 

No 
Progress – 
Continue 

Action 

Discussing 
alternatives to 
high school 
that was sold 

Kiowa - 1 Town of 
Kiowa 

Flood, 
Dam / 
Levee 
Failure 

Study and implement 
levee improvement 
program for Kiowa levee. 

No 
Progress - 
Continue 

Action 

 

Kiowa - 2 Town of 
Kiowa Flood 

Identify and implement 
flood mitigation actions 
for Kiowa schools. 

No 
Progress - 
Continue 

Action 

 

Kiowa - 3 Town of 
Kiowa Flood 

Identify and prioritize 
locations for stormwater 
drainage system 
improvements. Devise an 
implementation plan for 
identified projects. 

No 
Progress - 
Continue 

Action 

 

Kiowa - 4 Town of 
Kiowa Drought 

Identify and implement 
water delivery system 
improvements. 

No 
Progress - 
Continue 

Action 

 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Mitigation Strategy   13 

ID Organization Title Description 2022 
Status 2022 Notes 

Kiowa - 5 Town of 
Kiowa 

Multi-
Hazard 

Establish and implement 
a public communications 
protocol to increase 
coordination with 
agencies and residents. 

No 
Progress - 
Continue 

Action 

 

Kiowa - 6 Town of 
Kiowa Flood Adopt a stormwater 

ordinance. 

No 
Progress - 
Continue 

Action 

 

Kiowa - 7 Town of 
Kiowa Drought 

Develop education and 
incentives program to 
encourage water savings 
measures by citizens. 

No 
Progress - 
Continue 

Action 

 

Kiowa - 8 Town of 
Kiowa 

Multi-
Hazard 

Assess protective 
measures needed for 
historic structures. 

No 
Progress - 
Continue 

Action 

 

Simla - 1 Town of 
Simla 

Multi-
Hazard 

Obtain back-up 
generators for critical 
facilities. 

Removed 
 

Simla - 2 Town of 
Simla 

Multi-
Hazard 

Assess and designate 
shelters and distribute 
information to 
public/agencies. 

Removed 

 

Simla - 3 Town of 
Simla Flood 

Identify and prioritize 
locations for stormwater 
drainage system 
improvements. Devise an 
implementation plan for 
identified projects. 

Removed 

 

Simla - 4 Town of 
Simla Flood 

Identify and implement 
water line replacement 
projects. 

Removed 
 

Elizabeth 
FPD - 1 

Elizabeth Fire 
Protection 
District 

Wildfire 
Plan and upgrade the 
existing tornado public 
warning system. 

No 
Progress – 
Continue 

Action 

Tornado 
system for the 
Elizabeth was 
demobilized as 
it was not 
affective for 
the entire town 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Mitigation Strategy   14 

ID Organization Title Description 2022 
Status 2022 Notes 

Elizabeth 
FPD - 2 

Elizabeth Fire 
Protection 
District 

Winter 
Storm 

Develop a winter storm 
response plan that 
encompasses sheltering 
procedures, 
access/functional needs 
prioritization, and 
organized multi-agency 
response 

On-going 

Advancement 
made on 
planning and 
processes with 
County OEM, 
identifying 
shelters, 
shelter 
managers and 
organizing 
multiagency 
response 

Elizabeth 
FPD - 3 

Elizabeth Fire 
Protection 
District 

Wildfire 

Develop an Elbert County 
Wildfire Protection 
Program that includes 
public 
information, resources, 
and special events to 
reduce wildfire risk. 

No 
Progress – 
Continue 

Action 

 

Elizabeth 
FPD - 4 

Elizabeth Fire 
Protection 
District 

Wildfire 

Develop wildland urban 
interface GIS data and 
maps. Develop zoning 
updates and 
outreach for defensible 
space. 

No 
Progress – 
Continue 

Action 

County has GIS 
platform that 
could provide 
data 

Kiowa FPD - 
1 

Kiowa Fire 
Protection 
District 

Wildfire 

Develop an Elbert County 
Wildfire Protection 
Program that includes 
public 
information, resources, 
and special events to 
reduce wildfire risk. 

On-going 

The Elbert 
County Fire 
Chiefs 
Association 
meets on a 
monthly basis 
to discuss the 
ongoing 
challenges of 
preparing for 
wild fire 
mitigation 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Mitigation Strategy   15 

ID Organization Title Description 2022 
Status 2022 Notes 

Kiowa FPD - 
2 

Kiowa Fire 
Protection 
District 

Wildfire 

Develop wildland urban 
interface GIS data and 
maps. Develop zoning 
updates and 
outreach for defensible 
space. 

On-going 

The Elbert 
County Fire 
Chiefs 
Association 
meets on a 
monthly basis 
to discuss the 
ongoing 
challenges of 
preparing for 
wild fire 
mitigation 

Rattlesnake 
FPD - 1 

Rattlesnake 
Fire 
Protection 
District 

Wildfire 

Develop an Elbert County 
Wildfire Protection 
Program that includes 
public 
information, resources, 
and special events to 
reduce wildfire risk. 

Removed 

 

Rattlesnake 
FPD - 2 

Rattlesnake 
Fire 
Protection 
District 

Wildfire 

Develop wildland urban 
interface GIS data and 
maps. Develop zoning 
updates and 
outreach for defensible 
space. 

Removed 

 

KCD-1 
Kiowa 
Conservation 
District 

Dam / 
Levee 
Failure 

Form task force to 
improve coordination 
with conservation 
districts, assess condition 
of dams, and identify 
funding sources for 
repair and maintenance. 

Removed 

 

KCD-2 
Kiowa 
Conservation 
District 

Dam / 
Levee 
Failure 

Educate public on flood 
control dam structures, 
easements, and impacts 
of new development in 
dam inundation areas. 

Removed 

 

 

 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Mitigation Strategy   16 

1.3 2023 Mitigation Actions 
Table 1.2 includes all new mitigation actions included in this updated 2023 HMP. In order to prioritize 
the mitigation actions in this plan, the county and each local government reviewed FEMA’s STAPLEE 
methodology, in addition to a number of additional criteria. This allowed for a careful review of the 
feasibility of mitigation actions. After this review, there were multiple prioritization criteria considered 
by the jurisdictions when building and collaborating on the mitigation strategy. 

According to FEMA mitigation planning requirements, any prioritization system should have a special 
emphasis on the extent to which benefits are maximized, based first and foremost on a cost-benefit 
review of the proposed projects. Following a determination of positive cost-benefit, other criteria 
considered include: 

• Social considerations – life/safety impact 
• Administrative considerations – administrative / technical assistance 
• Economic considerations – project cost / reductions in future disaster costs 
• Alignment with other local objectives 
• Environmental considerations 
• Lifeline protection 
• Legal considerations 
• Availability of local funding 

During the planning process, it was decided by the HMPC that mitigation actions would be prioritized by 
each community using a three-tiered High, Moderate, or Low methodology. 

“High” priority was primarily designated to those actions with a: 

• Moderate to High risk ranking 
• Potential high risk to life safety, property, or the environment 
• Consideration for the impacts of new development and growth 

The county and organizations have numerous actions deemed “High” priority which vary greatly in type, 
method, and goal. This includes a critical focus on coordination with local governments to leverage 
capabilities and accomplish common objectives, specifically the county working to assist organizations in 
tackling flood and wildfire mitigation projects.  

“Moderate” priority was in general designated to actions for hazards that were: 

• Slow onset 
• Localized impact events 
• Larger impact hazards with a sporadic occurrence 

Planning actions were the majority of those determined to be of “Moderate” priority and this is a matter 
of placing efforts of collaboration in the most logical order for public safety necessity. The plans that will 
be created or updated are crucial to the new development in the county, which is a focus in many 
actions, and are solidified as part of the mitigation strategy.  

A “Low” priority would be assigned to low probability hazards in most cases and therefore actions may 
not be prioritized above or competing with other more practical actions. The one “Low” priority action is 
based on on-going community preparedness education and outreach efforts. The county puts immense 
value on public education, especially as the county grows, and outreach is already occurring. The priority 
assigned is based on the goal to expand the program and content. At this time, the current program is 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Mitigation Strategy   17 

successful, and the action is an opportunity to further develop the program when funding, staff, and 
organizational capacity is available. 

As part of the planning process, a Mitigation Strategy Action Idea document was developed. This guide 
identified a number of additional mitigation actions that were considered during development of this 
mitigation strategy. This guide can be found in the Mitigation Strategy Action Ideas chapter and will be 
useful for future reference in planning.  

The 2023 mitigation actions reflect the common concerns submitted by the public, including shelter 
availability, preparedness education, tree maintenance and removal, evacuation planning, and wildfire 
mitigation. Some of the actions addressing these topics are Elbert action 04, Elizabeth actions 01, 02, 04, 
and many of the fire protection districts’ actions. 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Mitigation Strategy   18 

 

Table 1.2  2023 Mitigation Actions 

ID Organization Title Description Priority 
Goals 
Met 

Lead & Support 
Organizations 

Hazards 
Mitigated 

Estimated 
Project 

Cost 

Potential 
Funding 
Source 

Expected 
Complete 

Year 

Elbert 
2023-01 

Elbert 
County  

Municipality 
Support for 
Fire Mitigation 
Priorities 

Address wildfire 
mitigation in 
publicly accessible 
areas to minimize 
hazard concerns 
where 
municipalities 
authorize access 
and responsibility. 
See Mitigation 
Zones chapter for 
identified areas. 

H 2, 4.5 
Elbert County 

Emergency 
Management 

Wildfire Unknown Grant, 
Volunteer 

2023-
2026 

Elbert 
2023-02 

Elbert 
County 

Municipality 
Support for 
Flood Hazard 
Mitigation  

Address flood 
mitigation in 
publicly accessible 
areas to minimize 
hazard concerns 
where 
municipalities 
authorize access 
and responsibility. 
See Mitigation 
Zones chapter for 
identified areas.  

M 2, 4.5 
Elbert County 

Emergency 
Management 

Flood Unknown Grant, 
Volunteer 

2024-
2027 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Mitigation Strategy   19 

ID Organization Title Description Priority 
Goals 
Met 

Lead & Support 
Organizations 

Hazards 
Mitigated 

Estimated 
Project 

Cost 

Potential 
Funding 
Source 

Expected 
Complete 

Year 

Elbert 
2023-03 

Elbert 
County 

Incorporate 
Hazard 
Mitigation 
Planning into 
Development 
Planning 
Process 

Incorporate 
appropriate 
mitigation actions 
into development 
planning review 
and approval 
process to ensure 
existing concerns 
are addressed. 
Support current 
and future 
mitigation 
expectations for 
the county. 

H 3, 5 
Elbert County 

Emergency 
Management 

All 
Hazards Staff time County 

Budget 
2023 - 

Onward 

Elbert 
2023-04 

Elbert 
County 

Community 
Preparedness 
Education 

Continued 
development of 
education 
program to 
address 
comprehensive 
mitigation 
benefits and the 
changing 
demographics of 
the county. 

L 1,3 
Elbert County 

Emergency 
Management 

All 
Hazards $200  County 

Budget On-Going 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Mitigation Strategy   20 

ID Organization Title Description Priority 
Goals 
Met 

Lead & Support 
Organizations 

Hazards 
Mitigated 

Estimated 
Project 

Cost 

Potential 
Funding 
Source 

Expected 
Complete 

Year 

Elbert 
2023-05 

Elbert 
County 

Develop 
Continuity of 
Operations 
Process for a 
County 
Continuity of 
Operations 
Plan (COOP) 

Conduct a 
Business Impact 
Analysis to inform 
the County how 
to maintain 
essential services 
through the 
impact of various 
hazards/threats.  
Provide guidance 
on executing 
continuous 
operations 
through pre-
prioritizing needs 
for staff, facilities, 
resources, and 
related 
infrastructure. 

M 1, 2, 
3, 4 

Elbert County 
Emergency 

Management 

All 
Hazards 

Staff time 
and   

$7,200 for 
software 

County 
Budget 

2024/ 
2025 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Mitigation Strategy   21 

ID Organization Title Description Priority 
Goals 
Met 

Lead & Support 
Organizations 

Hazards 
Mitigated 

Estimated 
Project 

Cost 

Potential 
Funding 
Source 

Expected 
Complete 

Year 

Elbert 
2023-06 

Elbert 
County 

Public Winter 
Weather 
Education 

Reduce the 
potential impacts 
of severe winter 
weather events 
through public 
education efforts 
focusing on 
structural 
winterizing tips 
and actions 
owners should 
consider. 

L 1 
Elbert County 

Emergency 
Management 

Severe 
Winter 

Weather 
Staff Time County 

Budget 2027 

Elizabeth 
2023-01 

Town of 
Elizabeth 

Emergency 
Preparedness 
Education 

Provide education 
on hazards, 
preparedness, 
and supplies, such 
as NOAA radios, 
72-hour kits, go 
bags, and best 
practice for 
documents. 

H 1, 2 

Elizabeth, 
FEMA, Elbert 
County EM, 

Red Cross, etc. 

All 
Hazards 

Staff Time, 
Publication 
Materials 

Town 
budget, 
outside 
funding 

opportu-
nities, 
grants 

End of 
2024 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Mitigation Strategy   22 

ID Organization Title Description Priority 
Goals 
Met 

Lead & Support 
Organizations 

Hazards 
Mitigated 

Estimated 
Project 

Cost 

Potential 
Funding 
Source 

Expected 
Complete 

Year 

Elizabeth 
2023-02 

Town of 
Elizabeth 

Public and 
Private Tree 
Maintenance 

Trimming and 
removal of dead 
and damaged 
trees in and 
around Elizabeth. 

H 1, 2 

Elizabeth, with 
supporting 

organizations 
to be 

determined 

Wildfire, 
Tornado, 
Winter 

Weather, 
Severe 

Weather 

At least 
$100,000 

Town 
budget, 

grants, in-
kind work 

 

End of 
2026 

Elizabeth 
2023-03 

Town of 
Elizabeth 

Emergency 
Notification / 
Siren System 

Install a siren/PA 
system to convey 
information, 
notify residents to 
review media 
sources/email, 
and deliver orders 
for public safety. 

M 1, 2, 
3 Elizabeth 

Wildfire, 
Tornado, 

Severe 
Weather 

 

Unknown 

Town 
budget, 
outside 
funding 

opportu-
nities, 
grants 

End of 
2026 

Elizabeth 
2023-04 

Town of 
Elizabeth 

Town 
Evacuation 
Plan 

Develop 
evacuation plan to 
create resident 
awareness of 
routes and is 
integrated with 
the actions for 
education and 
emergency 
notifications. 

M 1, 2, 
3, 

Elizabeth, Fire, 
Elbert County 

EM, State 
Patrol, etc. 

 

Wildfire, 
Flood Staff Time Town 

budget 
End of 
2024 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Mitigation Strategy   23 

ID Organization Title Description Priority 
Goals 
Met 

Lead & Support 
Organizations 

Hazards 
Mitigated 

Estimated 
Project 

Cost 

Potential 
Funding 
Source 

Expected 
Complete 

Year 

Elizabeth 
2023-05 

Town of 
Elizabeth 

Storm Water 
Planning 

Monitor the 
current process as 
development 
continues to 
minimize 
damages caused 
by severe weather 
and flood events. 

M 2, 3, 
4 Elizabeth 

Flood, 
Severe 

Weather 
Unknown 

Town 
budget, 
develop-
ment and 

impact fees 

Ongoing 
but 

finalized 
in 2025 

 

Agate 
FPD 
2023-01 

Agate Fire 
Protection 

District 

Wildfire 
Protection 
Program 

Develop an Elbert 
County wildfire 
protection 
program that 
includes public 
information, 
resources to 
reduce wildfire 
risk. 

M 1,2,3,
5 

Elbert County 
Chiefs Ass. Wildfire Unknown Various 2027 

Agate 
FPD 
2023-02 

Agate Fire 
Protection 

District 

Severe 
Weather 
Shelter 

Create a self-
sufficient shelter 
with power and 
water and also to 
be used as a local 
emergency 
operations center. 

H 2 
Agate Fire 
Protection 

District 

Severe 
Weather, 

Winter 
Weather 
Tornados 

$70,000 District 
Budget 2025 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Mitigation Strategy   24 

ID Organization Title Description Priority 
Goals 
Met 

Lead & Support 
Organizations 

Hazards 
Mitigated 

Estimated 
Project 

Cost 

Potential 
Funding 
Source 

Expected 
Complete 

Year 

Agate 
FPD 
2023-03 

Agate Fire 
Protection 

District 

Hazardous 
Materials 
Release 
Preparedness 

Prepare the 
department for 
response to 
hazardous 
materials release 
incidents. 

M 2,4 
Agate Fire 
Protection 

District 

Hazard-
ous 

Materials 
Release 

Unknown District 
Budget 2025 

Agate 
FPD 
2023-04 

Agate Fire 
Protection 

District 

Community 
Water Usage 
Outreach 

Reduce the 
effects of future 
drought 
conditions by 
conducting 
community 
outreach and 
awareness about 
water usage, 
especially new 
county residents 

M 1 
Agate Fire 
Protection 

District 
Drought Staff Time District 

budget 2027 

Big Sandy 
FPD 

2023-01 

Big Sandy 
Fire 

Protection 
District 

Wildfire Public 
Education 

Education of the 
public on 
defensible space, 
hazardous fuels 
reduction and 
structure 
protection. 

H 1,2,5 
Elbert County 

Fire Chiefs 
Association 

Wildfire Unknown 
District. 
Budget, 
Grants 

2025 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Mitigation Strategy   25 

ID Organization Title Description Priority 
Goals 
Met 

Lead & Support 
Organizations 

Hazards 
Mitigated 

Estimated 
Project 

Cost 

Potential 
Funding 
Source 

Expected 
Complete 

Year 

Big Sandy 
FPD 

2023-01 

Big Sandy 
Fire 

Protection 
District 

Community 
Partnership for 
Tornado Safety 

Work with the 
community, 
schools, and 
nursing home to 
ensure 
procedures are in 
place for safe 
zones, shelters 
etc. in the event 
of a tornado 
warning, or 
tornado spotted 
on the ground. 

H 1,5 
Elbert County 

Fire Chiefs 
Association 

Tornado Unknown 
District. 
Budget, 
Grants 

2024 

Big Sandy 
FPD 

2023-01 

Big Sandy 
Fire 

Protection 
District 

Winter 
Weather 
Roadway 
Closure 

Work with the 
State and County 
on early closure of 
major roadways in 
a severe winter 
weather event. 
Minimize 
stranded 
motorists, as 
shelters and 
rescue personnel 
limited. 

H 1,4,5 
Elbert County 

Fire Chiefs 
Association 

Severe 
Winter 

Weather 
Unknown 

District. 
Budget, 
Grants 

2025 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Mitigation Strategy   26 

ID Organization Title Description Priority 
Goals 
Met 

Lead & Support 
Organizations 

Hazards 
Mitigated 

Estimated 
Project 

Cost 

Potential 
Funding 
Source 

Expected 
Complete 

Year 

Elizabeth 
FPD 

2023-01 

Elizabeth 
Fire 

Protection 
District 

Wildfire Public 
Education 
Expansion 

Expand public 
education for 
wildfire hazard as 
WUI development 
increases 

H 1,5 
Elizabeth Fire 

Protection 
District 

Wildfire $45,000 DFPC, CSFS 2024 

Elizabeth 
FPD 

2023-02 

Elizabeth 
Fire 

Protection 
District 

Community 
Training for 
Tornado 
Events 

Educate public on 
preparedness and 
community 
planning 

M 1,5 
Elbert County 

Emergency 
Management 

Tornado Staff Time District 
Budget 2024 

Elizabeth 
FPD 

2023-03 

Elizabeth 
Fire 

Protection 
District 

Severe 
Weather Event 
Response 
Support 

Support 
countywide 
response efforts 
through improved 
local government 
communication 
and community 
planning 

H 1,5 
Elbert County 

Emergency 
Management 

Severe 
Weather, 

Severe 
Winter 

Weather 

Staff Time District 
Budget 2024 

Elizabeth 
FPD 

2023-04 

Elizabeth 
Fire 

Protection 
District 

Hazardous 
Materials 
Response 
Training 

Increase number 
of responders 
available through 
training 

M 2,4 
Elizabeth Fire 

Protection 
District 

Hazar-
dous 

Materials 
Release 

$20,000 Elizabeth 2025 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Mitigation Strategy   27 

ID Organization Title Description Priority 
Goals 
Met 

Lead & Support 
Organizations 

Hazards 
Mitigated 

Estimated 
Project 

Cost 

Potential 
Funding 
Source 

Expected 
Complete 

Year 

Elizabeth 
FPD 

2023-05 

Elizabeth 
Fire 

Protection 
District 

Public Health 
Response 
Support 

Planning and 
collaboration 
between rural 
government 
agencies to 
provide adequate 
response and 
resources 

M 1,5 
Elizabeth Fire 

Protection 
District 

Public 
Health 
Hazard 

Staff Time District 
Budget 2024 

Kiowa 
FPD 

2023-01 

Kiowa Fire 
Protection 

District 

Community 
Education for 
Wildfire 
Awareness and 
Preparation 

Improve and 
expand education 
and awareness of 
hazards and risk 
reduction 
measures 

M 1, 2 Kiowa FPD Wildfire Unknown 
Grants, 
District 
Budget 

On-going 

Kiowa 
FPD 

2023-02 

Kiowa Fire 
Protection 

District 

Tornado 
Preparation 
within the 
Town of Kiowa 

Reduce impacts to 
Lifelines, critical 
facilities, 
infrastructure, 
and community 
assets through 
implementation  
of mitigation 
planning and 
actions 

M 2, 3 Kiowa FPD, 
Town of Kiowa 

Severe 
Weather, 
Tornado 

Unknown 
Grants, 
District 
Budget 

On-going 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Mitigation Strategy   28 

ID Organization Title Description Priority 
Goals 
Met 

Lead & Support 
Organizations 

Hazards 
Mitigated 

Estimated 
Project 

Cost 

Potential 
Funding 
Source 

Expected 
Complete 

Year 

Kiowa 
FPD 

2023-03 

Kiowa Fire 
Protection 

District 

Prepare for 
Propane 
Release 

Work with local 
propane 
companies to plan 
and prepare for a 
hazardous 
propane release 

M 1, 2, 
5 Kiowa FPD 

Hazard-
ous 

Materials 
Release 

Unknown 

Grants, 
District 
budget, 
private 
sector 

On-going 

North 
Central 

FPD 
2023-01 

North 
Central Fire 
Protection 

District 

Community 
Education on 
Fire Mitigation 

Educate the 
community on the 
goals and tactics 
for mitigating the 
fire on their 
personal 
property. 

H 1 North Central 
FPD Wildfire Staff time District 

Budget 2023 

North 
Central 

FPD 
2023-02 

North 
Central Fire 
Protection 

District 

Department 
Fire Fighting 
Training 

Improve fire-
fighting abilities 
through increased 
training 
participation 

H 2, 4 North Central 
FPD Wildfire Unknown District 

Budget 2025 

North 
Central 

FPD 
2023-03 

North 
Central Fire 
Protection 

District 

Fire Mitigation 
Resource 
Increase 

Increase Local fire 
mitigation staff, 
capabilities, and 
resources 

H 2, 4 North Central 
FPD Wildfire Unknown District 

Budget 2025 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Mitigation Strategy   29 

ID Organization Title Description Priority 
Goals 
Met 

Lead & Support 
Organizations 

Hazards 
Mitigated 

Estimated 
Project 

Cost 

Potential 
Funding 
Source 

Expected 
Complete 

Year 

North 
Central 

FPD 
2023-04 

North 
Central Fire 
Protection 

District 

Station Shelter 
Safety 

Increase station 
capabilities as a 
tornado safe 
room / 
stormshelter for 
all severe 
weather. Create 
the availability for 
the fire station to 
be a place of 
refuge for mass 
power outages or 
disasters. 

M 1, 2, 
4 

North Central 
FPD 

Severe 
Weather, 
Tornado, 
Winter 

Weather 

Unknown District 
Budget 2024 

North 
Central 

FPD 
2023-05 

North 
Central Fire 
Protection 

District 

Snow Removal 
Equipment 

Purchase a vehicle 
for snow removal 
to improve ability 
to rescue and 
assist the 
community in 
severe winter 
storms 

H 2, 4 North Central 
FPD 

Severe 
Weather, 

Winter 
Weather 

Unknown District 
Budget 2023 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Mitigation Strategy   30 

ID Organization Title Description Priority 
Goals 
Met 

Lead & Support 
Organizations 

Hazards 
Mitigated 

Estimated 
Project 

Cost 

Potential 
Funding 
Source 

Expected 
Complete 

Year 

North 
Central 

FPD 
2023-06 

North 
Central Fire 
Protection 

District 

Community 
Water Usage 
Outreach 

Reduce the 
effects of future 
drought 
conditions by 
conducting 
community 
outreach and 
awareness about 
water usage, 
especially new 
county residents 

M 1 North Central 
FPD Drought Staff Time District 

budget 2027 

North 
Central 

FPD 
2023-07 

North 
Central Fire 
Protection 

District 

Community 
Extreme Heat 
Education 

Decrease the 
effects of extreme 
heat on the 
population by 
educating county 
residents on heat 
exposure 
symptoms and 
best practices to 
minimize the risk 

M 1 North Central 
FPD 

Extreme 
Heat Staff Time District 

budget 2028 

 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Mitigation Zones   2 2 

1.4 Mitigation Capabilities 
The mitigation capability assessment examines the ability of Elbert County to implement and manage 
the comprehensive mitigation strategy laid out in this plan. The strengths, weaknesses, and resources of 
the county are identified here as a means for evaluating and maintaining effective and appropriate 
management of the county’s hazard mitigation program. 

Mitigation capabilities are classified into the following types and are detailed in the following tables. 

• Planning & Regulatory 
• Plans 
• Building Code, Permitting, & Inspection 
• Land Use Planning & Ordinances 

• Administrative & Technical 
• Administration 
• Staff 
• Technical 

• Financial 
• Funding Resources 

• Education & Outreach 
• Programs & Organizations 

Planning and regulatory capabilities are powerful tools for implementing mitigation. The county and 
communities currently leveraging some of the capabilities in the implementation of mitigation actions. 

Table 1.3 Planning and Regulatory Capabilities 

Mitigation Capability Elbert County Elizabeth Kiowa 

Comprehensive, Master, or General Plan X X  

Capital Improvement Program or Plan (CIP) X   

Floodplain Management Plan  X  

Stormwater Program / Plan  X  

Community Wildfire Protection Plan (CWPP) X   

Erosion / Sediment Control Program  X  

Economic Development Plan  X  

Other: Required Permits    

Building Codes (Year) 2018 2018 2018 

Building Code Effectiveness Grading Schedule 
(BCEGS) Rating    

Site Plan Review Requirements X X X 

Zoning Ordinance (Land Use) X X X 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Mitigation Zones   2 2 

Mitigation Capability Elbert County Elizabeth Kiowa 

Subdivision Ordinance X X X 

National Flood Insurance Program (NFIP) 
Participant X X X 

Flood Insurance Study / Flood Insurance Rate Map 
/ DFIRM X X X 

Floodplain Ordinance X X X 

Elevation Certificates for Floodplain Development X X X 

Community Rating System (CRS) Participant    

Open Space / Conservation Program    

Growth Management Ordinance    

Stormwater Ordinance  X  

Other Hazard Ordinance  
(steep slope, wildfire, snow loads, etc.)  X  

 

Available resources including staff, municipal group, and technology are vital for a community to be able 
to implement hazard mitigation. Elbert County has a significant staff to accomplish work towards 
mitigation goals and support the county communities. 

Table 1.4 Administrative & Technical Capabilities 

Mitigation Capability Elbert County Elizabeth Kiowa 

Planning Commission X X X 

Mitigation Planning Committee    

Maintenance Programs  
(tree trimming, clearing drainage, etc.) X X  

Emergency Manager X   

Building Official X X X 

Floodplain Administrator X X X 

Community Planner X X  

Transportation Planner X   

Civil Engineer X X  

GIS Capability X   

Resiliency Planner    

Warning Systems / Services (flood) X   



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Mitigation Zones   2 2 

Mitigation Capability Elbert County Elizabeth Kiowa 

Warning Systems / Services  
(other / multi-hazard) X   

Grant Writing / Management   X 

 

The ability of a community to implement a comprehensive mitigation strategy is largely dependent on 
available funding. Elbert County  and the communities utilize multiple funding sources. 

Table 1.5 Financial Capabilities 

Mitigation Capability Elbert County Elizabeth Kiowa 

Levy for Specific Purposes with Voter Approval X X X 

Utilities Fees  X X 

System Development / Impact Development Fee X X X 

General Obligation Bonds to Incur Debt X X  

Special Tax Bonds to Incur Debt X   

Withheld Spending in Hazard-Prone Areas    

Open Space / Conservation Fund X X X 

Stormwater Utility Fees    

Capital Improvement Project Funding X X  

Community Development Block Grants (CDBG) X X  

 

Education and outreach are important capabilities that allow a community to continue the conversation 
with their public regarding hazard risk and opportunities to mitigate. Elbert County is the only 
community using resources for education and assisting other communities in public outreach. 

Table 1.6 Education & Outreach Capabilities 

Mitigation Capability Elbert County Elizabeth Kiowa 

Public Hazard Education / Outreach Program X   

Local Citizen Groups That Communicate Hazard 
Risks    

 Firewise    

StormReady X   

 

In addition to the county and community capabilities, the capabilities of the local fire protection districts 
(FPD) are shown in the FPD Capabilities section. The FPD jurisdictional boundaries are shown in Figure 
3.1 Elbert County Overview 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Mitigation Zones   2 2 

1.5 Plan Monitoring and Maintenance 
The Elbert County HMPC discussed the Plan maintenance procedures, with the emergency manager 
serving as the primary point of contact and coordinating all local efforts to monitor, evaluate, and 
update the Plan. Each participating local government will be responsible for implementing their specific 
mitigation actions and reporting on the status of these actions to the emergency manager. 

Throughout the year, the emergency manager will monitor the progress of mitigation efforts and 
support the agencies responsible for mitigation actions. The HMPC will meet semi-annually to evaluate 
the implementation of the Plan through the existing Local Emergency Planning Committee (LEPC) 
meetings. These semi-annual meetings will be dedicated to discussing the ongoing monitoring of the 
Plan.  

During these meetings in addition to reporting mitigation action implementation progress, the HMPC 
will: 

• Report on  
• the usefulness of the Plan for each jurisdiction 
• any input received from the public 
• how the Plan has been incorporated into other planning mechanisms 

• Discuss  
• hazard events and observations 
• mitigation issues and ideas 
• how to keep the attention of community leaders and the public on hazard mitigation 

problems and opportunities 
• new sources for data to improve future updates 
• other plan updates which may be improved by implementing the HMP 

• Give recommendations on specific updates to the Plan 
• Work to secure funding and identify multi-objective, cost-share, and other opportunities for 

partnerships 

The emergency manager will check in with each agency responsible for actions in the Plan two weeks 
prior to the scheduled meetings, to allow time for progress data to be collected. During the meeting, the 
group will review and discuss their progress and how they have utilized the Plan. 

The emergency manager will summarize the outcomes of the meetings and create a report which will be 
provided to the governing bodies of each participating jurisdiction. After considering the findings of the 
submitted progress reports, the governing bodies and / or the HMPC may request a follow up with the 
agency responsible for implementing an action to discuss project conditions. 

Throughout the five year life cycle the Plan, the information collected during these meetings as well as 
consideration of the impacts of significant growth in the county will be evaluated. Awareness of changes 
in vulnerability, hazards, action progress, new plans, data, or studies taking place is critical to a 
comprehensive plan update. These will be assessed as the county population grows and its capabilities 
evolve. 

1.6 Planning Integration 
One of the 2017 mitigation actions for the county was to include hazard mitigation into the updated 
master plan. This was a successful implementation with the 2018 Comprehensive Plan Update for the 

https://www.elbertcounty-co.gov/DocumentCenter/View/127/04-10-2018-Elbert-County-Comprehensive-Plan-Update-PDF


Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Mitigation Zones   2 2 

county, resulting in a plan goal relating specifically to hazard mitigation and the development of six 
related policy recommendations. 

These suggestions propose that the implementation strategy of the plan’s goals include the 
consideration of hazard mitigation in the development and maintenance of Site Design Standards for 
Development (Residential, Commercial, and Industrial) in the county, as well as the reference of the 
hazard mitigation plan in the County-wide Zoning and Subdivision Regulations.  

A potential hazard specific regulation in the plan is the development of a Wildland Urban Interface 
(WUI) code and standards. The HMPC pointed out that this topic is currently leading a statewide 
discussion, as well. State officials have begun work on legislation for WUI codes and the potential for 
new regulations across the state including development considerations, building materials, and 
expectations for implementing defensible space measures. The HMPC acknowledges the need for 
awareness on how any legislative action may impact the plan and will update accordingly. 

The 2021 Transportation Master Plan is a valuable tool in planning integration, as many of the identified 
projects are related to mitigation implementation. The prioritization framework used in the plan 
includes preservation and resiliency, incorporating known flooding issues, known high-maintenance 
intensity of roadways with significant travel, and pavement and bridge conditions which align with the 
direction of the county’s mitigation strategy. This also aligns with numerous responses seen in the public 
risk perception community survey, in which maintenance of roadways was identified as a priority by 5% 
of respondents. 

The plans mentioned above, as well as others utilized in the plan are shown the following table and 
includes which chapters were influenced by plan information. 

 

Mitigation Strategy Action Ideas document is a compilation of the mitigation action ideas from the 
public survey, existing community plans, on-going FEMA flood study, and other resources. This 
document provided an array of ideas to continue to improve integration across the county.  

1.7 Continued Public Engagement 
The community survey created for the Plan update was well received and the public shared many ideas. 
A considerable amount of the survey comments regarded the need for workshops and educational 
opportunities, including making literature and recordings available for those who cannot attend. The 
HMPC discussed the various materials distributed currently; however, the recognition of populations 

Plan Chapter 

2018 Comprehensive Plan Update 4 – HIRA, 1 – Mitigation Strategy 

2021 Transportation Master Plan 4 – HIRA, 1 – Mitigation Strategy 

2018 Colorado Drought Plan 4 - HIRA 

NOAA Drought Task Force Report 2020–2021 4 - HIRA 

Elbert County Community Health Assessment 3 – County Profile, 4 - HIRA 

Gambel Oaks Community Wildfire Protection Plan 4 – HIRA, 1 – Mitigation Strategy 

FEMA Flood Risk Study 4 - HIRA 

https://www.elbertcounty-co.gov/DocumentCenter/View/1338/Elbert-County-Transportation-Master-Plan-PDF


Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Mitigation Zones   2 2 

being missed is important. The HMPC will work closely with the public information officer to share 
information in the future and see this collaboration and momentum as a way to continue public 
outreach. 

The HMPC also discussed how to reach residents who may not have any understanding of hazard 
mitigation. This included the idea of a dedicated hazard mitigation website with easy access to 
information in one place, utilizing developers coming into the area to educate new home owners, and 
utilizing channels that may be non-traditional, such as Public Health, for outreach to populations served. 

A 2020 National Community Survey conducted in the county showed that residents appreciate where 
they live and their quality of life. In this survey residents expressed that safety, the natural environment, 
and utilities are of high importance and high quality in the county. As hazard mitigation is often focused 
on these same topics, the HMPC believes this updated Plan will allow the county to continue to 
prioritize protection of these resources.  

Other potential ideas introduced by the HMPC related to creating a citizen committee for hazard 
mitigation input, ensuring local leadership consistently attends meetings and events, and utilizing the 
robust communications structure already within the county to keep residents informed and their voices 
heard.  

https://elbertcounty-co.gov/DocumentCenter/View/1302/Survey-Presentation-2021


Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Planning Process   37 

2 PLANNING PROCESS 

2.1 Background 
The 2023 Elbert County hazard mitigation plan (HMP) is an update to the 2017 Plan. HMPs are 
community-led efforts designed to identify, manage, and avoid risks through pre-planning. This plan is 
designed to reduce the risks posed by hazards that affect Elbert County communities and must be 
updated and approved by the Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) every five years to keep 
it current and to maintain eligibility for Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) Hazard 
Mitigation Assistance (HMA) Grants. 

2.1.1 What is Hazard Mitigation? 
The term “hazard mitigation” describes actions that can help reduce or eliminate long-term risks caused 
by hazards such as floods, wildfires, and severe weather. Hazard mitigation is best accomplished when 
based on a comprehensive, long-term plan developed before a disaster strikes. As the costs of disaster 
recovery continue to rise, governments and citizens must find ways to reduce community hazard risks. 
Oftentimes after disasters, repairs and reconstruction are completed in such a way as to simply restore 
damaged property to pre-disaster conditions. These efforts may “get things back to normal,” but the 
replication of pre-disaster conditions often results in a repetitive cycle of damage, reconstruction, and 
repeated damage. Hazard mitigation breaks this repetitive cycle by producing less vulnerable conditions 
through pre- and post-disaster repairs and reconstruction. The implementation of such hazard 
mitigation actions by state and local governments means building stronger, safer, and smarter 
communities that will be able to reduce future disaster losses. 

2.1.2 Purpose 
Mitigation is an investment in a community’s future safety and resiliency. Recent cost-benefit studies 
have proven mitigation to be cost effective for communities, with mitigation projects overall returning 
six dollars for every one dollar spent. Hazard mitigation planning helps residents, business owners, 
elected officials, and municipal departments think through how to plan, design, build, and establish 
partnerships for risk reduction. Consider the critical importance of mitigation to: 

• Protect public safety and prevent loss of life and injury. 
• Reduce property damage to existing and future development. 
• Maintain community continuity and strengthen the social connections that are essential for 

recovery. 
• Prevent harm to a community’s unique economic, cultural, and environmental assets. 
• Minimize operational downtime and accelerate recovery of government and business after 

disasters. 
• Reduce the costs of disaster response and recovery and the exposure to risk for first 
• responders. 
• Help accomplish other community objectives such as capital improvements, infrastructure 

protection, open space preservation, and economic resiliency. 

Additionally, Elbert County and its local governments will benefit from this HMP by: 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Planning Process   38 

• Ensuring eligibility for all sources of hazard mitigation funds made available through FEMA. 
• Increasing public awareness and understanding of vulnerabilities, as well as support for specific 

actions to reduce losses from future disasters. 
• Ensuring community policies, programs, and goals are compatible with reducing vulnerability to 

all hazards and identifying those that are incompatible. 
• Building partnerships with diverse stakeholders, increasing opportunities to leverage data and 

resources in reducing workloads, as well as achieving shared community objectives. 
• Expanding the understanding of potential risk reduction measures to include: local plans and 

regulations; structure and infrastructure projects; natural systems protection; education and 
awareness programs; and other tools. 

• Informing the development, prioritization, and implementation of mitigation projects. Benefits 
accrue over the life of these projects as losses are avoided from each subsequent hazard event. 

2.1.3 Scope 
This 2023 HMP has been prepared to meet requirements set forth by FEMA and the Colorado Division of 
Homeland Security and Emergency Management (DHSEM) in order for Elbert County and its local 
governments to be eligible for funding and technical assistance from state and federal hazard mitigation 
programs. This Plan will be updated and FEMA-approved within its five-year expiration date. 

2.1.4 Authority 
This HMP has been adopted by Elbert County and its participating local governments in accordance with 
the authority granted to counties and municipalities by the State of Colorado. This Plan was developed 
in accordance with current state and federal rules and regulations governing local HMPs. The Plan shall 
be monitored and updated on a routine basis to maintain compliance with the following legislation and 
guidance: 

• Robert T. Stafford Disaster Relief and Emergency Assistance Act, 42 U.S.C., Section 322, 
Mitigation Planning, as enacted by Section 104 of the Disaster Mitigation Act of 2000 (P.L. 106-
390) and by FEMA’s Interim Final Rule published in the Federal Register on February 26, 2002, at 
44 CFR Part 201 

The following FEMA guides and reference documents were used to prepare this document: 

• FEMA. Local Mitigation Plan Review Guide. October 1, 2011. 
• FEMA. Local Multi-Hazard Mitigation Planning Handbook. March 2013. 

2.1.5 Update Process and Methodology 
The planning process involved a series of meetings and workshops with the hazard mitigation planning 
committee (HMPC), while also gathering and analyzing the latest hazards data. These meetings involved 
feedback and guidance on plan content, communication for community outreach, and gathering public 
input to further inform the Plan. The following section details the timeline and methods of public 
outreach, HMPC meetings, and plan development. 

A high-level summary of the components that assembled into the updated HMP is presented in Figure 
3.1. 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Planning Process   39 

Figure 3.1 HMP Components 

 
 

From a ‘big picture’ standpoint, the HMPC identified the following overarching project goals: 

• Obtaining FEMA Approval 
• Broadening jurisdictional collaboration and participation 
• Improving public engagement 
• Increasing mitigation grant funding pursuits 

Input into the planning process came from a number of entities, shown in Figure 3.2. 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Planning Process   40 

Figure 3.2 Planning Process Inputs 

 
Figure 3.3 summarizes the project schedule, including HMPC and public touchpoints over the course of 
the planning process. 

 

Figure 3.3 Project Milestones

 
 

 

HMP

County & 
Local Govt.      

Staff

Hazard 
Mitigation 
Planning 

Committee

Local, 
Regional, & 

State    
Entities

General  
Public

Organize 
Resources

May - July 2022

Kickoff Workshop

Public Messaging 
Content 

Assess Risks

July - September 2021

Risk and Vulnerability 
Workshop

Public  Survey

Mitigation 
Strategy

September -
November 2022

Mitigation Strategy 
Workshop

Plan 
Adoption

Winter 2022/23

Plan Finalization and 
Review

Public Review / 
Comment



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Planning Process   41 

2.1.6 Participating Local Governments 
All municipalities and special districts in Elbert County were invited by the county to participate in the 
planning process. An overview map of the county, Figure 3.1, illustrates the location of municipalities 
and special districts. They were informed of the participation requirements related to the adoption of 
the Plan and the formation of the HMPC. The following organizations were formal participants in the 
planning process and have formally adopted this Plan: 

• Elbert County 
• Town of Elizabeth 
• Elizabeth Fire Protection District 
• Kiowa Fire Protection District 
• Big Sandy (Simla) Fire Protection District 
• North Central Fire Protection District 
• Agate Fire Protection District 

Local governments that participated in portions of the planning process, but have opted not to formally 
adopt the HMP include: 

• Town of Kiowa 
• Rattlesnake Fire Protection District 

Participation in the planning process was closely tracked to ensure all entities remained engaged across 
the planning process. Table 3.1 shows organizational participation at HMP workshops and webinars.  

Table 3.1 Organizational Participation 

 

Kick-Off Webinar 
May 26th 2022 

Risk Assessment 
Workshop 
August 16th, 2022 

Mitigation 
Strategy 
Workshop 
October 25th, 
2022  

Fire Chiefs 
Meeting  
October 27th, 
2022 

Elbert County X X X X 

Town of Elizabeth X X X  

Town of Kiowa X X   

Elizabeth FPD X X X X 

Rattlesnake FPD    X 

Kiowa FPD    X 

Agate FPD    X 

Elbert FPD    X 

North Central FPD    X 

Big Sandy (Simla) 
FPD 

   X 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Planning Process   42 

 

2.2 Hazard Mitigation Planning Committee 
The full HMPC roster is included in a later section of this Plan, Hazard Mitigation Planning Committee 
Roster. The roster shows all of the invitees who were contacted via email. The roster also highlights 
those who participated in the planning process. 

2.2.1 HMPC Coordination 

Kickoff Meeting (May 25th, 2022)  
The kickoff meeting was held virtually via webinar 
in May. The meeting began with an introduction to 
the planning process, schedule, and responsibilities 
of the planning committee, as well as an overview 
of hazard mitigation. Discussion then focused on 
the list of hazards to profile, including cyber attack, 
extreme heat, hazardous materials release, and 
public health hazards which were not profiled in 
the 2017 plan.  

Participants were invited to discuss how the 2017 plan 
was used and what elements worked well, in addition to 
other on-going or recently completed community 
planning projects. Another main topic included an 
introduction to the public outreach portion of the 
planning process and the group was encouraged to 
comment on the public outreach tools and processes 
that work best. Initial discussions relating to available 
mitigation grant funding, including FEMA’s new Building 

Resilient Infrastructure & Communities (BRIC) Program, also helped to educate the committee.  

Additional topics included an introduction to the Lifeline construct used by FEMA and plan requirements 
to achieve FEMA approval. Previous hazard events over the last five years and any ongoing community 
mitigation efforts were also discussed by the committee. Group discussion focused on the definition and 
application of the hazards being added to the 2022 plan, and a review of the participating jurisdictions. 
To encourage dialogue in a virtual presentation, live polling was used to present the results of polls, in 
real-time, while gathering input from the HMPC. The results of the polls are included below and 
throughout this plan to support what was heard. 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Planning Process   43 

Figure 3.4 Planning Committee Previous Participation 

 
 

Figure 3.5 Planning Committee Response to Hazard Profile Updates 

 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Planning Process   44 

Figure 3.6 Planning Committee Responses for Engagement Tools 

 
 

At the end of the meeting, participants were given four action items:  

• Provide the best available hazard data and recent / ongoing community plans 
• Help expand the HMPC roster 
• Provide input on the public involvement plan 
• Begin reporting on 2017 mitigation actions 
• Assist with dissemination of the public involvement plan’s messaging 

 

Hazard Identification and Risk Assessment Workshop (August 16th, 2022) 
The HIRA workshop was held in person in Kiowa. Discussion in this meeting focused on the preliminary 
results of the risk assessment. Each hazard was reviewed, and best available data was presented 
pertaining to the risk and vulnerability assessment. Additional historical events and data gaps were 
discussed with the committee. 

During the workshop, funding was identified as an obstacle to implementing mitigation. Primarily this is 
due to the lack of awareness and familiarity of programs and uncertainty regarding future funding 
pursuits. This recognition prompted continued discussion of FEMA mitigation funding programs and the 
available support from the state. Two representatives from the DHSEM state mitigation planning office 
were in attendance and shared valuable information with the HMPC.  

Following this, a lengthy discussion focused on the current Plan’s mitigation strategy and the goals were 
refined based on committee input. It was decided by the HMPC that objectives should accompany the 
goals in this plan update and a follow-up survey was conducted to solicit input on these new objectives.  

Based on the HMPC hazard ranking polling responses, where wildfire was determined to have the 
highest risk, a valuable conversation around Community Wildfire Protection Plans (CWPP) was started 
and a representative from the Colorado State Forest Service (CSFS) shared significant information 
regarding wildfire mitigation grants and support for developing a CWPP. 

To encourage participation from all workshop participants, live polling was used to present the results of 
polls, in real-time, during HMPC discussions. The results of the polls are included below and throughout 
this plan to support what was heard. 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Planning Process   45 

Figure 3.7 Planning Committee Responses for Most Vital Lifelines 

 
 

Figure 3.8 Planning Committee Responses for Biggest Implementation Obstacles 

 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Planning Process   46 

 

Figure 3.9 Planning Committee Response for Pivotal Community Member 

 
 

At the end of the workshop, participants were given the following action items:  

• Assist with continued dissemination of the public involvement plan’s messaging 
• Begin drafting new 2023 mitigation actions 
• Complete a mitigation capability assessment 
• Provide hazard risk rankings specific to their local government 
• Provide additional comments on the mitigation strategy’s goals and input on objectives 
• Provide comments on the updated Hazard Identification & Risk Assessment chapter 

Mitigation Strategy Workshop (October 25th, 2022) 
The mitigation strategy workshop was held in a hybrid-digital format in Kiowa, CO. The workshop 
resulted in multiple discussions with the HMPC relating to mitigation funding, grant writing, mitigation 
action development, community wildfire protection plans (CWPP) elements, public outreach and 
involvement, and local government engagement. 

In discussing mitigation action development, HMPC members 
were interested in connecting with neighboring counties, 
expressing a desire to meet with them, as well as review other 
county HMP actions. This conversation evolved into potential 
partnering for funding and thinking outside of the box by pooling 
resources in the county to hire a grant writer or partnering with 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Planning Process   47 

another county. Resources were shared relating to project scoping and utilizing the state HMGP funds 
from COVID-19. A brief conversation occurred regarding the importance of considering developing a 
standalone CWPP, as the HMP process develop a number of CWPP elements required for those plans.  

The HMPC discussed incentives for public involvement in mitigation, pointing out that by providing the 
community resources, instead of requirements, is the best way to keep the public invested. The topic of 
the public involvement brought to the forefront the concern of local officials engagement and ideas of 
having leadership specific educational workshops to gain crucial political support. The HMPC covered a 
variety of topics during the workshop and made a point to continue the conversation at a time when 
those who were unable to make it could attend.  

At the end of the workshop, participants were given two action items:  

• Identify new 2023 mitigation actions 
• Review the final HMPC draft of the plan 

County Fire Chiefs Meeting (October 27th, 2022) 
To ensure all wildfire-related project deliverables were accomplished, the Elbert County Fire Chiefs 
provided time during their monthly meeting to discuss the HMP and remaining inputs. Fire Chiefs from 
all seven fire protection districts were in attendance and were able to learn more about the benefits of 
formally adopting the HMP. Future grant eligibility was a topic that was further discussed. 

At the end of the meeting, participants were given the following action items:  

• Identify the county’s wildland urban interface (WUI) 
• Perform a FPD capability assessment 
• Define those preferred methods to reduce structural ignitibility 
• Identify fuel treatment projects 

Planning Committee Draft Plan Review 
Upon completion of the final draft plan, the HMPC was provided an opportunity to review and comment 
on the document. All comments received from the HMPC were incorporated. 

2.3 Public and Stakeholder Participation 
Public involvement is crucial to a representative hazard mitigation plan update. Elbert County has robust 
public communications and there were multiple opportunities to share the information regarding the 
Plan’s update. In the community survey, community members identified email, social media, and web 
postings as the preferred methods of communication. Newsletters / mailings were next on the list which 
informed the county that the monthly newsletter, the Prairie Times, would get the word out in addition 
to digital means. The September edition is shown below, followed by examples of postings on various 
social media platforms, and emails to the county leadership and staff. 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Planning Process   48 

 
 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Planning Process   49 

 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Planning Process   50 

 

2.3.1 Community Survey 
The community survey was open to the public for approximately two months and received 93 
responses. Over half of these community members live in unincorporated areas of Elbert County and 
less than 10% live outside of the county. The remaining respondents were primarily from Elizabeth, with 
almost a quarter of the total, while Kiowa and Simla combined filled out the rest with over 10%. 

Around half of these community members have lived in their area for 10 or more years. Approximately a 
quarter have lived in their location for 5 to 10 years and roughly 15% have resided between 1 and 5 
years. Only 10% of respondents have lived in the county less than one year. 

Figure 3.10 Survey Respondent’s Years of Residing in Elbert County 

 
 

The vast majority, two-thirds of respondents, feel “somewhat informed” of the risks posed by hazards 
that can impact the county. Roughly one quarter of respondents feel “very informed” about the risks. 
Less than 5% percent of respondents considered themselves to be “uninformed”. 

Years of Residing in Elbert County

Less than 1 1-5 5-10 10+



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Planning Process   51 

Figure 3.11 Survey Respondent’s Understanding of Risks Posed by Hazards in Elbert County 

 
 

One question in the survey inquired about the number of hazard events, in the last five years, that had 
significantly impacted daily life for the community member. Over half of the respondents (53) answered 
the question, with three-quarters of these respondents reporting 1 to 2 impactful events in the last five 
years, approximately 20% responded with 3 to 5 impactful events, and a single respondent stated 6+ 
impactful events had occurred in the last 5 years. 

While many in the community may not know the term “Lifelines” the survey allowed respondents to 
share concerns about scenarios that may occur during and following a disaster which align with the 
subcomponents of the Lifelines framework. 

The ranking of these concerns is shown in Figure 3.12. Respondents were asked to select between least 
concern, a value of 1 and most concern, a value of 3 for each scenario. Lack of clean water was ranked of 
the highest concern, followed closely by evacuation of people and animals. Access to medications and 
medical professionals is the next concern based on community responses, followed by not receiving 
emergency alerts and lack of food. Lack of transportation is of lowest concern to the public in Elbert 
County. 

Understanding of Risks Posed by Hazards in Elbert County

Somewhat Informed Very Informed Uninformed



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Planning Process   52 

Figure 3.12 Survey Respondent’s Concern for Disaster Scenarios 

 
 

Recognition of the communities’ familiarity with the area, understanding of the hazard risks and 
impacts, as well as the concerns regarding disaster event scenarios is an important foundation for 
planning and public outreach.  

Appreciating the public’s view of the risk of various hazards is the next critical piece, as it can help to 
inform priorities for both education and mitigation strategy. During the survey, community members 
were asked to rank the hazards based on risk to themselves and their community. Wildfire, drought, and 
severe weather (hail, lightning, windstorm) are the hazards identified as posing the most risk to 
community members. These are followed by severe winter weather and extreme heat. These rankings 
can be seen in Figure 3.13. 

1.2

1.7

1.5

1.3

1.6 1.6

1.0

Lack of
food

Lack of
clean water

Access to
medications /

medical
professionals

Not
receiving

emergency
alerts

Evacuating /
sheltering

self & family

Evacuating /
sheltering

animals

Lack of
transportation

Concern Ranking for Scenarios During and After Disaster



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Planning Process   53 

Figure 3.13 Public Survey Hazard Risk Ranking 

 
Based on their experiences and input for hazard risk, the community members were asked to contribute 
mitigation action ideas. An example of some of these ideas can be seen in Figure 3.14 and throughout 
the responses there were trends in topics and ideas. These trend topics and some of the action ideas are 
listed below.  

• Wildfire Mitigation 
• Defensible space, homeowner education and requirements for mitigation 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Planning Process   54 

• Vegetation / tree removal – goat herds for removal, assistance programs such as slash 
pile availability and aid for those who cannot complete the work, incentives, review of 
the no-burn policy 

• Evacuation, Sheltering, Food and Water Storage 
• Shelter identification and location dissemination prior to disaster events 
• Storage of food, medical supplies, and water at strategic locations 
• Assistance for those with difficulties evacuating 
• Pre-planning, preparedness training, “go bags” 

• Communications 
• Update communications infrastructure for countywide improvements 
• Create centralized location for information, hotline 

• Community 
• Support and collaborate with existing organizations 
• Utilize Elbert County’s culture to create community preparedness group and volunteer 

forces for education and response 

The ideas from the survey were also incorporated into the Mitigation Strategy Action Ideas. 

Figure 3.14 Survey Respondent Mitigation Action Ideas 

 

2.3.2 Public Review & Comment 
Following development of the updated plan a public review and comment period was held. 
Announcements of the public review were posted widely to the county website and social media, 
through the county’s Facebook, Nextdoor, and Twitter accounts. There were no public comments 
received through the online survey that was advertised along with the updated plan document. 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

County Profile    55 55 

3 COUNTY PROFILE 

3.1 History and Resource Overview 
Elbert County was established in 1874 and finalized its boundaries in 1889. Home to multiple Native 
American Tribes, including the Apache, Arapahoe, and Cheyenne, the county later saw an influx of 
miners in search of gold. Logging, farming, cattle ranching, and dairy farming started the economic 
activity in the county, as camps began to grow to communities. 

Kiowa is the county seat and Elizabeth is the largest town. Interstate 70 travels from Denver across the 
northeastern corner of the county to Limon. Colorado State Route 86 crosses the county from Castle 
Rock to I-70 and travels through both Elizabeth and Kiowa. 

Figure 3.1 Elbert County Overview 

 

3.2 Climate 
Elbert County has a mild climate overall, with warm summers and freezing, snowy winters. According to 
data from the National Centers for Environmental Information (NCEI) between 1950 and 2021, the 
average temperature between June and September is 66°F, while the coldest months between 
November and March have an average temperature of 31° F.  



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

County Profile    56 56 

There are extreme heat events in the county, but the maximum temperature average between June and 
September is 81°. The average minimum between November and March is 16° F. 

The average annual precipitation in the county is 16.6 inches. Snowfall occurs between November and 
April typically and the annual average snowfall is 60.5 inches. Much of the heavier snowfall occurs in the 
higher elevations of the county. 

3.3 Community Lifelines 
The Community Lifelines framework was developed by FEMA to increase effectiveness in disaster 
operations and enable the continuous functioning of critical government, infrastructure, and business 
activities. In day-to-day community functions, Lifelines support the recurring needs of the community. 
When these Lifelines are stabilized, they safeguard the health, safety, and well-being of the public 
during a natural disaster occurrence. 

The Lifeline categories and subcomponents are crucial to understanding the interdependence of various 
organizations and systems to keep a community resilient in a disaster and effective in recovery. These 
categories and subcomponents can be found in Figure 5.2. 

Figure 5.2 Lifeline Categories and Subcomponents 

 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

County Profile    57 57 

Lifelines were created to provide an outcome-based, survivor-centric framework to assist responders 
with determining the scale, complexity, and severity of a disaster. This information is used to establish 
operational priorities for the response and involves identifying the root causes and interdependencies of 
impacts to critical services, especially those that are life-sustaining or lifesaving. 

An important component to the Lifeline framework is the ability to communicate disaster-related 
information across all levels of public, private, and non-profit sectors using commonly understood, plain 
language. This is vital to preparedness education, community engagement, and public outreach. 

The inclusion of the community Lifelines construct in the HMP and its mitigation strategy is important to 
address critical processes and infrastructure specific to Elbert County. Identifying the Lifelines across the 
county creates a better understanding of effects from hazards and risks to assets. Lifeline inputs for 
Elbert County were derived from a previously defined set of Community Anchor Institutions (CAI) 
coupled with Tier II hazardous materials facilities. CAI includes governmental, nonprofit, educational, 
healthcare, and similar facilities. Figure 5.3 presents those Lifelines assessed as part of this HMP. Future 
efforts by the county are planned to further develop this GIS layer to allow for additional, refined 
analysis during future HMP updates. 

Figure 5.3 Elbert County Lifelines 

 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

County Profile    58 58 

3.4 Demographics 
There are numerous reasons to be aware of the demographics of communities and continue to update 
them during plan reviews. The HMPC brought this up specifically while discussing the risk assessment 
and confirmed the importance of the data being refreshed. Public health is a pertinent example of this 
and the county department is an invaluable partner in collecting this information, providing context in 
planning, and sharing community assessments. 

A critical aspect of community planning is to understand expected population growth. Table 5.1 shows 
population estimate data from the Colorado State Demography Office. These estimates are broken into 
five year segments and show the potential population of Elbert County and Colorado. 

The most significant growth is expected to be between 2020 and 2035, with the county adding 
approximately 11,000 people. There is expected to be population decrease, though very minor, between 
2040 and 2050. 

Table 5.1 Population Estimates for Elbert County and Colorado (2020-2050) 

 

The same data for population change estimates is presented in Table 5.2 as percentages. Between 2020 
and 2030, there is projected growth of 2.7% over each five year period of the decade. This is higher than 
the state population growth, by 1%, between 2020 and 2025, and 1.3% higher between 2025 and 2030. 
The percentages for both the state and Elbert County show a pattern of declining growth, starting 2025 
for the state and 2030 for the county. This pattern is steady for the state, between 0.1% and 0.2% each 
five year period, but the county has a dramatic decrease of 1.2% for the period of 2030 to 2035 and 1% 
for 2035 to 2040. The population growth for the county is estimated to become stagnant by 2040 and 
shows a small percentage of loss of population between 2045 and 2050. 

Table 5.2 Percentage Population Change Estimates (2020-2050) 

 

Elbert County is preparing for this rapid growth and addresses this in multiple sections of the updated 
Elbert County Comprehensive Plan. This includes the incorporation of the hazard mitigation plan and 
strategy into additional plans and policies to meet the needs of expanding communities.  

 2020 2025 2030 2035 2040 2045 2050 

Elbert 
County 26,188 29,986 34,200 36,861 37,886 37,854 37,673 

Colorado 5,782,915 6,110,279 6,499,600 6,853,672 7,156,825 7,389,341 7,564,742 

 2020-2025 2025-2030 2030-2035 2035-2040 2040-2045 2045-2050 

Colorado 1.7% 1.4% 1.3% 1.1% 1.0% 0.8% 

Elbert County 2.7% 2.7% 1.5% 0.5% 0.0% -0.1% 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

County Profile    59 59 

A snapshot of some of the demographics and health indicators for the county (Table 5.3) shows a few 
key characteristics including proportions of the ages of the population, disability, poverty, and chronic 
health conditions. The population of the county has some differences in comparison to the state’s 
demographics; however, they are mostly minimal.  

It is worth pointing out that Elbert County has approximately half the percentage of population with a 
disability, as compared to the state as a whole. The county also has a much lower percentage of its 
population experiencing poverty. 

Table 5.3 Demographic Snapshot of Elbert County 

Demographic Elbert County Colorado 

Population 27,128 5,758,736 

Age: 4 and Under (%) 4.5 5.8 

Age: Under 18 (%) 21.2 21.9 

Age: 65 and Over (%) 18.1 14.6 

Persons in Poverty (%) 4.8 9.3 

Persons with a Disability (%) 10.0 19.1 

Persons Age 65+ with a Disability 
(%) 32.8 32.2 

Adults who are Obese or 
Overweight (%) 62.0 57.4 

Adults with Diabetes (%) 6.5 7.3 

Adults with Asthma (%) 9.0 9.1 

Adults with Coronary Heart Disease 
(%) 4.2 2.7 

Source: US Census Bureau, Elbert County Community Health Assessment, CO Department of Public Health & Environment 

3.5 Community Inclusion 
Community inclusion in preparedness and response to hazards is a crucial component to the resilience 
of a community.  This is especially important for those in the community who experience access and 
functional needs (AFN) during disasters. Access and functional needs are the factors which may limit a 
person, in an emergency situation, in their ability to communicate, maintain their health, act 
independently, access adequate transportation, or acquire necessary services and support. These needs 
encompass a variety of social and economic factors which are critical to consider when developing 
inclusive community plans. AFN factors are divided into four main categories: socioeconomic status, 
household composition & disability, language & minority status, and housing type & access to 
transportation. The components in these categories directly affect a community’s ability to prepare for, 
respond to, and recover from hazard events. 

Figure 5.4 from the Centers for Disease Control, illustrates the components in the categories for access 
and functional needs. 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

County Profile    60 60 

Figure 5.4 Community Inclusion Categories and Components 

 
 

The impacts of hazards fall disproportionately on those with access and functional needs in a 
community, for example: low income or unemployed individuals, children, the elderly, those with 
disabilities, and underrepresented racial/ethnic groups. This can be seen in situations needing self-
evacuation which can be unmanageable for elderly people, people with disabilities and mobility issues, 
those with independent living difficulty, institutionalized individuals, and those without necessary 
finances and means of transportation. In considering preparedness and mitigation actions, individuals 
and families may have limited resources to invest, their home may be a rental property, or they may not 
be physically capable of completing the needed actions. Social and economic factors like these have an 
effect on the safety of community members, decrease the ability of communities to recover from a 
disaster, and inhibit the building of resilience against future hazard events.  

3.6 Housing 
Housing density in Elbert County can be seen in Figure 5.5 which illustrates the building footprints in the 
county. This building footprint data, coupled with tax assessor information, was used in the risk 
assessment to determine the counts and values of buildings exposed to the various hazards. The 
majority of structures are found within the municipalities and across the northwestern portion of the 
county.  



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

County Profile    61 61 

Figure 5.5 Elbert County Building Footprints 

 
 

Building Permits 
Building permit trends are an intuitive indicator of growth in a community. Figure 5.6 and Figure 5.7 
show the trends of permits issued for unincorporated Elbert County and the Town of Elizabeth, between 
1990 and 2021. There was a dramatic increase in permits issued in the mid 1990’s, in both the 
unincorporated county and Elizabeth. This was followed by a relatively steady decline through the early 
2000’s. Both the county and the Town of Elizabeth have seen a rapid increase in the numbers of permits 
issued in the late 2010’s and early 2020’s.  

The largest number of permits issued, between 1990 and 2021, was 542 permits in 1994 in the 
unincorporated county, followed the next year by 439 permits. The most recent annual count of permits 
issued in the unincorporated areas of the county was 310 permits in 2021. The trend of increase in 
permits issued is likely to continue as the population growth projections in the county are considerable 
and construction will be needed. 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

County Profile    62 62 

Figure 5.6 Annual New, Private Housing Structure Building Permits – Unincorporated Elbert County 

 
 

The largest number of permits issued for Elizabeth has only occurred recently, with a drastic increase to 
117 permits issued in 2020 and almost doubling the number issued the year before. The second largest 
number for permits issued is 101 in 2021. This rapid increase in permits issued over the last five years 
aligns with the need for construction based on population growth projections for the county and Town 
of Elizabeth.  

99

361

542

439

290

309

148

246

147

56 30
78

148

162

122

177

310

20

80

140

200

260

320

380

440

500

560

1990 1993 1996 1999 2002 2005 2008 2011 2014 2017 2021

Unincorporated Elbert County Building Permits

      Number of Permits Issued by Year



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

County Profile    63 63 

Figure 5.7 Annual New, Private Housing Structure Building Permits – Town of Elizabeth 

 
 

The towns of Kiowa and Simla did not issue any permits for 23 and 21 years respectively, between 1990 
and 2021. When permits were issued, in Kiowa less than 3 permits were issued in a year. This is similar 
to Simla, although in 2002 and 2003 there were 12 permits issued each year. 

Housing Characteristics 
Table 5.4 shows the breakdown of housing characteristics in the county as compared to the state. 
Overall, Elbert County aligns with most of the state figures. Outliers include renters who account for 
only 12% of all units occupied (almost 1/3 of the state average) and a rental vacancy rate which is five 
times lower that the state. 

Table 5.4 Housing Characteristics 

 Elbert County Colorado 

Total Housing Units 10,336 2,361,372 

Occupied Housing Units 92.4% 90.5% 

Renter Occupied Units 12.2% 33.8% 

Rental Vacancy Rate 0.5% 4.9% 

Average Household Size 2.98 2.69 

Mobile Homes 3.8% 3.9% 

1
0

16

56

21
14 6

2 3 0 1 0

58

71

117

101

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

1990 1993 1996 1999 2002 2005 2008 2011 2014 2017 2021

Town of Elizabeth Building Permits

      Number of Permits Issued by Year



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

County Profile    64 64 

Source: US Census Bureau, Elbert County Comprehensive Plan Update 

 

Characteristics of the household is different than the housing itself. In discussing the household, looking 
at the characteristics of who resides in homes adds important context. Figure 5.8 illustrates some of 
these characteristics which were chosen to show potential obstacles for community members.  

Those that may require access and functional needs assistance such as children, those with disabilities, 
those living alone, or with no transportation represent some of the most vulnerable members of the 
community. 

Figure 5.8 Characteristics of Households in Elbert County 

 
 

3.7 Economy 
Jobs 
According to the 2018 Elbert County Comprehensive Plan Update, job growth will be 2.88%, compared 
to the US at 1.59%. Future job growth in the county over the next 10 years is predicted to be 42.6%. 

The plan separates population by occupation and shows the highest percentage of the population is 
working in Sales, Office, Administrative Support occupations (24%) with the next highest in Support 
Management, Business, Finance (16%) occupations. 

Unemployment 
According to the Elbert County Comprehensive Plan Update, the unemployment rate is 3.2% which is 2% 
lower than the US as a whole. 

10%

16%

7%

30%

2%

0.0%

5.0%

10.0%

15.0%

20.0%

25.0%

30.0%

35.0%

With a disability Lives alone
(Total)

Over age 65,
living alone

One or more
people under 18

No vehicles
available

Select Characteristics of Households in Elbert County



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

County Profile    65 65 

3.8 Public Lands 
Figure 5.9 shows the location public land ownership across the county. Colorado state lands are 
interspersed across the county, with a concentration along the I-70 corridor and other areas in central 
Elbert County. The West Arapahoe Conservation District owns land at the north border of the county.  

Figure 5.9 Elbert County Land Ownership 

 
 

3.9 Future Development 
Elbert County expects to see increased land development as a result of the projected population 
increases over the coming years. Figure 5.10 identifies those areas where development projects are 
being planned and located. It is of utmost importance that the county and municipalities ensure that 
development is situated outside of high hazard risk areas to avoid increasing future community 
vulnerabilities to hazards. Visit the Elbert County Community Development Projects webmap to view the 
most current development information from the county. 

https://www.arcgis.com/apps/Shortlist/index.html?appid=88bb6e63ce4741efa19868ae7c52111d


Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

County Profile    66 66 

Figure 5.10 Elbert County Future Development Projects 

 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Risk Assessment Overview    67 67 

4 HAZARD IDENTIFICATION AND RISK ASSESSMENT 

4.1 Risk Assessment Overview 
Risk assessment is the process of measuring the potential loss of life, personal injury, economic loss, and 
property damage that can result from natural and human-caused hazards. It allows a community to 
identify potential hazards and vulnerable assets. The process focuses on the following elements: 

• Hazard identification – Use all available information to determine what types of disasters may 
affect a jurisdiction, how often they can occur, and their potential severity. 

• Vulnerability identification – Use best available data to determine the impact of hazard events 
on the people, property, environment, economy, and lands of the region. 

• Loss evaluation – Use best available data to estimate potential damages and losses, or costs that 
can be avoided through mitigation. 

The risk assessment for this hazard mitigation plan (HMP) update evaluates the risk of hazards prevalent 
in the planning area and meets requirements of the Disaster Mitigation Act (DMA – 44 CFR, Section 
201.6I(2)). 

Identified Hazards of Concern 
For this plan update, the hazard mitigation planning committee (HMPC) considered the full range of 
natural and human-caused hazards that could impact the planning area and then identified those 
hazards that present the greatest concern. The process incorporated review of state and local hazard 
planning documents, as well as information on the frequency, magnitude, and costs associated with 
hazards that have impacted or could impact the planning area. Anecdotal information regarding hazards 
and the perceived vulnerability of the planning area’s assets to them was also factored in. Based on this 
review, this plan addresses the following hazards of concern: 

• Cyber Attack 
• Dam / Levee Incident 
• Drought 
• Earthquake 
• Extreme Heat 
• Flood 
• Hazardous Materials Release 
• Public Health Hazards 
• Severe Weather (Hail, Lightning, Windstorm) 
• Severe Winter Weather 
• Tornado 
• Wildfire 

New hazards profiled in this 2023 plan update include: Cyber Attack, Extreme Heat, Hazardous 
Materials, and Public Health Hazards. 

The HMPC chose to omit hazards that posed minimal risk to Elbert County. The following natural hazards 
from the 2018 State of Colorado HMP are not included in this risk assessment. 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Risk Assessment Overview    68 68 

• Animal Disease Outbreak: Does not currently warrant mitigation action. 
• Avalanche: No risk identified – does not currently warrant mitigation action. 
• Dense Fog: No risk identified – does not currently warrant mitigation action. 
• Erosion / Deposition: Impacts (unrelated to flooding) to structures and people are negligible and 

mitigated through existing development policies and practices. 
• Expansive Soils / Heaving Bedrock: Impacts to structures and people are negligible and mitigated 

through existing development policies and practices. 
• Landslide / Mud-Debris Flows / Rock Fall / Rockslide: Minimal risk identified – does not currently 

warrant mitigation action. 
• Pest Infestation: Better addressed through other community plans, mitigation not eligible for 

HMA funding. 
• Radon / Carbon Monoxide / Methane / Other Seeps: Does not currently warrant mitigation 

action. 
• Sinkholes / Subsidence / Abandoned Mines: No risk identified – does not currently warrant 

mitigation action. 
• Wildlife Vehicle Collisions: Does not currently warrant mitigation action. 

Hazard Profiles 
The following pages provide detailed hazard profile sections for each of the 12 hazards assessed in this 
plan. Each profile follows the same outline and addresses the following topics: 

• General background 
• Past events 
• Location 
• Frequency 
• Severity 
• Warning time 
• Secondary hazards 
• Exposure and vulnerability 
• Future trends in development 
• Probability of future occurrences 
• Climate change impacts 

Hazard Risk Ranking 
A qualitative risk ranking was performed by the HMPC and each local government for the hazards 
profiled in this plan. Rankings were done by the HMPC as a whole and then specific to each government. 
This risk ranking assesses the probability of each hazard’s occurrence, as well as its likely impact on the 
people, property, and economy of the planning area. Through an online survey, the public was also 
asked to help rank each hazard based on their perceived level of risk. The HMPC and public rankings 
were collected using a slightly varied scale and method as compared to the local governments; however, 
the overall trends align with limited exceptions. The results are presented in Table 6.1. 

Communities build mitigation priorities based on the risk interpretation specific to local experience. This 
risk interpretation is informed by multiple factors, including who is reporting the information, the scale 
of population potentially impacted, value of properties, and previous experiences with the hazard. 
These can vary greatly from one jurisdiction or district to the next and therefore are not homogeneous. 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Risk Assessment Overview    69 69 

The HMPC collectively represents historical experiences with hazards in the county and multi-sector 
professional knowledge. This allows the HMPC to see the risk from hazards at a level encompassing all 
local impacts including a countywide population, numerous properties, and a regional economy.  

Table 6.1 Elbert County Hazard Risk Rankings 

 

Cy
be

r H
az

ar
ds

 

Da
m

 /
 L

ev
ee

 In
ci

de
nt

 

Dr
ou

gh
t 

Ea
rt

hq
ua

ke
 

Ex
tr

em
e 

He
at

 

Fl
oo

d 

Ha
za

rd
ou

s M
at

er
ia

ls
 R

el
ea

se
 

Pu
bl

ic
 H

ea
lth

 H
az

ar
ds

 

Se
ve

re
 W

ea
th

er
  

(H
ai

l, 
W

in
d,

 L
ig

ht
ni

ng
) 

Se
ve

re
 W

in
te

r W
ea

th
er

 

To
rn

ad
o 

W
ild

fir
e 

Elbert County 
HMPC M M H M M H M H H H M H 

Public Survey M L H L M M M M H H M H 

Elbert County L L M L L M L M M H L H 

Town of Elizabeth L L M L M M M L H H M H 

Town of Kiowa M H M L M H M M M H L H 

Agate FDP L L H L M M M L M M M H 

Big Sandy FPD L L M L L M L M M H L H 

Elizabeth FPD H M M L L M L M M M H H 

Kiowa FPD L L L L L L M L M M M H 

North Central 
FPD L L H L H L M L H H H H 

 

Exposure Analysis 
Throughout this risk assessment, when data allowed, hazard exposure analysis was conducted utilizing 
best available GIS data compiled from local, state, and federal sources. The Lifeline exposure 
assessments utilize those components previously identified (Community Lifelines) and the structure 
exposure analysis utilized building footprint data, coupled with tax assessor information. 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Risk Assessment Overview    70 70 

Hazard Data Viewers 
The information contained in the following risk and vulnerability assessments is considered a snapshot 
in time, based upon the best available data during this Plan’s development. It is expected that over the 
5-year life of this updated HMP many of these data sets will continue to be updated and enhanced, 
while new data sources will become available. In order for communities to ensure they are referencing 
the latest and greatest hazard data, it is important that they are aware of how to access this 
information. 

Fortunately, communities are now able to leverage state and federal web map viewers to assess the 
most current hazard mapping available for many of the hazards profiled in this HMP. The following 
bullets provide details on these currently available tools. 

Colorado State Forest Service (CSFS) – Colorado Forest Atlas: Wildfire Risk Viewer. The Wildfire Risk 
Viewer is a web-mapping application that allows users to identify specific wildfire risk levels within a ½-
mile radius of a home, or any other point of interest on the map. A risk level description and link to 
additional resources is provided for users wanting to know how to reduce their risk. 

Click on the image below to explore the viewer, looking at fire intensity and burn probability, as well as 
risk level across Elbert County. Additional map themes include Wildland Urban Interface Risk, Landscape 
Characteristics, and Historical Wildfire Occurrence. 

 

https://co-pub.coloradoforestatlas.org/#/


Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Risk Assessment Overview    71 71 

Colorado Water Conservation Board (CWCB) – Future Avoided Cost Explorer (FACE). FACE is an 
interactive viewer for estimating future losses from wildfire, flood, and drought across Colorado. This 
tool  looks at a combination of hazard, population growth, and climate change data for each county and 
allows a user to see the expected future losses based on varying future population and climate 
projections. The sectors assessed within FACE and the hazard effects being evaluated are shown below. 

 
Click on the image of the FACE viewer below to see the cascading impacts of hazards, climate, and 
population increase across the state. 

 

Colorado Water Conservation Board (CWCB) – Colorado Drought Plan: Visualization StoryMap. This 
interactive viewer presents community sector vulnerability to drought in each county. This map shows 
the vulnerability assessment findings in the 2018 State of Colorado Drought Mitigation and Response 
Plan. 

https://cwcb.colorado.gov/FACE


Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Risk Assessment Overview    72 72 

Click the viewer image to gain a better understanding of the impacts of drought across sectors. 

 

Resilience Analysis and Planning Tool (RAPT) – is a geographic information systems (GIS) tool to help 
emergency managers and community partners visualize and assess potential challenges to community 
resilience. Hazard data includes data layers of real-time radar, watch and warning notifications from the 
National Weather Service, live stream gauges, current wildfires, and historical hazard data for 
tornadoes, flood, and seismic risk. 

Click on the following RAPT graphic to explore the county’s hazards. 

https://lynker.maps.arcgis.com/apps/MapSeries/index.html?appid=8b8a995c2574439cbef10088a08d12ae


Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Risk Assessment Overview    73 73 

 
 

FEMA National Risk Index (NRI) – is a tool to help illustrate the communities most at risk for 18 natural 
hazards. The Risk Index leverages available source data for natural hazard and community risk factors.  
The risk equation behind the Risk Index includes three components: a natural hazards component 
(Expected Annual Loss), a consequence enhancing component (Social Vulnerability), and a consequence 
reduction component (Community Resilience). 

Click on the NRI image to be taken to the tool. 

 
 

 

 

https://fema.maps.arcgis.com/apps/webappviewer/index.html?id=90c0c996a5e242a79345cdbc5f758fc6
https://hazards.fema.gov/nri/map


Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Risk Assessment Overview    74 74 

Climate Mapping for Resilience and Adaptation (CMRA) Assessment –is a tool that provides current 
and future climate hazard information to assist with prioritizing, identifying, and implementing climate-
informed infrastructure investments. As a single source of historical and future climate data, the tool 
covers exposure of multiple hazards, status of disadvantaged communities, and building codes. The 
information can support the planning and implementation of climate resilient projects. 

Click on the viewer image to gain insight into climate mapping. 

 
 

NOAA Historical Hazard Events 
Figure 6.1 shows an overview of historical hazard events reported to the National Oceanic & 
Atmospheric Administration (NOAA) Storm Events database, including flood, severe weather, and 
tornadoes. It is important to note that not all NOAA events are reported with a specific spatial location. 
The map shows the events for which this location data is available. 

https://livingatlas.arcgis.com/assessment-tool/explore/map


Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Risk Assessment Overview    75 75 

Figure 6.1 Elbert County NOAA Historical Hazard Events 

 
 

4.2 Previous Disaster Declarations 
Since 2003, the county has had 14 primary designations for USDA Secretarial disasters. Federal disaster 
declarations have occurred 11 times since 1965, with 7 of those being Major disaster designations. 

Table 6.2 shows the occurrences of primary designations for Elbert County in USDA Secretarial disaster 
declarations. Notably Elbert County has been in drought declarations for the last 6 years, 2017-2022. 
These declarations and one in 2013 were all considered Fast Track declarations. A Fast Track designation 
process for severe drought was implemented in 2012. The process provides for a nearly automatic 
designation when, during the growing season, any portion of a county meets the D2 (Severe Drought) 
drought intensity value for eight consecutive weeks or a higher drought intensity value for any length of 
time as reported in the U.S. Drought Monitor. 

Table 6.2 USDA Secretarial Disaster Declarations 

Declaration Number Year Description 

S5147 2022 Drought 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Risk Assessment Overview    76 76 

Declaration Number Year Description 

S4917 2021  Drought 

S4703 2020 Drought 

S4468 2019 Drought 

S4334 2018 Drought 

S4145 2017 Drought 

S3456 2013 Drought, Wildfire, High Wind, Extreme Heat, Insects 

S3260 2012 Drought, High Wind, Extreme Heat 

S2327 2006 Wildfire, High Wind, Extreme Heat 

S2329 2006 
Drought, High Wind, Extreme Heat, Insects, Winter 

Storm 

S2382 2006 Drought 

S2188a 2005 Drought 

S2188b 2005 Hail, High Wing, Excessive Moisture 

S1797 2003 Drought 

 

Federal disaster declarations are typically issued for hazard events that cause more damage than state 
and local governments can handle without assistance from the federal government. A Federal disaster 
declaration puts federal recovery programs into motion to help disaster victims, businesses, and public 
entities.  

Elbert County has experienced 11 events since 1965 for which Federal disaster declarations were issued 
by FEMA. These events are listed in Table 6.3. 

Table 6.3 Federal FEMA Disaster Declarations 

Declaration Number Year Description Declaration Type 

DR-4498-CO  2020 COVID-19 Pandemic Major Disaster 

EM-3436-CO 2020 COVID-19 Emergency Declaration 

DR-4229-CO 2015 Severe Storms, Tornadoes, 
Flooding, Landslides, Mudslides Major Disaster 

EM-3270-CO 2007 Snow Emergency Declaration 

EM-3224-CO 2005 Hurricane Katrina Emergency Declaration 

EM-3185-CO 2003 Snow Emergency Declaration 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Risk Assessment Overview    77 77 

Declaration Number Year Description Declaration Type 

DR-1421-CO 2002 Wildfires Major Disaster 

DR-1276-CO 1999 Flooding Major Disaster 

DR-1186-CO 1997 Severe Storms, Heavy Rain, 
 Flash Floods, Flooding, Mudslides 

Major Disaster 

EM-3025-CO 1977 Drought Emergency Declaration 

DR-385-CO 1973 Heavy Rains, Snowmelt, Flooding Major Disaster 

DR-200-CO 1965 Tornadoes, Severe Storms, 
Flooding Major Disaster 

 

Elbert County has been a designated county in 23 state disaster declarations. Approximately one third of 
the declarations have been for winter weather and another third declared for wildfire. Drought, flood, 
severe weather, and biological hazards compose the rest of the declarations. Table 6.4 shows these 
declarations by date and areas designated. Due to the regional nature of most of these hazards many of 
the declarations were statewide. 

Table 6.4 State of Colorado Disaster Declarations 

Year Hazard Location 

2022 Avian Influenza Statewide 

2021 
Severe Winter Weather 

Conditions 
Statewide 

2020 COVID-19 Statewide 

2020 Wildfire Statewide 

2019 
Severe Winter Weather, 

Blizzard Conditions 
Hinsdale, Elbert, Douglas, El Paso Counties 

2019 
Severe Winter Weather, 

Blizzard Conditions 

Larimer, Weld, Logan, Sedgwick, Phillips, Boulder, 
Morgan, Washington, Yuma, Clear Creek, Adams, 

Broomfield, Jefferson, Denver, Arapahoe, Douglas, 
Elbert, Lincoln, Kit Carson Counties 

2018 Drought 40 counties 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Risk Assessment Overview    78 78 

Year Hazard Location 

2018 Wildfire Statewide 

2017 Wildfire Statewide 

2014 Extreme Weather Statewide 

2013 Winter Storm Statewide 

2009 Severe Blizzard Statewide 

2009 Severe Spring Snowstorm Statewide 

2006 Snow Emergencies - December - 24 counties 

2003 Snow Emergency Statewide 

2002 Wildfires Statewide 

2002 Drought Statewide 

2000 Flood Elbert County 

1999 Flooding, Landslides,  
Mudslides 

Bent, Crowley, Custer, El Paso, Elbert, Fremont, 
Kiowa, Larimer, Otero, Las Animas, Pueblo, Weld 

Counties 

1997 Flooding 

Fort Collins, Weld, Morgan, Logan, Phillips, Clear 
Creek, Elbert, Kiowa, Baca, Otero, Lincoln, 

Crowley, Prowers, Sedgwick Counties;  
Town of Holyoke 

1996 Wildfire, Drought, 
 Severe Weather Several Locations 

1990 Blizzard Several Locations 

1987 Wildfire Cheyenne, Lincoln, Elbert Counties 

 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Hazard Profile – Cyber Hazards    79 79 

4.3 Cyber Hazards 
General Background 
Society is dependent on technology for day-to-day operations, and a major cyber incident could have 
significant and widespread impacts. Cyber hazards vary in the method of attack and area of technology 
targeted. Incidents are increasing and have been shown to affect a large variety of organizations, 
including hospitals, schools, businesses, and governments. These cyber incidents can result in the drastic 
slowing or halting entirely of productivity for an agency or organization. Data breach due to a cyber 
event is of great concern, not only for privacy reasons, but for the negative impacts that deletion or 
altering of data can have on future work for the organization. 

Physical infrastructure damage is a potential impact from cyber hazards and the cascading effects on the 
virtual systems communities rely on could be devastating and long lasting. Extended power outages, 
fiber optic cable impairment, and other infrastructure damage or disruption would have widespread 
consequences for conducting everyday operations. Critical facilities and infrastructure (Community 
Lifelines) for water distribution and treatment, power and fuel supply delivery, as well as 
communications could see drastic alterations to capabilities from cyber hazards. 

In many cases, it takes months, sometimes years, to restore a system to its previous functionality, 
perpetuating disruption even after the initial event is over. Organizations must rebuild technological 
infrastructure, recover lost data, and improve cyber security to ward off the possibility of another 
incident. The resulting cost of new equipment and manpower to rectify the situation can be prohibitive, 
adding up to millions of dollars separate from the payment of any ransom. 

Past Events 
Reporting on past events of cyber hazards presents a challenge due to a lack of data, as many 
organizations may choose not to report breaches to the Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI) Cyber 
Division for a variety of reasons. Often, due to concerns of public perception, companies will handle the 
incident internally and are not required to report the situation.  

However, the Cyber Incident Reporting for Critical Infrastructure Act of 2022 (CIRCIA) was recently 
created, to require the Cybersecurity and Infrastructure Security Agency (CISA) to develop and 
implement regulations, for requiring covered entities to report covered cyber incidents and ransomware 
payments. 

The repercussions of cyber hazards to systems including local government operations, hospitals, and 
critical infrastructure are immense. Events are occurring across the country, including in Colorado. In 
2018, the Colorado Department of Transportation (CDOT) was the recipient of two ransomware cyber 
attacks within two weeks which impacted the business operations. CDOT did not pay the ransom, as 
there was not an immediate threat to public safety (the traffic operations information is stored 
separately from business operations). It took a month for the systems to be restored to 80% and the 
state ultimately paid $1.7 million to their staff for meals, overtime, and equipment during the response. 

Other large scale, national recent events include oil pipeline infrastructure shutdown, disruption of the 
Georgia court system, access shutdown of 22 local governments in small towns across Texas, City of 
Baltimore city services freeze, and the complete shutdown of a Utah county government. 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Hazard Profile – Cyber Hazards    80 80 

A nationwide archive1 of reported cyber incidents related to infrastructure, government, health, and 
education, shows that within Colorado since 2017, the following targets were attacked. There are likely 
more incidents that have gone unreported. 

• Multiple hospitals 
• Electric utility association 
• Universities 
• Public schools 
• Water district 
• Multiple public library branches 
• State Attorney General’s Office 
• State election system 
• Five counties 
• Six cities and towns 

Other local government attacks that have recently occurred include the City of Wheat Ridge and 
Fremont County. In mid-August 2022, Fremont County was the target of a ransomware cyber attack 
which later that month targeted Wheat Ridge. As much as $5 million was asked as ransom which the 
City refused to pay. 

City communications were immediately affected, as servers were shut down to impede the attack. The 
City saw numerous offices unable to operate efficiently including the municipal court, public works, and 
the building, engineering, and planning divisions. Police were unable to access records or the non-
emergency phone number, but emergency communications were not impacted. 

The county saw similar disruptions and prioritized which departments and systems should be recovered 
for critical operations. Data breach is a concern, and recovering some records, in this case inmate files, 
proved difficult. 

Both entities involved the FBI and the state of Colorado for assistance. As of the writing of this plan, over 
one month after the attack, county critical systems and some department operations have been 
restored. It is unknown when the county may be at full operational capacity.  

The City has been able to restore most systems using staffers and IT consultants. 

Cyber hazards can greatly affect individuals each year, as well. According to the FBI’s Internet Crime 
Complaint Center (IC3) reported losses due to cyber crime exceeded $6.9 billion nationally in 2021, with 
over 840,000 victims. In 2021, Colorado ranked 14th in victim losses per state with a total of $130.6 
million. 

Location 
Cyber hazards can impact anywhere there is technology connected to the internet. All electronics that 
have internet capabilities have the potential to be affected. Cyber incidents often impact victims with 
out-of-date hardware and are more successful, but recent events have shown even sophisticated 
systems can still be breached. 

 
1 Colorado - Cyber-Attack Archive | SecuLore 

https://www.seculore.com/resources/cyber-attack-archive/colorado


Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Hazard Profile – Cyber Hazards    81 81 

Frequency 
Frequency is increasing, whether individual, organization, or government, there are more incidents 
reported each year. Since the understanding of frequency is based on known events, those events that 
go unreported could drastically increase the frequency. 

Severity 
Severity of cyber hazards varies tremendously. In some cases, an individual can be the victim of an 
incident that costs thousands of dollars, while large organizations can be expected to pay millions of 
dollars in ransom.  

The damage aftermath to the equipment varies greatly depending on the type of attack and if there is a 
need to replace equipment. In many cases, it takes organizations months to be fully functional after a 
cyber hazard incident. 

Warning Time 
There is very minimal warning time for cyber hazards and that is heavily dependent on the type of cyber 
security in place. Most incidents begin with a program embedding over a few days before making it 
known the attack is happening to the user. Identifying the event and removing the link to any databases 
and servers is crucial in minimizing the impacts, both long and short-term. 

Secondary Hazards 
As more cyber hazards become apparent and are being aimed at critical infrastructure and large 
organizations the secondary hazards could be numerous. If an incident compromised control of a 
hazardous materials facility or control of dam operation for example, the effects could be detrimental 
and deadly. 

Exposure and Vulnerability 
Lifelines 
The Lifeline most immediately impacted by a cyber hazard would be Communication. Society depends 
on a variety of technology to communicate, much of which is through the internet, servers, and 
computers. If a cyber incident disrupted these lines of communication, the results could be devastating 
depending on the target.  

Energy, Safety & Security and Health & Medical may be affected depending on the intent of the attack. 
It is possible that critical processes could be disrupted, either by direct loss of control of infrastructure or 
the impacts of communication and data loss. 

People 
Most critically, the safety of individuals may be compromised during an attack on a hospital or 
healthcare facility, as being locked out of access to medical records can result in inadequate care. 
Hospitals have become a common target for ransomware attacks, due to the urgent nature of regaining 
access to data. 

While large organizations that experience a cyber incident often get attention from the public and 
media, the majority of incidents are individual attacks on those who may not know how to protect their 
information. Identity theft is the most known of these individual attacks, but other types of schemes 
cause even greater losses to more victims. 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Hazard Profile – Cyber Hazards    82 82 

Notably, elder fraud is a significant cyber issue with over 92,000 complaints received by the IC3 in 2021 
from victims over the age of 60 with adjusted losses in excess of $1.68 billion. 

Environment 
The environment is not likely to be affected by a cyber hazard. 

Property 
Of greatest concern for property, regarding cyber hazards, is the ability for a perpetrator to control or 
damage infrastructure. In the case of physical interference, fiberoptic cables and other infrastructure 
may be disrupted or destroyed interfering with the operations of organizations and agencies.  

If a person or entity were to take over the control system of a facility or business it could result in 
physical damages, data loss, and dangerous conditions for workers and community members. Many 
aspects of asset and property management are controlled through technology, from a small scale such 
as indoor climate conditions to the large scale delivery of power, fuel, and water to entire communities.  

There have been cases of local government systems being attacked which resulted in halting and 
extensive delays of building permits, ownership paperwork processing, utility bill payments, and payroll 
delivery.  

Economy 
The economy of the region could be drastically affected depending on the type, duration, and motive of 
the attack. Prolonged lack of control to a system can result in losses for businesses and organizations. 
The longer an organization cannot function as usual, more money is lost, in some cases by the hour. 
These losses would be in addition to any ransom that may have been demanded to return control to the 
entity. 

Future Trends in Development 
Cyber hazards are likely to increase, as many organizations do not have the resources available to 
update and/or secure outdated systems. There are innumerable targets in each community, state, and 
the country and as more people use cyber hazards to harm others, there will likely be an increase in the 
number of incidents. 

As technology continues to rapidly evolve, any new buildings and infrastructure need to be built to 
withstand cyber hazards. A better understanding of the technology being installed in new buildings is 
needed to ensure that it can be maintained and that intervention can be quick should a cyber incident 
occur. 

Training is crucial in cyber security, as human error is the most common way for an attack to breach 
security. The more dependent upon technology our society becomes, the more imperative that any and 
all people who use electronics be educated in risks and protocols, for existing and future technologies. 

Probability of Future Occurrences 
Future events are likely, year over year there has been an increase in reported incidents. Considering 
this is only those incidents that are reported, it is feasible this rate of increase is even higher. 

Climate Change Impacts 
Cyber hazards are not likely to be immediately impacted by climate change. 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Hazard Profile – Dam / Levee Incident    83 83 

4.4 Dam / Levee Incident 
General Background 
Dam incidents in the United States typically occur in one of four ways: 

• Overtopping of the primary dam structure which accounts for 34% of all dam incidents, can 
occur due to inadequate spillway design, settlement of the dam crest, blockage of spillways, and 
other factors. 

• Foundation defects due to differential settlement, slides, slope instability, uplift pressures, and 
foundation seepage can also cause dam failure. These account for 30% of all dam incidents. 

• Failure due to piping and seepage accounts for 20% of all incidents. These are caused by internal 
erosion due to piping and seepage, erosion along hydraulic structures such as spillways, erosion 
due to animal burrows, and cracks in the dam structure. 

• Failure due to problems with conduits and valves, typically caused by the piping of embankment 
material into conduits through joints or cracks, constitutes 10% of all incidents. 

The remaining 6% of U.S. dam failures are due to miscellaneous causes. Many dam failures in the United 
States have been secondary results of other disasters. The prominent causes are earthquakes, 
landslides, extreme storms, massive snowmelt, equipment malfunction, structural damage, foundation 
failures, and sabotage. 

Poor construction, lack of maintenance and repair, and deficient operational procedures are 
preventable or correctable by a program of regular inspections. Terrorism and vandalism are serious 
concerns that all operators of public facilities must plan for; these threats are under continuous review 
by public safety agencies. 

Causes of Levee Incidents 

The following information is excerpted from the 2018 State of Colorado Flood Mitigation Plan.  

A levee breach occurs when part of a levee gives way, creating an opening through which 
floodwaters may pass. A breach may occur gradually or suddenly. The most dangerous breaches 
happen quickly during periods of high water. The resulting torrent can quickly swamp a large 
area behind the failed levee with little or no warning. 

Earthen levees can be damaged in several ways. For instance, strong river currents and waves 
can erode the surface. Debris and ice carried by floodwaters—and even large objects such as 
boats or barges—can collide with and gouge the levee. Trees growing on a levee can blow over, 
leaving a hole where the root wad and soil used to be. Burrowing animals can create holes that 
enable water to pass through a levee. If severe enough, any of these situations can lead to a 
zone of weakness that could cause a levee breach. In seismically active areas, earthquakes and 
ground shaking can cause a loss of soil strength, weakening a levee and possibly resulting in 
failure. Seismic activity can also cause levees to slide or slump, both of which can lead to failure. 
Unfortunately, in the rare occurrence when a levee system fails or is overtopped, severe 
flooding can occur due to increased elevation differences associated with levees and the 
increased water velocity that is created. It is also important to remember that no levee provides 
protection from events for which it was not designed, and proper operation and maintenance 
are necessary to reduce the probability of failure. In some cases, flooding may not be directly 
attributable to a river, stream, or lake overflowing its banks. Rather, it may simply be the 
combination of excessive rainfall or snowmelt, saturated ground, and inadequate drainage. With 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Hazard Profile – Dam / Levee Incident    84 84 

no place to go, the water will find the lowest elevations – areas that are often not in a 
floodplain. This type of flooding, often referred to as sheet flooding, is becoming increasingly 
prevalent as development outstrips the ability of the drainage infrastructure to properly carry 
and disburse the water flow. Flooding also occurs due to combined storm and sanitary sewers 
that cannot handle the amount of water. 

Regulatory Oversight 

The potential for catastrophic flooding due to dam failures led to passage of the National Dam Safety 
Act (Public Law 92-367). The National Dam Safety Program requires a periodic engineering analysis of 
every major dam in the country. The goal of this FEMA-monitored effort is to identify and mitigate the 
risk of dam failure so as to protect the lives and property of the public. 

Colorado Rules and Regulations for Dam Safety and Dam Construction 

The Colorado Rules and Regulations for Dam Safety and Dam Construction (2-CCR 402-1, January 1, 
2007) apply to any dam constructed or used to store water in Colorado. These rules apply to 
applications for review and approval of plans for the construction, alteration, modification, repair, 
enlargement, and removal of dams and reservoirs, quality assurance of construction, acceptance of 
construction, non-jurisdictional dams, safety inspections, owner responsibilities, emergency action 
plans, fees, and restriction of recreational facilities within reservoirs. Certain structures (defined in Rule 
17) are exempt from these Rules. The purpose of the rules is to provide for the public safety through the 
Colorado Safety of Dams Program by establishing reasonable standards and to create a public record for 
reviewing the performance of a dam. 

U.S. Army Corps of Engineers Dam Safety Program 

The U.S. Army Corps of Engineers (USACE) is responsible for safety inspections of some federal and non-
federal dams in the United States that meet the size and storage limitations specified in the National 
Dam Safety Act. USACE has inventoried dams and surveyed each state and federal agency’s capabilities, 
practices, and regulations regarding design, construction, operation, and maintenance of the dams; and 
developed guidelines for inspection and evaluation of dam safety (U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, 1997). 

Past Events 
There are no known previous occurrences of dam or levee failure in Elbert County. Although in 2015, 25 
of the dams owned by the Kiowa Conservation District were reportedly damaged. The structures 
experienced minor to moderate damage, but there were no failures reported. 

Location 
According to the State of Colorado Division of Water Resources Dam Safety Branch, there are 82 
jurisdictional dams in Elbert County and are all constructed of earth. All of these dams are classified as 
low hazard or no public hazard (NPH). There are no high or significant hazard dams in Elbert County. The 
Kiowa Conservation District owns approximately half of the dams in the county.  

The location of 81 of the 82 dams is shown in Figure 6.2, one dam is unmapped due to lack of location 
data. All of the 82 dams were constructed between 1890 and 1979, with over half constructed between 
1955 and 1959. In the 1950’s most of these dams were constructed for agricultural purposes; however, 
today 70 of the 82 dams are for flood control, fire protection, and recreation. The majority of the dams 
are located in the Kiowa Creek drainage basin south of the Town of Kiowa. The town is downstream of 
most of the dams within the drainage basin. 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Hazard Profile – Dam / Levee Incident    85 85 

The only known levee in Elbert County is located along Kiowa Creek to provide flood protection to the 
Town of Kiowa. The age, owner, and condition of the levee are unknown; neither the Town of Kiowa nor 
the Colorado Water Conservation Board has been able to locate any record of the levee’s design and 
construction. 

Figure 6.2 Dams Located in Elbert Count 

 

Frequency 
According to best available data, there have been no levee or dam incidents in Elbert County.  

Severity 
A dam hazard classification system, shown in Table 6.5, was developed by USACE for the potential 
consequences that could result from a dam incident. The primary concerns are loss life, economic loss 
(including property damage), Lifeline disruption, and environmental impact. This hazard rating system is 
based only on the potential consequences of a dam incident and does not take into account the 
probability of such events. Any dam incident that has the potential for loss of life is categorized as high 
hazard, regardless of any other potential impacts to property, Lifelines, and the environment. Hazard 
classes are not stagnant and can change depending on either development growth or decline in the 
area. 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Hazard Profile – Dam / Levee Incident    86 86 

Table 6.5. Dam Hazard Potential Classifications 

Hazard Class Loss of Life Property Losses 
Lifeline 
Losses Environmental Losses 

Low None expected 

 

Low and generally 
limited to owner  

No 
disruption 
of services 

Minimal damage 

Significant None expected Expected Disruption 
expected 

Mitigation required 

High Probable, one or 
more expected 

Expected Disruption 
expected 

Mitigation required 

 
Levee failure could result in flooding in downtown Kiowa, causing damage to structures and 
infrastructure. A design record or owner of the levee is unknown. The levee is not maintained and its 
integrity and ability to protect downtown Kiowa in a large flood event is unknown. 

Warning Time 
Warning time for dam or levee incidents vary depending on the cause of the event. In circumstances of 
extreme precipitation or massive snowmelt, evacuations can typically be planned with sufficient time. In 
the event of a structural failure, there may be no warning time. A dam’s structural type affects warning 
time, as well. Earthen dams do not tend to fail completely or instantaneously. Once a breach is initiated, 
discharging water erodes the breach until either the reservoir water is depleted, or the breach resists 
further erosion. The time of breach formation ranges from a few minutes to a few hours (U.S. Army 
Corps of Engineers, 1997). 

Secondary Hazards 
Dam incidents can cause severe downstream flooding and debris flow, depending on the magnitude of 
the event. Spillway overtopping, as dams are designed to do, may also cause downstream flooding in 
areas not known to be at risk to riverine flooding. 

Landslides around the reservoir perimeter, bank erosion on the rivers, and destruction of downstream 
habitat are other potential hazards secondary to a dam incident.  

A dam incident may cause contamination of drinking water and potential releases of hazard materials. 
The flooded area can be dangerous even after the waters recede, as extended periods of moisture in 
buildings can lead to mold and health impacts. 

Levee incidents can lead to flooding, potentially in areas that are unexpected or not prone to flooding 
due to the protection that the levee provides. 

Exposure and Vulnerability 
All dams in Elbert County are low hazard and present minimal risk to people and property. However, 
since warning time may be short, loss of life is always possible from a dam incident.  

The levee providing protection to the town of Kiowa on Kiowa Creek is concerning. The Town and the 
Colorado Water Conservation Board (CWCB) have been unable to locate any record of the design and 
construction, as a result the age, owner, and condition of the levee are unknown. The levee is not 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Hazard Profile – Dam / Levee Incident    87 87 

maintained and its integrity and ability to protect downtown Kiowa in a large flood event may be 
compromised.  

Lifelines 
Many Lifelines can be at risk from the effects of a dam incident and resulting flooding; however, Food, 
Water & Shelter will see the greatest immediate impact. A reservoir that serves as the primary source of 
drinking water can be disrupted or halted entirely, affecting the day-to-day lives of those who rely on 
the source, not only those who are in close proximity downstream of the dam. An incident may displace 
community members which can be for a short period or an extended duration if a home is destroyed. 

Other Lifelines that can be affected are Energy, Communications and Transportation. If a dam is used to 
generate power, the disruption of delivery to communities would impact daily operations and 
potentially Communications. If Communication infrastructure is damaged, the disruption or failure of 
communications can be dangerous for the community, as they may not receive alerts and dispatch can 
be interrupted. This would also greatly hinder response efforts.  

Transportation damages and interruptions can interfere with evacuations and incident response, 
including emergency services. If Transportation and Communications are affected, the impact on the 
Health & Medical Lifeline can be extensive. The Hazardous Material Lifeline can be affected, as flood 
waters can lead to release of materials, from facilities downstream and also private properties, 
especially unsecured propane tanks. 

In Elbert County, there is very minimal Lifeline exposure to dam inundation areas. There are only three 
Safety & Security entities exposed to the dam inundation areas and these are located in Simla. This 
represents 11% of Safety & Security Lifeline. 

Table 6.6 Safety & Security Lifeline Exposure to Dam Inundation Areas 

Safety & Security Lifeline Total Count Count Exposed  % Exposed to Risk 

Simla 3 3 100% 

County Total 33 3 11% 

 

People 
Those in the community with access and functional needs (AFN), that are downstream in dam 
inundation areas (or within levee protected areas), may be incapable of evacuating the area within the 
necessary time frame. This population includes elderly people, people with disabilities and mobility 
issues, those with independent living difficulty, those who are institutionalized and those without means 
of transportation. Non-English speaking populations are also included as communications and 
emergency messaging may not be available in languages other than English. In general, anyone who 
does not have adequate access to warnings from an emergency warning system may be 
disproportionately impacted by the hazard. 

Environment 
Dam incidents pose a great risk to the environment in the affected area. Flooding can change the local 
ecosystem, including permanent displacement of animals and extensive damage to vegetation. Damage 
to vegetation can contribute to erosion of riverbanks. Erosion can alter the waterway and push silt and 
debris downstream. The environment closest to the incident will likely be the most impacted; however, 
the repercussions of flooding can be felt much farther downstream. 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Hazard Profile – Dam / Levee Incident    88 88 

Reservoirs held behind dams, and rivers held behind levees affect many ecological aspects of a river. 
River topography and dynamics depend on a wide range of flows and rivers below dams often 
experience long periods of very stable flow conditions, or saw-tooth flow patterns, caused by releases 
followed by no releases. Water releases from dams usually contain very little suspended sediment and 
this can lead to scouring of riverbeds and banks. 

Property 
All hazard potential classes of dams pose a risk to properties downstream. Vulnerable properties are 
those closest to the dam inundation or levee protected areas. Based on an evaluation of best available 
structure footprint data for the county, there are numerous properties within dam inundation areas. As 
previously noted, there are no levee protected areas currently mapped in the county. 

Property damages range greatly after a dam incident, based on the severity of the water release. 
Structures can be completely washed away or flooded by a relatively small level of water. Any flood has 
the potential to render buildings uninhabitable, either permanently or for a temporary period while 
clean up occurs. 

Agricultural lands can be damaged and roads and bridges may become impassable, potentially needing 
repairs. 

Table 6.7 details the building footprint exposure, showing the break down by type of property and 
location. Kiowa has the greatest number of buildings exposed to the inundation areas and the 61 
buildings exposed are primarily residential and commercial. Simla has 39 buildings exposed, over half of 
which are residential. Matheson has only two structures exposed, both are agricultural properties. There 
are a total of 5 exempt building footprints identified in the dam inundation areas which are structures 
that are exempt from property taxes 

Table 6.7 Building Footprint Exposure to Dam Inundation Areas 

 Residential Commercial Industrial Agricultural Exempt 

Kiowa 34 20  3 4 

Matheson    2  

Simla 21 3 6 8 1 

TOTAL 55 23 6 13 5 

 

Data from the Elbert County assessor was utilized to show the type and value of parcels exposed to the 
dam inundation area. Parcel level data may contain multiple structures, but it is possible only one 
structures is exposed to the inundation area. Hazard layers are not exact and therefore it can be difficult 
to determine exposure and value at a building footprint level. Parcel level data allows an overview of the 
value of parcels with exposure to the hazard layer. 

The values in Table 6.8 are listed as the total actual values of parcels per the county assessor data. The 
residential parcels in the dam inundation areas have a value of approximately $9 million. Exempt parcels 
have the next highest value at approximately $7 million, followed by commercial parcels at almost $1.8 
million. Industrial and agricultural parcels have a combined value of over $1 million. 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Hazard Profile – Dam / Levee Incident    89 89 

Table 6.8 Value of Parcels Exposed to Dam Inundation Areas 

 Residential Commercial Industrial Agricultural Exempt 

Kiowa $7,900,000 $1,700,000  $266,000 $6,750,000 

Matheson    $250,000  

Simla $1,040,000 $96,000 $330,000 $204,000 $184,000 

TOTAL $8,940,000 $1,796,000 $330,000 $720,000 $6,900,000 

 

Economy 
Depending on the severity of a dam incident there can be drastic effects on the individual county and 
regional economies, as well as financial issues for affected residents. Repairs to the dam itself can be 
considerable and many costs can fall to local agencies, businesses, and private owners. These costs 
could be extensive if the structures are not insured for floods. Any resulting damage downstream can 
affect daily operations for an extended period and has the potential to impact critical aspects of the 
economy such as recreation areas and tourist destinations. 

Roads and infrastructure needed for day-to-day operations may be damaged. The transport of goods 
and travel across the county could be impacted, affecting the supply chain for local industry and the 
ability for residents to commute. 

Future Trends in Development 
Additional development downstream of dams in Elbert County could increase risk and possibly elevate 
the hazard classifications. 

Elbert County expects a rapid increase in growth and it is crucial to consider the hazards posed by dams 
and levees when making any future development and construction decisions. Future population change 
projection across the county is expected to increase by 2.7% annually over the next ten years. It is 
important for municipalities to fully understand the risk presented by dam and levee failures to those 
vulnerable areas to ensure new construction does not increase the county’s risk to dam / levee failure. 

Inundation mapping and emergency action plans are important tools when planning for new 
development in at risk areas and education of the public is critical. 

Probability of Future Occurrences 
Unlikely: Less than 1% chance of occurrence in the next 100 years or it has a recurrence interval of 
greater than every 100 years 

The likelihood of future events increases based on multiple factors including age, correct operation and 
regular maintenance, and inspections of dam infrastructure. With the added issue of severe weather 
events, all dams, many of which may be well maintained and functional, can potentially have more 
incidents, especially overtopping or spillway discharges.  

Calculating probability based on past occurrences does not necessarily reflect the actual risk of future 
occurrence for dam and levee failure. Further information on this risk is unknown. According to the 
Division of Water Resources 2020 Rules and Regulations for dam safety, low hazard dams have no 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Hazard Profile – Dam / Levee Incident    90 90 

requirements of the frequency of regulatory inspections; however, there is a schedule for high and 
significant hazard dams. Low hazard dam condition status utilizes dam owners self-reporting once every 
three months which is submitted to the State Engineer. This is considered the standard regulatory 
inspection, unless the owner notifies the State Engineer of issues or proposes alterations to the dam. 
Depending on the availability of reporting this may be why, in part, the HMPC has previously reported 
that the conditions of most small dams in the County are unknown. For local conservation districts that 
do not have adequate funding to monitor and maintain dams, many may be in need of repair. This 
increases the probability of failure during heavy precipitation or high flows. 

A safety Inspection results in one of three classifications of the overall conditions of dams. These 
classifications are: 

Satisfactory Conditionally Satisfactory Unsatisfactory 

Safety inspection indicates no 
conditions that appear to 
threaten the safety of the dam, 
and the dam is expected to 
perform satisfactorily under all 
design loading conditions. Most 
of the required monitoring is 
being performed 

Safety inspection indicates 
symptoms of structural distress 
(seepage, evidence of minor 
displacements, etc.) which if 
conditions worsen, could lead to 
failure of the dam. Essential 
monitoring, inspection, and 
maintenance must be performed 
as a requirement for continued full 
storage in the reservoir. 

Safety inspection indicates 
definite signs of structural 
distress (excessive seepage, 
cracks, slides, sinkholes, 
severe deterioration, etc.) 
which could leave to the 
failure of the dam if the 
reservoir is used to full 
capacity. The dam is judged 
unsafe for full storage of 
water. 

 

Of the dams in the county, all low hazard, over 85% or 71 of the dams have been inspected by the state 
since 2008. Table 6.9 illustrates the most recent safety inspections by period and condition classification 
for the dams in Elbert County. There are 11 dams with no recent inspections recorded by the Colorado 
State Division of Water Resources (CWDR). 

Table 6.9 Dam Safety Inspection Results 

 2008-2012 2013-2014 2015-2016 2017-2020 

Total Dams Inspected 15 22 18 16 

Satisfactory 7 14 9 13 

Conditionally Satisfactory 8 7 9 3 

Unsatisfactory  1   

 

Climate Change Impacts 
Per the 2018 Colorado State Hazard Mitigation Plan: 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Hazard Profile – Dam / Levee Incident    91 91 

With a potential for increase in extreme precipitation events, climate change may result in large 
floods that could stress dams and levees, and thus potentially increase the risk of failure of these 
structures. Dams and other hydrologic containment structures are designed based on calculations 
of a river’s flow behavior, and any changes in weather patterns can have significant effects on the 
hydrologic information used for the design of a dam or levee. Climate change may alter the 
dam/levee profile and affect the designed margin of safety. If freeboard is reduced, dam 
operators may be forced to release increased volumes of water to maintain the required safety 
parameters. Such early releases can increase flood potential downstream and possibly involve the 
spillway. Additionally, the structural integrity of earthfill dams may be compromised by climate 
change impacts such as drought and severe storms. Changes in vegetation and prolonged drying 
due to drought, embankment erosion due to severe storms, and more extreme fluctuations in 
water levels due to severe storms and increased frequency of drought all make earthfill dams 
vulnerable to climate change. The structural integrity of non-erodible dams or levees, such as 
concrete, are less vulnerable to climate change, but extreme temperatures may lead to cracking 
or joint movement. 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Hazard Profile –Drought    92 92 

4.5 Drought 
General Background 
Drought is a prolonged period of abnormally low rainfall, leading to a shortage of water and can last for 
years. Drought is a normal part of the climate cycle, but the slow-moving nature of this hazard can 
create detrimental losses. While drought is typically thought of as impacting vegetation and crops, there 
are repercussions of drought across many aspects and sectors of communities. Public water supply, 
energy production, public health, and wildlife are all affected by drought, as well as the potential 
increase of wildfires due to the lack of moisture. 

The NOAA Drought Task Force Repor” 2020-2021 explains drought2: 

Drought occurs when a water deficit at the land surface ensures that water demands cannot be 
met. Drought is typically defined based on where water supply and its demand are being 
considered. For example, most droughts begin due to a period of low precipitation, creating 
what is known as a meteorological drought. At some point, the low precipitation can dry soils, 
leading to an agricultural drought. Finally, if river and stream flow is impacted, the drought can 
become a hydrologic drought.  

It is important to note three things: first, not all meteorological droughts become agricultural or 
hydrologic droughts. Second, agricultural or hydrologic droughts can occur without a 
meteorological drought such as through poor human management. Finally, the major 
socioeconomic impacts of droughts tend to be associated with hydrologic and agricultural 
droughts, as they more directly affect human-managed systems, like hydropower and 
agriculture. 

Drought is measured in three ways: climatologic, agricultural, and hydrologic. Comparison to the norm is 
used in climatologic observations of precipitation and agricultural measurement compares typical soil 
moisture and crop conditions to the current data. Hydrologic measures water in various locations, 
including what is contained in snowpack, reservoirs and ground water levels, and the flow rate of 
moving water. 

The US Drought Monitor releases data showing the areas in the country that areIcing drought. The data 
classifies droughts in five categories: abnormally dry (D0), moderate (D1), severe (D2), extreme (D3) and 
exceptional (D4). The data is comprised of inputs from the National Drought Mitigation Center (NDMC), 
the US Department of Agriculture (USDA), NOAA, and the National integrated Drought Information 
System (NIDIS). The information provided by the US Drought Monitor is used to determine disaster 
declarations across the nation and identify those areas that may be eligible for federal support for losses 
due to drought. 

There are multiple federal agencies responsible for mitigation of and response to periods of drought. 
NOAA and NIDIS lead the monitoring of the situation, with data inputs from the US Geological Survey 
(USGS) and National Aeronautics and Space Administration (NASA). The USDA leads response efforts, 
and the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) regulates water quality impacts. While federal efforts 
are coordinated, the response efforts, planning, and water laws at the state level vary greatly. 

 
2 Mankin JS, Simpson I, Hoell A, Fu R, Lisonbee J, Sheffield A, Barrie D. (2021) NOAA Drought Task Force Report on the 2020–2021 
Southwestern U.S. Drought. NOAA Drought Task Force, MAPP, and NIDIS. 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Hazard Profile –Drought    93 93 

Since drought is specific to local geography, weather patterns, and water usage, the NDMC recommends 
the definition of drought be decided for each particular area and community, using local data. 

Past Events 
The NDMC drought data for Elbert County, between January 2000 and May 2022, is shown in Figure 6.3. 
This figure presents the percent of the county in drought and the category of drought throughout the 
time series.  

Figure 6.3 Elbert County Percent Area in Drought Categories

 
There have been multiple periods of extreme drought, including an almost year long period between 
2002 and 2003 when 100% of the county was affected. A similar event impacting 100% of the county 
was recorded over the fall of 2020 into the spring of 2021. Other extreme drought periods occurred in 
the summer months of 2012 affecting approximately 95% of the county, as well as between fall of 2012 
and spring of 2013 which saw around 30% of the county impacted. This period also included an event of 
exceptional drought which affected approximately 15% of the county. An additional exceptional drought 
period occurred in the winter of 2020, impacting approximately 10% of the county. 

Figure 6.4 shows the historical precipitation for the county from 1901 to 2021. The average annual 
precipitation is 16.56 inches. The highest precipitation in a year was 26.35 inches in 1941 and the lowest 
average annual precipitation is 8.13 inches in 1934. In 2002, the average annual precipitation was 9.41 
inches which correlates with the extreme drought that occurred that year. 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Hazard Profile –Drought    94 94 

Figure 6.4 Historical Precipitation 

 

Location 
Drought is a regional phenomenon that can affect all areas of the county and participating jurisdictions 
with similar frequency and severity; however, this can vary across the county. Figure 6.5, from NDMC, 
shows the drought status of the State of Colorado for the week of June 18, 2013. This figure illustrates 
that various portions of Elbert County were in different drought categories, including exceptional 
drought in the southern portion, during the same period. 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Hazard Profile –Drought    95 95 

Figure 6.5 Colorado Drought Snapshot – Week of June 18, 2013 

 

Frequency 
As presented in Table 6.2 earlier in this chapter, drought reported impacts in Elbert County have 
resulted in USDA Secretarial Disaster Declarations during roughly 70% of the years since 2003.  

Colorado is semiarid; thus, drought is a regular and natural occurrence in the state. The main source of 
water supply in the state is precipitation and much of this occurs in the winter as snowfall. Although 
drought conditions are difficult to predict, low levels of winter snowpack may act as an indicator that 
drought conditions are occurring. 

Severity 
The severity of drought depends on numerous factors including the degree of moisture deficiency, 
duration, and size of the affected area. Elbert County has experienced all categories of drought, 
including events of extreme drought lasting for extended periods. 

Drought severity categories are based on the possible impacts from the event. Figure 6.6, from NDMC, 
details the specifics. 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Hazard Profile –Drought    96 96 

Figure 6.6 Drought Category Possible Impacts 

 

Warning Time 
Only generalized warning can take place due to numerous variables. Currently, scientists are unable to 
predict drought more than a month in advance for most locations. Predicting drought depends on the 
ability to forecast precipitation and temperature. Anomalies of precipitation and temperature may last 
from several months or potentially several decades, depending on interactions between the atmosphere 
and the oceans, soil moisture and land surface processes, topography, internal dynamics, and the 
accumulated influence of weather systems on the global scale. 

Secondary Hazards 
Wildfire is the secondary hazard most commonly associated with drought. A prolonged lack of 
precipitation dries out vegetation which becomes increasingly susceptible to ignition as the duration of 
the drought extends. According to the State of Colorado 2018 Drought Mitigation and Response Plan, 
economic impacts may also occur for industries that are water intensive such as agriculture, wildfire 
protection, municipal usage, commerce, tourism, recreation, and wildlife preservation. 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Hazard Profile –Drought    97 97 

Drought conditions can cause soil to compact, decreasing its ability to absorb water, making an area 
more susceptible to flash flooding and erosion. A drought may also increase the speed at which dead 
and fallen trees dry out and become more potent fuel sources for wildfires. Drought may also weaken 
trees in areas already affected by mountain pine beetle infestations, causing more extensive damage to 
trees and increasing wildfire risk, at least temporarily. An ongoing drought that severely inhibits natural 
plant growth cycles may impact critical wildlife habitats. Drought impacts increase with the length of a 
drought, as carry-over supplies in reservoirs are depleted and water levels in groundwater basins 
decline. 

Water supplies, both for drinking water and agriculture, are at risk due to drought. Many residents in 
the county rely on private wells and during dry periods the aquifers that supply them are depleted. 
Water quality can be negatively impacted as well, according to the USGS 20213, research has shown that 
during drought periods levels of arsenic in well waters can increase. 

Additionally, a reduction of electric power generation is a potential impact. 

Exposure and Vulnerability 
Lifelines 
The Lifeline most impacted by a drought event is Food, Water & Shelter which includes Agriculture. 
Droughts can affect people and their livelihoods in a multitude of ways. Most critically a drought can be 
detrimental to the supply of drinking water and available water for agricultural use. If a drought affects 
agricultural yields, food scarcity can become an issue, but the bigger impact is financial, as a decimated 
harvest can harm the local farmers, regional economy, and influence the greater market for the crop. 

The Health & Medical Lifeline can be impacted in the Public Health area, as drinking water quality and 
availability can quickly be affected in a drought. If availability is an issue, medical facilities may not be 
able to perform the necessary duties due to sanitary concerns. 

People 
The effects of water availability and quality on public health is the primary consideration in a drought. 
The immediate concern of availability of safe drinking water during the drought affects everyone in the 
planning area. Extreme heat that may accompany a drought can be dangerous for community members, 
especially for the elderly, children, those with chronic health conditions, and those who do not have a 
way to cool their homes. 

Those with breathing difficulties may be impacted if soil is dry and strong winds occur in the area, as air 
quality can worsen due to dust particles. 

Environment 
The geographic extent of drought can be far reaching and the effects can vary greatly across the 
impacted areas. In the region, abnormally low precipitation over an extended period puts stress on all 
ecosystems. As waterways decrease in flow, fish and aquatic plants can suffer and it may be difficult to 
recover the populations. Vegetation acting as food for animals and important binding for soils can dry 
out and struggle to grow back. Animals in search of water and food may have to travel farther which can 
affect migration and breeding. Natural areas such as wetlands that play an important role in the overall 
health of the environment can be destroyed if water levels decrease. The risk of wildfires increases as 

 
3 Assessing the Impact of Drought on Arsenic Exposure from Private Domestic Wells 2021 (acs.org) 

https://pubs.acs.org/doi/10.1021/acs.est.9b05835


Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Hazard Profile –Drought    98 98 

fuel dries out and becomes easier to ignite. Soil erosion resulting from dying vegetation can impact air 
quality, as strong winds pick up the dry dust.  

Property 
When discussing property, it is important to recognize the vast amount of investments in the 
agricultural industry. Between 1995 and 2020, the USDA has paid over $15 million of disaster payments 
in Elbert County, including $8.5 million in livestock disaster assistance and $6.5 million in crop disaster 
assistance. Almost $6 million of the livestock assistance was paid out in 2014, while the crop payments 
between 2003 and 2005 totaled over half of the crop assistance distributed. 

The majority of builIings and infrastructure are typically not affected by drought as they do not depend 
on water for functionality or stability. However, any power infrastructure that uses water to produce 
electricity for communities could be greatly impacted by an extended drought. If water levels are 
insufficient for generating the necessary power, operations may be halted. This would affect the power 
service to consumers, not only those in the immediate vicinity. 

Economy 
The lack of precipitation caused by drought can drastically impact the economy of the county. The loss 
of crops and livestock due to drought has compounding and long-term consequences for the local 
economy. 

Lack of water, for irrigation and watering livestock, can affect the quality of water that is available as 
higher salinity concentrations result from water level drops. The lack of water availability will increase 
costs further limiting the value of the products.  

Productivity of crop lands is reduced by drought which decreases yield, and results in crops of lower 
quality. The income loss for farmers due to a devastated harvest can be felt by the local and regional 
economies and can last an extended period depending on the length of the drought and possibility of 
recovery. 

Future Trends in Development 
Underground aquifers are the sole source of water in the county and drought can drastically impact the 
population. Leadership has an obligation to the county and communities to mitigate against drought and 
foster resilience in water management. Developing water management infrastructure, policies, building 
codes, and public education can help to ensure that drought has a lessened effect as development 
continues. Addressing the pertinent issues during the development stage can help to avoid stressing the 
water supply unnecessarily, as Elbert County expects considerable growth in the future. 

Probability of Future Occurrences 
The occurrences of drought in Elbert County are an example of the hazard’s cyclical nature. While 
drought duration and severity cannot be easily predicted, the pattern of an extreme drought occurring 
approximately every 10 years, shown in Figure 6.3, is worth noting. 

Drought will occur within the county in the future based on the data which shows in the last 22 years, 
there have been only 4 years without a drought event. Elbert County experienced drought events during 
82% of the past two-decade period. 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Hazard Profile –Drought    99 99 

Climate Change Impacts 
Future climate scenarios suggest that several factors will lead to more frequent and more intense 
droughts in Colorado. These variables include a warmer and drier climate, less snowpack, lower 
streamflow amounts, and less surface water availability. These impacts will strain the water resource 
needs of Elbert County and stress people, agriculture, and ecosystems. Increased drought will likely lead 
to increased risk from wildfire and insect outbreaks. 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Hazard Profile –Earthquake    100 100 

4.6 Earthquake 
General Background 
An earthquake is the vibration of the earth’s surface following a release of energy in the earth’s crust. 
This energy can be generated by a sudden dislocation of the crust or by a volcanic eruption. Most 
destructive quakes are caused by dislocations of the crust. The crust may first bend and then, when the 
stress exceeds the strength of the rocks, break and snap to a new position. In the process of breaking, 
vibrations called “seismic waves” are generated. These waves travel outward from the source of the 
earthquake at varying speeds. 

Earthquakes tend to reoccur along faults which are zones of weakness in the crust. Even if a fault zone 
has recently experienced an earthquake, there is no guarantee that all the stress has been relieved. 
Another earthquake could still occur. 

Geologists classify faults by their relative hazards. Active faults which represent the highest hazard, are 
those that have ruptured to the ground surface during the Holocene period (about the last 11,000 
years). Potentially active faults are those that displaced layers of rock from the Quaternary period (the 
last 1,800,000 years). Determining if a fault is “active” or “potentially active” depends on geologic 
evidence which may not be available for every fault.  

Faults are more likely to produce earthquakes if they have more rapid rates of movement, have had 
recent earthquakes along them, experience greater total displacements, and are aligned so that 
movement can relieve accumulating tectonic stresses. A direct relationship exists between a fault’s 
length, location, and its ability to generate damaging ground motion at a given site.  

Liquefaction 

Liquefaction occurs when loose sediment that is saturated by water temporarily loses strength in 
response to ground shaking and acts as a fluid. When liquefaction occurs, buildings and cars can sink 
into the ground, slopes fail, buried tanks and pipes can rise to ground level, and lateral spreading can 
occur. Lateral spreading is when level ground shifts laterally, sometimes for tens of feet. 

The liquified material can force open ground cracks to release to the surface and can cause debris flows 
or flooding. Factors for whether liquefaction will occur include the degree of saturation, the grain size 
distribution and consistency of the soil, as well as the duration and magnitude of the shaking. 

Past Events 
Colorado has a relatively short period of historical records for earthquakes. Figure 6.7 depicts the 
location of historical epicenters in the county and some of the state’s larger earthquake epicenters. The 
map shows one recorded earthquake event in Elbert County. 

The event for this epicenter took place on October 13th, 1966, and was recorded with a 3.0 magnitude. 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Hazard Profile –Earthquake    101 101 

Figure 6.7 Elbert County Historical Earthquakes 

 

Location 
There are no known faults in Elbert County according to the Colorado Geological Survey. El Paso and 
Douglas Counties are the only neighboring counties with faults. 

Frequency 
According to the U.S. Geological Survey, the probability that a magnitude 5.0 or greater earthquake will 
occur in the next 50 years in Elbert County is 10 percent or less. Small earthquakes that cause no or little 
damage are more likely. 

Severity 
Earthquakes can last from a few seconds to over 5 minutes; they may also occur as a series of tremors 
over several days. The actual movement of the ground in an earthquake is seldom the direct cause of 
injury or death. Casualties generally result from falling objects and debris, because the shocks shake, 
damage, or demolish buildings and other structures. Disruption of communications, electrical power 
supplies and gas, sewer and water lines should be expected. Earthquakes may trigger fires, dam failures, 
landslides, or releases of hazardous materials compounding their disastrous effects. 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Hazard Profile –Earthquake    102 102 

Small, local faults produce lower magnitude quakes, but ground shaking can be strong and damage can 
be significant in areas close to the fault. In contrast, large regional faults can generate earthquakes of 
great magnitudes but, because of their distance and depth, they may result in only moderate shaking in 
an area. 

The impact of an earthquake is largely a function of the following components: 

• Ground shaking (ground motion accelerations) 
• Liquefaction (soil instability) 
• Distance from the source (both horizontally and vertically) 

Earthquakes can cause structural damage, injury, and loss of life, as well as damage to infrastructure 
networks, such as water, power, communication, and transportation lines. Damage and life loss can be 
particularly devastating in communities where buildings were not designed to withstand seismic forces 
(e.g., older or historic structures). Other damage-causing effects of earthquakes include surface rupture, 
fissuring, settlement, and permanent horizontal and vertical shifting of the ground.  

Earthquakes are typically classified in one of two ways: by the impact on people and structures, 
measured as intensity; or by the amount of energy released, measured as magnitude. Table 6.10 
presents the Modified Mercalli Intensity Scale aligned with the Richter Scale Magnitude to show how 
these classifications approximately align. 

Table 6.10 Modified Mercalli Intensity Scale 

Scale Intensity Description of Effects PGA (g) 

Richter 
Scale 
Magnitude 

I Instrumental Detected mostly by instruments. <0.0017 

<4.2 II Feeble Some people feel it 0.0018-
0.014 III Slight Felt by people indoors, like a truck rumbling by 

IV Moderate Felt by people walking 0.015-
0.039 <4.8 

V Slightly 
Strong Sleepers are awakened, dishes and windows disturbed 0.040-

0.092 <5.4 

VI Strong Trees sway, suspended objects swing, objects fall off 
shelves 

0.093-
0.18 <6.1 

VII Very Strong Mild alarm, walls crack, plaster falls 0.19-
0.34 

<6.9 
VIII Destructive Moving cars are uncontrollable, poorly constructed 

buildings greatly damaged 
0.35-
0.65 

IX Ruinous Some houses collapse, ground cracks, pipes are break 
open. 

0.66-
1.24 <7.3 

X Disastrous Significant ground cracks and many buildings destroyed. 
Liquefactions and landslides occur. >1.24 <8.0 

XI Very 
Disastrous 

Buildings and bridges collapse, roads, railways, pipes, and 
cables destroyed, other hazards triggered >1.24 <8.1 

XII Catastrophic Total destruction. Waves are seen on the ground surface. >1.24 >8.1 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Hazard Profile –Earthquake    103 103 

The USGS created a map to illustrate overall hazard potential across the country. Figure 6.8 shows the 
long-term national seismic hazard. The figure, per the USGS description: 

Earthquake hazard map showing peak ground accelerations having a 2 percent probability of 
being exceeded in 50 years, for a firm rock site. The map is based on the most recent USGS 
models for the conterminous UI (2018) .... The models are based on seismicity and fault-slip 
rates, and take into account the frequency of earthquakes of various magnitudes.  Locally, the 
hazard may be greater than shown because site geology may amplify ground motions. 

 
Figure 6.8 Long-term National Seismic Hazard Map (2018)

 

Warning Time 
There is currently no reliable way to predict the day or month that an earthquake will occur at any given 
location. Research is being done with warning systems that use the low energy waves that precede 
major earthquakes. These potential warning systems give approximately 40 seconds notice that a major 
earthquake is about to occur. The warning time is very short, but it could allow for someone to get 
under a desk, step away from a hazardous material they are working with, or shut down a computer 
system. 

The main shock of an earthquake can usually be measured in seconds, and rarely lasts for more than a 
minute. Aftershocks can occur within the days, weeks, and even months following a major earthquake. 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Hazard Profile –Earthquake    104 104 

Secondary Hazards 
Earthquakes have to potential to cause a variety of secondary hazards including avalanche, dam failure, 
landslide, and subsidence. An earthquake can also trigger a hazardous materials release, transportation 
impacts, ignite urban fires, and cause utility disruption, such as flooding from severed water pipelines. 

Exposure and Vulnerability 
Hazus 
When assessing the risk for seismic hazards the FEMA Hazus Loss estimation software which models the 
effects of various event scenarios, is the most appropriate tool. Using Hazus as a scenario modeling tool 
provides an acceptable means of forecasting earthquake damage, loss of infrastructure functionality, 
casualties, and numerous other factors.  

Hazus 5.1 was used to conduct an earthquake analysis which was modeled using a 5.0 magnitude 
probabilistic event. The model utilized a 2,500 year return period. This return period equates to a 2% 
probability of occurrence in 50 years and is the return period used by the International Building Code as 
the basis for seismic building design. This scenario was used because it represents a “worst case 
scenario” and included an analysis of approximately 9,000 buildings valued at over $2.6 billion. 

The Hazus software include a number of variables in order to arrive at the estimated values of loss and 
these loss estimates should not be taken as precise measures. This information should be viewed from 
the perspective of potential magnitude of expected losses. Hazus modeled expected losses in each 
census tract in the county and Figure 6.9 shows these loss estimates. 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Hazard Profile –Earthquake    105 105 

Figure 6.9 Elbert County Earthquake Loss Estimation 

 
 

The Hazus loss estimates related to the structures and Lifelines affected, expected debris, and 
residential impacts are below. 

• Building-related economic losses are estimated to be approximately $21.4 million 
• An estimated 249 buildings will be at least moderately damaged 
• Over 72% of total losses are residential buildings 
• No major damages are expected to any transportation or utility facilities; however, 

water pipeline breaks and leaks are anticipated 
• 5,000 tons of debris are expected to be generated (200 truckloads @25 tons/truck) 

More detailed information can be found in the Earthquake Hazus Risk Report. 

Lifelines 
All Lifelines can be impacted significantly by an earthquake. Even with minimal damage Food, Water & 
Shelter can be greatly affected due to need for sheltering displaced individuals, the likelihood of water 
pipelines leaking and breaking, and the possible contamination of the drinking water supply. 

Infrastructure damage to Communications, Energy, and Transportation can range from minimal impacts 
on functionality to systems completely unable to provide information and power to the community. 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Hazard Profile –Earthquake    106 106 

Transportation can be slowed by small upheavals in pavements or completely halted due to downed 
bridges or impassable roadways. 

Health & Medical operations can be disrupted due to building damage or inability to transport patients. 
Fatality management may be needed on a large scale. Safety and Security may be unable to meet 
community needs if there is building or equipment damage. Hazardous Materials have the potential to 
be released from facilities or impacted in transit. 

People 
All people in the county are at risk to earthquakes. Depending on the location, magnitude, and other 
characteristics of the event, the effect on life safety can vary drastically. In a populated, developed area 
the risk of people being harmed is much higher than an event that affects a rural area. 

Environment 
Earthquakes can change the very landscape of an environment, as ground openings, liquefaction, and 
landslides are possible. Wildlife may leave the area for an extended period, especially if an ecosystem is 
impacted. The secondary impacts of a dam failure or fire being ignited could have devastating effects in 
addition to the damage from the earthquake 

Property 
There are many factors that affect the property damage an earthquake is capable of inflicting. Age and 
type of a building, as well as the materials used in construction all contribute to the likelihood of 
withstanding an earthquake with minimal damage. Historic buildings are especially at risk for these 
reasons. 

Buildings constructed to meet updated codes or retrofitted to bring them up to code are at an 
advantage if an event were to happen. These codes are rated to a certain level of seismic activity; 
however, if an event of higher magnitude happens, serious damage is still possible. 

Damages from an earthquake can be on a spectrum, cosmetic and easily repaired or making a building 
uninhabitable. The variables of an event, as well as characteristics and the specifics of each building 
make estimation of damages difficult. 

Economy 
Earthquakes have the potential to impact the economy on a large scale. Depending on the magnitude 
and location of the earthquake there could be extensive damage to infrastructure, buildings, and roads. 
Major damage to any of these would disrupt daily operations and require considerable construction and 
repairs. The duration of recovery could have a significant effect on the ability of businesses to reopen. 

Future Trends in Development 
The county and both towns have adopted the 2018 International Building Code (IBC), and Simla has 
previously adopted building codes. This is crucial to public safety as growth continues and development 
increases. Adherence to these existing building codes and including adoption of more recent codes by 
Simla will ensure construction is more likely to withstand a seismic event. 

Probability of Future Occurrences 
By studying the geologic characteristics of faults, geoscientists can often estimate when the fault last 
moved and estimate the magnitude of the earthquake that produced the last movement. Because the 
occurrence of earthquakes is relatively infrequent in Colorado and the historical earthquake record is 
short, it is difficult to estimate magnitude, timing, or location of any future events. 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Hazard Profile –Earthquake    107 107 

Based on best available data from USGS, the earthquake hazard is classified as very low for Elbert 
County. This means that there is less than a 2% chance of potentially damaging earthquake occurring in 
the planning area in the next 50 years. 

While there are no mapped faults in the county, seismic events in neighboring counties could have 
significant impacts over great distances.  

Climate Change Impacts 
The impacts of global climate change on earthquake probability are unknown. 

Secondary impacts of earthquakes could be magnified by climate change. Soils saturated by repetitive 
storms could experience liquefaction during seismic activity due to the increased saturation. Dams 
storing increased volumes of water due to changes in the hydrograph could fail during seismic events. 
There are currently no models available to estimate these impacts. 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Hazard Profile –Extreme Heat    108 108 

4.7 Extreme Heat 
General Background 
Excessive heat events are characterized by the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) as 
“summertime weather that is substantially hotter or more humid than average for a location at that 
time of year” (EPA, 2006). Criteria that define an excessive heat event may differ among jurisdictions 
and within the same jurisdiction depending on the time of year. Excessive heat events are often a result 
of more than just ambient air temperature. Heat index tables (Figure 6.10) are commonly used to 
provide information about how hot it feels which is based on the interactions between several 
meteorological conditions. Since heat index values were devised for shady, light wind conditions, 
exposure to full sunshine can increase heat index values by up to 15°F. Also, strong winds which can be 
produced by very hot, dry air, can be extremely hazardous. 

According to the North America Land Data Assimilation System (NLDAS), extreme heat events are also 
characterized as periods with a duration of at least 2 or 3 consecutive days, in which an absolute 
threshold or threshold relative to the jurisdiction is surpassed.  

Figure 6.10 NOAA National Weather Service Heat Index 

 

Past Events 
Elbert County has seen multiple extreme heat events since 1979.  

The NLDAS is a collaboration project among several groups: the NOAA National Centers for 
Environmental Prediction (NCEP) Environmental Modeling Center (EMC), the National Aeronautics and 
Space Administration (NASA) Goddard Space Flight Center (GSFC), Princeton University, the National 
Weather Service (NWS) Office of Hydrological Development (OHD), the University of Washington, and 
the NCEP Climate Prediction Center (CPC).  



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Hazard Profile –Extreme Heat    109 109 

The NLDAS data in Figure 6.11 shows the annual number of extreme heat events, between 1979 and 
2021. These events are a minimum duration of 2 consecutive days with temperatures over 90°, between 
the months of May and September, from 1979 to 2019. Most notable are the 16 events in 2011 and 24 
events in 2012. The years 1990, 2002, 2005, and 2018 each had over 10 extreme heat events. 

 

Figure 6.11 Annual Number of Extreme Heat Events between May and September 

 
 

Location 
The entire county is at risk to extreme heat events; however, these events may be exacerbated in more 
urban areas. This is due to the reduced air flow, reduced vegetation, and increased generation of waste 
heat which can contribute to temperatures that are several degrees higher than in surrounding rural or 
less urbanized areas. This phenomenon is known as urban heat island effect. 

Frequency 
There have been 181 extreme heat events in the 41-year period between 1979 and 2019. However, 14 
of those years did not have an extreme heat event. Another 11 years had 5 or fewer extreme heat 
events. While the remaining 147 events took place over 16 years, 24 of these occurred in one year.  

Severity 
Severity depends upon multiple factors, not just meteorological. While departure from typical 
temperatures are the basics of an event occurring, exposure and inability to find respite can drastically 
increase risk and prove deadly. The characteristics of the building people are housed in and whether 

4

6
7

10

6

11 12

6

24

12

7

0

5

10

15

20

25

Annual Number of Extreme Heat Events (May to Sept.)



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Hazard Profile –Extreme Heat    110 110 

there is air conditioning or other temperature control means also have considerable impacts. 
Populations susceptible to heat for health reasons or due to occupation, such as construction or 
agriculture, can be affected even if it is not considered an extreme heat event. 

Temperatures abnormal to the area for extended periods contribute to sunstroke, heat cramps, and 
heat exhaustion. Pets and livestock are also vulnerable to heat-related injuries. Crops can be vulnerable 
as well. 

Warning Time 
NOAA issues outlooks for extreme heat 8-14 days, as well as 3-7 days in advance and provides hourly 
forecasts, advisories, watches, and warnings when dangerous heat becomes likely or imminent.  

Secondary Hazards 
Excessive heat events can cause failure of motorized systems such as ventilation systems used to control 
temperatures inside buildings. They can also further magnify drought conditions and effects, as well as 
increase wildfire risk. 

Exposure and Vulnerability 
Everything in the planning area would be exposed, to some degree, to the impacts of moderate to 
extreme heat conditions. The majority of older homes in Colorado do not have air conditioning, making 
an extreme heat event even more dangerous. 

Lifelines 
The Energy Lifeline can be impacted by extreme heat events as power outages may occur. Additionally, 
the Transportation Lifeline may experience disruption in services due to infrastructure damage. 
According to the State of Colorado Hazard Mitigation Plan, concrete pavements have experienced 
“blowouts or heaves” both on local highway and the higher volume parkway and interstate systems. 
Blowouts occur when pavements expand and cannot function properly within their allotted spaces. 
Pavement sections may rise up several inches during such events. These conditions can cause motor 
vehicle accidents in their initial stages and can shut down traffic lanes or roadways entirely until such 
times as the conditions are mitigated. 

People 
All people are at risk of the effects of extreme heat; however, certain populations are less able to cope 
with the effects. Those who are 65 years and older, children, and those with access and functional needs 
are especially at risk of adverse impacts. People living in social isolation may be unable to get the 
assistance they need if the heat begins to affect them such as losing consciousness. People who 
traditionally work outside such as agricultural workers, construction workers, utility workers, and others 
are at considerable risk due to extended time outside doing extensive maIual work. 

It is critical these IopulationI be identified in Elbert County, to ensure proper steps are taken to keep 
people safe and healthy. This may include cooling stations and community outreach to bring people to 
cooler areas. 

Environment  
While extreme heat is a natural phenomenon, the frequency and severity are increasing. The 
environment has evolved to cope with previous heat events, but new patterns could prove detrimental 
to flora and fauna. Extended periods of extreme heat can have unknown consequences, as well as those 
seen before such as increased algal blooms potentially impacting water sources. 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Hazard Profile –Extreme Heat    111 111 

Property 
The only impact extreme heat has on general building stock is increased demand on air conditioning 
equipment which in turn may cause strain on electrical systems.  

Livestock and crops can be negatively impacted. Livestock are susceptible to the dangerous effects of 
extreme heat and deaths are possible if adequate shelter and cooling areas are unavailable. Crops may 
be unable to withstand an extended extreme heat event, and events have the potential to stunt growth 
and reduce yields. 

Economy 
Extreme heat events are not likely to have direct impacts on the overall economy. However, agricultural 
operations could be greatly affected, as crops and livestock may be unable to cope with extreme heat 
events. 

According to a 2021 study by a team of researchers from around the world, the impacts on agriculture 
have been underestimated. Based on analysis of global datasets from 1979 to 2016, agricultural losses 
were larger than predicted, as much as 5-10 times.4 This research is being used to develop climate 
change adaptation possibilities to reduce projected losses from extreme heat events. 

Future Trends in Development 
Vulnerability to extreme heat will increase as population growth increases, especially in municipal areas, 
although structures are not expected to see any increased risk from extreme heat events.  

Probability of Future Occurrences 
Based on historical data from the past 41 years, there is a 66% chance that the county will experience at 
least one extreme heat event annually. Impacts from climate change will most likely increase the 
likelihood of these events and therefore extreme heat events should be expected every year. 

Climate Change Impacts 
Temperatures are increasing due to climate change and this will likely result in more extreme heat days 
as the average temperature increases. Extreme heat events are becoming more frequent, more severe, 
and longer lasting. More frequent extreme heat events could end up being more cause for concern than 
the long-term change in temperature and precipitation averages. 

 
4 Heat waves could cause 10 times more crop damage than now projected, research finds, University of 
Colorado Boulder 

https://www.colorado.edu/asmagazine/2021/03/16/heat-waves-could-cause-10-times-more-crop-damage-now-projected-research-finds
https://www.colorado.edu/asmagazine/2021/03/16/heat-waves-could-cause-10-times-more-crop-damage-now-projected-research-finds


Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Hazard Profile –Flood    112 112 

4.8 Flood 
General Background 
A flood is a general and temporary condition of partial or complete inundation of normally dry land 
areas from: 

• the overflow of stream banks, 
• the unusual and rapid accumulation of runoff of surface waters from any source, or 
• mudflows or the sudden collapse of shoreline land. 

Flooding results when the flow of water is greater than the normal carrying capacity of the stream 
channel. Rate of rise, magnitude (or peak discharge), duration, and frequency of floods are a function of 
specific physiographic characteristics. Generally, the rise in water surface elevation is quite rapid on 
small (and steep gradient) streams and slow in large (and flat sloped) streams. 

The causes of floods relate directly to the accumulation of water from precipitation, rapid snowmelt, or 
the failure of manmade structures such as dams or levees. Floods caused by precipitation are further 
classified as coming from: rain in a general storm system, rain in a localized intense thunderstorm, 
melting snow, rain on melting snow, and ice jams. Floods may also be caused by structural or hydrologic 
failures of dams or levees. A hydrologic failure occurs when the volume of water behind the dam or 
levee exceeds the structure‘s capacity resulting in overtopping. Structural failure arises when the 
physical stability of the dam or levee is compromised due to age, poor construction and maintenance, 
seismic activity, rodent tunneling, or myriad other causes. For more information on floods resulting from 
dam and levee failure refer to the Dam / Levee Incident section of this Plan. 

Flooding in the county is now predominantly the result of snowmelt and cloudbursts which result in 
flash flooding. Severe flash flooding poses the greatest risk. These rain events are most often 
microbursts which produce a large amount of rainfall in a short amount of time. Flash floods, by their 
nature, occur suddenly but usually dissipate within hours. Despite their sudden nature, the National 
Weather Service is usually able to issue advisories, watches, and warnings in advance of a flood.  

The potential for flooding can change and increase through various land use changes and changes to 
land surface. A change in environment can create localized flooding problems inside and outside of 
natural floodplains by altering or confining watersheds or natural drainage channels. These changes are 
commonly created by human activities (e.g., development). These changes can also be created by other 
events such as wildfires. Wildfires create hydrophobic soils, a hardening or “glazing” of the earth’s 
surface that prevents rainfall from being absorbed into the ground, thereby increasing runoff, erosion, 
and downstream sedimentation of channels. 

Potential flood impacts include loss of life, injuries, and property damage. Floods can also affect 
infrastructure (water, gas, sewer, and power utilities), transportation, jobs, tourism, the environment, 
and ultimately local and regional economies. 

Past Events  
The county has seen significant flood events over decades, most notable are those in 1935, 1965, 1997, 
and 1999. The event in 1935 caused devastating damages. Flooding on Kiowa Creek destroyed three-
fourths of the structures located in the Town of Elbert and resulted in nine deaths. The town was not 
rebuilt. Since this event small agricultural and flood control dams have been constructed throughout the 
county, altering flood patterns. 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Hazard Profile –Flood    113 113 

Table 6.11 shows the historical details of floods recorded in the county. Numerous data sources were 
used; however, damages and specific details for some of these events were not available. 

Table 6.11 Elbert County Reported Damaging Floods (1878-2019) 

Date Location Description Damages 

May 21, 
1878 

Kiowa 
Creek 

A Union Pacific locomotive plunged into the sands 
of Kiowa Creek during this flood and was never 
found. 

 

May 31, 
1935 

Kiowa 
Creek 

Seven lives lost at Elbert and nine lives lost total. All 
bridges lost, 59 buildings destroyed, water 8-15 feet 
deep, and 5 feet of sand. Three-fourths of town of 
Elbert destroyed and not rebuilt. A peak discharge 
was measured at 43,500 cubic feet per second (cfs) 
on Kiowa Creek at Elbert. 

 

June 15-17, 
1965 

Bijou, 
Running, 

Kiowa, and 
Plum 

creeks 

In the 118 square mile Kiowa Creek basin, above 
the town of Kiowa, the floods were several times 
the size of the design floods for the project 
structures, with a peak discharge of 41,500 cubic 
feet per second (cfs) on Kiowa Creek at Elbert, 
resulting in extensive erosion damage. Many acres 
of crop and pasture land were a total loss from 
heavy erosion, streambank cutting, or sediment 
deposition. The three forks of Bijou Creek washed 
out or damaged bridges on the main line of the 
Union Pacific Railroad and Interstate-70. 

 

May 23, 
1973 

 Heavy rains, snowmelt, and flooding. FEMA-385-DR  

July 29-30, 
1997 

Kiowa, 
Simla 

Flooding and flash flooding caused water two feet 
of water to cover portions of roadway near Kiowa. 
High waters forced the evacuation of several 
residents in Simla. Highway 86, between Simla and 
Limon was closed due to high waters. The flood also 
closed portion of Interstate 70 west of Limon. 
FEMA-1186-DR 

$400,000 
property 
damages 

August 21, 
1998 

Coal 
Creek 

Heavy rain caused flash flooding along Coal Creek in 
northwest Elbert County. Large tree trunks and 
some boats were reportedly washed downstream. 
County Road 50 along the Arapahoe/Elbert County 
line was closed as floodwaters, up to a foot deep, 
covered the roadway. County Road 186 was also 
washed out. 

 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Hazard Profile –Flood    114 114 

Date Location Description Damages 

April 29 – 
May 19, 
1999 

 

The combination of a persistent upslope and 
increased runoff allowed for several creeks, rivers, 
and streams to jump their banks. Damage to gravel 
roads and culverts. FEMA-1276-DR  

$180,000 property 
damages 

August 5, 
1999 

 
Primarily road damage. 

  
$772,000 property 
damages 

July 17, 
2000 

Whiskey 
Gulch, 

north of 
Elizabeth, 

tributary of 
Running 

Creek 

Torrential rainfall, up to 3.5 inches in an hour, 
caused flash flooding along Whiskey Gulch near 
Elizabeth. Several roads were washed out, culverts 
and agricultural lands were damaged, and 
basements flooded during the storm. Along County 
Road 13, about 6 miles north-northwest of 
Elizabeth, rushing water washed away a 15-ft 
section of the road. The floodwaters forced debris 
and mud into four huge culverts, sending water 
onto the road. 

 

September 
8, 2002 

East-
central 
Elbert 
County 

Flood water washed out two county roads in east 
central Elbert County. Another roadway, County 
Road 98 was inundated with two feet of water. 

 

May 15, 
2003 

East-
central 
Elbert 

County; 
Sandy 
Creek 

Flash flooding was reported eight miles south west 
of Interstate 70, along State Highway 86. Highway 
86 was closed due to flooding along the Elbert and 
Lincoln County lines as Sandy Creek jumped out of 
its banks. 

 

June 19, 
2005 

East-
central 
Elbert 

County 

Thunderstorms producing heavy rain and hail 
caused flash flooding. The heavy rain washed out 
multiple county roads and several needed to be 
rebuilt. 

 

July 2, 2006 Kiowa 
Near Kiowa, 2.5 inches of rain fell in less than 2 
hours. Several roads and culverts in the area were 
either damaged or washed out. 

 

July 17, 
2006 

Cedar Point 
Severe thunderstorms caused flash flooding near 
exit 354 off Interstate 70. A spotter reported a 
nearby road inundated under four feet of water. 

 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Hazard Profile –Flood    115 115 

Date Location Description Damages 

September 
1, 2006 

Eastern 
Elbert 
County 

Thunderstorms brought heavy rain and flashing 
flooding to portions of Elbert County. Nine miles 
southeast of Agate, flood waters inundated State 
Highway 24 with two feet of water. County roads 
134 (three miles west of Cedar Point) and 153 (one 
mile south of Agate), were inundated with up to 
two feet of water. 

 

June 11, 
2010 

River Bend 
Heavy rain caused flash flooding along Interstate 70 
at the River Bend Exit. Several cars were reportedly 
stuck in the floodwaters. 

$30,000 property 
damages 

July 4, 2010 Elizabeth 

Flooded the entire storm sewer system. In 2011 the 
plan went into effect to budget and BOT approved 
for $381,385.75 for the 8 out of the 12 locations 
identified to mitigate the drainage issues. 

$25,000 property, 
$25,000 crop 
damages 

August 2, 
2010 

Kutch 
Thunderstorms producing very heavy rain caused 
flash flooding near Kutch. Several county roads 
were washed out by the floodwaters. 

$10,000 property 
damages 

July 12, 
2011 

Lowland 

A thunderstorm produced very heavy rain, 5 inches 
in less than 3 hours. Flash flooding made unpaved 
roads impassable as about 6 inches of water a city 
block wide, inundated County Road 166, west of 
Ridge Road. In the Chaparral Subdivision, 
southwest of Agate, roadways were impassable as 
well. Extensive field flooding was also reported. 

$5,000 property, 
$10,000 crop 
damages 

July 12, 
2014 

Elizabeth 

Over three inches of heavy rain caused flash 
flooding north and northwest of Elizabeth. The 
rainfall flooded barns and fields, and inundated the 
surrounding roadways with standing water. 

$10,000 property, 
$15,000 crop 
damages 

May 4, 
2015 

Matheson Heavy rainfall washed out several county roads. 
$15,000 property, 
$5,000 crop 
damages 

May 8, 
2015 

Kiowa 

Flooding and flash flooding washed out several 
county roads including: CR73 from CR112 to CR98; 
Freese Road from Colorado 86 to CR112; CR102, 
from Double Tree Ranch to the top of the Bluff; CR9 
between Colorado 86 and CR98; CR106, from 
Canyon Road to CR13; Maul Road also suffered 
extensive damage. 

$25,000 property, 
$10,000 crop 
damages 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Hazard Profile –Flood    116 116 

Date Location Description Damages 

June 11, 
2015 

Elizabeth 

Thunderstorms producing heavy rainfall caused 
flooding and flash flooding across parts of the town 
and adjacent plains. Heavy rain flooded several 
rural roads. Basements were flooded and flooding 
was reported along Coal and Running Creeks. Elbert 
County Road 106 was closed due to high water 
between Elbert County Roads 5 and 13. 

Flash flooding washed out a 6-ft diameter culvert at 
the end of Glennon Rd., south of Elbert County 
Road 186. A trained spotter measured 2.22 inches 
of rainfall in 30 minutes which produced flash 
flooding. 

$30,000 property, 
$5,000 crop 
damages 

June 15, 
2015 

Kiowa 
A thunderstorm with very heavy rain, up to 4 
inches, produced flash flooding. Elbert County 
Road 178, between ERC 53 and Wolf Creek Drive 
was impassable to high water. 

$15,000 property, 
$10,000 crop 
damages 

August 1, 
2019 

Matheson 
Flash flooding occurred over southeast Elbert 
County. Several county roads were either flooded 
or washed out during the event. 

$15,000 property, 
$15,000 crop 
damages 

Source: Colorado Water Conservation Board (CWCB), National Centers for Environmental Information (NCEI), Public Entity 
Risk Institute (PERI), National Center for Atmospheric Research (NCAR). 

Location 
Elbert County is located within the South Platte River drainage basin in east central Colorado and 
streams also flow into the Arkansas River. Running Creek in Elizabeth and Kiowa Creek in Kiowa are the 
greatest sources of flood hazards. Other north-oriented creeks include Bijou, West Bijou, Middle Bijou, 
and East Bijou creeks. Big Sandy Creek and Horse Creek trend more easterly and flow into the Arkansas 
River.  

Elbert County is subject to flash flooding and slow rise flooding related to severe weather events 
between May and June, when snowmelt runoff is flowing. 

Figure 6.12 shows the mapped regulatory floodplain in the county based on FEMA’s published Flood 
Insurance Rate Map from 2011, for the County and its municipalities.  



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Hazard Profile –Flood    117 117 

Figure 6.12 Elbert County Regulatory Floodplains 

 
 

As part of Elbert County’s on-going participation in FEMA’s Risk MAP project, updated floodplains are 
being developed utilizing base level engineering (BLE). BLE is an engineering analysis technique used to 
determine the hydrologic and hydraulic conditions in the vicinity of streams and water courses during 
the 1% annual chance flood.  BLE uses high and low to moderate flood risk designations. High risk is 
equivalent to the 1% annual chance flood while low to moderate flood risk designates properties prone 
to flooding during a 0.2% annual chance flood. 

Figure 6.13 illustrates the draft BLE floodplain across the county. These floodplains are still in draft 
version and continued mapping efforts are underway to better map the floodplains in certain locations 
across Elbert County. 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Hazard Profile –Flood    118 118 

Figure 6.13 Elbert County Draft BLE Floodplains 

 

Frequency 
The frequency and severity of flooding are measured using a discharge probability which is the 
probability that a certain river discharge (flow) level will be equaled or exceeded in a given year. Flood 
studies use historical records to estimate the probability of occurrence for the different discharge levels. 
The 100-year discharge has a 1% chance of being equaled or exceeded in any given year. These 
measurements reflect statistical averages only; it is possible for two or more floods with a 100-year or 
higher recurrence interval to occur in a short period. The same flood can have different recurrence 
intervals at different points on a river. 

The extent of flo”Iin’ associated with a 1% annual probability of occurrence (the “base flood” or “100-
year flood”) is used as the regulatory boundary by FEMA and many other agencies. Also referred to as 
the special flood hazard area (SFHA), this boundary is a convenient tool for assessing vulnerability and 
risk in flood-prone communities. 

Severity 
The depth and velocity of floodwaters coupled with the length of time areas remain inundated with 
water, determine the severity of the event. Many SFHA’s also provide water-surface elevations which 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Hazard Profile –Flood    119 119 

describe the elevation of water that will result from a given discharge level. This is one of the most 
important factors used in estimating flood damage. 

Warning Time 
Due to the sequential pattern of meteorological conditions needed to cause serious flooding, it is 
unusual for a flood to occur without warning. Warning times for floods can be between 24 and 48 hours. 
Flash flooding can be less predictable, but potential hazard areas can oftentimes be warned in advance 
of potential flash flooding danger. 

Secondary Hazards 
There are numerous secondary hazards for flooding including debris flows and bank erosion which in 
some cases can be more harmful than actual flooding. Flooding is also responsible for hazards such as 
landslides when high flows over-saturate soils on steep slopes, causing them to fail. Hazardous materials 
spills are a secondary hazard of flooding, if storage tanks rupture and spill into streams, rivers, or storm 
sewers. 

Exposure and Vulnerability 
Lifelines 
Food, Water & Shelter and Health & Medical Lifelines are the most critical affected by flooding. 
Floodwaters can back up drainage systems and block culverts with debris from flood events, causing 
localized flooding. Floodwaters can get into drinking water supplies, causing contamination. Sewer 
systems can be backed up, causing wastewater to spill into homes, neighborhoods, rivers, and streams. 
Underground utilities, including Energy and Communications Lifeline infrastructure, can also be 
damaged, or rendered unusable by the waters. 

Identifying populations, including access and functional needs (AFN), who may be at risk if infrastructure 
is damaged by flooding is critical. Impacts to the Transportation Lifeline, such as roads, bridges, or 
railroads that are blocked or damaged can isolate residents and can prevent access throughout the 
county. This is especially crucial for those needing emergency service providers or for getting crews in to 
make repairs.  

There are no Lifelines or Tier II hazardous materials facilities with exposure to the 1% annual chance 
flood or BLE determined floodplains in Elbert County. 

People 
People living in floodplains, known flooding areas, or near areas where flash floods can occur are at an 
increased risk from the hazard. Those in the community with access and functional needs (AFN) may 
have issues evacuating and are at increased further risk, including the elderly, children, those with 
mobility or communication issues, those with low incomes, institutionalized, and people who may be 
unfamiliar with the area. Floods can cause serious injury and death if people are unable to get to safe 
locations. Some of the population may be displaced from their homes, with varying durations which can 
strain community resources.  

Non-English speaking populations are also included as communications and emergency messaging may 
not be available in languages other than English. In general, anyone who does not have adequate access 
to warnings from an emergency warning system may be disproportionately impacted by the hazard. 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Hazard Profile –Flood    120 120 

The dangers of flash flooding pose an even greater risk, as those in these populations may not be able to 
extricate themselves from an immediately threatening situation. The need for emergency responders to 
place these populations as a priority is crucial to the best possible outcomes. 

Environment 
Flooding is a natural event, and floodplains provide many natural and beneficial functions. However, 
with human development factored in, flooding can impact the environment in negative ways. Wildlife 
habitats can be impacted, due to altered food availability and interrupted breeding patterns. The effects 
on water quality due to silt and debris can impact wildlife downstream of the flooding. Erosion of 
riverbanks can permanently alter a waterway and vegetation on the banks may not recover from the 
damage. Aquatic life can wash onto roads or over dikes into flooded fields. Pollution from roads such as 
oil and hazardous materials can wash into rivers and streams. During floods, these can settle onto 
normally dry soils, polluting them for agricultural uses. 

Property 
Many properties in the county are vulnerable to flooding, including those that may not be within a 
mapped floodplain. While some properties make be flood proofed, the majority are likely to be 
significantly damaged if in the flooded area. Properties near waterways may have stability issues as the 
flood waters erode the banks and carry debris, while properties in low-lying areas are more vulnerable 
as these are where water would collect 

Table 6.12 breaks down the type and locations of buildings exposed to the 1% annual chance floodplains 
developed in 2011. Notably, the majority of the 101 structures exposed are located on agricultural 
parcels, with 70 structures found across all of the municipalities in the county. The remaining 31 
properties are located in Agate, Elbert, Elizabeth, and Kiowa. 

Table 6.12  Building Footprint Exposure to the 1% Annual Chance Floodplain 

 Residential Commercial Agricultural Exempt 

Agate 5  23 2 

Elbert   4 1 

Elizabeth 5 4 15 1 

Kiowa 3 5 6 5 

Matheson   13  

Simla   9  

TOTAL 13 9 70 9 

 

Table 6.13 and Table 6.14 show the building exposure data from the recent BLE mapping. BLE uses high 
and low to moderate flood risk designations. High risk is equivalent to the 1% annual chance flood while 
low to moderate flood risk designates properties prone to flooding during a 0.2% annual chance flood. 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Hazard Profile –Flood    121 121 

Agate, Elbert, and Simla have solely agricultural structures exposed to high risk flood areas. Agate has 
the highest number of agricultural structures exposed with a total of 25. Matheson has the highest 
number of residential buildings exposed to high risk flood areas, approximately 76% of the total 
residential structures exposed in the county. 

Table 6.13 Building Footprints Exposed to Areas with a High Risk of Flooding (1% Annual Chance 
Flood) 

 Residential Commercial Agricultural Exempt 

Agate   25  

Elbert   4  

Elizabeth 4 2 7  

Kiowa 1  9 1 

Matheson 16 4 14 5 

Simla   14  

TOTAL 21 6 73 6 

 

Buildings exposed to areas with low to moderate risk of flooding are detailed in the following table. The 
majorities of these buildings agricultural and a third are located in Elizabeth. Matheson and Simla 
structure exposure included only agricultural structures, of which both municipalities have 10 buildings. 
Elbert, Agate, and Kiowa also have agricultural buildings, with 11, 8, and 6 respectively. Elizabeth has the 
most residential structures exposed to low to moderate flood risk areas. 

Table 6.14 Building Footprints Exposed to Areas with a Low / Moderate Risk of Flooding (0.2% Annual 
Chance Flood) 

 Residential Commercial Agricultural Exempt 

Agate 2  8 3 

Elbert 4  11 2 

Elizabeth 8 4 20 3 

Kiowa   6 1 

Matheson   10  

Simla   10  



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Hazard Profile –Flood    122 122 

TOTAL 14 4 65 9 

 

Data from the Elbert County assessor was utilized to show the type and value of parcels exposed to 
floodplains, the 1% annual chance and the high, low to moderate risk areas. Parcel level data may 
contain multiple structures, but it is possible only one structure is exposed to the floodplain areas. 
Hazard layers are not exact and therefore it can be difficult to determine exposure and value at a 
building footprint level. Parcel level data allows an overview of the value of parcels with exposure to the 
hazard layer. 

The total actual values of parcels exposed to the 1% annual chance floodplain are shown in Table 6.15. 
Residential and agricultural parcels have total values of approximately $7 million each. Exempt parcels 
are valued at roughly $5.5 million and commercial parcels are valued at over $1.7 million. Elizabeth and 
Kiowa both have over $3 million each in residential parcels exposed to the floodplain. 

Table 6.15 Value of Parcels Exposed to the 1% Annual Chance Floodplain 

 Residential Commercial Agricultural Exempt 

Agate $379,000   $2,400,000 

Elbert  $951,000  $50,000 

Elizabeth $3,100,000 $765,000 $2,700,000 $341,000 

Kiowa $3,800,000  $2,100,000 $2,700,000 

Matheson  $47,800 $1,400,000  

Simla   $791,000  

TOTAL $7,279,000 $1,763,800 $6,991,000 $5,491,000 

 

 

Table 6.16 details the value of parcels exposed to areas with a high flood risk and breaks the data down 
by location and type of parcel. The vast majority of exposed parcels are agricultural and make up over 
half of the total values of parcels exposed to the high risk flood areas. Elizabeth, Kiowa, and Matheson 
are the only municipalities with residential parcels exposed, with the highest total value of these parcels 
is in Kiowa at $3.1 million. 

Table 6.16 Value of Parcels Exposed to Areas with a High Flood Risk (1% Annual Chance Flood) 

 Residential Commercial Agricultural Exempt 

Agate   $3,270,000  

Elbert   $1,940,000  



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Hazard Profile –Flood    123 123 

 Residential Commercial Agricultural Exempt 

Elizabeth $2,600,000 $48,000 $2,800,000  

Kiowa $3,100,000  $2,480,000 $2,700,000 

Matheson $1,200,000 $48,000 $1,900,000 $300,000 

Simla   $1,350,000  

TOTAL $6,900,000 $96,000 $13,740,000 $3,000,000 

 

The value of parcels exposed to low to moderate flood risk areas can be seen in Table 6.17. The highest 
value of parcels with this exposure is the agricultural parcels at a value of over $8.7 million. Elizabeth has 
the highest value residential parcels exposed, with a total of approximately $4,000,000. Agate has a 
considerable amount of exempt parcels, valued at almost $2.4 million. Kiowa, Matheson, and Simla have 
only agricultural parcels exposed to the low to moderate flood risk areas.  

Table 6.17 Value of Parcels Exposed to Areas with a Low to Moderate Risk of Flooding (0.2% Annual 
Chance Flood) 

 Residential Commercial Agricultural Exempt 

Agate $379,000  $1,500,000 $2,370,000 

Elbert $950,000 $951,000 $1,500,000 $663,000 

Elizabeth $4,000,000 $717,000 $3,800,000 $520,000 

Kiowa   $891,000  

Matheson   $875,000  

Simla   $170,000  

TOTAL $5,329,000 $1,668,000 $8,736,000 $3,553,000 

 

Economy 
Flooding can have a long-term economic impact on individuals and the county. Homes that are damaged 
may require extensive repairs which can take place over a long duration, especially if mold develops. The 
cost of infrastructure repair for utilities, roads, and bridges, as well as the components of Lifelines may 
extend over multiple years as projects are prioritized and funds are acquired. Costs for debris clean-up 
can be considerable and can be a burden to property owners.  

Returning to normal operations and daily life can take time which affects the day-to-day economy of the 
flooded area. Some businesses may struggle with repair costs and whether they can reopen at all. 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Hazard Profile –Flood    124 124 

National Flood Insurance Program (NFIP) 
The National Flood Insurance Program (NFIP) makes federally backed flood insurance available to 
homeowners, renters, and business owners in participating communities. Base flood elevations and the 
boundaries of the 100- and 500-year floodplains are shown on Flood Insurance Rate Maps (FIRM) which 
are the principal tool for identifying the extent and location of the flood hazard. FIRMs are the most 
detailed and consistent data source available, and for many communities they represent the minimum 
area of oversight under their floodplain management program. 

Participants in the NFIP must, at a minimum, regulate development in floodplain areas in accordance 
with NFIP criteria. Before issuing a permit to build in a floodplain, participating jurisdictions must ensure 
the following criteria are met: 

• New buildings and those undergoing substantial improvements must, at a minimum, be 
elevated to protect against damage by the 100-year flood. 

• New floodplain development must not aggravate existing flood problems or increase damage to 
other properties. 

Elbert County and all its incorporated communities participate in the NFIP program. All will continue to 
comply with all NFIP requirements, including enforcing all locally adopted floodplain management 
regulations concerning existing structure improvements and new construction. The effective date for 
the current countywide FIRM is March 17, 2011. The county and participating communities are currently 
in good standing with the provisions of the NFIP and will continue compliance which is monitored by 
FEMA regional staff. Maintaining compliance under the NFIP is an important component of flood risk 
reduction. Table 6.18 provides an overview of the communities participating in the program.  

Table 6.18 National Flood Insurance Program Participation 

Jurisdiction Date of Entry Initial 
FIRM ID 

Initial 
FHBM ID 

Policies 
in Force 

Claims 
since 
1978 

Total 
Coverage 

Claims 
Paid 
since 
1978 

Elbert 
County 8/13/2007 3/17/2011 - 19 2 $5,244,900 $0 

Elizabeth 5/22/2015 3/17/2011 9/06/1974 0 0 $0 $0 

Kiowa 3/17/2011 3/17/2011 9/06/1974 1 0 $121,000 $0 

Simla 10/22/2009 3/17/2011 9/13/1974 0 0 $0 $0 

 
There are no recorded repetitive loss or severe repetitive loss properties in any of the participating 
jurisdictions. 

Future Trends in Development 
Future population change across the county is expected to be 2.7% over the next decade. It is important 
for municipalities to fully understand the risk presented by flood to those vulnerable areas to ensure 
new construction does not increase the county’s collective risk.  



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Hazard Profile –Flood    125 125 

All municipal planning partners are participants in the NFIP and have adopted flood damage prevention 
ordinances in response to its requirements. 

The county and both towns have adopted the 2018 International Building Code (IBC), and Simla has 
previously adopted building codes. This is crucial to public safety as growth continues and development 
increases. Adherence to these existing building codes and including adoption of more recent codes by 
Simla will ensure construction is more likely to withstand a flood event. 

Probability of Future Occurrences 
There have been 25 reported damaging floods since 1878, suggesting a relatively low probability, 
approximately 17%, for future damaging flooding in a given year. Damages can be under reported for 
various reasons, including insurance payouts not being recorded or no claims made in the first place, 
making it difficult to determine the extent to which the county has seen flood damages. Therefore, this 
probability for damaging floods has the potential to be higher. 

Climate Change Impacts 
Use of historical hydrologic data has long been the standard of practice for designing and operating 
water supply and flood protection projects. For example, historical data are used for flood forecasting 
models and to forecast snowmelt runoff for water supply. This method of forecasting assumes that the 
climate of the future will be similar to that of the period of historical record. However, the hydrologic 
record cannot be used to predict changes in frequency and severity of extreme climate events such as 
floods. Going forward, model calibration or statistical relation development must happen more 
frequently, new forecast-based tools must be developed, and a standard of practice that explicitly 
considers climate change must be adopted. Climate change is already impacting water resources, and 
resource managers have observed the following: 

• Historical hydrologic patterns can no longer be solely relied upon to forecast the water future. 
• Precipitation and runoff patterns are changing, increasing the uncertainty for water supply and 

quality, flood management, and ecosystem functions. 
• Extreme climatic events have become more frequent, necessitating improvement in flood 

protection, drought preparedness, and emergency response. 

The amount of snow is critical for water supply and environmental needs, but so is the timing of 
snowmelt runoff into rivers and streams. High frequency flood events (e.g., 10-year floods) in particular, 
will likely increase with a changing climate. Along with reductions in the amount of the snowpack and 
accelerated snowmelt, scientists project greater storm intensity, resulting in more direct runoff and 
flooding. Changes in watershed vegetation and soil moisture conditions will likewise change runoff and 
recharge patterns. As stream flows and velocities change, erosion patterns will also change, altering 
channel shapes and depths, possibly increasing sedimentation behind dams, and affecting habitat and 
water quality. With potential increases in the frequency and intensity of wildfires due to climate change, 
there is potential for more floods following fire which increase sediment loads and water quality 
impacts. 

As hydrology changes, what is currently considered a 100-year flood may strike more often, leaving 
many communities at greater risk. Planners will need to factor a new level of safety into the design, 
operation, and regulation of flood protection facilities such as dams, floodways, bypass channels, and 
levees, as well as the design of local sewers and storm drains 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Hazard Profile –Hazardous Materials Release   126 126 

4.9 Hazardous Materials Release 
General Background 
A hazardous material (also known as Hazmat) is defined by the U.S. Department of Transportation as 
“articles or substances which are capable of posing a risk to health, safety, property, or the 
environment, are listed or classified in the regulations and are transported in commerce.” 

Hazardous materials are defined and regulated in the United States primarily by laws and regulations 
administered by the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA), the U.S. Occupational Safety and 
Health Administration (OSHA), the U.S. Department of Transportation (DOT), and the U.S. Nuclear 
Regulatory Commission (NRC). Each has its ow“ definition of a "hazardous material.” 

For the purpose of tracking and managing hazardous materials, the DOT divides regulated hazardous 
materials into nine classes. These classes are: 

Class 1: Explosives Class 6: Toxic Metals 

Class 2: Compressed Gases Class 7: Radioactive Material 

Class 3: Flammable Liquids Class 8: Corrosive Material 

Class 4: Flammable Solids Class 9: Miscellaneous 

Class 5: Oxidizers and Organic Peroxides  

Past Events 
According to the Pipeline and Hazardous Materials Safety Administration (PHMSA), Elbert County has 
seen a total of one serious hazardous materials incident between 1950 and 2021. PHMSA bases the 
definition of a “serious incident” on several factors including the type of materials released, if the 
release was a bulk quantity, and if there were injuries or fatalities. Evacuations of 25 or more people and 
the closure of major transportation arteries are also criteria for an incident to be recorded as serious. 

The event listed for Elbert County, in Simla, was in 2013. A serious bulk release incident occurred as a 
vehicle accident / rollover and resulted in the release of 700 gallons of alcohols.  

Location 
Hazardous material releases can occur at the facility where they are being stored or utilized, as well as  
when materials are in transit via railway, highway, or pipeline. 

There are 17 Tier II facilities in the county. A Tier II facility is a location where hazardous materials are 
stored and these facilities are monitored by the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA). Tier II facilities 
are required to complete an annual federal report to account for and track all hazardous materials 
stored at the site. This includes the maximum amount on site, average daily amount used, number of 
days material was present on-site, storage types, conditions, and locations. Health hazards of each 
reportable material are required, as well. 

Figure 6.14 shows the locations of the Tier II facilities in Elbert County. 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Hazard Profile –Hazardous Materials Release   127 127 

Figure 6.14 Elbert County Hazardous Materials- Fixed Locations 

 

Frequency 
In Elbert County, this type of event is rare, with the history of only one transportation release incident in 
seven decades. However, due to the state designated transportation routes and numerous fixed site 
facilities handling hazardous materials there is significant potential for an incident to occur. It is difficult 
to quantify or identify the hazardous materials being transported through the county on a daily basis, 
but according to the US Bureau of Transportation, in 2018, throughout the state of Colorado materials 
including basic chemicals and chemical products, fuel oils, crude petroleum and gasoline were 
transported approximately 14 billion ton miles. A ton mile is one ton of freight carried one mile 
reflecting the volume shipped and the distance shipped. This provides the best measure of physical 
volume of freight transportation services. 

Figure 6.15 illustrates the routes over which these ton miles were traveled,  



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Hazard Profile –Hazardous Materials Release   128 128 

Figure 6.15 Colorado Hazardous Materials Route Restrictions (2018) 

 

Severity 
Severity of this hazard varies greatly as it depends on a variety of factors: the location of the release, 
whether in transport or fixed site, the proximity to the public and number of people affected, time of 
day, and potential impacts to waterways. The type of chemical released and how it releases, liquid or 
gas, determines if the chemical can be dispersed in the air. Weather conditions are another factor, as 
winds can carry hazardous gasses to communities nearby and precipitation can wash away materials 
that need to be remediated in specific ways. 

Warning Time 
Warning time for hazardous materials release is typically short, as human error causes a large amount of 
events and would not typically have a long onset. Incidents with materials in transport would also have a 
very short warning time, as an accident would happen with little to no time to react. 

Secondary Hazards 
A possible secondary hazard would be fire depending on the location of a facility or vehicle in transport, 
as well as the type of chemical and cause of the release. Contamination of a waterway could have public 
health impacts on safety depending on the amount of materials released, proximity to population, and 
how the water is utilized (recreationally or as drinking water). Air quality could also be impacted based 
on the type of chemical and nature of the release. 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Hazard Profile –Hazardous Materials Release   129 129 

Exposure and Vulnerability 
Lifelines 
Multiple Lifelines can be impacted by a hazardous material release including Transportation, Food, 
Water & Shelter, and Health & Medical. Transportation is the most likely to be impacted as releases 
commonly happen in transit. These impacts are typically short term, causing transportation delays and 
road closures, but depending on the damage from the released material roads may need to be repaired. 

Food, Water & Shelter can be impacted if a release contaminates a water supply, or soil, possibly 
affecting the long-term safety of crops. Evacuations are possible after a release in a populated area and 
can displace the public until the incident is handled, requiring sheltering resources. 

Health & Medical can be impacted if a large group is affected by a release at the same time, putting a 
strain on specific hazardous material response equipment, medical personnel, and resources. 

People 
Exposure to a hazardous materials release can happen in a variety of ways, both direct and indirect. 
Facilities handling hazardous materials can have releases that greatly differ in size and complexity. Some 
releases may only put the handler or those in the immediate vicinity at risk. Other releases may require 
evacuations of the facility and possibly the surrounding area. Air quality can be impacted over great 
distances depending on the site, the type of hazardous materials, and the wind. If a release ends up in a 
waterway it can affect the population downstream, both recreational safety and drinking water quality. 

The same is true for a release that happens in transit. Depending on the chemical, location, weather, 
and density of population nearby, a release can drastically vary in risk to the public. 

Environment 
Impacts from spills and releases can have long lasting effects. Soil and water contamination can occur, 
necessitating costly remediation. Animals and plants could also be impacted long term as a release can 
lead to unhealthy ecosystems. 

Property 
Property damage can be extensive and widespread depending on the release. At the facility, damages 
can include equipment, the building, and the surrounding area. Releases onto roadways can require 
recovering of the asphalt depending on the chemical damage, and release into soil or waterways can 
result in extensive costs due to necessary cleanup protocols. Equipment used for transit can be unusable 
after an incident, due to chemical or physical damage. 

Economy 
The economy would likely not be affected long term; however, if a release impacts transportation 
corridors, pipelines, or rail lines there could be a delay in important commodity transfer. Individual 
facilities may see an economic impact depending on the extent of the release which could disrupt or halt 
operations for an extended period. The clean-up costs could also impact the economy, locally and 
possibly regionally, as the size of the spill could necessitate multiple agencies responding, construction 
to repair damages, and the possibility of environmental remediation. 

Future Trends in Development 
Future population change across the county is expected to be 2.7% annually over the next decade.  
Vulnerability to hazardous materials releases will increase with any population growth, although 
structures are not expected to see any increased risk from these types of events.  



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Hazard Profile –Hazardous Materials Release   130 130 

Probability of Future Occurrences 
The single reported serious transportation release incident in the county, since 1950, suggests the 
likelihood of a future incident is very low. However, hazardous materials release events are dependent 
on numerous variables, including weather and road conditions. Therefore, probability is difficult to 
assess based on the lone previous occurrence. 

Climate Change Impacts 
Climate change is not expected to greatly impact future hazardous material releases; however, 
anticipated increases in extreme precipitation events have the potential to cause more transport 
accidents.  



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Hazard Profile –Public Health Hazards   131 131 

4.10 Public Health Hazards 
General Background 
Public health hazards are those that can adversely impact the health and environment of a large number 
of people. These hazards can manifest as primary events by themselves such as epidemics and 
pandemics, or they may be secondary to another disaster or emergency such as a flood, severe 
thunderstorm, winter weather, or hazardous materials release incident. Environmental components of 
public health hazards that can affect the health of the community include air and water quality which 
can be affected by pollutants such as disease or smoke from a fire. 

Public health hazards affect communities differently, based on the exposure to a hazard and the health 
and well-being of each resident. Many factors are looked at when determining risk for the public and 
individuals at the local level including the quality of health, the availability of clinical services, and the 
level and duration of exposure to a hazard. 

Day-to-day operations in communities such as transportation, construction, and manufacturing can pose 
health risks, potentially affecting water and air quality. The public’s proximity to hazardous materials 
facilities increases risk of exposure. Communities live with these risks every day; however, the hazards 
that garner the most attention are those that affect the population at a greater rate and to a greater 
extent such as disease outbreaks. 

Disease outbreaks come in many forms, such as bacteria, viruses, and fungi, which can be spread 
through the air, water, and on surfaces. Outbreaks, including epidemics and pandemics, have the 
potential to cause serious illness, distress, and death, especially among those who have compromised 
immune systems due to age or underlying medical conditions. 

Epidemics are disease outbreaks that typically only affect members of the local community and do not 
spread to other areas. A pandemic is an epidemic that spreads to a large population across country 
borders. These are most often caused by new subtypes of viruses or bacteria for which humans have 
little or no natural resistance. Consequently, pandemics typically result in more deaths, social disruption, 
and economic loss than epidemics. 

Another public health issue is traumatic events, when a community has a shocking or distressing event 
which impacts physical, emotional, and psychological well-being. These events can have long-term 
impacts on the public and require support resources. It is important to recognize behavioral and mental 
health in the community, in day-to-day life and after an event, to better support the affected 
population. 

Past Events 
The 2019 Novel Coronavirus (COVID-19) which emerged in China in December 2019, caused a pandemic 
and impacted communities around the world. In Elbert County, the first COVID case presented on April 
8th, 2020. As of this plan’s writing the COVID-19 case count in Elbert County is 5,555 and there have 
been 45 deaths. 

Currently, the COVID-19 pandemic has affected approximately 1,670,000 in Colorado, with over 13,500 
deaths. Vaccines became available in December 2020 and over 73% of Coloradoans, roughly 4.15 
million, are fully vaccinated.  

The pandemic of the 2009-2010 Swine Flu (H1N1) was detected in the U.S. in April 2009. All 50 U.S. 
states reported cases of 2009 H1N1 by June 19th, 2009. A vaccine was created and distribution began in 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Hazard Profile –Public Health Hazards   132 132 

the U.S. in October 2009. By the time the pandemic was declared over, on August 11th, 2010, Colorado 
saw 1,321 confirmed cases which resulted in 70 deaths. This virus caused 14,286 deaths worldwide and 
2,117 laboratory-confirmed deaths in the U.S. according to the CDC. 

Location 
Public health hazards can occur anywhere. Epidemics can start anywhere in the world and rapidly 
become pandemics travelling across the globe. Water quality issues are possible in any community and 
the type of contamination can vary based on local uses, exposure to metals, minerals, and chemicals, 
and the possibility of a human-made contamination situation. 

Air quality is affected by events both local and nationally, as wildfire smoke from western states can 
have direct impacts to Colorado.  

Frequency 
Globally, the frequency of pandemics is expected to increase as exposure to new viruses occurs around 
the world. While pandemics are expected to happen more often in the future, there is no way to predict 
when, where, or how a virus arises to infect people. 

Water quality issues are not frequent but can be highly dangerous, even if rarely occurring. Drought has 
been shown to increase the concentration of heavy metals in drinking water. 

Air quality issues are frequent as wildfires become more frequent and longer in duration, sending more 
smoke to far-reaching locations. 

Severity 
Severity of public health hazards is dependent upon many variables. For an infectious outbreak, the 
characteristics of the virus are crucial, as how fast it spreads and incubates, along with how deadly it is, 
can inform scientists and medical professionals of the best way to treat and eliminate it. 

The more infectious it is, the larger the strain on healthcare and resources, as well as risk to the 
population which may rapidly become infected in large numbers. Other factors include the availability of 
a vaccine, personal protective equipment, and education about the virus, as well as the duration of the 
event. 

Water quality issues can have severe consequences if contaminated or unsafe drinking water is utilized 
by large populations unknowingly. If boil orders or messaging not to drink the water are not sent out in a 
timely manner and via accessible communication methods, there is potential for many people to get 
sick. 

Air quality has been shown to have long-term impacts on cardiovascular health, and what may seem like 
a random occurrence can be a lifelong issue with repeated exposure to pollutants. 

Warning Time 
The warning time for public health hazards depends on a variety of factors.  

Water issues can have a rapid onset or a delayed impact, therefore a long period without warning could 
be dangerous if a water quality issue goes unnoticed. Air quality may have immediate or a one day 
warning time, depending on the type of pollutant and the weather. Wildfire smoke, for example, can 
alter the air quality drastically from one day to the next depending on winds. 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Hazard Profile –Public Health Hazards   133 133 

For a pandemic, once a virus has become an epidemic somewhere in the world, surveillance begins 
through national and global public health organizations. In some cases, this may help to slow the spread 
of the virus and alert other countries and organizations of the risk of infection. Warning time can vary 
from a day to months, depending on how quickly a virus is discovered and the proximity of the 
discovered infection to the location of the initial outbreak. With modern global travel, a virus can be 
spread across the world in less than 24 hours. 

Secondary Hazards 
There are no immediate secondary hazards to public health issues. 

Exposure and Vulnerability 
Lifelines 
Health & Medical is initially the most impacted Lifeline, as people who become ill from a public health 
hazard will seek medical attention. If a large number of people seek treatment, this can lead to a strain 
on the healthcare system which can affect treatment. In rural areas this may require transferring 
patients to other facilities, but if this option is not a feasible the person’s care will be negatively 
impacted. 

Other Lifelines that can be impacted by public health hazards are Food, Water & Shelter, as any issues 
with the quality of the water and possible outbreaks on certain crops can cause large groups to need 
medical attention. Foodborne disease outbreaks can also rapidly affect the health of a community. 

People 
Depending on the hazard, some of the population are more at risk of negative impacts. Those with 
chronic conditions such as diabetes, asthma, heart disease, and obesity can have difficulties with their 
body’s response to an infectious disease. If there is a water quality issue, children may be more 
susceptible to the effects of the contaminant. It may be challenging for those with a low income, living in 
poverty, those with a disability, and the elderly to get the care and resources they need in a timely 
manner. 

Traumatic events can affect everyone in the population, and the effects may present very differently 
from one person to the next. Awareness of the signs of someone struggling with mental health and 
emotional well-being can save lives if intervention occurs during a critical period. 

Table 6.19 shows the characteristics of the populations across the county, compared to the state and 
the United States. These demographics and health indicators are used, along with numerous others, to 
determine the overall health of the population, as well as to gain an understanding of who may be at 
risk from different public health hazards. 

Table 6.19 Demographic and Health Indicator Snapshot of Elbert County 

Demographic 
Unincorporated 
Elbert County Colorado United States 

Population 27,128 5,812,069 331,449,281 

Age: 4 and Under (%) 4.5 5.4 5.7 

Age: Under 18 (%) 21.2 21.4 22.2 

Age: 65 and Over (%) 18.1 15.1 16.8 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Hazard Profile –Public Health Hazards   134 134 

Demographic 
Unincorporated 
Elbert County Colorado United States 

Persons in Poverty (%) 4.8 9.0 11.4 

Persons with a Disability (%) 9.3 10.8 12.7 

Persons Age 65+ with a Disability (%) 9.9 8.8 11.4 

Adults who are Obese or Overweight (%) 63.9 57.4 71.3 

Adults with Diabetes (%) 7.9 7.3 8.2 

Adults with Asthma (%) 13.4 9.1 7.7 

Adults with Coronary Heart Disease (%) 5.8 2.7 4.2 

 

The entire population of Elbert County is susceptible to contracting a pandemic disease. While every 
disease is different, the oldest, youngest, and those with underlying medical conditions tend to be the 
most vulnerable to the effects of infection.  

Less densely populated areas may benefit from reduced transmission, but there are often less resources 
to test and treat illnesses if the disease does spread into those rural communities. 

Environment 
Environmental impacts of public health hazards can be long standing such as a water quality issue 
affecting a large waterway and resulting in damage to ecosystems. Shorter term environmental impacts 
include air quality impacts from wildfires. 

Property 
Property is not likely to be affected by a public health hazard. In extreme cases, water quality issues 
could require remediation actions, such as updating pipes in individual homes or throughout a specific 
area. 

Economy 
The economy, regional and local, can be affected in a variety of ways due to public health hazards. In 
most cases, this is due to the need for operations to cease while a public health issue is addressed, such 
as water quality. In extreme cases, the shutting down of businesses can be used to regulate the 
transmission of a disease outbreak and can be in effect for extended periods. This results in impacts 
throughout the region, as intercounty commerce is an important part of the local economies. The drop 
in tourism due to a large public health event would also greatly affect the regional and local economies. 

An indirect economic impact can be seen in loss of people in the workforce, as parents may need to stay 
home due to childcare and school closures. If people are leaving their houses less, shopping less locally 
and struggling with low income, the impact on the local economy may be seen in commodity and retail 
sales. 

Future Trends in Development 
As populations increase, the possible rate of transmission does as well. The more closely people 
interact, the more likely a disease is to spread. Water quality issues can also stem from new 
development, if infrastructure is not adequately installed, the materials are not of good quality, or if 
existing infrastructure is damaged during construction. The increase in wildfires seen around the country 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Hazard Profile –Public Health Hazards   135 135 

contributes to air quality issues, with smoke capable of traveling great distances and affecting 
populations states away from the wildfire event. 

Emotional and mental well-being should be a focus for all communities as they grow. A strong 
community can support each other during times of extreme stress and traumatic events. Building 
partnerships with local crisis support organizations makes resources available during times of need, as 
well as working closely with the public health department. 

Probability of Future Occurrences 
Public health hazards will impact the county in the future, whether infectious disease, air and/or water 
quality, or mental health needs. However, it is not practical or feasible to predict future occurrences. 

Climate Change Impacts 
Climate change has affected disease transmission globally, according to the World Health Organization. 
Temperature fluctuations and extreme weather events create conducive conditions for diseases to 
manifest and spread. The expected increasing number of disaster events will lead to more mass 
evacuations and need for more disaster sheltering, further increasing person-to-person interactions and 
impacting individual mental health.  



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Hazard Profile –Severe Weather   136 136 

4.11 Severe Weather (Hail, Lightning, Windstorm) 
General Background 
A thunderstorm is a rain event that includes thunder and lightning. A thunderstorm is classified as 
“severe” when it contains one or more of the following: hail with a diameter of three-quarter inch or 
greater, winds gusting in excess of 50 knots (57.5 mph), or tornado. 

Hail 
Hail occurs when updrafts in thunderstorms carry raindrops upward into extremely cold areas of the 
atmosphere where they freeze into ice. Eventually, the hailstones encounter downdraft air and fall to 
the ground. Colorado’s damaging hail season runs from April through September. Hailstones can result 
in extreme damages, injuries and sometimes death. In 2019, the largest size hailstone record in 
Colorado was broken when a hailstone weighing over half a pound and 4.83 inches in diameter was 
discovered. The largest recorded hailstone in Elbert County was reported to be 4.5 inches and fell July 
23rd, 1996, in Simla. 

Lightning 
Cloud-to-ground lightning is the most damaging and dangerous form of lightning. This type of lightning is 
particularly dangerous for several reasons. It is unpredictable and frequently strikes away from the rain 
core, either ahead or behind the thunderstorm. It can strike as far as 5 or 10 miles from the storm in 
areas that most people do not consider to be a threat.  

U.S. lightning statistics compiled by the NOAA indicate that most lightning incidents occur during the 
summer months of June, July, and August and during the afternoon hours from between 2 and 6 p.m. 

Windstorm 
Damaging winds are classified as those exceeding 60 mph. Damage from such winds accounts for half of 
all severe weather reports in the lower 48 states and is more common than damage from tornadoes. 
Wind speeds can reach up to 100 mph and can produce a damage path extending for hundreds of miles. 
There are seven types of damaging winds: 

• Straight-line winds—Any thunderstorm wind that is not associated with rotation; this term is 
used mainly to differentiate from tornado winds. Most thunderstorms produce some straight-
line winds as a result of outflow generated by the thunderstorm downdraft. 

• Downdrafts—A small-scale column of air that rapidly sinks toward the ground. 
• Downbursts—A strong downdraft with horizontal dimensions larger than 2.5 miles resulting in 

an outward burst or damaging winds on or near the ground. Downburst winds may begin as a 
microburst and spread out over a wider area, sometimes producing damage similar to a strong 
tornado. Although usually associated with thunderstorms, downbursts can occur with showers 
too weak to produce thunder. 

• Microbursts—A small, concentrated downburst that produces an outward burst of damaging 
winds at the surface. Microbursts are generally less than 2.5 miles across and short-lived, lasting 
only 5 to 10 minutes, with maximum wind speeds up to 168 mph. There are two kinds of 
microbursts: wet and dry. A wet microburst is accompanied by heavy precipitation at the 
surface. Dry microbursts, common in places like the high plains and the intermountain west, 
occur with little or no precipitation reaching the ground. 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Hazard Profile –Severe Weather   137 137 

• Gust front—A gust front is the leading edge of rain-cooled air that clashes with warmer 
thunderstorm inflow. Gust fronts are characterized by a wind shift, temperature drop, and gusty 
winds out ahead of a thunderstorm. Sometimes the winds push up air above them, forming a 
shelf cloud or detached roll cloud. 

• Derecho—A derecho is a widespread thunderstorm wind caused when new thunderstorms form 
along the leading edge of an outflow boundary (the boundary formed by horizontal spreading of 
thunderstorm-cooled air). The word “derecho” is of Spanish origin and means “straight ahead.” 
Thunderstorms feed on the boundary and continue to reproduce. Derechos typically occur in 
summer when complexes of thunderstorms form over plains, producing heavy rain and severe 
wind. The damaging winds can last a long time and cover a large area. 

• Bow Echo—A bow echo is a linear wind front bent outward in a bow shape. Damaging straight- 
line winds often occur near the center of a bow echo. Bow echoes can be 200 miles long, last for 
several hours, and produce extensive wind damage at the ground. 

Past Events 
The historic severe weather events for the county are shown in Figure 6.16 and further information for 
specific events are shown in the following tables. 

Figure 6.16 Elbert County Historic Severe Weather Events 

 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Hazard Profile –Severe Weather   138 138 

Hail 
Data from the NCEI shows 209 hail events in Elbert County from 1950-2021. Only two of these events are 
reported as causing property damages, a storm in Elbert on August 12th, 1993, and in Kiowa on July 3rd, 
2008. Each caused $5,000 in damage and no crop damage, deaths, or injuries have been reported.  

Incidents of hail are notably under reported, as well as the damages they may cause. Hail is typically 
reported in more densely populated areas and it is unknown how many occurrences may not be 
captured. Damages tend to be under reported as many people work with their insurance companies to 
cover costs and these amounts often do not get reported to weather event databases. 

Table 6.20 shows the number of hail events organized by the size of the hail. There were 28 occurrences 
of hail  two inches in diameter or larger, during the period measured which is the magnitude that the 
NWS considers Severe Weather.  

Table 6.20 Hail Events by Hailstone Size (1950-2021) 

Diameter (inches) < 1.0 1.0 to 
1.25 

1.5 to 
1.175 

2.0 to 
2.75 3 4.25 4.5 

Number of Events 48 74 59 21 2 4 1 

 

For reference, event narratives often use common objects to describe the size of hailstones. The 
following list illustrates this concept: 

Diameter (inches) Common Object Reference 

< 1.0  dime, nickel 

1.0 to 1.25 quarter 

1.5 to 1.75 ping pong ball, golf ball 

2.0 to 2.75 
egg, tennis ball, baseball, pool 
ball 

3.0 tea cup, large peach/apple 

4.0 softball 

4.5 grapefruit 

 

The planning team and NCEI provided further information on past events. The narratives below are for 
reported notable hail events which were not reported with damage figures. 

• July 1995: A wheat field was damaged as hail accumulated up to a foot deep 
• June 1997: Hail/heavy rain event in southern Elbert County produced golf-ball sized hail, 

destroyed 18,000 acres of wheat crop, and washed out County Roads 185 and 197. 
• August 1999: Golf ball size hail was reported 17 miles northeast of Kiowa, or about 7 miles 

northeast of Parker.  Approximately 100 homes and 50 cars were damaged.  In addition, minor 
flooding forced the temporary closure of Elbert County Road 194. 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Hazard Profile –Severe Weather   139 139 

• June 2005: Large hail (baseball sized), in Agate, knocked holes into a porch roof and shattered all 
of the storm windows on the north side of a home. 

• May 2007: Hail up to 2.5 inches in diameter was reported over southern Elbert County.  Hail 
damage was reported in the towns of Elbert and Limon, where skylights and windows were 
broken. 

• June 2007: Baseball-sized hail affected the Town of Elbert and resulted in many insurance claims 
• July 2010: Large hail, ranging in size from quarters to baseballs fell in the county and the hail 

reportedly piled up to 8 inches deep in Elbert County. The largest hail of the thunderstorm event 
was observed in the county. Extensive damage was reported to vehicles near Interstate 70 and 
State Highway 86. 

• July 2011: A severe thunderstorm produced hail up to golf ball size. 
• June 2015: Baseball-sized hail affected northwest Elbert County and resulted in many insurance 

claims 
• June 2019: Very large hail ranging from quarter to tennis ball size was  reported.  The largest hail 

fell across Douglas and Elbert counties. In Kiowa, skylights were reportedly shattered due to the 
hail. 

Lightning 
Table 6.21 lists reported lightning damage during the period from 1960-2021. It should be noted that 
this database captures only a small portion of damaging lightning events as most go unreported. Over 
this same period one fatality and seven injuries have been recorded. In 2015, the Town of Elizabeth had 
an estimated $50,000 in lightning-related damages. No additional information on the cost of property 
damage is known. 

Table 6.21 Elbert County Reported Lightning Events (1988-2021) 

Date Location Description 

June 21, 1988 Elbert County One fatality occurred 

June 18, 1997 
10 miles S-SW of 

Agate 

Lightning struck an oil storage facility causing two tanks to 
explode into flames. A truck driver received minor injuries 
when he was knocked off a ladder from the explosion. 

July 11, 2001 
10 miles south of 

Kiowa 
A 13-year old boy scout was knocked unconscious when 
lightning struck a tree near his tent. 

June 22, 2014 Elizabeth 

In Douglas and Elbert Counties, lightning sparked three fires 
in the vicinities of Franktown and Elizabeth in the span of 
ten minutes. Lightning struck an outbuilding south of 
Elizabeth, causing moderate damage to the contents inside. 
Lightning also struck a satellite dish at a home. $5,000 in 
property damages were reported. 

2016 
Central West Elbert 

County Lightning damaged four houses within a neighborhood 

June 6, 2019 
Northeast Elbert 

County 
Four men were struck by lightning, while another nearby 
was injured also. 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Hazard Profile –Severe Weather   140 140 

Source: NCEI and Spatial Hazards Events and Losses Database for the United States (SHELDUS) 

Windstorms 
Based on best available data it was determined that there were 116 reported wind events affecting 
Elbert County from 1950-2021. These wind events were reported as high wind, strong wind, or 
thunderstorm wind events. The summary does not include winds that were part of winter storms. Table 
6.22 lists events with notable damage descriptions or injuries. 

Table 6.22 Wind Events Reported in Elbert County 

Date Location Description 

May 7, 1994 Elizabeth 
Thunderstorm winds gusting to 70 miles per hour and blew out 
windows and damaged a storm door of a home in Elizabeth. 
Reported damages of $500. 

June 12, 
1994 Kiowa 

Thunderstorm winds blew two metal sheds 300 yards near Kiowa. 
Several power poles snapped in two. Damages reported to be 
$5,000. 

October 29, 
1996 

Northeast 
Colorado 

One man was killed when a strong wind gust overturned a popup 
camper on him as he tried to secure it. Several trees and power 
lines were downed. Damages reported across affected counties 
of $5.2 million 

July 27, 
1997 Matheson One injury 

July 30, 
1998 Elizabeth 

Damaging thunderstorm winds, estimated to be at least 80 mph 
(70 kts) knocked over several 70-foot ponderosa pines.  A 10-foot 
cement wall was also blown over and a garage door blown in. 

April 8-9, 
1999 

Northeast 
Colorado 

Windstorms caused damages across northeast Colorado. 
Damages were mostly broken fences, doors, and windows and 
crop damages. Multiple accidents occurred when tractor trailer 
rigs were blown on their sides. 

Blowing dust and dirt caused near zero visibilities closing sections 
of I-25 and I-76. Downed trees and power lines caused power 
outages and sparked a few grass fires. Damages across affected 
counties of $13.8 million. 

August 18, 
2000 

Cedar Point 

Thunderstorms producing wind gusts to 70 mph (60 kts) and large 
hail rumbled across northeast Elbert, northern Lincoln and 
southern Washington Counties.  Strong winds caused three semi-
trailers to roll over along Interstate 70.  The drivers received 
minor injuries. 

May 20, 
2001 

Northeast 
Colorado 

Intense winds downed trees and power lines and caused zero 
visibilities due to blowing dust, dirt, and debris. 

Several vehicles were blown off I-70 west of Limon and I-76. 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Hazard Profile –Severe Weather   141 141 

Date Location Description 

May 21, 
2002 

Northeast 
Colorado 

Very strong winds over northeast Colorado caused blowing dust 
and dirt reducing visibilities to less than a quarter of a mile. 
Damages to roofs, trees, and power lines were reported at 
several locations. 

May 10, 
2004 Simla 

Strong thunderstorm winds downed two power lines and a power 
pole near the intersection of State Highway 86 and County Road 
125 north of Simla. 

May 2, 2008 Southeast Elbert 
County 

Peak wind gusts in the mountains included 86 mph atop Niwot 
Ridge, and 85 mph at Berthoud Pass. Across the Urban Corridor 
and Northeast Plains, peak wind gusts included: 71 mph at the 
Natural Fort Rest Area, 69 mph at Briggsdale, 67 mph at Sterling, 
65 mph at Wiggins, 63 mph at Bennett and Loveland, 60 mph at 
Limon and Mead, 58 mph at Watkins and 54 mph at Denver 
International Airport. 

November 
30, 2008 

Northeast Elbert 
County 

A storm system produced high winds over portions of the 
Northeast Plains. Peak wind reports included: 64 mph at Akron, 
60 mph at Limon and 59 mph at Wiggins 

January 19, 
2009 

Northeast Elbert 
County 

The combination of strong winds and very dry conditions caused 
areas of blowing dust and dirt to create brownout conditions. As 
a result, visibilities were restricted to near zero along sections of 
I-70. Along the interstate near Genoa, eight passenger cars and 
six tractor-trailer trucks were involved in a collision. Two people 
were killed and at least 6 were injured, one seriously. The multi-
vehicle collision forced the closure of the interstate for several 
hours. Damages of $250,000 reported. 

March 24, 
2009 

Northeast Elbert 
County 

Another round of strong winds occurred over the Northeast 
Plains of Colorado. Peak wind gusts included: 69 mph at Akron, 65 
mph at Sterling, 62 mph at Bennett, 61 mph at Limon, and 60 
mph at Holyoke. 

August 4, 
2009 Elbert 

Intense thunderstorm winds knocked two power poles down at 
the intersection of County Roads 33 and 98. Damages reported at 
$5,000. 

April 1, 2010 Northeast Elbert 
County 

High winds developed over northeast Elbert and Northern Lincoln 
Counties. Peak wind reports included 64 mph at Limon Airport 
and 58 mph at Cedar Point. 

April 13, 
2010 

Northeast Elbert 
County 

High winds developed over portions of the Northeast Plains. Peak 
wind reports included: 69 mph, 2 miles east of Amherst and 
Highlands Ranch; 60 mph at Cedar Point, 58 mph at Holyoke and 
57 mph at Kiowa. 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Hazard Profile –Severe Weather   142 142 

Date Location Description 

May 24, 
2010 

Northeast Elbert 
County 

Very strong winds preceding a cold front swept across the Front 
Range Foothills, Urban Corridor and Northeast Plains. Peak wind 
gusts ranged from 60 to 85 mph. Numerous accidents were 
reported along Interstate 70 between Cedar Point and Limon. The 
strong crosswinds blew six semi-trucks and an RV on their sides; 
causing minor injuries and the temporary closure of the 
interstate. 

April 3, 2011 Elbert County 

High winds developed along the Front Range during the early 
morning hours. Peak wind gusts included: 92 mph, 7 miles 
northwest of Berthoud; 75 mph, 2 miles west of Castle Rock; and 
65 mph, 2 miles west of Elbert. 

April 14, 
2011 

Northeast Elbert 
County 

High winds developed along Interstate 70 near Cedar Point where 
several gusts to 58 mph were observed 

October 6, 
2011 Elbert County 

Strong winds developed across the northeast plains and Palmer 
Divide ahead of an approaching storm system. At the National 
Wind Technology Center, peak wind gusts ranged from 79 to 92 
mph during the early morning hours. The high wind was more 
widespread further east. Sustained winds from 30 to 40 mph 
were common with peak winds gusts to 66 mph. 

December 
31, 2011 

Northeast Elbert 
County 

A fast moving upper level storm system, along with a deep low 
pressure system over Nebraska and high pressure building over 
Utah, combined to create a powerful windstorm across Northeast 
and North Central Colorado. In the mountains and foothills, 
several locations recorded wind gusts in excess of 100 mph. 
Numerous trees were knocked down throughout Arapahoe 
National Forest. One man was killed when he was impaled by a 
falling tree limb while driving along U.S. Highway 36. 

March 18, 
2012 

Northeast Elbert 
County 

A large upper-level trough over the Desert Southwest, combined 
with a deepening low pressure system over northeast Wyoming, 
to produce high winds across much of northeast Colorado. 

March 30, 
2014 

Northeast Elbert 
County 

On the evening of the 30th, high based showers and 
thunderstorms produced microburst winds over portions of 
northern Jefferson, eastern Boulder and southwest Weld 
Counties. Peak wind reports included: 77 mph at White Ranch 
Open Space; 72 mph, 2 miles north of Longmont; 67 mph, 1 mile 
south-southwest of Erie and Firestone; 60 mph, 3 miles south of 
Mead and 59 mph, 5 miles northwest of Henderson. 

April 27, 
2014 

Northeast Elbert 
County 

High winds developed across the northeast plains of Colorado as 
a strong storm system passed from southeastern Colorado into 
northwestern Kansas. Peak wind gusts included: 73 mph, 4 miles 
east of Haxtun; 66 mph at Akron and Sterling Municipal Airport; 
65 mph at Holyoke; and 61 mph at Limon and Strasburg 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Hazard Profile –Severe Weather   143 143 

Date Location Description 

April 29, 
2014 

Northeast Elbert 
County 

High winds continued east of Interstate 25. Peak wind reports 
included: 77 mph at Akron Airport and Sterling; 69 mph at Limon 
Airport; 68 mph at Denver International Airport; 62 mph, 4 miles 
north of Elizabeth. 

Source: NCEI and SHELDUS 

Location 
Hail, lightning, and windstorms can occur anywhere in Elbert County and pose a similar risk to all local 
governments. FEMA’s Wind Zones in the United States Map shows Elbert County located in Wind Zone II 
with expected extreme winds of up to 160 mph. 

Frequency 
Thunderstorms, including both lightning, hail, and high wind events, happen every year in Elbert County. 
It is highly likely that severe weather will strike somewhere in the county in any given year. 

Severity 
Hail can cause significant property and crop damage, threaten public safety, and have adverse economic 
impacts from resulting damages. Hail has been known to cause injury to humans and occasionally has 
been fatal. Research has shown that damage occurs after hail reaches around 1” in diameter and larger. 
Hail of this size will trigger a severe thunderstorm warning from NWS. 

High winds, often accompanying severe thunderstorms, can cause significant property and crop 
damage, threaten public safety, and have adverse economic impacts from business closures and power 
loss. Windstorms in Elbert County are rarely life threatening but do disrupt daily activities and cause 
damage to buildings and structures. Winds can also cause trees to fall creating a hazard to property and 
individuals. 

Lightning is one of the more dangerous weather hazards in the United States and in Colorado. Each year, 
lightning is responsible for deaths, injuries, and millions of dollars in property damage, including damage 
to buildings, communications systems, power lines, and electrical systems. Lightning can cause forest 
and brush fires, as well as deaths and injuries to livestock and other animals. According to the National 
Lightning Safety Institute, lightning causes more than 26,000 fires in the United States each year. The 
institute estimates property damage, increased operating costs, production delays, and lost revenue 
from lightning and secondary effects to be in excess of $6 billion per year. Impacts can be direct or 
indirect. People or objects can be directly struck, or damage can occur indirectly when the current 
passes through or nearby. 

Warning Time 
Meteorologists can often predict the likelihood of a severe thunderstorm. This can give several days of 
warning time. However, meteorologists cannot predict the exact time of onset or severity of the storm. 
Some storms may come on more quickly and have only a few hours of warning time.  

Secondary Hazards 
The most significant secondary hazards associated with severe storms are floods, debris flow, falling and 
downed trees, landslides, and downed power lines. Rapidly melting snow combined with heavy rain can 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Hazard Profile –Severe Weather   144 144 

overwhelm both natural and manmade drainage systems, causing overflow and property destruction. 
Landslides occur when the soil on slopes becomes oversaturated and fails. Fires can occur as a result of 
lightning strikes. Many locations in the county have minimal vegetative ground cover and the high winds 
can create a large dust storm which becomes a hazard for travelers and a disruption for local services. 
Debris carried by high winds can also result in injury or damage to property. A wildland fire can be 
accelerated and rendered unpredictable by high winds. 

Exposure and Vulnerability 
Lifelines 
All Lifelines exposed to flooding are also likely exposed to risks associated with thunderstorms and hail. 
Those on higher ground may also be exposed to wind damage and all are at risk at damage from falling 
trees. The most common problems associated with these weather events are loss of utilities, which falls 
under the Energy and Communications Lifelines. Downed power lines can cause blackouts, leaving large 
areas isolated. Phone, water, and sewer systems may not function. Roads may become impassable due 
to secondary hazards such as flooding and landslides. Lightning events can have destructive effects on 
power and information systems. Failure of these systems would have cascading effects throughout the 
county. 

People 
It can be assumed that the entire planning area is exposed to thunderstorm, hail, high wind, and 
lightning events. Areas of greater exposure are where higher population densities exist. Certain areas 
are more exposed due to geographic location and local weather patterns. Populations living at higher 
elevations, with large stands of trees or power lines may be more susceptible to wind damage and 
blackouts, while populations in low-lying areas are at risk for possible flooding. It is not uncommon for 
residents living in more remote areas of the county to be isolated after such events. 

Populations with Access and Functional needs, including the elderly, those with low income, 
linguistically isolated populations, people with mobility issues, and residents living in areas that are 
isolated from major roads may see more impacts from severe weather events. Power outages can be life 
threatening to those dependent on electricity for medical support. Isolation of these populations is a 
significant concern. Those working outdoors or recreating in the area are more vulnerable to severe 
weather events.  

Environment 
The environment is highly exposed to thunderstorms, hail, high wind, and lightning. Natural habitats risk 
major damage and destruction. Prolonged rains can saturate soils and lead to slope failure. Flooding 
events can produce river channel migration or damage riparian habitat. Lightning may ignite wildfires. 

Property 
Wind pressure can create a direct and frontal assault on a structure, pushing walls, doors, and windows 
inward. Conversely, passing currents can create lift and suction forces that act to pull building 
components and surfaces outward. The effects of winds are magnified in the upper levels of multi-story 
structures. As positive and negative forces impact the building’s protective envelope (doors, windows, 
and walls), the result can be roof or building component failures and considerable structural damage. 

All buildings are considered exposed to the thunderstorm, hail, high wind, and lightning hazards, but 
structures in poor condition or in particularly vulnerable locations (located on hilltops or exposed open 
areas) may risk the most damage. The frequency and degree of damage will depend on specific 
locations. 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Hazard Profile –Severe Weather   145 145 

Economy 
Economic impact from thunderstorm, hail, high wind, and lightning hazards is possible, as damage to 
property, crops and livestock may result in losses. This can occur in any events for these hazards; 
however, events with large hail have been known to cause the death of livestock and devastate crops. 
High wind events are also extremely damaging to crops. The losses suffered from a harvest ruined by 
hail or high wind, or the death of livestock, can affect the local economy. 

In addition, disruption of Lifelines and daily operations due to damaged infrastructure and facilities can 
cause losses. Repairing, rebuilding, or replacing critical equipment may be a slow process which could 
have cascading effects on businesses and the local economy. Any extended delay of returning to normal 
functioning has the potential to close businesses and impact industry. 

Future Trends in Development 
All future development will be affected by severe storms. The vulnerability of community assets to 
thunderstorms is increasing through time as more people enter the planning area. The ability to 
withstand impacts lies in consistent enforcement of codes and regulations for new construction.  

The county and both towns have adopted the 2018 International Building Code (IBC), and Simla has 
previously adopted building codes. This is vital to mitigating hazard impacts on new development. 
Adopting and enforcing the most recent building codes will ensure new development can deal with the 
impacts of severe weather events. Land use policies enforced through zoning code and the permitting 
process also address many of the secondary impacts (flood and landslide) of the severe weather hazard. 

Probability of Future Occurrences 
Severe weather events will continue to occur each year in Elbert County. It is more difficult to predict 
how often damaging events will occur.  

Based on NCEI data, hail will occur in a given year, as data shows an average of almost three events per 
year, during the period of record. In addition, the number of hail events is likely higher, due to the under 
reporting of hail which reinforces this probability. Lightning will occur in the county, and based on past 
events, the probability of a damaging lightning event is approximately 10% annual chance. Best available 
data for reported windstorm events, suggests an event will occur in a given year, while reported 
damaging windstorm events have an approximate 37% chance of occurring in a given year. 

Climate Change Impacts 
Climate change presents a significant challenge for risk management associated with severe weather. 
The frequency of severe weather events has increased steadily over the last century. Historical data 
shows that the probability for severe weather events increases in a warmer climate. The changing 
hydrograph caused by climate change could have a significant impact on the intensity, duration, and 
frequency of future thunderstorm events. All of these impacts could have significant economic 
consequences. 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Hazard Profile –Severe Winter Weather   146 146 

4.12 Severe Winter Weather 
General Background 
Winter storms can include heavy snow, ice, and blizzard conditions. Heavy snow can immobilize a 
region, stranding commuters, stopping the flow of supplies, and disrupting emergency and medical 
services. Elbert County receives varying amounts of snow throughout the area. The annual average 
snowfall is 60.5 inches. The higher elevation areas of the county near the Palmer Divide can experience 
much greater snowfall. 

Accumulations of snow can collapse roofs and knock down trees and power lines. In rural areas, homes 
and farms may be isolated for days, and unprotected livestock may be lost. The cost of snow removal, 
damage repair, and business losses can have a tremendous impact on municipalities. 

Heavy accumulations of ice can bring down trees, electrical wires, telephone poles and lines, and 
communication towers. Communications and power can be disrupted for days until damage can be 
repaired. Even small accumulations of ice may cause extreme hazards to motorists and pedestrians. 

Some winter storms are accompanied by strong winds, creating blizzard conditions with blinding wind-
driven snow, severe drifting, and dangerous wind chills. Strong winds with these intense storms and cold 
fronts can knock down trees, utility poles, and power lines. Blowing snow can reduce visibilities to only a 
few feet in areas where there are no trees or buildings, as well as close highways. Serious vehicle 
accidents can result in injuries and deaths. Winter winds can also induce avalanches.  

Extreme cold often accompanies a winter storm, or is left in its wake, and is most likely to occur in the 
winter months of December, January, and February. Prolonged exposure to the cold can cause frostbite 
and hypothermia, as well as become life-threatening. Wind chill is the dangerous combination of wind 
and cold temperatures and is based on the rate of heat loss from exposed skin. A wind chill watch is 
issued by the NWS when wind chill warning criteria are possible in the next 12 to 36 hours. A wind chill 
warning is issued for wind chills of at least -25°F on the plains. 

Past Events 
Based on NCEI data, there have been 137 severe winter weather events in Elbert County which includes 
blizzard, winter storm, and winter weather events. Table 6.23 highlights notable events from 1996 – 
2021. 

Due to the regional nature of weather events, reports often refer to large areas, and for Elbert County 
this includes the Palmer Divide. The Palmer Divide is an area of elevated land between Denver and 
Colorado Springs that stretches across Douglas and Elbert Counties. It extends as far east as Limon and 
parts of Lincoln County. Cities and towns on the Palmer Divide include Parker, Castle Rock, Elizabeth, 
Kiowa, Black Forest, and Monument. 

NCEI began recording winter weather events in 1996 and records prior to that time are limited. 
However, accounts of the worst storm affecting the region, prior to 1996, was a blizzard in 1913 which 
occurred December 1st through the 5th. Over 45 inches of heavy, wet snow fell in Denver, halting 
tramcars for a week and requiring approximately 4,000 men to dig the tracks out. Automobiles were 
immobilized and had to be towed out by horses, while roofs collapsed around the city. Snow totals 
around the state, based on data from the Colorado Climate Center, included 86 inches in Georgetown; 
53 inches in Estes Park; 44 inches in Boulder; 34 inches in Fort Collins; and 24 inches in Colorado Springs. 
The benefits of this storm included a bountiful crop harvest for the 1914 crop year, valued at $115 
million, and establishing a precedent for snow load building codes for future construction. 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Hazard Profile –Severe Winter Weather   147 147 

In addition, the HMPC recalled that sometime during the 1940s severe winter weather caused problems 
with starving livestock resulting in mass burials. 

Table 6.23 Severe Winter Weather Events 

Date Description 

April 13,  
1996 

Blizzard conditions developed over northeast Colorado, with winds from 25 to 50 
mph, cold temperatures, and heavy snowfall. Snow drifts 3-4 feet tall were reported. 
One on the most heavily hit areas eastern Elbert County. Snowfall in Kiowa was 6-9 
inches. Icy roads and reduced visibilities in blowing and drifting snow resulted in 
multiple vehicle accidents. 

October 24, 
1997 

Deadly blizzard conditions across all of eastern Colorado brought snowfall totals along 
the Urban Corridor and adjacent plains generally ranging from 14 to 30 inches. 
Sustained winds to 40 mph (35 kts) with gusts as high as 60 mph (52 kts) caused zero 
visibilities and deadly wind chill temperatures to dip between 25 below and 40 below 
zero.  In some areas, the blizzard stirred up snowdrifts ranging from 4 to 10 feet in 
depth.  Several major highways and interstates were closed as conditions became life 
threatening and travel impossible.  Red Cross shelters were set up for hundreds of 
travelers who became stranded and were forced to abandon their vehicles.  The 
deaths of four people resulted, directly and indirectly, from the blizzard. In Weld 
County, 3,000 cattle died. Elizabeth was recorded as having 32 inches of snow. 

December 8, 
1997 

Snowfall and high winds caused eastern Elbert County to be impacted by extensive 
blowing snow. Sections of Interstates 25 and 70 were closed, along with several other 
roads and highways and roads, as travel became impossible in the blowing snow. 
Several people were stranded. Snowfall total was eight inches at Kiowa. 

March 17-
19, 2003 

The storm be’an on St. Patrick's Day and had storm totals between 10 and 87 inches 
across 20 counties in the state over three days. The mayo“ of Denver said, "This is the 
storm of the century, a backbreaker, a record breake”, a roof breaker." The heavy wet 
snow caused roofs of homes and businesses to collapse across the Urban Corridor. 
The snow also downed trees, branches, and power lines. Up to 135,000 people lost 
power at some point during the storms and it took several days, in some areas, to 
restore power. A total of 25 inches of snow fell in Elbert County causing major road 
closures and shutting down operations. Across the affected areas, the storm 
damaged over 250 homes and had overall total reported damages of $15.5 million; 
however, other estimates place this at over $93 million. 

March 31, 
2005 

A strong spring storm brought near blizzard conditions east and southeast of Denver. 
Extensive blowing snow caused near zero visibilities and snow drifts from two to four 
feet. 

October 25, 
2006 

A storm brought heavy snow to the Interstate 25 Corridor and Palmer Divide. 
Snowfall was 16 inches near Kiowa and 15 inches near Elizabeth. Strong winds caused 
blowing and drifting snow with snow drifts up to four feet. The heavy wet snow 
caused extensive tree damage and downed power lines and power outages. 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Hazard Profile –Severe Winter Weather   148 148 

Date Description 

December 
18-22, 2006 

A slow moving, low pressure system moved from the Desert Southwest and into 
Southeastern Colorado. As a result, a deep upslope flow developed along the Front 
Range and Northeast Plains of Colorado. Strong winds and heavy snow brought 
blizzard conditions to the Interstate 25 Corridor, from the Wyoming state line south 
to Colorado Springs. Storm totals generally ranged from 2 to 4 feet in and near the 
Front Range Foothills and Palmer Divide. Across the Northeast Plains and in high 
mountain valleys of North and Middle Parks, storm totals ranged from 1 to 2 feet. 
Strong winds gusting from 40 to nearly 60 mph during the storm produced drifts from 
6 to 12 feet deep. Police and National Guardsmen rescued hundreds of commuters 
stuck in their cars and sent them to temporary shelters set up by the Red Cross. All 
highways and interstates, including I-25, I-70 and I-76 were shut down. 

Public assistance was granted for 16 counties, including Elbert. FEMA Snow 
Declaration EM-3270-CO. A $77,076 claim was filed. 

December 8, 
2006 

A slow moving system with blizzard conditions developed over portions of the 
Northeast Plains of Colorado, mainly south of Interstate 76. The heaviest snow fell 
along east facing slopes with storm totals up to 2.5 feet in the North Central 
Mountains and Front Range Foothills.  Across the Interstate 25 Corridor storm totals 
ranged from 6 to 18 inches, heaviest near the Front Range Foothills and Palmer 
Divide.  In the Northeast Plains, storm totals ranged from 3 to 6 inches. Strong winds 
and snow brought blizzard conditions to plains of eastern Colorado, forcing the 
closure of Interstate 70 as well as several other roads and highways. Whiteout 
conditions were reported across eastern portions of Adams, Arapahoe, and Elbert 
Counties, as well as Lincoln, Phillips, and Washington Counties. 

January 21, 
2007 

Heavy snow fell along the Front Range Foothills, Urban Corridor and Northeast Plains 
accompanied by 20 to 30 mph winds. In and near the Palmer Divide, storm totals 
ranged from 6 to 15 inches.  Across the Northeast Plains, storm totals ranged from 2 
to 11 inches.  Very strong winds, produced extensive blowing and drifting snow along 
the Interstate 70 corridor, from just east of Denver to near Limon. Sustained winds 
from 30 to 45 mph were measured near Cedar Point with peak gusts to 60 mph.  As a 
result, snow drifts 2 to 4 feet in depth made some roads impassable with whiteout 
conditions reported.  Interstate 70, from Airpark Road to Burlington, and State 
Highway 86, near Cedar Point, were closed due to very poor driving conditions. 
Snowfall of 12.5 inches was reported in Elizabeth. 

April 24,  
2007 

Blizzard conditions and 12 inches of snow caused power outages for five days. 

April 16,  
2008 

A storm system brought heavy snow to parts of the North-Central Mountains, Front 
Range Foothills and Palmer Divide. The heaviest snow fell mainly south of the 
Interstate 70 Corridor. Storm totals in the mountains and foothills ranged from eight 
to nearly 15 inches. Across the northern portions of Douglas, Elbert, and Lincoln 
Counties, storm totals ranged from four to nine inches. 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Hazard Profile –Severe Winter Weather   149 149 

Date Description 

October 20, 
2009 

Heavy snow developed along the Palmer Divide and eastern Colorado as a storm 
system tracked across southern Colorado and northern New Mexico. Storm totals 
included:  15 inches, 15 miles north of Elizabeth, 14 inches at Agate, 13 inches, 14 
miles west-southwest of Agate; 11 inches, 2 miles east of Elizabeth. Storm totals 
elsewhere range from three to five inches. Approximately 70 power poles were 
knocked down during the storm. 

March 19, 
2010 

A late winter season storm brought heavy snow to areas in and near the Front Range. 
Storm totals included: 11 inches, 6.5 miles southwest of Castle Rock and 9 inches, two 
miles east of Elizabeth. 

March 23, 
2010 

A powerful spring snowstorm swept across North Central and Northeast Colorado. In 
and near the Front Range Foothills, storm totals ranged from one to two feet. 
Elsewhere, storm totals ranged from five to 10 inches. The heavy, wet snow clung to 
power lines and tree limbs, causing 36,500 outages to homes and businesses 
throughout the Denver metro area. Power outages were also reported in Douglas and 
Elbert Counties. Storm totals included 14 inches, two miles east of Elizabeth. 

December 
30, 2010 

Another winter storm brought moderate to heavy snow, strong winds and very cold 
wind chill temperatures to the mountains, foothills and northeast plains of Colorado. 
The strong winds and heavy snow produced blizzard conditions over the far northeast 
plains. Peak wind gusts ranged from 30 to 45 mph and produced extensive blowing 
and drifting snow along with whiteout conditions. Across the Urban Corridor, storm 
totals included six inches at Boulder and two miles north of Loveland; and five inches, 
two miles east of Elizabeth. In the mountains and foothills, storm totals generally 
ranged from five to 10 inches. 

May 11,  
2011 

A spring snowstorm brought heavy snow to the mountains, foothills and Palmer 
Divide. The heaviest snowfall occurred in the Front Range Foothills and Palmer Divide 
where storm totals included: 12 inches, four miles northwest of Elizabeth; and 10 
inches, 10 miles north of Elizabeth. 

October 25, 
2011 

A powerful early season storm brought heavy snow to the Front Range and adjacent 
plains. The heavy, wet snow caused extensive downed large branches and in some 
cases, entire trees. Massive power outages occurred from Fort Collins and Greeley 
south to Denver and the surrounding metro area. Fort Collins, Loveland, and Greeley 
were hit the hardest by the event. No snow totals available for Elbert County. 

November 1, 
2011 

A storm system brought another round of moderate to heavy snow to the region.  
Areas in and near the Front Range Foothills and Palmer Divide were hit the hardest 
with anywhere from 8 to 14 inches.  Heavy snow was also observed over parts of the 
northeast Colorado plains, where storm totals ranged from 4 to 10 inches.  Gusty 
winds also produced blizzard conditions along the Cheyenne Ridge and Palmer Divide. 
Poor road conditions forced the closure of Interstate 25, from Wellington to the 
Wyoming state line.  Snow drifts, from 1 to 3 feet deep were reported in the northern 
portion of Douglas and Elbert Counties. Storm total of 11 inches, 9 miles north-



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Hazard Profile –Severe Winter Weather   150 150 

Date Description 

northeast of Elizabeth. 

December 
21, 2011 

Large scale lift from an upper level low combined with a deep easterly upslope flow 
behind a cold front to produce heavy snow in and near the Front Range Foothills and 
Palmer Divide.  In Elbert County, storm totals included 13.5 inches, 15 miles north of 
Elizabeth, and 11 inches, 4 miles northwest of Elbert. 

February 2, 
2012 

A slow moving and powerful storm system brought heavy snow to areas in and near 
the Front Range Foothills, with blizzard conditions over the northeastern plains of 
Colorado.  In the Front Range Foothills, the snow piled up to over 4 feet in some 
areas.  Across the Palmer Divide, the combination of snow and gusty winds resulted 
in road closures with snow drifts ranging from 2 to 5 feet in depth.  Northerly winds 
15 to 25 mph were common with gusts to 40 mph. Road closures included State 
Highway 86, between Kiowa and I-70. Storm totals in Elbert County included 26 
inches, 14 miles east-northeast of Kiowa; 25 inches, 16 inches at Agate; 12 inches 
near Elizabeth. 

February 23, 
2012 

Bands of moderate to heavy snow, associated with a strong upper level jet, formed 
over the southern Front Range Foothills, Palmer Divide, and southern Denver 
suburbs. Storm totals included: 10 inches, two miles west- northwest of Highlands 
Ranch and Kiowa. 

February 24, 
2013 

A storm system near the Four Corners region produced heavy upslope snowfall in and 
near the Front Range with blizzard conditions further east as it made its way across 
southern Colorado. Along and south of the I-70 corridor, east of Denver to around 
Cedar Point, the combination of heavy snow and strong wind produced blizzard 
conditions.  Storm totals included 8 inches at Elizabeth and 7 inches at Agate.  
Northerly winds of 25 to 30 mph were common with gusts to 40 mph.  Interstate 70 
was especially hazardous from around Byers to Limon where snow and blowing snow 
reportedly produced zero visibilities at times and drifts up to 3 feet deep. 

February 26, 
2013 

A storm system moving through the region produced heavy snow in the Front Range 
Foothills. As the system moved into the east central plains of Colorado, snow and 
blowing snow produced blizzard conditions along and south of the Interstate 70 
corridor, from just east of Denver to the Kansas state line.  Storm totals generally 
ranged from 3 to 7 inches.  North winds of 25 to 30 mph were reported with gusts 
around 40 mph.  Roads became impassable as snow and blowing snow produced 3 to 
4 ft snow drifts.  Road and highway closures included:  Interstate 70 from Aurora to 
the Kansas state line. 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Hazard Profile –Severe Winter Weather   151 151 

Date Description 

March 9,  
2013 

A storm system brought heavy snow to areas in and near the Front Range Mountains 
and Foothills, with blizzard conditions over parts of the northeast plains of Colorado. 
Across the Palmer Divide and northeast plains of Colorado, storm totals ranged 
anywhere from 2 to 10 inches.  The combination of snow and strong wind produced 
blizzard conditions and forced the closure of Interstate 70 east of Denver. Across the 
affected areas, sustained winds of 25 to 35 mph with gusts to 45 mph produced near 
zero visibilities at times and snow packed roads.  Snowdrifts from 2 to 4 feet deep 
were reported.   As a result, many of the roadways became impassable. 

March 22, 
2013 

A wet, early spring snowstorm brought heavy snow to parts of the Front Range 
Foothills, Urban Corridor, and Northeast Plains. The heaviest snowfall occurred near 
the Front Range Foothills and Palmer Divide. Near blizzard conditions forced the 
closure of Interstate 70 east of Denver to the Kansas state line along with many roads 
in the northeastern plains of Colorado. Agate had a reported storm total of 9 inches. 

April 8,  
2013 

Heavy snow developed in and near the Front Range Foothills and Palmer Divide as an 
upper level trough made its way across southern Colorado. Snowfall was enhanced 
locally with the presence of an upper level jet. 

Elsewhere, periods of light to moderate snow along with areas of blowing snow were 
observed. A storm total of 7.5 inches, 14 miles west-southwest of Agate was 
reported. The combination of snow and strong winds produced drifts from one to 
three feet deep were reported over eastern Elbert County. 

April 2,  
2014 

A storm system brought moderate to heavy snow to portions of the Front Range 
Mountains, Foothills, and Urban Corridor. Storm totals in the mountains and foothills 
included seven inches in Simla. 

May 11,  
2014 

A strong storm system moved from southwest Colorado and produced heavy snow 
over the Front Range and adjacent plains. The snow was heaviest over the Front 
Range foothills where up to 2.5 feet of snow was observed. 

November 
16, 2015 

A Pacific storm system moved out of the Four Corners region and into southeast 
Colorado and resulted in blizzard conditions over parts of east central Colorado.  The 
Palmer Divide south and southeast of Denver was hit the hardest.  Numerous road 
closures occurred south and southeast of Denver, including both directions of 
Interstate 70 from E-470 to Limon because of windy and whiteout conditions.  Storm 
totals were reported at 19 inches, 4 miles west-northwest of Elizabeth. Peak wind 
gusts included  49 mph in Kiowa and 47 mph at Elbert.  Snowdrifts 4 to 6 feet in depth 
were reported near Elizabeth. 

December 
15, 2015 

A fast moving but potent Pacific storm system moved into southeast Colorado. It then 
produced a deep upslope that brought heavy snow to the areas in and near the Front 
Range Foothills, Palmer Divide, and northeast plains. The combination of moderate to 
heavy snowfall and gusty winds caused roads to get snow packed with drifts 1.5 to 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Hazard Profile –Severe Winter Weather   152 152 

Date Description 

four feet deep in spots. Storm totals for Elbert County not available. 

February 1, 
2016 

The combination of heavy snow and strong winds produced extensive blowing and 
drifting snow along the Palmer Divide and across the northeast plains of Colorado. 
Snowdrifts from three to six feet deep were observed. Numerous roads and highways 
were closed east of the Interstate 25, including I-70 and I-76 respectively overnight, 
as the roadways became impassable. Schools were closed for three days and 
emergency services were disrupted. Storm totals included  21 inches, 4 miles 
northwest of Elizabeth and 12 inches at Agate 

March 23, 
2016 

Blizzard conditions closed major roadways throughout Elbert County. Many motorists 
were stranded, shelters were opened, and emergency services were disrupted. 

March 24, 
2017 

An intense but fairly fast moving system that developed over southeastern Colorado 
brought a brief period of blizzard conditions along the Palmer Ridge south and 
southeast of Denver.  Strong wind gusts from 45 to 60 mph accompanied the snow.  
Storm totals ranged from 7 to 11 inches and included 5 inches near Simla. The 
blizzard conditions forecast the closure of schools, roads and highways over Douglas 
and Elbert Counties.  Interstate 70 was closed between Airpark and Limon in both 
directions for several hours and State Highway 86, from Kiowa to Limon was also 
closed. Several vehicles were stranded due to drifting snow, ranging from 2.5 ft to 8 
ft,  and zero visibilities. 

April 28,  
2017 

A storm brought totals ranging from 5 to 25 inches along the Front Range Foothills 
and along the Palmer Divide. In Elbert County, 12.5 inches were reported near 
Elizabeth. 

January 1, 
2019 

A winter storm system brought a mix of strong winds with pockets of moderate to 
heavy snow to the southern Front Range Foothills and Palmer Divide; with blizzard 
conditions along I-70 east of Aurora.  Interstate 70 was closed in the morning through 
early afternoon on the 22nd, from the exit at Denver International Airport to the 
Kansas state line.  Parts of major highways including I-25 south of Denver toward 
Monument and Highway 24 were also closed for several hours.  Numerous accidents 
along I-70 were reported due to strong winds and low visibility of a quarter mile or 
less.  Strong northerly winds gusting from 45 to 55 mph were observed. Six inches of 
snowfall was observed in Agate. 

March 13, 
2019 

A rapidly intensifying storm system or bomb cyclone brought hurricane strength 
winds to the northeast plains of Colorado, along with moderate to heavy snowfall.  
Peak wind gusts ranged from 60 to 80 mph. Thundersnow produced snowfall rates up 
to 3 inches per hour just west of Denver.  At Denver International Airport, a non-
thunderstorm wind gust of 80 mph broke the previous record of 63 mph set in Match 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Hazard Profile –Severe Winter Weather   153 153 

Date Description 

13, 2009.  Snowfall amounts ranged from 2 to 6 inches near the base of the foothills, 
with up to 20 inches in the mountains and foothills.  Along the Palmer Divide east of I-
25 and the northeast plains of Colorado, storm totals ranged from 4 to 10 inches. 

Widespread outages, multi-vehicle accidents and road closures prompted the 
governor to declare a state of emergency which activated the Colorado National 
Guard to assist state and local authorities in rescuing hundreds of stranded motorists.  
Disaster declarations included the following counties and cities:  Adams, Arapahoe, 
Douglas, Elbert counties, as well as the city of Aurora.   Multiple accidents included a 
100-car pileup on Interstate 25, from MM 285 to the WY border; with another 100-
car accident south of Denver toward Monument. A state trooper was struck and 
killed on Interstate 76. 

Road closures included:  Interstate 70 from Denver Airport to Limon, and from 
Golden to Idaho Springs;  I-25 from South Denver to Monument Hill;  I-76 closed from 
northeast Denver to Nebraska. 

Nearly 1400 flights in and out of Denver International Airport that were canceled due 
to the blizzard.  Five thousand passengers were stranded at the airport.  The number 
of people who lost power during the storm totaled 445,000.  Xcel energy called over 
500 employees work to restore power with additional 300 out-of-state workers on 
their way to assist.  Approximately 85,000 people, mostly in the Denver area, were 
without electricity the following day.  At least 335 vehicles were stuck and abandoned 
on Interstate 25 near Larkspur.  In Denver, 250 vehicles were abandoned during the 
storm.  School buses were used to rescue stranded drivers.  At least 33 public school 
districts were closed on the 13 and 14th.  Warming centers and shelters opened area 
wide. 

October 29, 
2019 

A strong storm system dropped out of the northern Rockies and across Colorado. This 
system brought record breaking temperatures and up to a foot of new snow to parts 
of Denver, especially across the south and southeast portions of the metro area down 
to the Palmer Divide. The combination of snow and wind along the Interstate 70 
corridor east of Denver forced its closure in both directions for several hours due to 
drifting snow and poor visibility. Storm totals for Elbert County included 8 inches near 
Elizabeth, and 6 inches, 4 miles east of Elbert. 

November 
25, 2019 

A powerful winter storm brought very heavy snowfall to the Front Range Mountains, 
Foothills, I-25 corridor and northeast plains.  Heavy snow developed in and near the 
Front Range Foothills of Larimer and Boulder counties, then spread south and east 
across the rest of the region. Schools closed across the affected areas. I-76 and I-70 
northeast and east of Denver were closed for 10 and 7 hours respectively. Reported 
storm totals included 8 inches in Agate, 16 inches, 5 miles north of Elizabeth and 12 
inches near Elizabeth. 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Hazard Profile –Severe Winter Weather   154 154 

Date Description 

March 19, 
2020 

A powerful storm system brought blizzard conditions to the northeast plains of 
Colorado. The storm system produced 9 inches in Agate and peak wind gusts to 56 
mph which resulted in extensive blowing and drifting snow, along with whiteout 
conditions. Numerous roads closures were posted east of Interstate 25 and over the 
Palmer Divide.  Highways closings included portions of eastbound interstates 70 and 
76 in eastern Colorado due to strong winds and whiteout conditions. I-70 was also 
closed westbound into the mountains, due to heavy snow and numerous accidents.  
Across portions of the northeast plains of Colorado, blizzard conditions were 
observed.  Storm totals ranged from 3 to 9 inches. Peak wind gusts included:  63 mph 
in Akron, 56 mph in Limon, 51 mph in Fort Morgan and 49 mph in Greeley and at 
Denver International Airport. 

 

Location 
Severe winter weather events can occur over large geographical areas. All of Elbert County may be 
affected by winter weather of various durations and extent of area. With multiple crucial transportation 
routes traversing the county, included Interstate 70, State Highway 86, US Route 24, and 30 miles of 
Union Pacific rail line, the impacts of winter weather can have far reaching effects. Whether it is 
travelers, commuters, or transportation of goods, potentially including hazardous materials, winter 
weather events can jeopardize public safety.  

Frequency 
Winter weather will occur each year across the county; however, the severity is determined by a variety 
of conditions and is therefore difficult to predict. Severe winter weather events have occurred as early 
as October and as late as May in the county.  

Severity 
Severity of winter weather varies greatly depending on numerous factors, including temperatures, 
precipitation type, wind conditions, time of day, location, and exposure to the elements affecting public 
safety. Figure 6.17 uses NCEI data to show the overall average minimum temperature in the county, 
between November and February, from 1901 to 2021. The average minimum temperature recorded for 
the county between 1901 and 2000, for the same months, is 15.2°F.  

The largest negative deviation from the average was in 1929, when the minimum temperature for the 
November to February period was 10.4°F. In 1934, the largest positive deviation resulted in the average 
minimum temperature for those months being recorded at 20.8°F. The last two decades, the negative 
deviations from the average temperature have been notably smaller, all 8 during the period were less 
than 1°F. The remaining 13 recorded deviations were positive and fell between 0.6°F and 3.9°F. 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Hazard Profile –Severe Winter Weather   155 155 

Figure 6.17 Average Minimum Temperature 1901-2021 (November – February) 

 
Since severe winter weather typically spans extended geographical areas, utilizing the thorough data 
from NCEI / NOAA observation stations in Castle Rock and Limon is the most comprehensive way to view 
the overall climate of the county. The Castle Rock station has been collecting data since 1893 and the 
Limon station since 1948. The Byers observation station data is included along with Castle Rock and 
Limon in the following graphics, Figure 6.18 through Figure 6.20. The graphics show the similar trends in 
weather at the stations over time, illustrating a realistic assumption of the similarity of weather for 
Elbert County in between. The blue line represents the observed temperatures in each location from 
2021 (2019 for Byers) and the light blue shows the record minimum temperatures recorded. 

Using a National Weather Service tool, NOWData, it is possible to highlight specific days and see more 
detailed information about the date a maximum or minimum temperature occurred, including the 
typical  temperature range and the observations of a chosen year.  

The NCEI data shows the lowest temperature recorded in Castle Rock is -32°F on January 7, 1913. In 
Limon, the lowest temperature recorded is -27°F on February 15, 2021. In Byers, the lowest 
temperature on record is -36°F on February 8, 1936. 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Hazard Profile –Severe Winter Weather   156 156 

Figure 6.18 Daily Temperature Data – Limon, CO (August 1948 – July 2022) 

 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Hazard Profile –Severe Winter Weather   157 157 

Figure 6.19 Daily Temperature Data – Castle Rock, CO (January 1893 – July 2022)

 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Hazard Profile –Severe Winter Weather   158 158 

Figure 6.20 Daily Temperature Data – Byers, CO (September 1930 – December 2019)

 
The largest, historical snow totals according to available NOAA data for Elbert County can be seen in 
Table 6.24, with the station and year reported. 

Table 6.24 Largest Historical Snow Totals 

COOP Station Year Snow Total (Inches) 

Elizabeth 2 NW 1997 119.8 

Kiowa 4 SW 1959 132.4 

Elbert 4 SSW 1959 113.2 

Elbert 3 SE 1959 112.6 

Elbert 4 SSW 1957 108.9 

 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Hazard Profile –Severe Winter Weather   159 159 

Warning Time 
Meteorologists can often predict the likelihood of a severe winter storm. When forecasts are available, 
they can give several days of warning time. However, meteorologists cannot predict the exact time of 
onset or severity of the storm. Some storms may come on more quickly and have only a few hours of 
warning time. 

Secondary Hazards 
The most significant secondary hazards associated with severe winter storms are falling and downed 
trees, landslides, and downed power lines. Rapidly melting snow combined with heavy rain can 
overwhelm both natural and manmade drainage systems, causing overflow and property destruction. 
Landslides occur when the soil on slopes becomes oversaturated and fails. Additionally, the storms may 
result in closed highways and blocked roads. It is not unusual for motorists and residents to become 
stranded. Annually, heavy snow loads and frozen pipes cause damage to residences and businesses. Late 
season heavy snows will typically cause some plant and crop damage. 

Exposure and Vulnerability 
Lifelines 
Severe winds, downed trees, and ice accumulation can create serious impacts on Energy and 
Communications infrastructure, including power lines and above-ground communication lines. Freezing 
of power and communication lines can cause them to break, disrupting electricity and communication. 
Loss of electricity and phone connection would leave certain populations isolated, as residents would be 
unable to call for assistance. Extreme cold can disrupt or impair communications facilities. 

Transportation Lifeline failures, due to loss and interruption of roadway capacity, are a secondary hazard 
often most associated with severe winter weather. Roads may become impassable due to ice or snow 
accumulation which create dangerous driving conditions. Availability of county roads to move people 
and supplies throughout the region is also a concern. 

These types of events can significantly impact the transportation system and the availability of public 
safety services. Of particular concern are roads providing access to isolated areas and to those with 
access and functional needs (AFN). Prolonged obstruction of major routes can disrupt the shipment of 
goods and other commerce.  

People 
The populations most likely to suffer the negative effects of severe winter weather events are motorists 
who may be stranded, those participating in outdoor recreation activities and those with AFN. 

AFN populations include the elderly, children, people with chronic health and mobility issues, those with 
independent living difficulty, low income families, non-English speaking residents, and those who live in 
areas that are isolated from major roads. These populations face isolation and exposure during severe 
winter weather events and could suffer more secondary effects of the hazard. Power outages can be life 
threatening to those dependent on electricity for medical equipment or other health needs. 

The use of fuel-burning heaters indoors and the potential of poisoning and asphyxiation also poses a 
significant risk to the population of the county. 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Hazard Profile –Severe Winter Weather   160 160 

Environment 
The environment is highly exposed to severe weather events. Natural habitats such as streams and trees 
risk major damage and destruction. Flooding events caused by snowmelt can produce river channel 
migration or damage riparian habitat. 

Property 
All buildings in the county are exposed to severe winter weather, but structures in poor condition or in 
particularly vulnerable locations (located on hilltops or exposed open areas) may risk the most damage. 
Those that are located under or near overhead lines, or near large trees may be vulnerable to falling ice 
or may be damaged in the event of a tree or limb collapse. The frequency and degree of damage will 
depend on specific locations. 

Economy 
Negative economic impact from severe winter weather is possible. Damage to property, crops, and 
livestock can result in costs, both direct and indirect. Direct costs for the value lost and indirect costs for 
the loss of work that comes from harvest and livestock transport, as well as the overhead that may 
result during repair or reconstruction of properties. 

Short term impacts may occur if roads and businesses must close, affecting transport and commerce 
and can have a negative effect for an entire region. Routes which have substantial impact if closed 
include Highways: 86, 13, 166/Singing Hills, Kiowa-Bennett Rd, and County Line Rd, which are typically 
closed in pairs or groups.  Closure of Interstate 70 is also a significant disruption in transportation.  The 
impacts of road closures for the county are related to both emergency responder access and the ability 
of community members to acquire goods and services from their local businesses and grocery stores.   

Future Trends in Development 
The county and both towns have adopted the 2018 International Building Code (IBC), and Simla has 
previously adopted building codes. This is crucial to public safety as growth continues and development 
increases. Adherence to these existing building codes and including adoption of more recent codes by 
Simla will ensure construction is more likely to withstand a severe winter weather event. 

Public education is critical as new residents move to the area. Many may not have experienced a winter 
weather event and will not know how to be prepared. Educating the population on this hazard and how 
to minimize risk from events will prove beneficial for the county. 

Probability of Future Occurrences 
Severe winter weather will occur in the county and based on historical data will happen at least 
annually. The severity of these events is the difficult aspect to specify, as each storm has unique 
characteristics and numerous factors will dictate the ultimate impacts. 

Climate Change Impacts 
Climate change presents a significant challenge for risk management associated with severe weather. 
The frequency of severe weather events has increased steadily over the last century and historical data 
shows that the probability for severe weather events increases in a warmer climate. The changing 
hydrograph, caused by climate change, could have a significant impact on the intensity, duration, and 
frequency of storm events. All of these impacts could have significant economic consequences. 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Hazard Profile –Tornado   161 161 

4.13 Tornado 
General Background 
A tornado is a narrow, violently rotating column of air that extends from the base of a cumulonimbus 
cloud to the ground. The visible sign of a tornado is the dust and debris that is caught in the rotating 
column made up of water droplets. Tornadoes are the most violent of all atmospheric storms. The 
following are common ingredients for tornado formation: 

• Very strong winds in the mid and upper levels of the atmosphere 
• Clockwise turning of the wind with height (i.e., from southeast at the surface to west aloft) 
• Increasing wind speed in the lowest 10,000 feet of the atmosphere (i.e., 20 mph at the surface 

and 50 mph at 7,000 feet.) 
• Very warm, moist air near the ground with unusually cooler air aloft 
• A forcing mechanism such as a cold front or leftover weather boundary from previous shower or 

thunderstorm activity. 

Tornadoes can form from individual cells within severe thunderstorm squall lines. They also can form 
from an isolated super-cell thunderstorm. Weak tornadoes can sometimes occur from air that is 
converging and spinning upward, with little more than a rain shower occurring in the vicinity. 

Tornadoes are classified based on the damage inflicted once it has passed over a manmade structure 
which allows experts to assess and estimate wind intensity. The Fujita Scale (Table 6.28) was used until 
2007, classifying the intensity from the least to most intense, in seven categories (F0-F6). This scale was 
replaced by the Enhanced Fujita Scale which uses six intensity categories (EF0-EF5) to measure tornado 
strength and associated damages. The scale was revised to reflect better examinations of tornado 
damage surveys, to align wind speeds more closely with associated storm damage. The new scale takes 
into account how most structures are designed and is considered a more accurate representation of the 
surface wind speeds in the most violent tornadoes. 

Table 6.25 provides details on how the Enhanced Fujita Scale intensities were derived from the previous 
Fujita Scale. 

Table 6.25 Derived EF Scale 

Fujita Scale Derived EF Scale 

F Number 3 Second Gust (mph) EF 
Number 3 Second Gust (mph) 

0 45-78 0 65-85 

1 79-117 1 86-109 

2 118-161 2 110-137 

3 162-209 3 138-167 

4 210-261 4 168-199 

5 262-317 5 200-234 

 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Hazard Profile –Tornado   162 162 

Past Events 
The NCEI Storm Events Database lists 125 tornado events, 27 of which have reported damages, between 
1950 and 2021. Based on best available data from NCEI, there are some events with damages reported, 
but without costs listed. These are included in Table 6.27, to give an accurate representation of the 
effects of tornadoes on the county and its communities. 

The highest rating of tornadoes in the county has been F3, occurring on June 6th, 1990. This event 
resulted in three fatalities and was reported to have caused $2,500. Table 6.26 shows the breakdown of 
the ratings for reported tornadoes in the county between 1950 and 2021. These are separated based on 
the change of rating scale in 2007, from the Fujita Scale to the Enhanced Fujita Scale. There is one event 
that did not have a rating and is therefore unable to be listed. 

Table 6.26 Ratings of Reported Tornadoes in Elbert County 

Fujita Scale Enhanced Fujita Scale 

Rating Number of Events Rating Number of Events 

F0 48 EF0 42 

F1 24 EF1 5 

F2 3 EF2 2 

F3 1 EF3 - 

 

Historic tornado events in the county are shown in Figure 6.21, along with the F / EF rating. Reported 
damaging events are highlighted in Table 6.27. 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Hazard Profile –Tornado   163 163 

Figure 6.21 Elbert County Historic Tornado Events 

 
 

 

Table 6.27 Damaging Tornadoes Reported in Elbert County 

Date Magnitude Description Damages 

July 13, 
1978 F0 

One barn was unroofed, another metal barn was 
damaged, and a camper trailer was overturned. Rain 
from the thunderstorm resulting in a hotel basement 
flooding and evacuations. Mud and gravel slides 
covered some of the roads nearby. 

Unavailable 

June 19, 
1980 

F1 Details unavailable. $2,500 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Hazard Profile –Tornado   164 164 

Date Magnitude Description Damages 

June 4, 
1983 

F2 

A large tornado touched down near Elizabeth, moving 
east northeast to the north of Kiowa. Two mobile 
homes and a shed were damaged as they were lifted 
off the ground, in one case 2 ft off of the foundation. 
Approximately $70,000 worth of timber was destroyed 
on a ranch, snapping and leveling trees. A few power 
poles were destroyed. 

$250,000 

June 6, 
1990 

F3 

A 500-yard wide tornado touched down 12 miles 
southwest of Limon and traveled approximately 7 
miles. The tornado tracked northeast, producing 1-3 
inch within a half an hour and destroyed three cow 
trough windmills near the junction of US Highway 24 
and County Rd 169. It dissipated 5-6 miles west of 
Limon. There were three fatalities. 

$2,500 

July 19, 
1995 F0 

Near Agate a tornado ripped shingles off the roof of a 
house and the doors off a barn. A nearby wheat field 
was damaged as hail accumulated up to a foot deep. 
No estimate of damage was provided. 

Unavailable 

May 10, 
2004 

F2 

A tornado touched down and severely damaged two 
farmsteads. The first farmstead was struck 
approximately 10 miles north-northwest of Simla. One 
tree was knocked over by the tornado. One cow was 
killed, another was severely injured and had to be 
destroyed. An unoccupied ranch house on a 
neighboring farmstead, about 11.5 miles north of Simla, 
was also destroyed. The tornado picked up the modular 
home and its contents and dumped it about 500 feet 
away from the farmstead. In addition, a calving shed 
and a two-story barn built in 1925 were destroyed. A 
pig, lamb and dog were killed. The twister also picked 
up and scattered a dozen trucks, farm vehicles and cars 
on the farmstead. This event impacted Agate, Cedar 
Point, Matheson, and Simla 

Unavailable 

May 10, 
2004 

F1 
A tornado touched down near Matheson and caused 
extensive damage to a barn. Unavailable 

June 15, 
2004 

F1 

Three homes in Rattlesnake Fire District (near 
Elizabeth) had debris damage. A tornado touched down 
causing roof damage to a home and destroyed a barn. 
Two other barns on nearby properties were extensively 
damaged. Significant tree damage was also reported. 

Unavailable 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Hazard Profile –Tornado   165 165 

Date Magnitude Description Damages 

June 22, 
2006 

F1 
Damage to trees and house on Badger Lane. House 
under construction off Painthorse Circle was 
demolished. 

Unavailable 

August 24, 
2008 

EF0 
Two confirmed tornado touchdowns caused minor 
damage to one residence and damaged power lines 
about 10-14 miles north of Elizabeth. 

$5,000 

June 7, 
2009 

EF1 

A tornado touched down in unincorporated Elbert and 
damaged a home, several outbuildings, and injured 
some horses. This was one of nine tornadoes that 
touched down from metropolitan Denver to SE Aurora. 

Overall 
damages for 
all reported 
tornado 
events - 
$75,000 

June 15, 
2009 

EF1 and 
EF2 

Near Elizabeth, an EF1 caused minor damages to two 
homes, then intensified to EF2 causing damages to a 
farm, trees, and snapping power poles. An airplane 
hangar was damaged, and a small place was flipped. 
The tornado leveled a 70-year-old barn and tore open a 
nearby cinderblock shed. The tornado had a total travel 
path of approximately 20 miles, all south-southwest of 
Elizabeth. 

$100,000 

July 29, 
2009 

EF0 

Resolis, Elbert County. Several power poles were 
completely removed from the ground, knocking out 
electrical power. Some trees and a home were also 
damaged. 

$75,000 

July 12, 
2011 

EF0 
Cedar Point and Fondis, a tornado touched down 
briefly and knocked down approximately 20 large 
ponderosa pines. 

Unavailable 

–June 4, 
2015 

EF0 - EF1 

Fondis, Simla, Kutch and Matheson were involved in a 
tornado event with 16 touchdown locations. Four 
homes suffered severe damage, two of which were 
uninhabitable. An additional two homes suffered 
moderate damages, a further eight were reported to 
have slight damages. 

Unavailable 

June 5, 
2015 

EF1 
In Elizabeth, a tornado collapsed a roof structure, as 
well as damaging an outbuilding and some fencing. 
Some trees were snapped at their base. 

Unavailable 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Hazard Profile –Tornado   166 166 

Date Magnitude Description Damages 

June 27, 
2018 

EF1 
In Elizabeth, a tornado touched down briefly and 
uprooted several trees. Unavailable 

 

There were 10 tornadoes between 1951 and 1983, with reported damages between $30 and $250 USD. 
The ratings ranged from F0 to F2. These are not included in the table above due to lack of event 
information and the low reported damages. 

Location 
Tornadoes may occur anywhere in the county. 

Frequency 
Tornadoes have been reported nine months of the year in Colorado, with peak occurrences between 
mid-May through mid-August. State-wide, June is the month with the most recorded tornadoes. 
Tornadoes occur at all times of the day, with more than half occurring between 3 p.m. and 6 p.m., and 
about 88 percent occurring between 1 p.m. and 9 p.m. 

Severity 
If a major tornado were to strike within the populated areas of Elbert County, damage could be 
widespread. Businesses could be forced to close for an extended period or permanently, fatalities could 
be high, many people could be homeless for an extended period, and routine services such as telephone 
or power could be disrupted. Buildings may be damaged or destroyed.  

Historically, tornadoes have not typically been severe or caused damage in the planning area. Table 6.28 
presents the damages associated with the various F Scales and this is a reference for understanding of 
the types of damage experienced from past tornado events. The currently utilized Enhanced Fujita scale 
uses a multipoint system based on damages after the event to better categorize tornadoes. 

Table 6.28 Fujita Scale (F-Scale) 

F-Scale Intensity Phrase Character Wind Speed Type of Damage 

F0 Gale Tornado Weak  40-72 mph  

Light Damage. Some damage to 
chimneys; branches broken off 
trees, shallow-rooted trees 
pushed over, sign boards 
damaged. 

F1 Moderate 
Tornado Weak  73-112 mph  

Roof surfaces peeled off; mobile 
homes pushed off foundations 
or overturned; moving autos 
pushed off road; attached 
garages may be destroyed 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Hazard Profile –Tornado   167 167 

F-Scale Intensity Phrase Character Wind Speed Type of Damage 

F2 Significant 
Tornado Strong  113-157 mph  

Roofs torn off frame houses; 
mobile homes demolished; 
boxcars pushed over; large trees 
snapped or uprooted; light 
object missiles generated.  

F3 Severe Tornado Strong 158-206 mph  

Roofs and some walls torn from 
well- constructed houses; trains 
overturned; most trees in 
forested area uprooted; heavy 
cars lifted and thrown. 

F4 Devastating 
Tornado Violent 207-260 mph  

Well- constructed houses 
leveled; structures with weak 
foundations blown off some 
distance; cars thrown, and large 
missiles generated. 

F5 Incredible 
Tornado Violent  261-318 mph  

Strong frame houses lifted off 
foundations, carried 
considerable distances, and 
disintegrated; automobile sized 
missiles airborne for several 
hundred feet or more; trees 
debarked; steel reinforced 
concrete structures badly 
damaged 

F6 Inconceivable 
Tornado Violent 319-379 mph 

These winds are very unlikely. 
The small area of damage they 
might produce would probably 
be unrecognizable along with 
the mess produced by F4 and F5 
wind that would surround the 
F6 winds. Missiles, such as cars 
and refrigerators would do 
serious secondary damage that 
could not be directly identified 
as F6 damage. If this level is 
ever achieved, evidence might 
only be found in some manner 
of ground swirl pattern, for it 
may never be identifiable 
through engineering studies 

 

 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Hazard Profile –Tornado   168 168 

Warning Time 
NOAA’s storm prediction center issues tornado watches and warnings for Elbert Coun–y: 

• Tornado Watch - Tornadoes are possible. Remain alert for approaching storms. Watch the sky 
and stay tuned to NOAA Weather Radio, commercial radio, or television for information– 

• Tornado Warning - A tornado has been sighted or indicated by weather radar. Take shelter 
immediately. 

Once a warning has been issued, residents may have only a matter of seconds or minutes to seek 
shelter. 

Secondary Hazards 
Tornadoes may cause loss of power if utility service is disrupted. Additionally, damages to natural gas 
infrastructure may cause fires and interrupt distribution. Hazardous materials may be released if a 
structure housing such materials is damaged or if such a material is in transport. Public health may be 
impacted if water and wastewater facilities are affected. 

Exposure and Vulnerability 
Lifelines 
All Lifelines are exposed to tornadoes. The most common problems associated with this hazard are 
utility losses, which falls under the Energy and Communications Lifelines. Downed power lines can cause 
blackouts, leaving large areas isolated. Phone, water, and sewer systems may not function. 
Communication infrastructure may be affected by an event, creating issues with dispatching first 
responders, keeping the public informed, and requesting aid and supplies. 

Tornadoes can cause significant damage to trees and power lines. The Transportation Lifeline can be 
impacted if debris caused by tornadoes blocks roads, incapacitates transportation corridors, isolates 
populations, and disrupts ingress and egress. Of particular concern are roads providing access to isolated 
areas and to those with access and functional needs (AFN).  

Any facility that is in the path of a tornado is likely to sustain damage and medical or sheltering facilities 
sustaining damages could have cascading impacts for the community. 

People 
It can be assumed that the entire planning area is exposed to tornadoes. Populations requiring extra 
assistance during an event are those with AFN, including children, the elderly, those with low income, 
linguistically isolated populations, people with chronic illnesses, and residents who lack transportation 
or are living in areas that are isolated from major roads. 

Power outages can be life threatening to those dependent on electricity for medical equipment and 
support. These populations face isolation and exposure after tornado events and could suffer more 
secondary effects of the hazard. 

Individuals caught in the path of a tornado who are unable to seek appropriate shelter are especially at 
risk. This may include individuals who are out in the open, in cars, or those who do not have access to 
basements, cellars, or safe rooms. 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Hazard Profile –Tornado   169 169 

Environment 
Environmental features are exposed to tornado risk, although damages are generally localized to the 
path of the tornado. If tornadoes impact facilities that store hazardous materials, the surrounding areas 
may be especially vulnerable to a release. 

Property 
All property is vulnerable during tornado events, but properties in poor condition or manufactured 
housing are at the highest risk. 

Economy 
Tornadoes may have a devastating impact on the economy. The factors of what sustains damages such 
as property, crops, or livestock and the extent of the damage dictates the level of impact. In the case of 
less intense tornadoes which may touch down only briefly, damage might be minimal and limited in 
losses. However, even a lower intensity tornado that touches down and travels can leave a path of 
destruction and extensive damages in its wake.  

High intensity tornadoes which can destroy structures in a matter of seconds, can leave a community 
with significant rebuilding which may take an extended duration. These periods of rebuilding are likely 
to have a negative impact on the strength of the economy, as businesses remain closed and Lifelines 
services may be disrupted. 

Future Trends in Development 
All future development can be affected by tornadoes. The vulnerability of community assets is 
increasing through time as more people enter the planning area. The ability to mitigate impacts lies in 
consistent enforcement of codes and regulations for new construction.  

The county and both towns have adopted the 2018 International Building Code (IBC), and Simla has 
previously adopted building codes. This is crucial to public safety as growth continues and development 
increases. Adherence to these existing building codes and including adoption of more recent codes by 
Simla will ensure construction is more likely to withstand a tornado event. 

Future population change across the county is expected to increase rapidly over the next decade. Over 
the next ten years, a 2.7% annual increase is projected. As these areas are at a larger risk to future 
tornadoes, future development is expected to increase the risk to this hazard. 

Probability of Future Occurrences 
Probability of future occurrences for tornado events is reliant on the reported data, but it should be 
taken into consideration there may be a number of tornadoes that are not spotted and therefore not 
reported. Based on the best available data, it is likely that Elbert County will see further tornado events. 
The probability of a damaging tornado event is 24% chance in a given year. The 71 year period of 
records, between 1950 and 2021, showed a total of 17 tornadoes with damages reported. Around half 
of these damaging tornadoes were an F1 or EF1 rating, and a quarter were F0 or EF0, suggesting the 
likelihood of smaller tornadoes continuing to cause damage in the future.  Tornadoes with impacts on 
people and / or property are of the most concern and assessing probability with consideration of the 
factors of risk and historical impact data is important. 

Climate Change Impacts 
Climate change impacts on the frequency and severity of tornadoes are unclear. According to the Center 
for Climate Change and Energy Solutions, “Researchers are working to better understand how the 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Hazard Profile –Tornado   170 170 

building blocks for tornadoes – atmospheric instability and wind shear – will respond to global warming. 
It is likely that a warmer, moister world would allow for more frequent instability. However, it is also 
likely that a warmer world would lessen chances for wind shear. Recent trends for these quantities in 
the Midwest during the spring are inconclusive. It is also possible that these changes could shift the 
timing of tornadoes or regions that are most likely to be hit”. 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Hazard Profile –Wildfire   171 171 

4.14 Wildfire 
General Background 
A wildfire is any uncontrolled fire occurring on undeveloped land that requires fire suppression. 
Wildfires can be ignited by lightning or by human activity such as smoking, campfires, equipment use, 
and arson. 

Fire hazards present a considerable risk to vegetation and wildlife habitats. Short-term loss caused by a 
wildfire can include the destruction of timber, wildlife habitat, scenic vistas, and watersheds. Long- term 
effects include impacts to water supply, secondary hazards, smaller timber harvests, reduced access to 
affected recreational areas, and destruction of community infrastructure, as well as cultural and 
economic resources. Vulnerability to flooding increases due to the destruction of watersheds. The 
potential for significant damage to life and property exists in areas designated as wildland urban 
interface (WUI) areas, where development is adjacent to densely vegetated areas. 

Wildfires do not affect communities equally. Populations with health and mobility issues, those who lack 
resources whether financial or transportation, and those with communication barriers, are 
disproportionately impacted at all stages: preparedness, response, and recovery. Recognition of the 
diverse needs of a community is critical to life safety and begins with planning and education. Identifying 
and giving a voice to these populations will create more inclusive and relevant plans. 

Wildfires are of significant concern throughout Colorado. According to the Colorado State Forest Service 
(CSFS), vegetation fires occur on an annual basis; most are controlled and contained early with limited 
damage. For those ignitions that are not readily contained and become wildfires, damage can be 
extensive. Per the 2018 Colorado State Hazard Mitigation Plan, a century of aggressive fire suppression 
combined with cycles of drought and changing land management practices has left many of Colorado’s 
forests, including those in Elbert County, unnaturally dense and ready to burn. Further, the threat of 
wildfire and potential losses is constantly increasing as population and development grow and the WUI 
expands. Another contributing factor to fuel loads in the forest are standing trees killed by several 
species of beetles which have been affecting the forests of Colorado since 2002, becoming more 
widespread and a serious concern.  

Fire protection in Elbert County is coordinated between the Agate, Elbert, Elizabeth, Kiowa, North 
Central, and Rattlesnake Fire Protection Districts, the Simla Volunteer Fire Department, the Bureau of 
Land Management, CSFS, and the US Forest Service. One community, Gambel Oaks, has a wildfire 
protection plan which was created in 2019 and can be found at the following link: Gambel Oaks Forest 
Protection Plan. More information pertaining to Community Wildfire Protection Plans (CWPP) and the 
Gambel Oaks plan are further discussed in the Error! Reference source not found. section. 

Past Events 
The largest fire on record in Elbert County occurred in 2004 and was a grass fire that burned 1,000 acres. 
Figure 6.22 shows historical wildfires in the county, as well as neighboring counties, and the perimeters 
of large wildfires (unfortunately the 2004 fire’s perimeter data was unavailable and is not mapped). 

https://csfs.colostate.edu/wp-content/uploads/2022/07/GO_CWPP_FPP_FINAL_signed_2019.pdf
https://csfs.colostate.edu/wp-content/uploads/2022/07/GO_CWPP_FPP_FINAL_signed_2019.pdf


Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Hazard Profile –Wildfire   172 172 

Figure 6.22 Elbert County Historical Wildfires 

 
 

The county is fortunate to have a minimal history of small perimeter fires, shown in Table 6.29. 

Table 6.29 Wildfire Events in Elbert County 

Date Location Description Acres 

June 2002 Chaparral 
Subdivision 

Burned two outbuildings 64 acres 

November – 
December 2004 

Kiowa Fire 
District 

Grass fire 1,000 acres 

July 20, 2005 EC/CR122 N 
SR86, Kiowa 

Cowboy Camp fire, Colorado State Forest 
Service did three slurry dumps. More than 80 
firefighters, two single-engine air tankers and 30 
engines responded. 

800 acres 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Hazard Profile –Wildfire   173 173 

March 22, 2006 MM324 and 
Hwy 24 

Near Matheson Unknown 

March 21, 2008 
Northeast of 

Kiowa 

Magic Dog Ranch wildfire threatened eight 
structures. The fire started north of Highway 86. 
Around 150 firefighters and support staff 
responded. Fire was believed to be started due 
to an electric fence. 

500 acres 

May-June 2008 Countywide 
Multiple wildfires across County. No injuries or 
damage to structures.  

June 2012 Elbert 
County Road 102 fire resulted in evacuation of 
Town of Elbert. No damage to structures. 600 acres 

August 15, 2016 
County Rd 162 

Agate 

Basin fire, responding fire agencies: Agate, 
Elbert, Simla, Limon, Rattle Snake, Elizabeth, 
Deer Trail, North Central, Bennett and Byers. 
Initially reported as 2,000 acres burned, Sheriff 
later corrected number of acres. 

667 acres 

October 10, 2016 
East Gulch 

Bijou 
Bradberry fire 100-300 

acres 

March 4, 2018 Kiowa 
Forest Ridge fire. Five homes and four barns 
burned, when high winds drove a fire over the 
dry grass. 

353 acres 

June 15, 2022 Elbert 
A brush fire forced the evacuation of 200 people at 
the JCC Ranch, who were moved to Elbert High 
School. Roads were closed for approximately 4 
hours. 

 

Source: Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Planning Committee, Historic Fires Database 

Location 
Wildfires can affect communities across the county; however, the risk of wildfire is significantly higher 
for those who reside in the Wildland Urban Interface (WUI). See Figure 6.24 for the highest risk WUI 
areas across the county. 

Frequency 
Data on fire occurrence for Elbert County is sparse which creates difficulties when assessing frequency. 
Based on the best available records, fires occur approximately every 2 years  and have been close to 500 
acres on average. 

Severity 
Wildfire is indiscriminate in the areas it can spread and therefore almost all areas in the county are at 
risk of the hazard. Figure 6.23 shows the overall wildfire risk across the county and Figure 6.24 shows 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Hazard Profile –Wildfire   174 174 

areas of highest wildland urban interface (WUI) risk. Readers are directed to the Colorado Forest Atlas 
Wildfire Risk Viewer to learn more and access a web viewer of these various risk maps. 

The exposure analysis of structures and Lifelines at risk were assessed utilizing the highest (top 33%) 
wildfire risk areas within the county. This is to get a more practical picture of what structures and 
Lifelines are at the highest risk. The same is true for the Wildland Urban Interface analysis, where the 
highest risk analysis includes the top 33% of high WUI risk areas. 

Figure 6.23 Elbert County Wildfire Risk 

 
 

https://co-pub.coloradoforestatlas.org/#/
https://co-pub.coloradoforestatlas.org/#/


Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Hazard Profile –Wildfire   175 175 

Figure 6.24 Elbert County Wildland Urban Interface Risk 

 

Warning Time 
Wildfires are often caused by humans, either intentionally or accidentally. There is no way to predict 
when one might break out. Because fireworks often cause brush fires, extra diligence is warranted 
around the Fourth of July when the use of fireworks is highest. Dry seasons and droughts are factors 
that greatly increase fire likelihood. Dry lightning may trigger wildfires. Severe weather can be predicted, 
so special attention can be paid during weather events that may include lightning. Reliable National 
Weather Service lightning warnings are available on average 24 to 48 hours before a significant electrical 
storm. 

If a fire does break out and spreads rapidly, residents may need to evacuate within hours or minutes. A 
fire’s peak burning period generally is between 1 p.m. and 6 p.m. Once a fire has started, fire alerting is 
reasonably rapid in most cases. Improvements to communication technologies has further contributed 
to a significant improvement in warning time. 

Fuels, weather, and topography all contribute to fire spread rate. When considering fuels, there are 
multiple factors including type, especially dry and small vegetation, the quantity, and spacing of fuels 
(both horizontal and vertical). Weather influences spread based on wind and moisture. Topography 
includes slope, aspect, and terrain that each impact rate of spread in a variety of ways. Topography can 
increase the rate of spread up steep slopes, the amount of sunlight a fire gains heat from, and influence 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Hazard Profile –Wildfire   176 176 

the behavior of winds. Topography can also affect responder’s ability to access certain areas and 
suppress fire activity. 

Figure 6.25 shows the modeled wildfire rate of spread, with a majority of the county located in the very 
high and extreme categories. All municipalities are either in or near high to extreme rate of spread 
areas. 

Figure 6.25 Elbert County Wildfire Rate of Spread 

 

Secondary Hazards 
Wildfires can generate a range of secondary effects which in some cases may cause more widespread 
and prolonged damage than the fire itself. Fires can cause direct economic losses in the reduction of 
harvestable timber and indirect economic losses in reduced tourism. Wildfires cause the contamination 
of reservoirs, destroy transmission lines, and contribute to flooding.  

Most damaging, wildfires strip slopes of vegetation, exposing them to greater amounts of runoff. This in 
turn can weaken soils and cause failures on slopes. Major landslides can occur several years after a 
wildfire. Most wildfires burn hot and for long durations which can bake soils, especially those high in 
clay content. This increases the imperviousness of the ground which increases the runoff generated by 
storm events, thus increasing the chance of flooding and debris flow events. 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Hazard Profile –Wildfire   177 177 

Exposure and Vulnerability 
Lifelines 
The Transportation Lifeline, most roads and railroads, would be without damage except in the worst 
scenarios. Energy and Communications Lifelines may be impacted as power lines are the most at risk to 
wildfire, since most power poles are made of wood and susceptible to burning. In the event of a wildfire, 
the Energy Lifeline and public safety could be at risk if fuel pipelines lead to a catastrophic explosion. 
Structural Lifelines of wood frame construction are especially vulnerable during wildfire events.  

Fires can create conditions that block or prevent ingress / egress and can isolate residents and 
emergency service providers. 

There are multiple Lifelines with exposure to areas with the highest wildfire or WUI risk. There are two 
Tier II Hazardous Materials Facilities exposed to areas with the highest WUI risk; however, no exposure 
to highest risk of wildfire. 

The only Lifelines in Elbert County exposed to the highest risk of wildfire are located in Elizabeth, shown 
in Table 6.30. The Safety & Security Lifeline has no exposure. 

Table 6.30 Town of Elizabeth Lifelines Exposure to Areas at the Highest Risk of Wildfire 

Town of Elizabeth Lifelines Total Count Count Exposed  % Exposed to Risk 

Food, Water, & Shelter 9 3 33% 

Health & Medical 2 1 50% 

 

Table 6.31 through Table 6.34 show the Lifeline and Tier II Facility exposure to the areas with highest 
WUI risk by community. The countywide exposure is 46% of the Safety & Security Lifeline, with the 
highest percentages in Elbert and Agate. Elizabeth and Kiowa have similar exposure. 

Table 6.31 Safety & Security Lifeline Exposure to Areas with the Highest Wildland Urban Interface 
(WUI) Risk 

Safety & Security  Total Count Count Exposed  % Exposed to Risk 

Agate 2 1 50% 

Elbert 2 2 100% 

Elizabeth 11 4 36% 

Kiowa 9 4 44% 

County Total 33 11 33% 

 

The Food, Water, & Shelter Lifeline in Elbert County is 43% exposed to the areas with the highest WUI 
risk. This is based on the individual counts and exposures shown in Table 6.32, where both Kiowa and 
Parker have 100% exposure, followed closely by Simla with 75%, and finished by Elizabeth with 33% 
exposed. Kiowa and Simla have similar counts and the high exposure should be considered during future 
planning. 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Hazard Profile –Wildfire   178 178 

Table 6.32 Food, Water, & Shelter Lifeline Exposure to Areas with the Highest Wildland Urban 
Interface (WUI) Risk 

Food, Water, & Shelter Total Count Count Exposed  % Exposed to Risk 

Elizabeth 9 3 33% 

Kiowa 5 5 100% 

Parker 1 1 100% 

Simla 4 3 75% 

County Total 28 12 43% 

 

In Elbert County, the only Health & Medical Lifeline exposure to areas with the Highest WUI risk is in 
Elizabeth with 50% exposed. The total count in the county for Health & Medical Lifeline is four, with two 
in Elizabeth and one each in Simla and Kiowa. 

Table 6.33 Health & Medical Lifeline Exposure to Areas with the Highest Wildland Urban Interface 
(WUI) Risk 

Health & Medical Total Count Count Exposed  % Exposed to Risk 

Elizabeth 2 1 50% 

County Total 4 1 25% 

 

Of the 17 facilities in Elbert County, only two are exposed to areas with the highest WUI risk. Of these 
facilities, the majority are located in Kiowa, and the rest are spread across the county. 

Table 6.34 Tier II Hazardous Materials Facility Exposure to Areas with the Highest Wildland Urban 
Interface (WUI) Risk 

Tier II Hazardous Materials Facilities Total Count Count Exposed  % Exposed to Risk 

Elbert 2 2 100% 

County Total 17 2 12% 

 

People 
Smoke and air pollution from wildfires can be a severe health hazard, especially for sensitive 
populations, including children, the elderly, and those with respiratory and cardiovascular diseases. 
Smoke generated by wildfire consists of visible and invisible emissions that contain particulate matter 
(soot, tar, water vapor, and minerals), gases (carbon monoxide, carbon dioxide, nitrogen oxides), and 
toxics (formaldehyde, benzene). Emissions from wildfires depend on the type of fuel, the moisture 
content of the fuel, the efficiency (or temperature) of combustion, and the weather. Public health 
impacts associated with wildfire include difficulty in breathing, odor, and reduction in visibility. 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Hazard Profile –Wildfire   179 179 

Wildfire may also threaten the health and safety of those fighting the fires. First responders are exposed 
to the dangers from the initial incident and the after-effects from smoke inhalation and heat stroke. 

A report titled: ‘Ahead of the Fire: Where will the West’s next deadly wildfire strike? The risks are 
everywhere.’”5 was published in The Arizona Republic in the summer of 2019. The study, spurred by the 
devastating Paradise Fire in California, looked across 5,000 small communities throughout 11 states to 
determine wildfire risk. 

The analysis began with the U.S. Forest Service’s Wildfire Hazard Potential (WHP) which assigns a score 
to every 18-acre parcel of land in the country. The higher the score, the higher the probability the place 
will experience a catastrophic wildfire. 

Elizabeth, Kiowa, and Simla each have results from the analysis which are shown in Figure 6.26 through 
Figure 6.28. Inputs into this analysis included a wildfire hazard potential dataset, in addition to the 
following inputs: evacuation routes, resident age, disabilities, and language spoken, emergency alerts, 
and mobile home inventories. Note that the demographic data utilized aligns with access and functional 
needs (AFN) categories.  

Elizabeth has a score approximately double the wildfire hazard potential as both Kiowa and Simla. 
However, Elizabeth has the lowest evacuation constraint score. Per the Arizona Republic report, 
evacuation constraint refers to how “limited routes out of a community can lead to mass congestion 
during evacuation. Evacuation constraint is measured as the ratio of total households (including 
seasonal residences) to major roads that exit a community.” 

While Kiowa and Simla have similar demographics to Elizabeth, the vegetation, slope, and other 
environmental factors also impact the ultimate score, as well as other considerations such as emergency 
alerts. 

 

 

 
5 Ahead of the Fire: Where will the West’s next deadly wildfire strike?  

https://www.azcentral.com/in-depth/news/local/arizona-wildfires/2019/07/22/wildfire-risks-more-than-500-spots-have-greater-hazard-than-paradise/1434502001/


Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Hazard Profile –Wildfire   180 180 

Figure 6.26 Town of Elizabeth “Ahead of the Fire” Report 

 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Hazard Profile –Wildfire   181 181 

Figure 6.27 Town of Kiowa “Ahead of the Fire” Report

 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Hazard Profile –Wildfire   182 182 

Figure 6.28 Town of Simla “Ahead of the Fire” Report

 
 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Hazard Profile –Wildfire   183 183 

Environment 
Fire is a natural and critical ecosystem process in most terrestrial ecosystems, dictating in part the types, 
structure, and spatial extent of native vegetation. However, wildfires can cause severe environmental 
impacts: 

• Damaged Fisheries – Critical fisheries can suffer from increased water temperatures, 
sedimentation, and changes in water quality. 

• Soil Erosion – The protective covering provided by foliage and dead organic matter is 
removed, leaving the soil fully exposed to wind and water erosion. Accelerated soil erosion 
can occur, causing landslides and threatening aquatic habitats. 

• Spread of Invasive Plant Species – Non-native woody plant species frequently invade burned 
areas. When weeds become established, they can dominate the plant cover over broad 
landscapes, and become difficult and costly to control. 

• Disease and Insect Infestations – Unless diseased or insect-infested trees are swiftly 
removed, infestations and disease can spread to healthy forests and private lands. Timely 
active management actions are needed to remove diseased or infested trees. 

• Destroyed Endangered Species Habitat – Catastrophic fires can have devastating 
consequences for endangered species. 

• Soil Sterilization – Topsoil exposed to extreme heat can become water repellant, and soil 
nutrients may be lost. It can take decades or even centuries for ecosystems to recover from a 
fire. Some fires burn so hot they can sterilize the soil. 

Many ecosystems are adapted to historical patterns of fire occurrence. These patterns, called “fire 
regimes,” include temporal attributes (e.g., frequency and seasonality), spatial attributes (e.g., size and 
spatial complexity), and magnitude attributes (e.g., intensity and severity), each of which have ranges of 
natural variability. Ecosystem stability is threatened when any of the attributes for a given fire regime 
diverge from its range of natural variability. 

Property 
Property damage from wildfires can be severe and can significantly alter entire communities. Based on 
an evaluation of best available structure footprint data for the county, there are 2,427 buildings across 
the county identified as being within the county’s highest (top 33%) wildfire risk areas. A similar analysis 
of WUI risk areas show that 2,701 buildings are located in the county’s (and state’s) highest (top 33%) 
WUI risk areas. Table 6.35 and Table 6.36 show the locations and types of these structures. 

While this analysis attempts to quantify those structures at most risk across the county, it should be 
noted that all property is potentially vulnerable to wildfire. 

Table 6.35 Building Footprint Exposure to Areas at the Highest Risk of Wildfire 

 Residential Commercial Industrial Agricultural Exempt 

Elbert 68 3  29  

Elizabeth 1,976 13 5 301 15 

Kiowa 12   4  

TOTAL 2,057 16 5 334 15 

 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Hazard Profile –Wildfire   184 184 

Table 6.36 Building Footprint Exposure to Areas with the Highest Wildland Urban Interface (WUI) Risk 

 Residential Commercial Industrial Agricultural Exempt 

Agate 6 1  1 2 

Elbert 72 10  3 8 

Elizabeth 2,031 17 2 32 38 

Kiowa 300 11  15 22 

Matheson 4   7  

Simla 101 4  5 7 

TOTAL 2,514 43 2 64 78 

 

Data from the Elbert County assessor was utilized to show the type and value of parcels exposed to the 
areas with the highest wildfire and WUI. Parcel level data may contain multiple structures, but it is 
possible only one structures is exposed to the hazard area. Hazard layers are not exact and therefore it 
can be difficult to determine exposure and value at a building footprint level. Parcel level data allows an 
overview of the value of parcels with exposure to the hazard Iayer. 

The values in Table 6.37 and Table 6.38 are listed as the total actual values of parcels per the county 
assessor data.  

The residential parcels in the highest wildfire risk areas have a value of over $720 million and 96% of 
these parcels are located in Elizabeth. Agricultural parcels have the next highest value at approximately 
$72 million, followed by exempt parcels at over $12 million in value and commercial parcel value of over 
$10 million. Elizabeth is the only location with exposed industrial parcels which are valued at 
approximately $760,000. 

Table 6.37 Value of Parcels Exposed to Areas at the Highest Risk of Wildfire  

 Residential Commercial Industrial Agricultural Exempt 

Elbert $25,740,000 $180,700  $3,580,000  

Elizabeth $690,280,000 $9,900,000 $760,630 $67,880,000 $12,050,000 

Kiowa $4,735,000   $714,000  

TOTAL $720,755,000 $10,080,700 $760,630 $72,174,000 $12,050,000 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Hazard Profile –Wildfire   185 185 

 
The residential parcels in the highest WUI risk areas have a value of over $844 million. Exempt parcels 
have the next highest value at approximately $25.6 million, followed by agricultural parcels at over 
$13.6 million in value. Commercial parcel value is approximately $9 million in the county and the only 
industrial parcels exposed are located in Elizabeth with a value of $341,000.  

Elizabeth holds the highest parcel values across all types, equating to approximately 86% of the total 
value of exposed parcels in the county. Kiowa carries the next highest with roughly 10% of the total 
parcel value exposed. 

Table 6.38 Value of Parcels Exposed to Areas with the Highest Wildland Urban Interface (WUI) Risk  

 Residential Commercial Industrial Agricultural Exempt 

Agate $214,000 $3,300  $25,000 $183,000 

Elbert $15,000,000 $1,600,000  $996,000 $1,524,000 

Elizabeth $742,000,000 $6,000,000 $341,000 $8,150,000 $15,360,000 

Kiowa $76,400,000 $1,100,000  $3,500,000 $8,120,000 

Matheson $243,600   $537,000  

Simla $10,400,00 $282,000  $417,000 $435,500 

TOTAL $844,257,600 $8,985,300 $341,000 $13,625,000 $25,622,500 

 

Economy 
Wildfire can impact the economy due to potential damage to property, crops, and livestock. There may 
be direct costs due to losses and indirect costs for the loss of work that comes from harvest and 
livestock transport. Overhead that may result during repair or reconstruction of properties may also be 
an indirect cost. 

If roads are closed or areas are evacuated due to a fire, transport may be limited, and businesses may 
have to close. While this can typically be a short-term impact, prolonged wildfires can have a large 
impact on the operations of a community and its economy. 

Future Trends in Development 
Future population change across the county is expected to be 2.7% annually over the next decade. This 
is a considerable increase from the annual growth experienced over the last five years (1.7%). As some 
of these areas are at a higher risk to wildfire and located in the WUI, future development has the 
potential to greatly increase the risk to this hazard.  

While the risk of wildfire on public land is generally understood, much of the adjacent private land is 
equally at risk. Private lands adjoining public lands are becoming increasingly valued for their scenic 
beauty, solitude, and access to recreation opportunities. As development in these areas continue to 
increase, the risk to lives, property, and resources correspondingly increases. 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Hazard Profile –Wildfire   186 186 

The expansion of the WUI can be managed with strong land use and building codes. In May 1972, a 
revision to the Colorado Revised Statutes exempted properties divided into parcels of 35 acres or more 
from the statutory definition of a subdivision. Tracts of 35-acre lots developed since that time have not 
been subject to state or local subdivision regulations. 

The county and both towns have adopted the 2018 International Building Code (IBC), and Simla has 
previously adopted building codes. This is crucial to public safety as growth continues and development 
increases. Adherence to these existing building codes and including adoption of more recent codes by 
Simla will ensure construction is more likely to withstand a wildfire event. 

Probability of Future Occurrences 
Considering the minimal history of fire in the county, it would seem probability is low. However, as was 
seen by the recent 2021 Marshall Wildfire in Boulder County, wildland fires are capable of catastrophic 
damage in areas typically considered low risk. 

With the increasing population in Elbert County, the wildfire and WUI risk areas are expected to see 
more construction and structures. More development in these areas poses new considerations for 
probability, as humans are the most significant cause of wildfire. 

Climate change impacts will likely have an unpredictable impact on wildfire occurrences in the county. 

Climate Change Impacts 
Fire in western ecosystems is affected by climate variability, local topography, and human intervention. 
Climate change has the potential to affect multiple elements of the wildfire system: fire behavior, 
ignitions, fire management, and vegetation fuels. Hot, dry spells create the highest fire risk. Increased 
temperatures may intensify wildfire danger by warming and drying out vegetation. When climate alters 
fuel loads and fuel moisture, forest susceptibility to wildfires changes. Faster fires are harder to contain, 
and thus are more likely to expand into residential neighborhoods. 

According to the 2018 State of Colorado Hazard Mitigation Plan, “statewide annual average 
temperatures have increased by 2.0°F over the past 30 years and 2.5°F over the past 50 years. Warming 
trends have been observed over these periods in most parts of the state.”  

Such conditions can exacerbate drought, further promoting wildfires which then release stores of 
carbon and further contribute to the buildup of greenhouse gases.  



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Fire Protection Districts    187 187 

5 FIRE PROTECTION DISTRICTS 
Figure 3.1 Elbert County Overview shows all local fire protection districts across Elbert County. The 
following contributed to the content included in this HMP: 

• Elizabeth Fire Protection District 
• Kiowa Fire Protection District 
• Rattlesnake Fire Protection District 
• Simla (Big Sandy) Fire Protection District 
• North Central Fire Protection District 
• Agate Fire Protection District 

5.1 FPD Capabilities 
Fire protection districts have a wide range of capabilities depending on a multitude of factors such as 
funding, personnel availability, and community need. A summary of these capabilities are presented in 
the following tables.  

Table 7.1 Personnel Availability 

Personnel Full Time Part Time Volunteer 

Elizabeth FPD 26 10 11 

North Central FPD   9 

Kiowa FPD 4 2 19 

Big Sandy FPD 1 1 12 

Agate FPD   15 

Rattlesnake FPD 14 8 32 

 

Facilities – Elizabeth FPD operates out of four facilities with a personnel capacity of 12 and North Central 
FPD operates out of one facility. Kiowa FPD utilizes three facilities for operations, while Big Sandy FPD is 
based at one facility. Agate FPD uses two facilities with a personnel capacity of 15 and Rattlesnake FPD 
utilizes five facilities. 

These facilities are included in the countywide risk assessment of the Safety & Security Lifeline. The 
hazard exposure analysis overview in this plan does not detail specific Lifeline subcomponent exposure. 
However, communities and fire protection districts use the comprehensive analysis data of 
subcomponent exposure at the local level to identify mitigation goals and community priorities.  

 

 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Fire Protection Districts    188 188 

Table 7.2 Training Capacity 

Training FF-1 FF-2 EMT-1 
EMT 

Paramedic 

Wildland 
Fire  

(S-130/190) 

Elizabeth FPD 46 9 44 13 44 

North Central FPD   3  8 

Kiowa FPD 13 6 16 8 25 

Big Sandy FPD 1  3  2 

Agate FPD 3 2 3 3 3 

Rattlesnake FPD 33 8 29 7 31 

 

Table 7.3 Mutual Aid Agreements 

Elizabeth FPD  
Mutual Aid 
Agreements 

North 
Central FPD  
Mutual Aid 
Agreements 

Kiowa FPD 
Mutual Aid 
Agreements 

Big Sandy 
FPD Mutual 

Aid 
Agreements 

Agate FPD 
Mutual Aid 
Agreements 

Rattlesnake FPD 
Mutual Aid 
Agreements 

Agate Fire Agate Fire Agate Fire Elbert Fire Deer Trail Fire All Elbert County 

Big Sandy Fire Byers Fire Big Sandy 
Fire 

Elizabeth 
Fire 

Elbert Fire 
All Douglas 

County 

Elbert Fire Elbert Fire Elbert Fire Kiowa Fire Elizabeth Fire 
All Arapahoe 

County 

Franktown Fire Kiowa Fire Elizabeth 
Fire 

North 
Central Fire 

Hugo Fire  

Kiowa Fire Rattlesnake 
Fire 

Franktown 
Fire 

Rattlesnake 
Fire Kiowa Fire  

Rattlesnake Fire  North 
Central Fire Calhan Fire Limon Fire  

South Metro Fire  Rattlesnake 
Fire 

Tri-County 
Fire North Central Fire  

   Limon Fire Rattlesnake Fire  

    Simla Fire  

 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Fire Protection Districts    189 189 

 

Table 7.4 Engine Type and Avai–ability 

Apparatus - 
Engines 

Type 
1 

Type 
2 

Type 
3 

Type 
4 

Type 
5 

Type 
6 

Type 
7 

Pump 
and 
Roll 

Foam 
Capabilities 

All-
Terrain 
Vehicle 
(ATV) 

Elizabeth FPD 3     3  3 3  

North Central 
FPD 1    1 1  1 2 1 

Kiowa FPD 2     3   3 1 

Big Sandy FPD 1  1  3   2 1  

Agate FPD 2   2  1  3 5  

Rattlesnake FPD 5 2    5 5 Yes Yes  

 

 

Table 7.5 Water Tender Availability 

Apparatus –  
Water Tenders (gallons) S-1 S-2 S-3 T-1 T-2 

Elizabeth FPD 4,000 2,100 3,000   

North Central FPD    3,000 1,800 

Kiowa FPD 3,400     

Big Sandy FPD 4,000   2,000  

Agate FPD 4,000 2,000    

Rattlesnake FPD    3,000 3,000 

 
 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Fire Protection Districts    190 190 

Table 7.6 SCBAs and Communications 

Apparatus – SCBAs / 
Communications 

Elizabeth 
FPD 

North 
Central 

FPD 
Kiowa 

FPD 
Big Sandy 

FPD 
Agate 
FPD 

Rattlesnake 
FPD 

Breathing Apparatus 
(SCBAs) 

40 - all–
>5 years 

in use 

6 - all –5 
years in 

use 

20 - all –5 
years in 

use 

12 - all >5 
years in 

use 

15 - all >5 
years in 

use 

48 

Radios – Mobile Units  23 6 15 12 21 35 

Radios – Handheld Units 54 12 25 24 40  

 

 

Table 7.7 Reliable Waterworks and Water Storage 

Reliable Waterworks 
and Water Storage 

Elizabeth 
FPD 

North 
Central 

FPD 
Kiowa 

FPD 
Big Sandy 

FPD 
Agate 
FPD 

Rattlesnake 
FPD 

Flow Rate Range 1000gpm-
2500gpm   100-

1000gpm 
100-

1000gpm  

Mapped Hydrants   Yes  52 Yes Yes Yes 

Hydrants Tested 
Annually Yes   None No Yes 

Water Storage Tanks – 
12,000 gallons 3   1   

Water Storage Tanks – 
15,000 gallons 1      

Water Storage Tanks – 
16,000 gallons 2      

Water Storage Tanks – 
20,000 gallons 4      

Water Storage Tanks – 
30,000 gallons 9 1  1   

Water Storage Tanks – 
35,000 gallons      2 

Water Storage Tanks – 
60,000 gallons      2 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Fire Protection Districts    191 191 

Reliable Waterworks 
and Water Storage 

Elizabeth 
FPD 

North 
Central 

FPD 
Kiowa 

FPD 
Big Sandy 

FPD 
Agate 
FPD 

Rattlesnake 
FPD 

Water Storage Tanks – 
70,000 gallons     1  

Water Storage Tanks – 
100,000 gallons   1    

Water Storage Tanks – 
350,000 gallons    1   

Water Storage Tanks – 
1,000,000 gallons   1    

 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Wildfire Risk Assessment Summary Report   192 192 

6 WILDFIRE RISK ASSESSMENT SUMMARY REPORT 
 



ElbertHMP

2022
COLORADO WILDFIRE 

RISK ASSESSMENT 

SUMMARY REPORT



Report was generated using

www.ColoradoForestAtlas.org

Report version: 1.1.1

Report generated: 2022-07-06

https://www.coloradoforestatlas.org/


1

2

2

9
9

13

15
30

33

36

39
42

45

47
50

53

57

61

65

70
74

77

80
83

84

87

Table of Contents
Disclaimer

Introduction

Products

Wildland Urban Interface
Wildland Urban Interface (WUI) Risk Index

Firewise USA

Community Wildfire Protection Plans (CWPPs)
Wildfire Risk

Burn Probability

Values at Risk Rating

Suppression Difficulty Rating
Fire Occurrence

Fire Behavior

Characteristic Rate of Spread
Characteristic Flame Length

Fire Intensity Scale

Fire Type – Extreme Weather

Surface Fuels

Vegetation

Drinking Water Importance Areas
Drinking Water Risk Index

Riparian Assets

Riparian Assets Risk Index
Forest Assets

Forest Assets Risk Index

References



Disclaimer
Colorado State Forest Service makes no warranties or guarantees, either expressed or implied as to the completeness, accuracy, or correctness of the data portrayed in this product
nor accepts any liability, arising from any incorrect, incomplete or misleading information contained therein. All information, data and databases are provided "As Is" with no
warranty, expressed or implied, including but not limited to, fitness for a particular purpose.

User should also note that property boundaries included in any product do not represent an on-the-ground survey suitable for legal, engineering, or surveying purposes. They
represent only the approximate relative locations.



Introduction
Colorado Wildfire Risk Assessment Report
Welcome to the Colorado Wildfire Risk Assessment Summary Reporting Tool.

This tool allows users of the Risk Reduction Planner application of the Colorado Forest Atlas web portal to define a specific project area and generate information for this area. A
detailed risk summary report can be generated using a set of predefined map products developed by the Colorado Wildfire Risk Assessment project which have been summarized
explicitly for the user defined project area. The report is generated in PDF format.

The report has been designed so that information from the report can be copied
and pasted into other specific plans, reports, or documents depending on user
needs. Examples include, but are not limited to, Community Wildfire Protection
Plans, Local Fire Plans, Fuels Mitigation Plans, Hazard Mitigation Plans,
Homeowner Risk Assessments, and Forest Management or Stewardship Plans.
Example templates for some of these reports are available for download on the
Colorado Forest Atlas web portal.

The Colorado WRA provides a consistent, comparable set of scientific results to
be used as a foundation for wildfire mitigation and prevention planning in
Colorado.

Results of the assessment can be used to help prioritize areas in the state where
mitigation treatments, community interaction and education, or tactical analyses
might be necessary to reduce risk from wildfires.

The Colorado WRA products included in this report are designed to provide the
information needed to support the following key priorities:

Identify areas that are most prone to wildfire
Plan and prioritize hazardous fuel treatment programs
Allow agencies to work together to better define priorities and improve
emergency response, particularly across jurisdictional boundaries
Increase communication with local residents and the public to address
community priorities and needs



Products
Each product in this report is accompanied by a general description, table, chart and/or map. A list of available Colorado WRA products in this report is provided in the following
table.

COWRA Product Description

Wildfire Risk The overall composite risk occurring from a wildfire derived by combining Burn Probability and Values at
Risk Rating

Burn Probability Annual probability of any location burning due to wildfire

Fire Intensity Scale Quantifies the potential fire intensity by orders of magnitude

Wildland Urban
Interface Housing density depicting where humans and their structures meet or intermix with wildland fuel

Wildland Urban
Interface Risk Annual probability of any location burning due to wildfire

Values at Risk Rating A composite rating of values and assets that would be adversely impacted by a wildfire by combining
the four main risk outputs

Suppression Difficulty
Rating

Reflects the difficulty or relative cost to suppress a fire given the terrain and vegetation conditions that
may impact machine operability

Drinking Water Risk
Index

A measure of the risk to Drinking Water Risk Index Areas (DWIA) based on the potential negative
impacts from wildfire

Forest Assets Risk
Index A measure of the risk to forested areas based on the potential negative impacts from wildfire

Riparian Assets Risk
Index A measure of the risk to riparian areas based on the potential negative impacts from wildfire

Characteristic Flame
Length A measure of the expected flame length of a potential fire



COWRA Product Description

Characteristic Rate of Spread A measure of the expected rate of spread of a potential fire

Fire Type Extreme Weather Represents the potential fire type under the extreme percentile weather category

Surface Fuels A measure of the expected rate of spread of a potential fire

Characteristic Rate of Spread Characterization of surface fuel models that contain the parameters for calculating fire behavior
outputs

Vegetation General vegetation and landcover types

Forest Assets Identifies forested land categorized by susceptibility or response to fire

Riparian Assets Forested riparian areas characterized by functions of water quantity and quality, and ecology

Drinking Water Importance
Areas A measure of quality and quantity of public surface drinking water categorized by watershed



Wildland Urban Interface
Description

Colorado is one of the fastest growing states in the Nation, with much of this growth
occurring outside urban boundaries. This increase in population across the state will
impact counties and communities that are located within the Wildland Urban
Interface (WUI). The WUI is described as the area where structures and other human
improvements meet and intermingle with undeveloped wildland or vegetative fuels.
Population growth within the WUI substantially increases the risk from wildfire.

For the ElbertHMP project area, it is estimated that 25,183 people or 99.8 %
percent of the total project area population (25,231) live within the WUI.

The Wildland Urban Interface (WUI) layer reflects housing density depicting
where humans and their structures meet or intermix with wildland fuels. In the
past, conventional wildland-urban interface datasets, such as USFS SILVIS, have
been used to reflect these concerns. However, USFS SILVIS and other existing data
sources did not provide the level of detail needed by the Colorado State Forest
Service and local fire protection agencies.

The new WUI dataset is derived using advanced modeling techniques based on the
Where People Live dataset and 2016 LandScan USA population count data available
from the Department of Homeland Security, HSIP dataset. WUI is simply a subset of
the Where People Live dataset. The primary difference is populated areas surrounded
by sufficient non-burnable areas (i.e. interior urban areas) are removed from the
Where People Live dataset, as these areas are not expected to be directly impacted by
a wildfire. This accommodates WUI areas based on encroachment into urban areas
where wildland fire is likely to spread.



A more detailed description of the risk assessment algorithms is provided in the Colorado Wildfire Risk Assessment (Colorado WRA) Final Report, which can be downloaded
from www.ColoradoForestAtlas.org.

Data are modeled at a 30-meter cell resolution (30 m2 or 900 m area per map cell), which is consistent with other Colorado WRA layers. The WUI classes are based on the
number of houses per acre. Class breaks are based on densities understood and commonly used for fire protection planning.

Housing Density WUI Population Percent of WUI Population WUI Acres Percent of WUI Acres

Less than 1 house/40 ac 752 3.0 % 29,823 30.9 %

1 house/40 ac to 1 house/20 ac 1,542 6.1 % 19,534 20.2 %

1 house/20 ac to 1 house/10 ac 2,831 11.2 % 16,330 16.9 %

1 house/10 ac to 1 house/5 ac 6,315 25.2 % 17,535 18.2 %

1 house/5 ac to 1 house/2 ac 8,964 35.8 % 11,178 11.6 %

1 house/2 ac to 3 houses/ac 4,779 19.6 % 2,175 2.3 %

More than 3 houses/ac 0 0.0 % 0 0 %

Total 25,183 100.0 % 96,574 100.0 %

https://www.coloradoforestatlas.org/








Wildland Urban Interface (WUI) Risk Index
Description

The Wildland-Urban Interface (WUI) Risk Index layer is a rating of the
potential impact of a wildfire on people and their homes. The key input, WUI,
reflects housing density (houses per acre) consistent with Federal Register National
standards. The location of people living in the wildland-urban interface and rural
areas is essential for defining potential wildfire impacts to people and homes.

The WUI Risk Index is derived using a response function modeling approach.
Response functions are a method of assigning a net change in the value to a resource
or asset based on susceptibility to fire at different intensity levels, such as flame
length.

To calculate the WUI Risk Index, the WUI housing density data were combined with
flame length data and response functions were defined to represent potential impacts.
The response functions were defined by a team of experts led by Colorado State
Forest

Service mitigation planning staff. By combining flame length with the WUI housing
density data, it is possible to determine where the greatest potential impact to homes
and people is likely to occur.

The range of values is from -1 to -9, with -1 representing the least negative impact
and -9 representing the most negative impact. For example, areas with high housing
density and high flame lengths are rated -9, while areas with low housing density and
low flame lengths are rated -1.

The WUI Risk Index has been calculated consistently for all areas in Colorado,
which allows for comparison and ordination of areas across the entire state. Data are
modeled at a 30-meter cell resolution, which is consistent with other Colorado WRA
layers.

WUI Risk Class Acres Percent

-1 (Least Negative Impact) 5,065 5.0 %

-2 33,244 33.1 %

-3 17,000 16.9 %

-4 15,350 15.3 %

-5 14,152 14.1 %

-6 10,218 10.2 %

-7 1,547 1.5 %

-8 2,210 2.2 %

-9 (Most Negative Impact) 1,550 1.5 %

Total 100,336 100 %







Firewise USA®
Description
Firewise USA® is a national recognition program that provides resources to inform communities how to adapt to living with wildfire and encourages neighbors to take action
together to reduce their wildfire risk. Colorado communities that take the following five steps can be recognized as Firewise:

1. Form a Firewise board or committee

2. Obtain a wildfire risk assessment from the CSFS or local fire department, and create an
action plan

3. Hold a Firewise event once per year

4. Invest a minimum of $24.14 per dwelling unit in local Firewise actions annually

5. Create a National Fire Prevention Association (NFPA) profile and follow the
application directions located at https://portal.firewise.org/user/login

The Firewise USA® dataset defines the boundaries of the recognized communities. Mapping Firewise USA®
boundaries will generally be completed by CSFS staff.

Note: These are estimated boundaries using a variety of methods with varying degrees of accuracy. These are not legal boundaries and should not be construed as such. The
boundaries may overlap with CWPP areas and are subject to change over time as the communities develop, change, and continue to implement wildfire mitigation efforts.

To learn more about the Firewise USA® recognition program or to fill out an application, visit https://www.nfpa.org/Public-Education/By-topic/Wildfire/Firewise-USA - OR -
https://csfs.colostate.edu/wildfire-mitigation/colorado-firewise-communities/

The designated area does not contain data for this section.

https://portal.firewise.org/user/login
https://www.nfpa.org/Public-Education/By-topic/Wildfire/Firewise-USA
https://csfs.colostate.edu/wildfire-mitigation/colorado-firewise-communities/




Community input is the foundation of a Community Wildfire
Protection Plan that identfies community needs and garners
community support.

Community Wildfire Protection Plans (CWPPs)
Description
A Community Wildfire Protection Plan (CWPP) is a document developed and agreed upon by a community to identify how the community will reduce its wildfire risk. CWPPs
identify areas where fuels reduction is needed to reduce wildfire threats to communities and critical infrastructure, address protection of homes and other structures, and plan for
wildfire response capability. The Colorado State Forest Service (CSFS) supports the development and implementation of CWPPs and provides resources, educational materials
and information to those interested in developing CWPPs.

The CWPP dataset represents the boundaries of those areas that have developed a
CWPP. Note that CWPPs can be developed by different groups at varying scales, such
as county, Fire Protection District (FPD), community/subdivision, HOA, etc., and as
such, can overlap. In addition, the CWPPs can be from different dates. Often a county
CWPP is completed first with subsequently more detailed CWPPs done for local
communities within that county or FPD. CO-WRAP provides a tool that allows the user
to select the CWPP area and retrieve the CWPP document for review (PDF).

At a minimum, a CWPP should include:

The wildland-urban interface (WUI) boundary, defined on a map, where people,
structures and other community values are most likely to be negatively impacted
by wildfire
The CSFS, local fire authority and local government involvement and any
additional stakeholders
A narrative that identifies the community’s values and fuel hazards
The community’s plan for when a wildfire occurs
An implementation plan that identifies areas of high priority for fuels treatments

CWPPs are not shelf documents and should be reviewed, tracked and updated. A plan
stays alive when it is periodically updated to address the accomplishments of the
community. Community review of progress in meeting plan objectives and determining
areas of new concern where actions must be taken to reduce wildfire risk helps the
community stay current with changing environment and wildfire mitigation priorities.

If your community is in an area at risk from wildfire, now is a good time to start working with neighbors on a CWPP and preparing forfuture wildfires. Contact your local CSFS
district to learn how to start this process and create a CWPP for your community: http://csfs.colostate.edu/pages/your-local-forester.html

For the ElbertHMP test project area, there are 4 CWPPs areas that are totally or partially in the defined project area.

http://csfs.colostate.edu/pages/your-local-forester.html


Community CWPP Name CWPP Type CSFS District Acres inside project area Total Acres

Arapahoe County County Franktown 26 515,122

El Paso County County Woodland Park 13 1,361,915

Douglas County County Franktown 20 538,860

South Metro Fire Rescue Authority FPD Franktown 2 118,409

Total Acres 61 2,534,306







Wildfire Risk
Description
Wildfire Risk is a composite risk rating obtained by combining the probability of a fire occurring with the individual values at risk layers. Risk is defined as the
possibility of loss or harm occurring from a wildfire. It identifies areas with the greatest potential impacts from a wildfire – i.e. those areas most at risk - considering all values
and assets combined together – WUI Risk, Drinking Water Risk, Forest Assets Risk and Riparian Areas Risk.

Since all areas in Colorado have risk calculated consistently, it allows for
comparison and ordination of areas across the entire state. The Values at Risk
Rating is a key component of Wildfire Risk. The Values at Risk Rating is
comprised of several inputs focusing on values and assets at risk. This includes
Wildland Urban Interface, Forest Assets, Riparian Assets and Drinking Water
Importance Areas (watersheds).

To aid in the use of Wildfire Risk for planning activities, the output values are
categorized into five (5) classes. These are given general descriptions from
Lowest to Highest Risk.

Wildfire Risk Class Acres Percent

Non-Burnable 97,033 8.2 %

Lowest Risk 846,548 71.5 %

Low Risk 126,843 10.7 %

Moderate Risk 86,143 7.3 %

High Risk 27,194 2.3 %

Highest Risk 155 0.0 %

Total 1,183,916 100 %







Burn Probability
Class Acres Percent

Non-Burnable 128 0.0 %

Very Low 253,931 23.4 %

Very Low-Low 243,382 22.4 %

Low 183,558 16.9 %

Low-Moderate 84,674 7.8 %

Moderate 213,363 19.6 %

Moderate-High 91,553 8.4 %

High 16,320 1.5 %

High-Very High 0 0 %

Very High 0 0 %

Total 1,086,908 100 %

Burn Probability
Description
Burn Probability (BP) is the annual probability of any location burning due to a wildfire. BP is calculated as the number of times that a 30-meter cell on the landscape is
burned from millions of fire simulations. The annual BP was estimated by using a stochastic (Monte Carlo) wildfire simulation approach with Technosylva’s Wildfire Analyst
software (www.WildfireAnalyst.com).

A total number of 3,200,000 fires were simulated across the state, including those fires outside the Colorado border which were used in a buffer area around the state, to compute
BP with a mean ignition density of 8.68 fires/km2. The simulation ignition points were spatially distributed evenly every 500 meters across the state. Only high and extreme
weather conditions were used to run the simulations. All fires simulations had a duration of 10 hours.

The Wildfire Analyst fire simulator considered the number of times that the simulated fires burned each
cell. After that, results were weighted by considering the historical fire occurrence of those fires that
burned in high and extreme weather conditions. The weighting was done by assessing the relationship
between the annual historical fire ignition density in Colorado and the total number of simulated fires with
varying input data in the different weather scenarios and the historical spatial distribution of the ignition
points.

The probability map is derived at a 30-meter resolution. This scale of data was chosen to be consistent
with the accuracy of the primary surface fuels dataset used in the assessment. While not appropriate for
site specific analysis, it is appropriate for regional, county or local protection mitigation or prevention
planning.

To aid in the use of Burn Probability for planning activities, the output values are categorized into 10 (ten)
classes. These are given general descriptions from Lowest to Highest Probability.

A more detailed description of the risk assessment algorithms is provided in the Colorado WRA Final
Report, which can be downloaded from www.ColoradoForestAtlas.org.

https://www.wildfireanalyst.com/
https://www.coloradoforestatlas.org/






Values at Risk Class Acres Percent

-1 (Least Negative Impact) 949,329 86.9 %

-2 89,916 8.2 %

-3 37,162 3.4 %

-4 12,339 1.1 %

-5 2,714 0.2 %

-6 473 0.0 %

-7 72 0.0 %

-8 0 0 %

-9 (Most Negative Impact) 0 0 %

Total 1,092,006 100 %

Values at Risk Rating
Description
Represents those values or assets that would be adversely impacted by a wildfire. The Values at Risk Rating is an overall rating that combines the risk ratings for Wildland
Urban Interface (WUI), Forest Assets, Riparian Assets, and Drinking Water Importance Areas into a single measure of values-at-risk. The individual ratings for each value layer
were derived using a Response Function approach.

Response functions are a method of assigning a net change in the value to a resource or asset based on susceptibility to fire at different intensity levels. A resource or asset is any
of the Fire Effects input layers, such as WUI, Forest Assets, etc. These net changes can be adverse (negative) or positive (beneficial).

Calculating the Values at Risk Rating at a given location requires spatially defined estimates of the intensity of fire integrated with the identified resource value. This interaction
is quantified through the use of response functions that estimate expected impacts to resources or assets at the specified fire intensity levels. The measure of fire intensity level
used in the Colorado assessment is flame length for a location. Response Function outputs were derived for each input dataset and then combined to derive the Values Impacted
Rating.

Different weightings are used for each of the input layers with the highest priority placed on
protection of people and structures (i.e. WUI). The weightings represent the value associated with
those assets. Weightings were developed by a team of experts during the assessment to reflect
priorities for fire protection planning in Colorado. Refer to the Colorado WRA Final Report for
more information about the layer weightings.

Since all areas in Colorado have the Values at Risk Rating calculated consistently, it allows for
comparison and ordination of areas across the entire state. The data were derived at a 30-meter
resolution.







Suppression Difficulty Rating
Description
Reflects the difficulty or relative cost to suppress a fire given the terrain and vegetation conditions that may impact machine operability. This layer is an overall index
that combines the slope steepness and the vegetation/fuel type characterization to identify areas where it would be difficult or costly to suppress a fire due to the underlying
terrain and vegetation conditions that would impact machine operability (in particular Type II dozer).

The rating was calculated based on the fireline production rates for hand crews and engines with modifications for slope, as documented in the NWCG Fireline Handbook 3,
PMS 401-1.

The burnable fuel models in the Colorado WRA were grouped into ten categories: Grass, Grass/Shrub, Shrub/Regeneration, Moderate Forest, Heavy Forest, Swamp/Marsh,
Agriculture, Barren, Urban/Developed, Water/Ice.

Fireline production capability on six slope classes was used as the basic reference to obtain the suppression difficulty score. The response function category is assigned to each
combination of fuel model group and slope category.

SDR Class Acres Percent

No Limitations 916,589 77.5 %

Slight 216,654 18.3 %

Slight to Moderate 21,764 1.8 %

Moderate 5,572 0.5 %

Moderate to Significant 16,521 1.4 %

Significant 3,918 0.3 %

Significant to Severe 1,555 0.1 %

Severe 663 0.1 %

Inoperable 191 0.0 %

Total 1,183,428 100 %







Fire Occurrence Class Acres Percent

Non Burnable 96,954 8.2 %

1 (Lowest Occurrence) 421,086 35.6 %

2 396,651 33.5 %

3 64,871 5.5 %

4 54,073 4.6 %

5 57,456 4.9 %

6 59,285 5.0 %

7 18,302 1.5 %

8 10,358 0.9 %

9 (Highest Occurrence) 4,878 0.4 %

Total 1,183,916 100 %

Fire Occurrence
Description
Fire Occurrence is an ignition density that represents the likelihood of a wildfire starting based on historical ignition patterns. Occurrence is derived by modeling historic
wildfire ignition locations to create an ignition density map.

Historic fire report data were used to create the ignition points for all Colorado fires. The compiled fire occurrence database was cleaned to remove duplicate records and to
correct inaccurate locations. The database was then modeled to create a density map reflecting historical fire ignition rates.

Historic fire report data were used to create the ignition points for all Colorado fires. This
included both federal and non-federal fire ignition locations.

The class breaks are determined by analyzing the Fire Occurrence output values for the entire
state and determining cumulative percent of acres (i.e. Class 9 has the top 1.5% of acres with
the highest occurrence rate). Refer to the Colorado WRA Final Report for a more detailed
description of the mapping classes and the methods used to derive these.

The Fire Occurrence map is derived at a 30-meter resolution. This scale of data was chosen to
be consistent with the accuracy of the primary surface fuels dataset used in the assessment.
While not sufficient for site specific analysis, it is appropriate for regional, county or local
protection mitigation or prevention planning.

A more detailed description of the risk assessment algorithms is provided in the Colorado
WRA Final Report, which can be downloaded from www.ColoradoForestAtlas.org.

https://www.coloradoforestatlas.org/






Fire Behavior
Description
Fire behavior is the manner in which a fire reacts to the following environmental influences:

1. Fuels

2. Weather

3. Topography

Fire behavior characteristics are attributes of wildland fire that pertain to its spread, intensity, and growth. Fire behavior characteristics
utilized in the Colorado WRA include fire type, rate of spread, flame length and fireline intensity (fire intensity scale). These metrics are
used to determine the potential fire behavior under different weather scenarios. Areas that exhibit moderate to high fire behavior potential
can be identified for mitigation treatments, especially if these areas are in close proximity to homes, business, or other assets.

Fuels

The Colorado WRA includes composition and characteristics for both surface fuels and canopy fuels. Assessing canopy fire potential and surface fire potential allows
identification of areas where significant increases in fire behavior affects the potential of a fire to transition from a surface fire to a canopy fire.

Fuel datasets required to compute both surface and canopy fire potential include:

1. Surface Fuels are typically categorized into one of four primary fuel types based on the primary carrier of the surface fire: 1) grass, 2)
shrub/brush, 3) timber litter, and 4) slash. They are generally referred to as fire behavior fuel models and provide the input parameters
needed to compute surface fire behavior. The 2017 assessment uses the latest 2017 calibrated fuels for Colorado.

2. Canopy Cover is the horizontal percentage of the ground surface that is covered by tree crowns. It is used to compute wind-reduction
factors and shading.

3. Canopy Ceiling Height/Stand Height is the height above the ground of the highest canopy layer where the density of the crown mass
within the layer is high enough to support vertical movement of a fire. A good estimate of canopy ceiling height is the average height of the
dominant and co-dominant trees in a stand. It is used to compute wind reduction to mid-flame height, and spotting distances from torching
trees.

4. Canopy Base Height is the lowest height above the ground above which sufficient canopy fuel exists to vertically propagate fire (Scott &
Reinhardt, 2001). Canopy base height is a property of a plot, stand or group of trees, not an individual tree. For fire modeling, canopy base
height is an effective value that incorporates ladder fuels, such as tall shrubs and small trees. Canopy base height is used to determine
whether a surface fire will transition to a canopy fire.



5. Canopy Bulk Density is the mass of available canopy fuel per unit canopy volume
(Scott & Reinhardt, 2001). Canopy bulk density is a bulk property of a stand, plot or
group of trees, not an individual tree. Canopy bulk density is used to predict whether an
active crown fire is possible.

Weather

Environmental weather parameters needed to compute fire behavior characteristics include 1-hour, 10-
hour and 100-hour time-lag fuel moistures, herbaceous fuel moisture, woody fuel moisture and the 20-
foot, 10-minute average wind speed. To collect this information, Weather data (1988-2017) from NCEP
(National Center for Environmental Prediction) was used to analyse potential weather scenarios in which
assessing fire behavior and spread. In particular, the North American Regional Reanalysis (NARR)
product from NCEP was selected because of it provides high resolution weather data for all of Colorado.
The following percentiles (97th, 90th, 50th and 25th) were analysed for each variable in each 30km
NARR point to create four weather scenarios to run the fire behavior analysis: “Extreme”, “High”,
“Moderate” and “Low”. After computing the weather percentiles of the NARR variables, an IDW
algorithm was used to derive 30m resolution data to match the surface fuels dataset.

The four percentile weather categories are intended to represent low, moderate, high and extreme fire
weather days. Fire behavior outputs are computed for each percentile weather category to determine fire
potential under different weather scenarios.

For a detailed description of the methodology, refer to the 2017 Colorado Wildfire Risk Assessment Final
Report at www.ColoradoForestAtlas.org.

Topography

Topography datasets required to compute fire behavior characteristics are elevation, slope and aspect.

FIRE BEHAVIOR CHARACTERISTICS

Fire behavior characteristics provided in this report include:

Characteristic Rate of Spread
Characteristic Flame Length
Fire Intensity Scale
Fire Type – Extreme Weather

https://www.coloradoforestatlas.org/


Characteristic Rate of Spread
Characteristic Rate of Spread is the typical or representative rate of spread of a potential fire based on a
weighted average of four percentile weather categories. Rate of spread is the speed with which a fire moves in a
horizontal direction across the landscape, usually expressed in chains per hour (ch/hr) or feet per minute (ft/min).
For purposes of the Colorado WRA, this measurement represents the maximum rate of spread of the fire front. Rate
of Spread is used in the calculation of Wildfire Threat in the Colorado WRA.

Rate of spread is a fire behavior output, which is influenced by three environmental factors - fuels, weather, and
topography. Weather is by far the most dynamic variable as it changes frequently. To account for this variability,
four percentile weather categories were created from historical weather observations to represent low, moderate,
high, and extreme weather days for each 30-meter cell in Colorado. Thirty (30) meter resolution is the baseline for
the Colorado WRA, matching the source surface fuels dataset.

The “characteristic” output represents the weighted average for all four weather percentiles. While not shown in this report, the individual percentile weather ROS outputs are
available in the Colorado WRA data.

Rate of Spread Acres Percent

Non-Burnable 97,097 8.2 %

1 Very Low 0 0.0 %

2 Low 543 0.0 %

3 Moderate 130,636 11.0 %

4 High 172,187 14.5 %

5 Very High 381 0.0 %

6 Extreme 783,071 66.1 %

Total 1,183,916 100 %







Characteristic Flame Length
Characteristic Flame Length is the typical or representative flame length of a potential fire based on a weighted
average of four percentile weather categories. Flame Length is defined as the distance between the flame tip and the
midpoint of the flame depth at the base of the flame, which is generally the ground surface. It is an indicator of fire
intensity and is often used to estimate how much heat the fire is generating. Flame length is typically measured in feet (ft).
Flame length is the measure of fire intensity used to generate the Fire Effects outputs for the Colorado WRA.

Flame length is a fire behavior output, which is influenced by three environmental factors - fuels, weather, and topography.
Weather is by far the most dynamic variable as it changes frequently. To account for this variability, four percentile weather
categories were created from historical weather observations to represent low, moderate, high, and extreme weather days
for each 30-meter cell in Colorado.

This output represents the weighted average for all four weather percentiles. While not shown in this report, the individual
percentile weather Flame Length outputs are available in the Colorado WRA data.

Flame Length Acres Percent

Non-Burnable 97,097 8.2 %

1 Very Low (0-1 ft) 4 0.0 %

2 Low (1-4 ft) 110,674 9.3 %

3 Moderate (4-8 ft) 942,468 79.6 %

4 High (8-12 ft) 4,029 0.3 %

5 Very High (12-25 ft) 5,643 0.5 %

6 Extreme (25+ ft) 24,001 2.0 %

Total 1,183,916 100 %







Fire Intensity Scale
Description
Fire Intensity Scale (FIS) specifically identifies areas where significant fuel hazards and associated dangerous fire behavior potential exist. Similar to the Richter scale for
earthquakes, FIS provides a standard scale to measure potential wildfire intensity. FIS consist of five (5) classes where the order of magnitude between classes is ten-fold. The
minimum class, Class 1, represents very low wildfire intensities and the maximum class, Class 5, represents very high wildfire intensities.

1. Class 1, Lowest Intensity:

Very small, discontinuous flames, usually less than 1 foot in length; very low rate of spread; no spotting. Fires are typically easy to suppress by firefighters with basic
training and non-specialized equipment.

2. Class2, Low:

Small flames, usually less than two feet long; small amount of very short-range spotting possible. Fires are easy to suppress by trained firefighters with protective
equipment and specialized tools.

3. Class 3, Moderate:

Flames up to 8 feet in length; short-range spotting is possible. Trained firefighters will find these fires difficult to suppress without support from aircraft or engines, but
dozer and plows are generally effective. Increasing potential for harm or damage to life and property.

4. Class 4, High:

Large Flames, up to 30 feet in length; short-range spotting 1. common; medium range spotting possible. Direct attack by trained firefighters, engines, and dozers is
generally ineffective, indirect attack may be effective. Significant potential for harm or damage to life and property.

5. Class 5, Highest Intensity:

Very large flames up to 150 feet in length; profuse short-range spotting, frequent long-range spotting; strong fire-induced winds. Indirect attack marginally effective at the
head of the fire. Great potential for harm or damage to life and property.

Burn Probability and Fire Intensity Scale are designed to complement each other. The Fire Intensity Scale does not incorporate historical occurrence information. It only
evaluates the potential fire behavior for an area, regardless if any fires have occurred there in the past. This additional information allows mitigation planners to quickly identify
areas where dangerous fire behavior potential exists in relationship to nearby homes or other valued assets.

Since all areas in Colorado have fire intensity scale calculated consistently, it allows for comparison and ordination of areas across the entire state. For example, a high fire
intensity area in Eastern Colorado is equivalent to a high fire intensity area in Western Colorado.



Fire intensity scale is a fire behavior output, which is influenced by three environmental factors - fuels, weather, and topography. Weather is by far the most dynamic variable as
it changes frequently.

To account for this variability, four percentile weather categories were created from historical weather observations to represent low, moderate, high, and extreme weather days
for each 30-meter cell in Colorado. The FIS represents the weighted average for all four weather percentiles.

The fire intensity scale map is derived at a 30-meter resolution. This scale of data was chosen to be consistent with the accuracy of the primary surface fuels dataset used in the
assessment. While not appropriate for site specific analysis, it is appropriate for regional, county or local planning efforts.

FIS Class Acres Percent

Non-Burnable 96,991 8.2 %

1 Lowest Intensity 308 0.0 %

2 Low 105,484 8.9 %

3 Moderate 947,125 80.0 %

4 Moderate to High Intensity 23,154 2.0 %

5 Highest Intensity 10,854 0.9 %

Total 1,183,916 100 %







Fire Type – Extreme Weather
Fire Type – Extreme represents the potential fire type under the extreme percentile weather category. The extreme percentile weather category represents the average
weather based on the top three percent fire weather days in the analysis period. It is not intended to represent a worst-case scenario weather event. Accordingly, the potential fire
type is based on fuel conditions, extreme percentile weather, and topography.

Canopy fires are very dangerous, destructive and difficult to control due to their increased fire intensity. From a planning perspective, it is important to identify where these
conditions are likely to occur on the landscape so that special preparedness measure can be taken if necessary. Typically canopy fires occur in extreme weather conditions. The
Fire Type – Extreme layer shows the footprint of where these areas are most likely to occur. However, it is important to note that canopy fires are not restricted to these areas.
Under the right conditions, it can occur in other canopied areas.

There are two primary fire types – surface fire and canopy fire. Canopy fire can be further subdivided into passive canopy fire and active canopy fire. A short description of each
of these is provided below.

Surface Fire

A fire that spreads through surface fuel without consuming any overlying canopy
fuel. Surface fuels include grass, timber litter, shrub/brush, slash and other dead or
live vegetation within about 6 feet of the ground.

Passive Canopy Fire

A type of crown fire in which the crowns of individual trees or small groups of trees
burn, but solid flaming in the canopy cannot be maintained except for short periods
(Scott & Reinhardt, 2001).



Active Canopy Fire

A crown fire in which the entire fuel complex (canopy) is involved in flame, but
the crowning phase remains dependent on heat released from surface fuel for
continued spread (Scott & Reinhardt, 2001).

The Fire Type - Extreme Weather map is derived at a 30-meter resolution. This
scale of data was chosen to be consistent with the accuracy of the primary
surface fuels dataset used in the assessment. While not appropriate for site
specific analysis, it is appropriate for regional, county or local planning efforts.

Fire Type - Extreme
Weather Acres Percent

Surface Fire 1,061,698 97.7 %

Passive Canopy Fire 24,928 2.3 %

Active Canopy Fire 299 0.0 %

Total 1,086,924 100 %







Surface Fuels
Description
Surface fuels, or fire behavior fuel models as they are technically referred to, contain the parameters required by the Rothermel (1972) surface fire spread model to compute
surface fire behavior characteristics, including rate of spread, flame length, fireline intensity and other fire behavior metrics. As the name might suggest, surface fuels account
only for surface fire potential. Canopy fire potential is computed through a separate but linked process. The Colorado WRA accounts for both surface and canopy fire potential in
the fire behavior outputs. However, only surface fuels are shown in this risk report.

Surface fuels typically are categorized into one of four primary fuel types based
on the primary carrier of the surface fire: 1) grass, 2) shrub/brush, 3) timber
litter, and 4) slash. Two standard fire behavior fuel model sets have been
published. The Fire Behavior Prediction System 1982 Fuel Model Set
(Anderson, 1982) contains 13 fuel models, and the Fire Behavior Prediction
System 2005 Fuel Model Set (Scott & Burgan, 2005) contains 40 fuel models.
The Colorado WRA uses fuel models from the 2005 Fuel Model Set.

The 2017 Colorado Surface Fuels were derived by enhancing the baseline
LANDFIRE 2014 products with modifications to reflect local conditions and
knowledge. A team of fuels and fire behavior experts, led by the CSFS,
conducted a detailed calibration of the LANDFIRE 2014 fuels datasets. This
calibration involved correcting LANDFIRE mapping zone seamlines errors;
adding recent disturbances from 2013 to 2017 for fires, insect and disease, and
treatments; correcting fuels for high elevations; adjusting fuels for oak-shrublands and pinyon-juniper areas; and modifying SH7 fuel designations. This calibration effort resulted
in an accurate and up-to-date surface fuels dataset that is the basis for the fire behavior and risk calculations in the 2017 Colorado Wildfire Risk Assessment Update.

A detailed description of the fuels calibration methods and results is provided in the CSFS 2017 Fuels Calibration Final Report (July 2018).



Surface Fuels Description Acres Percent

NB 91 Urban/Developed 25,592 2.2 %

NB 92 Snow/Ice 0 0 %

NB 93 Agriculture 69,227 5.8 %

NB 98 Water 434 0.0 %

NB 99 Barren 1,738 0.1 %

GR 1 Short, sparse, dry climate grass 104,913 8.9 %

GR 2 Low load, dry climate grass 774,087 65.4 %

GR 3 Low load, very coarse, humid climate grass 2,209 0.2 %

GR 4 Moderate load, dry climate grass 1,819 0.2 %

GR 1 GT 10,000 ft elevation 0 0 %

GR 2 GT 10,000 ft elevation 0 0 %

GS 1 Low load, dry climate grass-shrub 5,063 0.4 %

GS 2 Moderate load, dry climate grass-shrub 166,533 14.1 %

GS 1 GT 10,000 ft elevation 0 0 %

SH 1 Low load, dry climate shrub 307 0.0 %

SH 2 Moderate load, dry climate shrub 383 0.0 %

SH 3 Moderate load, humid climate shrub 0 0 %

SH 5 High load, humid climate shrub 102 0.0 %

SH 7 Very high load, dry climate shrub 0 0.0 %

SH 7 Oak Shrubland without changes 4,898 0.4 %

TU 1 Light load, dry climate timber-grass-shrub 4,871 0.4 %

TU 2 Moderate load, humid climate timber-shrub 0 0 %

TU 5 Very high load, dry climate timber-shrub 23 0.0 %

TL 1 Low load, compact conifer litter 0 0 %

TL 2 Low load, broadleaf litter 290 0.0 %

TL 3 Moderate load, conifer litter 275 0.0 %

TL 4 Small downed logs 0 0 %

TL 5 High load, conifer litter 6 0.0 %

TL 6 Moderate load, broadleaf litter 11 0.0 %

TL 7 Large downed logs 0 0 %

TL 8 Long-needle litter 21,135 1.8 %

TL 9 Very high load, broadleaf litter 0 0 %

Total 1,183,916 100 %







Vegetation
Description
The Vegetation map describes the general vegetation and landcover types across the state of Colorado. In the Colorado WRA, the Vegetation dataset is used to support the
development of the Surface Fuels, Canopy Cover, Canopy Stand Height, Canopy Base Height, and Canopy Bulk Density datasets.

The LANDFIRE 2014 version of data products (Existing Vegetation Type) was used to compile the Vegetation data for the Colorado WRA. This reflects data current to 2014.
The LANDFIRE EVT data were classified to reflect general vegetation cover types for representation with CO-WRAP.



Vegetation Class Acres Percent

Agriculture 123,942 10.5 %

Grassland 755,904 63.8 %

Introduced Riparian 102 0.0 %

Lodgepole Pine 0 0 %

Mixed Conifer 26 0.0 %

Oak Shrubland 13,462 1.1 %

Open Water 434 0.0 %

Pinyon-Juniper 858 0.1 %

Ponderosa Pine 28,014 2.4 %

Riparian 11,607 1.0 %

Shrubland 160,429 13.6 %

Spruce-Fir 0 0 %

Developed 87,094 7.4 %

Sparsely Vegetated 568 0.0 %

Hardwood 0 0 %

Conifer-Hardwood 307 0.0 %

Conifer 0 0 %

Barren 1,171 0.1 %

Total 1,183,916 100 %







Drinking Water Importance Areas
Description
Drinking Water Importance Areas is the measure of quality and quantity of public surface drinking water categorized by watershed. This layer identifies an index of
surface drinking water importance, reflecting a measure of water quality and quantity, characterized by Hydrologic Unit Code 12 (HUC 12) watersheds. The Hydrologic Unit
system is a standardized watershed classification system developed by the USGS. Areas that are a source of drinking water are of critical importance and adverse effects from fire
are a key concern.

The U.S. Forest Service Forests to Faucets (F2F) project is the primary source of
the drinking water data set. This project used GIS modeling to develop an index
of importance for supplying drinking water using HUC 12 watersheds as the
spatial resolution. Watersheds are ranked from 1 to 100 reflecting relative level
of importance, with 100 being the most important and 1 the least important.

Several criteria were used in the F2F project to derive the importance rating
including water supply, flow analysis, and downstream drinking water demand.
The final model of surface drinking water importance used in the F2F project
combines the drinking water protection model, capturing the flow of water and
water demand, with a model of mean annual water supply.

The values generated by the drinking water protection model are simply
multiplied by the results of the model of mean annual water supply to create the
final surface drinking water importance index.

Water is critical to sustain life. Human water usage has further complicated
nature’s already complex aquatic system. Plants, including trees, are essential to
the proper functioning of water movement within the environment. Forests
receive precipitation, utilize it for their sustenance and growth, and influence its
storage and/or passage to other parts of the environment.

Four major river systems – the Platte, Colorado, Arkansas and Rio Grande –
originate in the Colorado mountains and fully drain into one-third of the
landmass of the lower 48 states. Mountain snows supply 75 percent of the water
to these river systems.

Approximately 40 percent of the water comes from the highest 20 percent of the land, most of which lies in national forests. National forests yield large portions of the total water
in these river systems. The potential is great for forests to positively and negatively influence the transport of water over such immense distances.



Drinking Water
Class Acres Percent

1 - Lowest 4,380 0.4 %

2 225,113 19.0 %

3 711,794 60.1 %

4 172,874 14.6 %

5 42,196 3.6 %

6 0 0 %

7 6,943 0.6 %

8 20,585 1.7 %

9 30 0.0 %

10 - Highest 0 0 %

Total 1,183,916 100 %







Class Acres Percent

-1 Least Negative Impact 266,624 24.5 %

-2 743,803 68.4 %

-3 48,428 4.5 %

-4 26,607 2.4 %

-5 28 0.0 %

-6 635 0.1 %

-7 694 0.1 %

-8 0 0 %

-9 Most Negative Impact 0 0 %

Total 1,086,818 100 %

Drinking Water Risk Index
Description
Drinking Water Risk Index is a measure of the risk to DWIAs based on the potential negative impacts from wildfire.

In areas that experience low-severity burns, fire events can serve to eliminate competition, rejuvenate growth and improve watershed conditions. But in landscapes subjected to
high, or even moderate-burn severity, the post-fire threats to public safety and natural resources can be extreme.

High-severity wildfires remove virtually all forest vegetation – from trees, shrubs and
grasses down to discarded needles, decomposed roots and other elements of ground
cover or duff that protect forest soils. A severe wildfire also can cause certain types of
soil to become hydrophobic by forming a waxy, water-repellent layer that keeps water
from penetrating the soil, dramatically amplifying the rate of runoff.

The loss of critical surface vegetation leaves forested slopes extremely vulnerable to
large-scale soil erosion and flooding during subsequent storm events. In turn, these
threats can impact the health, safety and integrity of communities and natural
resources downstream. The likelihood that such a post-fire event will occur in
Colorado is increased by the prevalence of highly erodible soils in several parts of the
state, and weather patterns that frequently bring heavy rains on the heels of fire
season.

In the aftermath of the 2002 fire season, the Colorado Department of Health estimated
that 26 municipal water storage facilities were shut down due to fire and post-fire
impacts.

The potential for severe soil erosion is a consequence of wildfire because as a fire
burns, it destroys plant material and the litter layer. Shrubs, forbs, grasses, trees and
the litter layer disperse water during severe rainstorms. Plant roots stabilize the soil,
and stems and leaves slow the water to give it time to percolate into the soil profile.
Fire can destroy this soil protection.

The range of values is from -1 to -9, with -1 representing the least negative impact
and -9 representing the most negative impact.







Riparian Assets Class Acres Percent

Least Sensitive to Wildland fires 83,255 92.5 %

2 6,278 7.0 %

Most Sensitive to Wildland fires 453 0.5 %

Total 89,986 100 %

Riparian Assets
Description
Riparian Assets are forested riparian areas characterized by functions of water quantity and quality, and ecology. This layer identifies riparian areas that are important as
a suite of ecosystem services, including both terrestrial and aquatic habitat, water quality, water quantity, and other ecological functions. Riparian areas are considered an
especially important element of the landscape in the west. Accordingly, riparian assets are distinguished from other forest assets so they can be evaluated separately.

The process for defining these riparian areas involved identifying the riparian footprint and then assigning a rating based upon two important riparian functions – water quantity
and quality, and ecological significance. A scientific model was developed by the West Wide Risk Assessment technical team with in-kind support from CAL FIRE state
representatives. Several input datasets were used in the model including the National Hydrography Dataset and the National Wetland Inventory.

The National Hydrography Data Set (NHD) was used to represent hydrology. A subset of streams and
water bodies, which represents perennial, intermittent, and wetlands, was created. The NHD water
bodies dataset was used to determine the location of lakes, ponds, swamps, and marshes (wetlands).

To model water quality and quantity, erosion potential (K-factor) and annual average precipitation
was used as key variables. The Riparian Assets data are an index of class values that range from 1 to 3
representing increasing importance of the riparian area as well as sensitivity to fire-related impacts on
the suite of ecosystem services.







Riparian Assets Risk Class Acres Percent

-1 (Least Negative Impact) 70,937 92.9 %

-2 3,710 4.9 %

-3 2 0.0 %

-4 1,560 2.0 %

-5 0 0.0 %

-6 0 0 %

-7 161 0.2 %

-8 0 0 %

-9 (Most Negative Impact) 0 0 %

Total 76,370 100 %

Riparian Assets Risk Index
Description
Riparian Assets Risk Index is a measure of the risk to riparian areas based on the potential negative impacts from wildfire. This layer identifies those riparian areas with
the greatest potential for adverse effects from wildfire.

The range of values is from -1 to -9, with -1 representing the least negative impact and
-9 representing the most negative impact.

The risk index has been calculated by combining the Riparian Assets data with a
measure of fire intensity using a Response Function approach. Those areas with the
highest negative impact (-9) represent areas with high potential fire intensity and high
importance for ecosystem services. Those areas with the lowest negative impact (-1)
represent those areas with low potential fire intensity and a low importance for
ecosystem services.

This risk output is intended to supplement the Drinking Water Risk Index by identifying
wildfire risk within the more detailed riparian areas.







Forest
Assets Acres Percent

Sensitive 5,359 16.1 %

Resilient 28,019 83.9 %

Adaptative 0 0 %

Total 33,377 100 %

Forest Assets
Description
Forest Assets are forested areas categorized by height, cover, and susceptibility/response to fire. This layer identifies forested land categorized by height, cover and
susceptibility or response to fire. Using these characteristics allows for the prioritization of landscapes reflecting forest assets that would be most adversely affected by fire. The
rating of importance or value of the forest assets is relative to each state’s interpretation of those characteristics considered most important for their landscapes.

Canopy cover from LANDFIRE 2014 was re-classified into two categories, open or sparse and closed. Areas classified as open or sparse have a canopy cover less than 60%.
Areas classified as closed have a canopy cover greater than 60%.

Canopy height from LANDFIRE 2014 was re-classified into two categories, 0-10 meters and greater than 10 meters.

Response to fire was developed from the LANDFIRE 2014 existing vegetation type (EVT) dataset. There are over 1,000 existing vegetation types in the project area. Using a
crosswalk defined by project ecologists, a classification of susceptibility and response to fire was defined and documented by fire ecologists into the three fire response classes.

These three classes are sensitive, resilient and adaptive.

Sensitive = These are tree species that are intolerant or sensitive to damage from fire with low intensity.
Resilient = These are tree species that have characteristics that help the tree resist damage from fire and whose adult stages can survive low intensity fires.
Adaptive = These are tree species adapted with the ability to regenerate following fire by sprouting or serotinous cones

The range of values is from -1 to -9, with -1 representing the least negative impact and -9 representing the
most negative impact.

The risk index has been calculated by combining the Forest Assets data with a measure of fire intensity using
a Response Function approach. Those areas with the highest negative impact (-9) represent areas with high
potential fire intensity and low resilience or adaptability to fire. Those areas with the lowest negative impact
(-1) represent those areas with low potential fire intensity and high resilience or adaptability to fire.

This risk output is intended to provide an overall forest index for potential impact from wildfire. This can be
applied to consider aesthetic values, ecosystem services, or economic values of forested lands.







Forest Assets Risk Class Acres Percent

-1 (Least Negative Impact) 21,617 63.1 %

-2 6,103 17.8 %

-3 5,818 17.0 %

-4 719 2.1 %

-5 0 0.0 %

-6 0 0 %

-7 0 0 %

-8 0 0 %

-9 (Most Negative Impact) 0 0 %

Total 34,258 100 %

Forest Assets Risk Index
Description
Forest Assets Risk Index is a measure of the risk to forested areas based on the potential negative impacts from wildfire. This layer identifies those forested areas with the
greatest potential for adverse effects from wildfire.

The range of values is from -1 to -9, with -1 representing the least negative impact and
-9 representing the most negative impact.

The risk index has been calculated by combining the Forest Assets data with a measure
of fire intensity using a Response Function approach. Those areas with the highest
negative impact (-9) represent areas with high potential fire intensity and low resilience
or adaptability to fire. Those areas with the lowest negative impact (-1) represent those
areas with low potential fire intensity and high resilience or adaptability to fire.

This risk output is intended to provide an overall forest index for potential impact from
wildfire. This can be applied to consider aesthetic values, ecosystem services, or
economic values of forested lands.







References
Anderson, H. E. (1982). Aids to determining fuel models for estimating fire behavior. USDA For. Serv. Gen. Tech. Rep. INT-122.

Colorado State Forest Service (November 2018). Colorado Wildfire Risk Assessment Final Report. A final report developed by CSFS and Technosylva Inc. (La Jolla, CA)
documenting the technical methods and results for the Colorado wildfire risk assessment update project.

Colorado State Forest Service (July 2018). Fuels Calibration Final Report. A final report developed by CSFS and Technosylva Inc. (La Jolla, CA) documenting the technical
methods and results for the Colorado fuels calibration project.

Colorado State Forest Service (2012). Colorado Wildfire Risk Assessment 2012 Final Report. A final report developed by CSFS and DTS (Fort Collins, CO) documenting the
technical methods and specifications for the Colorado WRA project.

National Wildfire Coordinating Group (NWCG). (2008). Glossary of Wildland Fire Terminology. Publication Management System document PMS-205.

National Wildfire Coordinating Group (2004). Fireline Handbook. NWCG Handbook 3. PMS 410-1. NFES 0065. National Interagency Fire Center. Boise, Idaho 83705.

Scott, J. H., & Burgan, R. E. (2005). Standard Fire Behavior Fuel Models: A Comprehensive Set for Use with Rothermel's Surface Fire Spread Model. Ft. Collins, CO, Rocky
Mountain Research Station: USDA Forest Service, Gen. Tech. Rpt. RMRS-GTR-153.

Scott, J. H., & Reinhardt, E. D. (2001). Assessing the Crown Fire Potential by Linking Models of Surface and Crown Fire Behavior. Ft. Collins, CO, Rocky Mountain Research
Station: USDA Forest Service, Research Paper RMRS-RP-29.



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Earthquake Hazus Risk Report   273 273 

7 EARTHQUAKE HAZUS RISK REPORT 
 

 

 



Hazus: Earthquake Global Risk Report

Region Name:

Earthquake Scenario:

Print Date:  

ElbertEQ

 2500 m5 probabalistic

July 05, 2022

Disclaimer:
This version of Hazus utilizes 2010 Census Data.

Totals only reflect data for those census tracts/blocks included in the user’s study region.

The estimates of social and economic impacts contained in this report were produced using Hazus loss estimation methodology software 

which is based on current scientific and engineering knowledge. There are uncertainties inherent in any loss estimation technique. 

Therefore, there may be significant differences between the modeled results contained in this report and the actual social and economic 

losses following a specific earthquake. These results can be improved by using enhanced inventory, geotechnical, and observed ground 

motion data.



Table of Contents

Section Page #

General Description of the Region

Building and Lifeline Inventory 4

3

Building Inventory

Critical Facility Inventory

Transportation and Utility Lifeline Inventory

Earthquake Scenario Parameters 7

Direct Earthquake Damage 8

Buildings Damage

Essential Facilities Damage

Transportation and Utility Lifeline Damage

Induced Earthquake Damage 14

Debris Generation

Social Impact

Shelter Requirements

Casualties

Economic Loss

15

Building Related Losses

Transportation and Utility Lifeline Losses

Appendix A: County Listing for the Region

Appendix B: Regional Population and Building Value Data

17

Fire Following Earthquake

Page 2 of 22Earthquake Global Risk Report



Hazus-MH is a regional earthquake loss estimation model that was developed by the Federal Emergency Management 

Agency (FEMA) and the National Institute of Building Sciences.  The primary purpose of Hazus is to provide a methodology 

and software application to develop multi-hazard losses at a regional scale.  These loss estimates would be used primarily 

by local, state and regional officials to plan and stimulate efforts to reduce risks from multi-hazards and to prepare for 

emergency response and recovery.

The earthquake loss estimates provided in this report was based on a region that includes 1 county(ies) from the following 

state(s):

  General Description of the Region

Colorado

Note:

Appendix A contains a complete listing of the counties contained in the region.

The geographical size of the region is 1,850.52 square miles and contains  7 census tracts.  There are over  8  thousand 

households in the region which has a total population of 23,086 people (2010 Census Bureau data). The distribution of 

population by Total Region and County is provided in Appendix B. 

There are an estimated 9 thousand buildings in the region with a total building replacement value (excluding contents) of 

2,640 (millions of dollars).  Approximately 90.00 % of the buildings (and 85.00% of the building value) are associated with 

residential housing.

The replacement value of the transportation and utility lifeline systems is estimated to be 953 and 1,042      (millions of 

dollars) , respectively.

Page 3 of 22Earthquake Global Risk Report



Hazus estimates that there are 9 thousand buildings in the region which have an aggregate total replacement value of 2,640 

(millions of dollars) . Appendix B provides a general distribution of the building value by Total Region and County. 

 Building and Lifeline Inventory

Building Inventory

In terms of building construction types found in the region, wood frame construction makes up 67% of the building inventory.  

The remaining percentage is distributed between the other general building types.

Critical Facility Inventory

Hazus breaks critical facilities into two (2) groups: essential facilities and high potential loss facilities (HPL).  Essential 

facilities include hospitals, medical clinics, schools, fire stations, police stations and emergency operations facilities.  High 

potential loss facilities include dams, levees, military installations, nuclear power plants and hazardous material sites.

For essential facilities, there are 0 hospitals in the region with a total bed capacity of  beds.  There are 17 schools, 13 fire 

stations,  4 police stations and  1 emergency operation facilities.  With respect to high potential loss facilities (HPL), there 

are no dams identified within the inventory. The inventory also includes 4 hazardous material sites, no military installations 

and  no nuclear power plants.

Within Hazus, the lifeline inventory is divided between transportation and utility lifeline systems.  There are seven (7) 

transportation systems that include highways, railways, light rail, bus, ports, ferry and airports.  There are six (6) utility 

systems that include potable water, wastewater, natural gas, crude & refined oil, electric power and communications.  The 

lifeline inventory data are provided in Tables 1 and 2. 

The total value of the lifeline inventory is over  1,995.00 (millions of dollars). This inventory includes over 99.42 miles of 

highways, 88 bridges, 5,972.62 miles of pipes. 

Transportation and Utility Lifeline Inventory 

Page 4 of 22Earthquake Global Risk Report



Table 1: Transportation System Lifeline Inventory

System Component
# Locations/
# Segments

Replacement value
(millions of dollars)

Bridges  88  97.4009Highway

Segments  7  681.6301

Tunnels  2  6.2656

 785.2966Subtotal

Bridges  21  92.6132Railways

Facilities  0  0.0000

Segments  12  66.5701

Tunnels  0  0.0000

 159.1833Subtotal

Bridges  0  0.0000Light Rail

Facilities  0  0.0000

Segments  0  0.0000

Tunnels  0  0.0000

 0.0000Subtotal

Facilities  0  0.0000Bus

 0.0000Subtotal

Facilities  0  0.0000Ferry

 0.0000Subtotal

Facilities  0  0.0000Port

 0.0000Subtotal

Facilities  2  8.8203Airport

Runways  0  0.0000

 8.8203Subtotal

Total  953.30 

Page 5 of 22Earthquake Global Risk Report



Table 2: Utility System Lifeline Inventory

System Component
# Locations /

Segments

Replacement value
(millions of dollars)

Potable Water Distribution Lines  119.1732NA

Facilities  0.00000

Pipelines  0.00000

Subtotal  119.1732

Waste Water Distribution Lines  71.5039NA

Facilities  756.78286

Pipelines  0.00000

Subtotal  828.2867

Natural Gas Distribution Lines  47.6693NA

Facilities  0.00000

Pipelines  47.363910

Subtotal  95.0332

Oil Systems Facilities  0.00000

Pipelines  0.00000

Subtotal  0.0000

Electrical Power Facilities  0.00000

Subtotal  0.0000

Communication Facilities  0.19402

Subtotal  0.1940

Total  1,042.70 

Page 6 of 22Earthquake Global Risk Report



Hazus uses the following set of information to define the earthquake parameters used for the earthquake loss estimate 

provided in this report. 

Earthquake Scenario

Scenario Name

Latitude of Epicenter

Earthquake Magnitude

Depth (km)

Attenuation Function

Type of Earthquake

Fault Name

Historical Epicenter ID #

Longitude of Epicenter

Probabilistic Return Period

Rupture Length (Km)

Rupture Orientation (degrees)

2500 m5 probabalistic

Probabilistic

NA

NA

NA

NA

NA

5.00

NA

NA

2,500.00

NA

Page 7 of 22Earthquake Global Risk Report



Direct Earthquake Damage

Hazus estimates that about 249 buildings will be at least moderately damaged. This is over 3.00 % of the buildings in the 

region. There are an estimated 1 buildings that will be damaged beyond repair. The definition of  the ‘damage states’ is 

provided in Volume 1: Chapter 5 of the Hazus technical manual. Table 3 below summarizes the expected damage by 

general occupancy for the buildings in the region. Table 4 below summarizes the expected damage by general building type. 

Building Damage

0

100

200

300

400

500

Agr
ic
ul
tu

re

C
om

m
er

ci
al

Edu
ca

tio
n

G
ov

er
nm

en
t

In
du

st
ria

l

O
th

er

R
es

id
en

tia
l

R
el

ig
io
n

Sin
gl

e

Fam
ily

Damage Categories by General Occupancy Type

Slight

Moderate

Extensive

Complete

Table 3: Expected Building Damage by Occupancy

None Slight

Count (%)Count

Moderate Extensive

(%)Count

Complete

(%) Count Count (%)(%)

Agriculture  102.66  8.36  2.07 2.58 1.92 1.31 1.15  0.02 0.75 4.22

Commercial  431.10  44.13  15.25 14.37 10.22 6.90 4.83  0.16 4.17 22.45

Education  20.45  1.64  0.41 0.41 0.36 0.26 0.23  0.00 0.12 0.78

Government  15.17  1.22  0.22 0.24 0.24 0.19 0.17  0.00 0.07 0.54

Industrial  206.95  21.41  4.83 7.34 5.22 3.35 2.32  0.05 2.13 11.46

Other Residential  405.40  68.40  3.98 8.22 17.65 10.69 4.54  0.04 2.38 38.78

Religion  36.58  2.91  0.67 0.64 0.60 0.46 0.41  0.01 0.18 1.32

Single Family  7708.04  491.83  72.57 66.20 63.80 76.86 86.35  0.77 19.20 140.16

Total  8,926  640  220  29  1

Page 8 of 22Earthquake Global Risk Report



Table 4: Expected Building Damage by Building Type (All Design Levels)

Extensive

Count

Complete

(%)Count(%)Count

Moderate

(%)Count

Slight

(%)Count

None

(%)

Wood  6198.63  373.14  51.60  2.30  0.00 69.44  58.31  23.49  7.94  0.00

Steel  161.94  14.31  8.54  1.34  0.04 1.81  2.24  3.89  4.62  3.42

Concrete  116.89  12.22  5.20  0.51  0.00 1.31  1.91  2.36  1.76  0.46

Precast  143.39  15.19  12.54  3.15  0.04 1.61  2.37  5.71  10.87  3.55

RM  1703.55  112.83  76.67  13.07  0.00 19.08  17.63  34.90  45.06  0.02

URM  240.48  45.70  26.45  6.34  0.94 2.69  7.14  12.04  21.86  89.06

MH  361.46  66.52  38.69  2.29  0.04 4.05  10.40  17.61  7.89  3.49

Total

*Note:

RM Reinforced Masonry

URM Unreinforced Masonry

Manufactured HousingMH

 640 8,926  220  29  1

Page 9 of 22Earthquake Global Risk Report



 Essential Facility Damage

Before the earthquake, the region had  hospital beds available for use.  On the day of the earthquake, the model estimates 

that only  hospital beds (%) are available for use by patients already in the hospital and those injured by the earthquake.  

After one week, % of the beds will be back in service.  By 30 days, % will be operational.

Table 5: Expected Damage to Essential Facilities

Total 

Damage > 50%

At Least Moderate

# Facilities

 

Complete

Damage > 50%

Classification  With Functionality 

> 50% on day 1

Hospitals  0  0  0  0

Schools  17  0  0  17

EOCs  1  0  0  1

PoliceStations  4  0  0  4

FireStations  13  0  0  13

Page 10 of 22Earthquake Global Risk Report



 Transportation Lifeline Damage 

Page 11 of 22Earthquake Global Risk Report



Table 6: Expected Damage to the Transportation Systems

Number of Locations 

Locations/ With at Least

After Day 7After Day 1

With Functionality > 50 %

Damage

With Complete
System Component

Mod. DamageSegments

Highway Segments  7  0  0  7  7

Bridges  88  0  0  88  88

Tunnels  2  0  0  2  2

Railways Segments  12  0  0  12  12

Bridges  21  0  0  21  21

Tunnels  0  0  0  0  0

Facilities  0  0  0  0  0

Light Rail Segments  0  0  0  0  0

Bridges  0  0  0  0  0

Tunnels  0  0  0  0  0

Facilities  0  0  0  0  0

Bus Facilities  0  0  0  0  0

Ferry Facilities  0  0  0  0  0

Port Facilities  0  0  0  0  0

Airport Facilities  2  0  0  2  2

Runways  0  0  0  0  0

Tables 7-9 provide information on the damage to the utility lifeline systems.  Table 7 provides damage to the utility system 

facilities.  Table 8 provides estimates on the number of leaks and breaks by the pipelines of the utility systems.  For electric 

power and potable water, Hazus performs a simplified system performance analysis.  Table 9 provides a summary of the 

system performance information.

Note: Roadway segments, railroad tracks and light rail tracks are assumed to be damaged by ground failure only.  If ground 

failure maps are not provided, damage estimates to these components will not be computed.

Table 6 provides damage estimates for the transportation system.

Page 12 of 22Earthquake Global Risk Report



Table 7 : Expected Utility System Facility Damage

With at Least
with Functionality > 50 %

After Day 7After Day 1

With Complete

Damage

System

# of Locations

Moderate Damage

Total #

Potable Water  0  0  0  0  0

Waste Water  6  0  0  6  6

Natural Gas  0  0  0  0  0

Oil Systems  0  0  0  0  0

Electrical Power  0  0  0  0  0

Communication  2  0  0  2  2

Table 8 : Expected Utility System Pipeline Damage (Site Specific)

System

Breaks

Number of 

Leaks

Number of
Length (miles)

Total Pipelines

Potable Water  23  6 3,703

Waste Water  12  3 2,222

Natural Gas  0  0 49

Oil  0  0 0

Potable Water

Electric Power

Total # of 

Households At Day 3 At Day 7 At Day 30

Number of Households without Service

Table 9: Expected Potable Water and Electric Power System Performance

At Day 90

 8,380
 0  0  0  0  0

 0  0  0  0  0

At Day 1

Page 13 of 22Earthquake Global Risk Report



Debris Generation

Induced Earthquake Damage

Earthquake Debris (millions of tons)

0.000 0.001 0.002 0.003 0.004 0.005

Total Debris
Total Debris Wood
Total Debris Steel

Brick/ Wood Reinforced Concrete/Steel Total  Debris Truck Load

 0.00  0.00  0.01  200 (@25 tons/truck)

Hazus estimates the amount of debris that will be generated by the earthquake.  The model breaks the debris into two 

general categories: a) Brick/Wood and b) Reinforced Concrete/Steel.  This distinction is made because of the different types 

of material handling equipment required to handle the debris. 

The model estimates that a total of 5,000 tons of debris will be generated.  Of the total amount, Brick/Wood comprises 

46.00% of the total, with the remainder being Reinforced Concrete/Steel.  If the debris tonnage is converted to an estimated 

number of truckloads, it will require 200  truckloads (@25 tons/truck) to remove the debris generated by the earthquake.

Fire Following Earthquake

Fires often occur after an earthquake.  Because of the number of fires and the lack of water to fight the fires, they can often 

burn out of control.  Hazus uses a Monte Carlo simulation model to estimate the number of ignitions and the amount of burnt 

area.  For this scenario, the model estimates that there will be 0 ignitions that will burn about 0.00 sq. mi 0.00 % of the 

region’s total area.)  The model also estimates that the fires will displace about 0 people and burn about 0 (millions of 

dollars) of building value.

Page 14 of 22Earthquake Global Risk Report



Shelter Requirement

Hazus estimates the number of households that are expected to be displaced from their homes due to the earthquake and 

the number of displaced people that will require accommodations in temporary public shelters.  The model estimates 1 

households to be displaced due to the earthquake. Of these,  0 people (out of a total population of 23,086) will seek 

temporary shelter in public shelters.

Social Impact

Displaced Households/ Persons Seeking Short Term Public Shelter

0 0.2 0.4 0.6 0.8 1

Displaced households
as a result of the
earthquake

Person seeking
temporary public shelter

Persons seeking 

temporary public shelter

Displaced households 

as a result of the 

earthquake

 1  0 

Hazus estimates the number of people that will be injured and killed by the earthquake.  The casualties are broken down 

into four (4) severity levels that describe the extent of the injuries.  The levels are described as follows;

· Severity Level 1: Injuries will require medical attention but hospitalization is not needed.

· Severity Level 2: Injuries will require hospitalization but are not considered life-threatening

· Severity Level 3: Injuries will require hospitalization and can become life threatening if not 

               promptly treated.

· Severity Level 4: Victims are killed by the earthquake.

The casualty estimates are provided for three (3) times of day: 2:00 AM, 2:00 PM and 5:00 PM.  These times represent the 

periods of the day that different sectors of the community are at their peak occupancy loads.  The 2:00 AM estimate 

considers that the residential occupancy load is maximum, the 2:00 PM estimate considers that the educational, commercial 

and industrial sector loads are maximum and 5:00 PM represents peak commute time.

Table 10 provides a summary of the casualties estimated for this earthquake

Casualties

Page 15 of 22Earthquake Global Risk Report



Table 10: Casualty Estimates

Level 4Level 3Level 2Level 1

 0.05Commercial  0.01  0.00  0.002 AM

 0.00Commuting  0.00  0.00  0.00

 0.00Educational  0.00  0.00  0.00

 0.00Hotels  0.00  0.00  0.00

 0.08Industrial  0.01  0.00  0.00

 0.27Other-Residential  0.03  0.00  0.00

 2.38Single Family  0.26  0.02  0.03

 3  0  0  0Total

 2.89Commercial  0.36  0.02  0.042 PM

 0.00Commuting  0.00  0.00  0.00

 0.54Educational  0.07  0.00  0.01

 0.00Hotels  0.00  0.00  0.00

 0.58Industrial  0.07  0.00  0.01

 0.04Other-Residential  0.00  0.00  0.00

 0.36Single Family  0.04  0.00  0.00

 4  1  0  0Total

 2.15Commercial  0.27  0.02  0.035 PM

 0.00Commuting  0.00  0.00  0.00

 0.02Educational  0.00  0.00  0.00

 0.00Hotels  0.00  0.00  0.00

 0.36Industrial  0.04  0.00  0.00

 0.10Other-Residential  0.01  0.00  0.00

 0.91Single Family  0.10  0.01  0.01

 4  0  0  0Total

Page 16 of 22Earthquake Global Risk Report



Economic Loss 

The total economic loss estimated for the earthquake is 37.47 (millions of dollars), which includes building and lifeline 

related losses based on the region's available inventory. The following three sections provide more detailed information 

about these losses.

Page 17 of 22Earthquake Global Risk Report



Building-Related Losses

The building losses are broken into two categories: direct building losses and business interruption losses.  The direct 

building losses are the estimated costs to repair or replace the damage caused to the building and its contents.  The 

business interruption losses are the losses associated with inability to operate a business because of the damage sustained 

during the earthquake.  Business interruption losses also include the temporary living expenses for those people displaced 

from their homes because of the earthquake.

The total building-related losses were  21.39 (millions of dollars);  15 % of the estimated losses were related to the business 

interruption of the region.  By far, the largest loss was sustained by the residential occupancies which made up over 72 % of 

the total loss.  Table 11 below provides a summary of the losses associated with the building damage.

Capital-Related 2%
Content 21%
Inventory 0%
Non_Structural 49%
Relocation 8%
Rental 3%
Structural 14%
Wage 2%

Total: 100%

Earthquake Losses by Loss Type ($ millions)

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

Earthquake Losses by Occupancy Type ($
millions)

Single 

Family

Commercial

Industrial

Others

Other 

Residential

Table 11: Building-Related Economic Loss Estimates

(Millions of dollars)

Total OthersIndustrialCommercial
Other

Residential

Area Single  

Family

Category

Income Losses

Wage  0.0000  0.3185  0.0216  0.0483  0.4081 0.0197

Capital-Related  0.0000  0.3157  0.0121  0.0082  0.3444 0.0084

Rental  0.3378  0.2557  0.0079  0.0113  0.6439 0.0312

Relocation  1.1875  0.3438  0.0719  0.1192  1.7867 0.0643

 1.5253Subtotal  0.1236  1.2337  0.1135  0.1870  3.1831

Capital Stock Losses

Structural  2.1569  0.4384  0.1479  0.2147  3.0647 0.1068

Non_Structural  8.0798  1.1827  0.5238  0.4624  10.5501 0.3014

Content  3.1143  0.7081  0.3056  0.3188  4.5094 0.0626

Inventory  0.0000  0.0178  0.0562  0.0134  0.0874 0.0000

 13.3510Subtotal  0.4708  2.3470  1.0335  1.0093  18.2116

Total  14.88  0.59  3.58  1.15  1.20  21.39

Page 18 of 22Earthquake Global Risk Report



Transportation and Utility Lifeline Losses

For the transportation and utility lifeline systems, Hazus computes the direct repair cost for each component only.  There are 

no losses computed by Hazus for business interruption due to lifeline outages. Tables 12 & 13 provide a detailed breakdown 

in the expected lifeline losses.

Table 12: Transportation System Economic Losses

(Millions of dollars)

System Loss Ratio (%)Economic LossInventory ValueComponent

Highway Segments  681.6301  0.0000  0.00

Bridges  97.4009  0.0234  0.02

Tunnels  6.2656  0.0005  0.01

 785.2966Subtotal  0.0239

Railways Segments  66.5701  0.0000  0.00

Bridges  92.6132  0.0000  0.00

Tunnels  0.0000  0.0000  0.00

Facilities  0.0000  0.0000  0.00

 159.1833Subtotal  0.0000

Light Rail Segments  0.0000  0.0000  0.00

Bridges  0.0000  0.0000  0.00

Tunnels  0.0000  0.0000  0.00

Facilities  0.0000  0.0000  0.00

 0.0000Subtotal  0.0000

Bus Facilities  0.0000  0.0000  0.00

 0.0000Subtotal  0.0000

Ferry Facilities  0.0000  0.0000  0.00

 0.0000Subtotal  0.0000

Port Facilities  0.0000  0.0000  0.00

 0.0000Subtotal  0.0000

Airport Facilities  8.8203  0.5669  6.43

Runways  0.0000  0.0000  0.00

 8.8203Subtotal  0.5669

 953.30 Total  0.59 

Page 19 of 22Earthquake Global Risk Report



Table 13: Utility System Economic Losses

(Millions of dollars) 

Component Inventory Value Economic LossSystem Loss Ratio (%)   

Potable Water  0.0000Pipelines  0.00 0.0000

 0.0000Facilities  0.00 0.0000

 119.1732Distribution Lines  0.09 0.1030

 119.1732Subtotal  0.1030

Waste Water  0.0000Pipelines  0.00 0.0000

 756.7828Facilities  2.02 15.2958

 71.5039Distribution Lines  0.07 0.0518

 828.2867Subtotal  15.3476

Natural Gas  47.3639Pipelines  0.00 0.0000

 0.0000Facilities  0.00 0.0000

 47.6693Distribution Lines  0.04 0.0177

 95.0332Subtotal  0.0177

Oil Systems  0.0000Pipelines  0.00 0.0000

 0.0000Facilities  0.00 0.0000

 0.0000Subtotal  0.0000

Electrical Power  0.0000Facilities  0.00 0.0000

 0.0000Subtotal  0.0000

Communication  0.1940Facilities  5.36 0.0104

 0.1940Subtotal  0.0104

Total  1,042.69  15.48 

Page 20 of 22Earthquake Global Risk Report



Elbert,CO

Appendix A: County Listing for the Region

Page 21 of 22Earthquake Global Risk Report



TotalNon-ResidentialResidential

Building Value (millions of dollars)
PopulationCounty NameState

Colorado

Elbert  23,086  2,257  383  2,640

 23,086  2,257  383  2,640Total Region

Appendix B: Regional Population and Building Value Data

Page 22 of 22Earthquake Global Risk Report



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Mitigation Zones   296 296 

8 MITIGATION ZONES 
 



 

Running Creek: Elizabeth, CO 
Flood & Wildfire Mitigation Zone 

High Priority 
Scope: Excess Brush, Tree, and Debris Removal 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

Kiowa Creek: Kiowa, CO 
Flood & Wildfire Mitigation Zone 

High Priority 
Scope: Excess Brush, Tree, and Debris Removal 

 

 

 

 



 

West Kiowa Creek: Elbert, CO 
Flood & Wildfire Mitigation Zone 

High Priority 
Scope: Excess Brush, Tree, and Debris Removal 



 

South Section of West Kiowa Creek: Elbert, CO 
Flood & Wildfire Mitigation Zone 

Medium Priority 
Scope: Excess Brush, Tree, and Debris Removal 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

Big Sandy Creek: Simla, CO 
Flood & Wildfire Mitigation Zone 

Medium Priority 
Scope: Excess Brush, Tree, and Debris Removal 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Mitigation Zones   302 302 

9  MITIGATION STRATEGY ACTION IDEAS 
 

 



Mitigation Strategy Action Ideas 

Page 1 of 7 

 

  

 

The following ideas for mitigation actions were identified over the course of the hazard mitigation planning 
process. This list was informed by: 

• Community Survey of the residents of Elbert County (93 participants) 
• HMP and Discovery Planning processes 
• 2018 Comprehensive Plan 
• 2017 Hazard Mitigation Plan 
• 2021 Transportation Master Plan 

 
• All Hazards 

o Evacuation and sheltering planning, including food, medicine, and water distribution 
o Provide support for vulnerable populations during evacuations, include in planning 
o Actionable evacuation pre-planning for large animals and pets, ensure resources are available 
o Provide shelter location information to community as part of planning and education efforts, in 

case there is not access to the internet during an event 
o Promote and assist citizens in emergency preparedness education and “go bag” kits 
o Identify households for citizens with issues for safe evacuation 
o Establish a hotline for those in need of supplies during storms or emergencies 
o Education and resources, including recordings of workshops, for homeowners to complete 

mitigation projects 
o Improve public information programming and proactively provide preparedness and response 

messaging throughout the year 
o Clarify and create signage for exit / evacuation routes on most frequently used roads out of the 

county 
o Implement coordinated alerts and follow-up messaging, testing of communication channels 
o Create a centralized place online for all hazard information 
o Increase resident relationships and communication to alert neighbors to hazards 
o Invest in and seek federal and state monies to improve telecom in southern and eastern county 

areas, improve landline infrastructure 
o Educate community on generator installation and safety 
o Install generators at crucial facilities and shelters in the county 
o Improve EMS availability 
o Create a volunteer response team to provide training and clearance to rescue livestock / people 
o Code enforcement to alleviate hazards in neighborhoods 
o Consider adopting / updating building codes and development regulations 
o Address potential limitations on housing development and overcrowding 
o Develop access and functional needs populations’ database/inventory/registry 
o Assess and designate shelters and distribute information to public/agencies 
o Asses protective measures needed for historic structures 
o The County should develop and maintain a GIS strategic plan 
o GIS mapping project that visualizes hazards based on location within the county 
o Create a GIS lifeline layer and keep current as development occurs 
o Improve communication and public alerts by increasing cell towers in the county 
o Develop multi-lingual disaster communications, education PSA’s and educational videos 



Mitigation Strategy Action Ideas 

Page 2 of 7 

 

  

 

o Process for fast-tracking medication and medical equipment deliveries in times of need 
o New community level design and community level mitigation / planning efforts 
o Locate funding opportunities and improve response times  
o Work with County Businesses to develop a Disaster Resistant Business Program 
o Develop a comprehensive public education program on the dangers of carbon monoxide during 

extended power outages 
o Develop and begin to implement a systematic process to evaluate and upgrade aging 

infrastructure 
o Alerts/mailings for emergency notification signups and update, family evacuation plans, home 

inventories 
o Countywide community educational programs and events for evacuation planning and 

emergency notification signups 
o Maintain a safe road system within funding limits and including access provided for emergency 

vehicles where feasible 
o Maintain County-wide Zoning and Subdivision Regulations which should include reference to the 

Hazard Management Plan 
o Develop and maintain Site Design Standards (including hazards mitigation) for Commercial and 

Industrial Developments 
o Develop and maintain Site Design Standards (including hazards mitigation) for Residential 

Developments 
o Maintain and update the countywide Multi-Hazard Mitigation Plan as development occurs 
o Form and convene the Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Planning Committee 
o Improve communication and coordination of mitigation activities between federal, state, and 

local governments and with private and non-profit organization 
o Improve education and awareness of hazards and risk reduction measures 
o Educate property owners on insurance availability and type 
o Ensure community members understand their responsibility in preparedness and response 
o Plan for and exercise communication coordination across multiple agencies and jurisdictions 
o Conduct a study to evaluate populations that need additional assistance in terms of hazard 

mitigation, preparation, evacuation, recovery 
o Create clear and concise maps in digital and print forms and make them available to public 
o Continue to update and improve the Geographic Information System (GIS) and provide such 

information to local, state, and federal agencies as determined. 
o Include the installation of critical facility generators for FEMA Hazard Mitigation Grant Program 

projects 
o Identify other potential local hazard mitigation funding sources 
o Hire a grant writer/manager 
o Identify buildings with the potential for sheltering and obtain agreements for use 
o Utilize local subject matter experts to plan for power redundancy and equipment as needed 
o Develop a hazard events database for documenting damaging events for inclusion into future 

HMP updates 
o Develop a Master Generator Plan for the county 

• Dam / Levee Incident 
o Assess and repair flood control dams 



Mitigation Strategy Action Ideas 

Page 3 of 7 

 

  

 

o Communicate with levee and dam owners to assess conditions 
o Work with local conservation districts to obtain funding for monitoring and maintenance of 

dams which may be in need of repairs 
o Work with State Engineer and dams owners to better understand and stay informed of the rules 

and regulations for reporting to Dam Safety 
o Educate public on flood control dam structures, easements, and impacts of new development in 

dam inundation areas 
o Develop a Dam/Levee Public Education and Evacuation Plan for targeted areas of the 

community 
o Develop an outreach program aimed at identifying and assisting private dam owners with 

repairing or decommissioning at-risk dams. 
o Work with operators to ensure common response operations planning 
o Form task force to improve coordination with conservation districts, assess condition of dams, 

and identify funding sources for repair and maintenance 
o Study and implement levee improvement program for Kiowa levee 

• Drought 
o Community outreach and awareness about water usage, especially new county residents 
o Address sprinkler systems (home and landscaping overuse with developers 
o Increase water storage 
o Install new water lines for cleaner town water 
o Require HOAs to allow windmills or solar backup for well pumps 
o The county should consider the requirement of development plans to include water 

conservation measures which prolong water supplies and the economic life of aquifers. 
o The county should encourage the extension of centralized water resources to rural subdivisions 

and other development 
o Identify and implement water line replacement projects 
o Identify and implement water delivery system improvements 
o Develop education and incentives program to encourage water savings measures by citizens 
o Drought restriction plans for municipal utilities & wells 
o Enforcement of rules/laws concerning residential wells to prevent all water usage for hot tubs, 

gardens, greenhouses, etc. 
o Build a water treatment facility 
o Invest in an atmospheric water generator, which pulls moisture from the air to collect water 
o Implementing gray water / home treatment measures to mitigate drought 
o Develop a public education on drought resistance 
o Identify alternative water supplies for time of drought. Mutual aid agreements with alternative 

suppliers 
o Consider providing incentives to property owners that utilize drought resistant landscapes in the 

design of their homes 
o Develop standards that require drought resistant landscapes on county and community owned 

facilities 
o Implement stormwater retention in regions ideally suited for groundwater recharges. 



Mitigation Strategy Action Ideas 

Page 4 of 7 

 

  

 

o Develop a residential and local business program to modify plumbing systems - i.e., water saving 
kits 

o Aquifer monitoring and potential recharge 
• Earthquake 

o Incorporate earthquakes in the Office of Emergency Management public outreach strategy 
o Work with Colorado Geological to continue the study and analyze earthquakes related to 

appropriate levels of seismic safety in building codes and practices 
o Further enhance seismic risk assessment to target high hazard buildings for mitigation 

opportunities 
o Develop a post disaster action plan that includes grant funding and debris removal components 

• Extreme Heat 
o Review the safety of playground materials 
o Educate county residents on heat exposure symptoms and best practices 
o Plan for a cooling center in the case of residents needing respite from extreme heat 

• Flood 
o Repair county roads and bridges, improve infrastructure for resilience to flooding 
o Assess impacts of bridge washout over the creek at 86 and 166, simultaneously 
o Re-slope drainage ditches; repair, replace, and clean culverts 
o Mitigation actions for areas damaged by fires, erosion control 
o Improved storm water drainage for communities 
o The county should develop a county-wide drainage/erosion mitigation plan — coordinating 

objectives of various agencies to reduce future flood damage 
o Deliver a “refresher” NFIP workshop to community leaders and elected officials 
o Form a Stormwater Utility District for funding Stormwater projects 
o Provide maintenance and improvements to existing drainage channels and other pertinent 

storm drainage conveyances 
o Implement flood containment structures, require designs/engineering to reduce flood risk 
o Continued road maintenance for improved evacuation routes 
o Education and assistance in homeowner responsibility to maintain ditches 
o Coordinate with Transportation to complete flood improvement projects for transportation 

routes 
o Complete bridge improvements, assist Transportation 
o Complete road paving projects, support efforts for Transportation 
o Consider establishing an administrative procedure or change in County/City codes for requiring 

builders to develop a site drainage plan ensuring “no adverse impact” when they apply for 
permits for new residential construction 

o Complete GIS and other automated inventories for stormwater, problem drainage areas, DFIRM 
and other assets 

o Explore & articulate value for gauge placements and option to recommend placements for 
gauges 

o Improve coordination between Community Development, Building, and Road and Bridge 
departments related to the National Flood Insurance Program(NFIP) 

o Identify and implement flood mitigation actions for Kiowa schools 



Mitigation Strategy Action Ideas 

Page 5 of 7 

 

  

 

• Hazardous Materials Release 
o Public education on hazardous materials and shelter-in-place procedures 
o Coordinate with responding agencies to ensure responder’s capabilities are sufficient for safety, 

training, and equipment 
• Public Health Hazards 

o Improve resources for public health department for information availability and presence 
o Improve ability to test large amounts of the population with timely results 
o Improve ability to contact trace those with confirmed cases of the disease 
o Provide education and outreach to the community to improve compliance with public health 

orders 
o Monitor air pollution during fires 
o Monitor water quality, especially if aquifers reach extreme lows 

• Severe Weather 
o Improve storm water drainage 
o Prepare roads by grading and ditching to minimize road washout 
o Build storm shelters 
o Adopt a storm ordinance 
o Pursue StormReady designation 
o Identify and prioritize locations for stormwater drainage system improvements. Devise an 

implementation plan for identified stormwater projects 
o Install Lightning Warning & Alert Systems in public recreation areas 
o Install lightning rods on public structures 

• Severe Winter Weather 
o Improve emergency storm management 
o Improve winter road maintenance 
o Removal / trimming of trees in rights of way 

 Address county and town responsibility in trimming and removing trees that present a 
risk to community members and private property. 

 Zoning and planning to enforce mitigation of tree maintenance 
o Education about not using heaters inside 
o Develop a winter storm response plan that encompasses sheltering procedures, 

access/functional needs prioritization, and organized multi-agency response 
• Tornado 

o Removal / trimming of trees 
 County and town responsibility in trimming and removing trees that present a risk to 

community members and property 
o Develop a SafeRoom plan for county/community facilities 
o Individual SafeRoom rebate program 
o Develop a program which encourages residents to trim or remove trees that could affect power 

lines 
o Develop a program which encourages residents to obtain a NOAA weather radio 
o Secure emergency generators (or alternative power sources) for all critical and vital facilities 
o Develop a program which encourages residents to be prepared including generators, 72-hour 

self-sufficiency kits, NOAA radios, etc. 



Mitigation Strategy Action Ideas 

Page 6 of 7 

o Establish and enforce building codes that require all roofs to withstand high wind loads
o Modify land use and environmental regulations to support vegetation management activities

that improve reliability in utility corridors
o Modify landscape and other ordinances to encourage appropriate planting near overhead

power, cable, and phone lines
o Build a tornado shelter
o Plan and upgrade the existing tornado public warning system

• Wildfire
o Establish fuel breaks along county roads by removing excess fuels in the right of way, especially

heavy traffic roads that are ingress/egress for high density residential areas
o Free slash disposal or chipping services for property owners completing mitigation
o Provide and support low-cost or free options for property owners to complete fire mitigation
o Provide tax relief incentives to landowners completing wildfire mitigation activities
o Address need for dead tree pile disposal, no burn policy is creating dangerous situation
o Fire risk assessment and mitigation on all forested areas around Elizabeth and the county
o Complete fuel thinning in the forest to reduce fire risk
o Community education around wildfire and mitigation, including Firewise
o Establish a countywide Wildfire Council educate on and implement mitigation measures, apply

for grant opportunities
o Consideration of WUI codes by the planning commission, potentially update building codes
o Complete assessments on majority of properties within county during HMP planning period
o Use large goat herds to assist in mitigation by reducing fuels
o Require fire mitigation from all property owners
o Community sheltering plan in the case of large fires
o As development occurs, the county and developers should cooperate in providing funding to

update existing facilities and construct additional fire protection facilities – especially in rural
areas where fire equipment and protection may not be readily available.

o Bury powerlines
o Landscape public areas with Firewise plants and educate community on the principles
o Educate elected officials and the public on continued need for improved water supplies
o Review operating plans to determine annual project needs, apply for grant funding as available
o Provide owners with information on the use and benefits of fire-resistant construction materials
o Assist homeowners with installing approved, reflective address signs at driveway entrance
o Educate owners on composition and benefits of a healthy forest and actions to maintain it
o Seek funding to purchase equipment to assist with fuel reduction and maintain efforts
o Install emergency evacuation road signage, including dead end identification
o Collaborate with community officials to improve county owned subdivision roads, with

emphasis on widening to NFPA standards and removal of obstructive vegetation
o Support community in obtaining funding for the installation of engineered National Fire

Protection Association (NFPA) compliant emergency dry barrel fire use cisterns
o Post maps in accessible locations to “paint the picture” of wildfire risk and demonstrate

successes to partners and citizens – include past and planned mitigation projects
o Create and train a Subject Matter Experts group on the CWPP to educate the community
o Identify and engage community leaders or “champions” to increase capacity and mitigation



Mitigation Strategy Action Ideas 

Page 7 of 7 

 

  

 

o Train individuals to conduct Home Ignition Zone assessments and provide education 
o Engage community members beyond media messaging about risk, such as events 
o Offer incentives such as cost-share funds, free home risk assessment, on-site advice 
o Coordinate with neighborhoods and communities to identify individual preparation steps, fuel 

reduction, emergency access and egress, evacuation plans and safe zones 
o Promote community preparedness, not only defensible space 
o Utilize chipper rental programs or request programs 
o Encourage consistent address signage and driveway access for emergency services and wildfire 

protection 
o Develop wildland urban interface GIS data and maps 
o Develop zoning updates and outreach for defensible space 
o Develop a Wildland Urban Interface (WUI) code and standards 
o Complete an updated countywide CWPP coordinated with the 5-year HMP update 
o Potential for utilizing existing water sources to support ponds/water sources for wildfire 

suppression – dip sites.  
o Utilize building codes / fire-specific codes - Defensible space  
o Establish air quality monitoring program 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

HMPC Roster   310 310 

10  HAZARD MITIGATION PLANNING COMMITTEE ROSTER 
This HMPC Roster includes all invitees. Participants in the planning process are identified using (*). 

Name Title Organization 

Aaron Craigie Deputy Fire Chief Rattlesnake FPD 

Bart Greer * Contracting Elbert County 

BOCC * Commissioners Elbert County 

Bryant McCall Emergency Manager Washington County 

Byron McDaniel  Volunteer Elbert County 

Cass Kilduff * Chief Rattlesnake FPD  

Chris Richardson Chair, BOCC Elbert County 

Dave Fisher * Undersheriff Elbert County 

Debrah Schnackenberg Emergency Manager Douglas County 

Dwayne Smith * Director of Public Health Elbert County 

Emily Palmer * Hazard Mitigation Planning Specialist State DHSEM 

Gerry Lamansky * Chief Kiowa FPD 

Greg Thompson * Director of Community Development 
Services Elbert County 

Homer Boys * Chief Elbert FPD 

Irene Merrifield * Mitigation Planning Lead State DHSEM 

Janet Maloney   Kiowa Conservation District 

Jerrel Rector Deputy Chief Agate Fire District 

Jimmy Hauschildt * Chief Big Sandy Fire District 

Kara Gerczynski * Fire Marshall Elizabeth FPD 

Kay Osborn * Fire Chief North Central FPD 

Kelli Loflin Superintendent Elbert School District 

Ken Stroud Emergency Manager Lincoln County 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

HMPC Roster   311 311 

Kim Boyd * Town Administrator Town of Kiowa 

Kim Nelson * Volunteer Elbert County 

Larry Rector * Chief Agate Fire District 

Lloyd Standard Deputy Chief Rattlesnake FPD 

Lonnie Inzer Emergency Manager El Paso County 

Mark Thompson SHMO State DHSEM 

Melvin Berghahn * Chief of Police Town of Elizabeth 

Mike Newton * Director Safety & Emergency Planning Elizabeth School District & 
ECSSG 

Nathan Fogg Emergency Manager Arapahoe County 

Nick Carnesi Training Battalion Chief Elizabeth FPD 

Patrick Davidson * Town Administrator Town of Elizabeth 

Rachel Turner North Central District Manager CO State Land Board 

Rick Pettitt* Commissioner Elbert County 

Rory Hale * Director of Public Works Elbert County 

Sean Mackall * EMS Battalion Chief Elizabeth FPD 

Shane Pynes * Emergency Manager Elbert County 

Spencer Weston * Franktown Field Office Supervisor CSFS 

Steve Wilson * Superintendent Big Sandy School District 

Tim Johnson Emergency Manager Douglas County 

Tim Norton * Sheriff Elbert County 

TJ Steck * Chief Elizabeth FPD 

Tony Schiefelbein Chief Simla PD 

Travis Hargreaves Superintendent Kiowa Schools 

Trish Kruse * County Administrator / PIO Elbert County 

William Dallas * Superintendent Elizabeth School District 

Zane Card  Deputy Chief North Central FPD 

 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Meetings, Agendas, Invites, and Participants   312 312 

11  MEETING AGENDAS, INVITES, AND PARTICIPANTS 
 

 

 

 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 
2022 Update 

QUESTIONS, COMMENTS, CONCERNS? – 

CONTACT PROJECT MANAGER MICHAEL GARNER AT ANY POINT THROUGHOUT THE PLANNING PROCESS:
303.710.9498|MGARNER@SYNERGY-DR.COM 

HMP Kickoff Webinar 

Thursday, May 26, 2022 / 10-11:30 AM  
Join on your computer or smart phone: click here to join the meeting 
Or call in (audio only): 1.720.928.9299 / ID: 895 5419 3387 / Passcode: 872481 

Agenda: 

1. Hazard Mitigation Overview
2. Project Scope & Schedule
3. Roles & Responsibilities
4. Public Involvement Strategy
5. 2017 HMP Input
6. Recent Community Planning
7. Hazards to Profile
8. Recent Hazard Events
9. Lifelines
10. Mitigation Strategy
11. Mitigation Grant Funding
12. Next Steps
13. Mitigation Resources

Hazard Mitigation Planning Committee (HMPC) Post-Meeting Requests: 

• Best Available Hazard Data & Reports
• Recent Community Plans
• HMPC Roster Additions
• Help to Share Public Engagement Content
• 2017 Mitigation Action Reporting

https://us06web.zoom.us/j/89554193387?pwd=MGUwb1BocExJR3RYYXBLMVZ1RE9TZz09
https://us06web.zoom.us/j/89554193387?pwd=MGUwb1BocExJR3RYYXBLMVZ1RE9TZz09


1

Mike Garner

Subject: Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Kick Off
Location: https://us06web.zoom.us/j/89554193387?pwd=MGUwb1BocExJR3RYYXBLMVZ1RE9TZz09

Start: Thu 5/26/2022 10:00 AM
End: Thu 5/26/2022 11:30 AM

Recurrence: (none)

Meeting Status: Accepted

Organizer: Shane Pynes
Required Attendees:Shane Pynes; Mike Garner; Sam Albrecht; Trish Kruse
Optional Attendees:BOCC; Patrick Davidson; Kim Boyd; Fire Chiefs - Elbert CO; Elbert Law Enforcement; Douglas 

Bissonette; Volunteers; Mike Newton; Kelli Loflin; Silvia McNeely; Steve Wilson; 
town_simla@fairpoint.net; Rory Hale; Dwayne Smith; Greg Thompson; Dave Fisher; 
john.hogan@ncfpd.us; Melvin Berghahn; Kara Gerczysnki; Kim Nelson; TJ Steck; Jeff Brown

Categories: Elbert

Update: 

Please see the attached Kickoff Agenda. 

Good afternoon, 

Please join us for an overview of Elbert County’s hazard mitigation assessment and planning.  This will kick off the multi‐
month process for renewing the Elbert County 2016 Hazard Mitigation Plan by including stakeholders’ experiences and 
expertise on a myriad of hazard and risk related matters for the county.   

Regards, 

Shane Pynes 

Director  

Office of Emergency Management 

Elbert County 

Elbert County OEM is inviting you to a scheduled Zoom meeting.  

Join Zoom Meeting  
https://us06web.zoom.us/j/89554193387?pwd=MGUwb1BocExJR3RYYXBLMVZ1RE9TZz09  

Meeting ID: 895 5419 3387  
Passcode: 872481  



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Kickoff Meeting 5/26/22 

Chat Log and Call Attendance 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 
2023 Update 
 

 

QUESTIONS, COMMENTS, CONCERNS? – 

CONTACT PROJECT MANAGER MICHAEL GARNER AT ANY POINT THROUGHOUT THE PLANNING PROCESS:  
303.710.9498|MGARNER@SYNERGY-DR.COM 

 
HMP Risk Assessment Workshop 

Tuesday August 16, 2022 / 10-11:30 AM  
Commissioner’s Board Room (top floor) 
215 Comanche St., Kiowa, CO 80117 

Agenda: 

1. Project Overview & Updates 
2. Public Involvement Strategy 
3. Risk Assessment Summary 
4. Mitigation Strategy 
5. Community Wildfire Protection Plan 
6. Mitigation Grant Funding 
7. Mitigation Resources 
8. Next Steps 

Hazard Mitigation Planning Committee (HMPC) Post-Meeting Requests: 

• Hazard Ranking Survey (for Plan Adoptees) 
• Review Draft Risk Assessment Chapter 
• In-kind Tracking 
• Hazard / Disaster / Mitigation Photos 
• Remaining 2017 Mitigation Action Reporting (for Plan Adoptees) 
• Remaining Mitigation Capability Assessments (for Plan Adoptees) 

 



1

Mike Garner

Subject: Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan - Risk Assessment Workshop
Location: 215 Comanche St., Kiowa, CO 80117 (Commissioner's Board Room - top floor)

Start: Tue 8/16/2022 10:00 AM
End: Tue 8/16/2022 11:30 AM

Recurrence: (none)

Meeting Status: Meeting organizer

Organizer: Mike Garner
Required Attendees:aaron.craigie@rsfpd.org; BOCC@elbertcounty-co.gov; Byron.McDaniel@elbertcounty-co.gov; chief_

253@rattlesnakefirerescue.com; chief_52@rattlesnakefirerescue.com; Dave.Fisher@elbertcounty-
co.gov; dbissonette@esdk12.org; Dwayne.Smith@elbertcounty-co.gov; emily.palmer@state.co.us; 
g.lamansky@kiowafire.com; Greg.Thompson@elbertcounty-co.gov; homer.boys@yahoo.com;
irene.merrifield@state.co.us; jimjrhaus@gmail.com; jkrector@amtca.net; kara@elizabethfire.org;
kay.osborn@ncfpd.us; kboyd@townofkiowa.com; Kim.Nelson@elbertcounty-co.gov;
kiowacd@gmail.com; kloflin@elbertschool.org; lincolncountyoem@gmail.com;
lonnieinzer@elpasoco.com; Lrector@amtca.net; markw.thompson@state.co.us;
mberghahn@townofelizabeth.org; mnewton@esdk12.org; n.carnesi@elizabethfire.org;
NFogg@arapahoegov.com; oem@co.washington.co.us; pdavidson@townofelizabeth.org;
Rick.Pettitt@elbertcounty-co.gov; Rory.Hale@elbertcounty-co.gov; s.mackall@elizabethfire.org;
Shane.Pynes@elbertcounty-co.gov; swilson@bigsandy100j.org; thargreaves@kiowaschool.org;
Tim.Norton@elbertcounty-co.gov; tjs@elizabethfire.org; tmjohnso@dcsheriff.net;
tony@townofsimla.com; town_simla@fairpoint.net; Trish.Kruse@elbertcounty-co.gov;
zane.card@ncfpd.us; Caitlin Langmead; Weston,Spencer

Optional Attendees:Debrah Schnackenberg; Chris Richardson

Categories: Elbert

Update: Our agenda for next week’s workshop is attached. Please note this will be an in‐person meeting. All local 
governments planning to adopt the updated HMP are strongly encouraged to attend. 

Hello, 
Please join us in‐person for our second Hazard Mitigation Planning Committee meeting.  

The main agenda items will be a thorough review of our recently conducted risk assessment, in addition to continued 
discussion relating to the plan’s updated mitigation strategy. 

Full agenda to be posted in the future. 

Thanks, 
mike 



R
isk

 A
s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n

t W
o

rk
s
h

o
p

 -
8

/1
6

/2
0

2
2

 

N
am

e 
Title 

O
rganization 

E
m

a
il 

P
resen

t 

A
aron Craigie 

Bart G
reer 

B
O

C
C

 
B

ryant M
cC

all 
Byron M

cD
aniel 

Cass Kilduff 
D

ave Fishher 
D

ebrah Schnackenberg 
D

w
ayne Smith 

Em
ily Palm

er 
G

erry 
Lam

ansky 

D
eputy Fire Chief 

C
ontracting 

Com
m

issioners 
Em

ergency M
anager 

V
olunteer 

C
hief 

U
ndersheriff 

Em
ergency M

anager 
D

irecto
r of Public H

ealth 

H
atad iheuhtan Manung Spevalo State DHSEM 

C
hief 

D
irector of C

om
m

unity D
ev

elo
p

m
en

t 

|Services 
C

hief 

R
attlesnake FPD 

Elbert County 
Elbert County 
W

ashington 
County 

Elbert County 
Rattlesnake FPD 
Elbert County 
D

ouglas County 
Elbert County_ 

aaron.craigie@
rsfpd.org 

BO
CC@

elbertcounty-co.gov 
oem

@
co.w

ashington.co.us 
Byron.M

c 
D

aniel@
elbertcounty-co.gov 

chief 52@
ratlesnakefireresC

ue.com
 

D
ave.Fisher@

elbertcounty-co.gov 
dschnacken@

dcsheriit.net 
D

w
ayne. Sm

ith@
elbertcounty-co.gov 

em
ily.palm

er@
state.co.us 

g.lam
ansky@

kiow
afire.com

 
K

iow
a FPD 

|6T 
G

reg Thom
pson 

Elbert County 
G

reg.Thom
pson@

elbertcounty-co.gov 
H

om
er Boys 

Irene M
errifield 

Jerrel Rector 

Elbert FPD 
hom

er.boys@
yahoo.com

 
rene.m

erifield@
state.co.us 

krector@
am

tca.net 
im

ihaus@
gm

ail.com
 

Jim
m

y H
 

K
ara Gerczynski 

K
ay O

sbon 
K

eli Lofilin 
K

en Stroud 
K

im
 Boyd 

Kim
 N

elson 
Lary Rector 
Lloyd Standard 
Lonnie Inzer 
M

ark Thom
pson 

M
elvin B

erghahn 

hezLA
LA

aPLA
N

D
LK

 State DHSEM 
D

eputy C
hief 

C
hief 

Fire M
arshal 

F
ire C

hief 

Superintendent 
Em

ergency M
anager 

Tow
n A

dm
inistrator 

V
olunteer 

C
hief 

D
eputy 

Chief 
E

m
ergency M

anager 
SH

M
O

 
C

hief of P
olice 

D
irector Safety &

 E
m

ergency 

Planning 
Em

ergency M
anager 

Training Battalion Chief 
Town Adm

inistrator 
North C

entral District M
anager 

Com
m

issioner 
D

irector of Public W
orks 

EM
S B

attalion C
hief 

A
gate Fire District 

B
ig Sandy Fire District 

Elizabeth FPD 
N

orth C
entral FPD 

Elbert School District 
Lincoin County 
Tow

n of Kiowa 
Elbert County 
A

gate Fire District 
Rattlesnake FPD 
E

l Paso County 
State DHSEM 
Tow

n of Elizabeth 

kara@
elizabethfire.org 

kay.osbon@
ncfpd.us 

kloflin@
elbertschool.org 

Y
A

 
kboyd@

townofkiowa.com
 

K
im

.N
elson@

elbertcounty-CO
.gov 

Lrector@
am

tca.nel 
chiet 253@

ratlesnakefirerescue.com
 

lonnieinzer@
elpasoco.com

 
m

arkw
.thom

pson@
state.co.us 

m
berghahn@

tow
nofelizabeth.org 

M
ike N

ew
ton 

Elizabeth S
ch

o
o

l D
istrict &

 E
C

SSG
 

m
new

ton@
esdk 12.org 

N
athan Fogg 

Nick Carnesi 
Patrick Davidson 
R

achel Turner 
Rick Petitt 
Rory Hale 
S

ean
 M

ackall 

A
rapahoe County 

Elizabeth FPD 
Tow

n of Elizabeth 
C

O
 State Land Board 

Elbert County 
Elbert C

ounty 
E

lizabeth FPD 

N
Fogg@

argpahoego.com
 

n.carnesi@
elizabethfire.org 

pdavidson@
tow

nofelizabeth.org 
achel.turner@

state.co.us 
Rick.Pettitt@

elbertcounty co.gov 
Rory.Halegelbertcounty co.gov 
s.m

ackallgelizabethfire.org 

X
 

E
lb

ert C
ounty H

azard
 M

itigation P
lan

 U
pdate 



R
isk A

ssessm
ent W

orkshop 
8/16/2022 

N
am

e 
T

itle 
O

rganization 
E

m
ail 

P
resen

t 

S
hone Pynes 

Spencer W
eston 

Steve W
ilson 

Tim
 Johnson 

Tim
 N

orton 
TJ Steck 
Tony Schiefelbein 
Travis H

argreaves 
Trish Krusee 
W

illiam 
D

allas 
Z

ane C
ard 

CN
A

 
N

, ¢R
R

S 
Melvin 

G
erkonE

l2heih olie Chief_ 

Em
ergency M

anager 
|Franktow

n Field O
ffice Supervisor 

|Superintendent 
Em

ergency M
anager 

Sheriff 
C

hief 
C

hief 
Superintendent 
C

ounty A
dm

inistrator / PIO 
Superintendent 
D

eputy C
hief 

Elbert County 
CSFS 
B

ig Sandy School District 
D

ouglas County 
|Elbert County 
Elizabeth FPD 
Sim

la PD 
K

iow
a Schools 

Elbert County 
Elizabeth School District 
North C

entral FPD 

Shane.Pynes@
elbertcounty-co.gov 

Spencer w
eston@

colostate.edu 
swilson@

bigsandy100j.org 

Tim
.N

orton@
elbertcounty-co.gov 

tis@
elizabethfire.org 

fony@
tow

nofsim
ia.com

 
thargreaves@

kiow
aschool.org9 

Trish.K
ruse@

ebertcounty-co.gov 
bdallas@

@
esdk12.org 

Z
ane.card@

nctpd.us 

E
L

n
eih

 
Yolkre 

ek
h

h
n

a 
ounc&

et 
co, g 

E
lb

ert C
ounty H

azard
 M

itigation P
lan

 U
pdate 



Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 
2023 Update 
 

 

QUESTIONS, COMMENTS, CONCERNS? – 

CONTACT PROJECT MANAGER MICHAEL GARNER AT ANY POINT THROUGHOUT THE PLANNING PROCESS:  
303.710.9498|MGARNER@SYNERGY-DR.COM 

 
HMP Mitigation Strategy Workshop 

Tuesday October 25, 2022 / 10:30 AM -12:00 PM  
In-person (encouraged): 
Commissioner’s Board Room (top floor) 
215 Comanche St., Kiowa, CO 80117 
 
Virtual (via Zoom): 
https://us06web.zoom.us/j/8145016104?pwd=QVZRcFNtVGZjUTQxZktSY
nVZbmhUZz09  
Meeting ID: 814 501 6104 / Passcode: 291856 / Dial-In: 720.928.9299 

Agenda: 
1. Project Overview & Updates 
2. Local Government Participation 
3. Updated Hazard Risk & Vulnerability chapter 
4. Community Wildfire Protection Plan 
5. Plan Integration / Implementation 
6. Plan Maintenance / Continued Public Engagement 
7. Updated Mitigation Strategy 
8. Mitigation Grant Funding 
9. Mitigation Resources 
10. Next Steps 

Hazard Mitigation Planning Committee (HMPC) Post-Meeting Requests: 
 New 

o Comments on Draft Risk Assessment Chapter 
o New Mitigation Action Development (for Plan adoptees) 

 Outstanding (for some Plan adoptees) 
o Hazard Ranking Survey 
o 2017 Mitigation Action Reporting  
o Mitigation Capability Assessments 

 Ongoing - In-kind Tracking 

 

https://us06web.zoom.us/j/8145016104?pwd=QVZRcFNtVGZjUTQxZktSYnVZbmhUZz09
https://us06web.zoom.us/j/8145016104?pwd=QVZRcFNtVGZjUTQxZktSYnVZbmhUZz09


M
itigation Strategy W

orkshop 1
0

/2
5

/2
0

2
2

 

N
a
m

e
 

T
itle 

O
rganization 

E
m

ail 
P

resen
t 

R
attlesnake FPD 

Elbert County_ 
Elbert County 
|W

ashington County 
Elbert County 
R

attlesnake FPD 
Elbert County 
Elbert County 
Douglas County 
Elbert County 

aaron.craigie@
rsfpd.org 

D
e
p

u
ty

 Fire C
h

ief 

C
ontracting 

C
om

m
issioners 

Em
ergency M

anager 
V

olunteer 

A
aron 

C
raigie 

B
art G

reer 
BO

CC 
Bryant M

cCall 
Byron M

cD
aniel 

C
ass 

Kilduff 
C

hris R
ichardson 

D
ave Fisher 

D
ebrah Schnackenberg 

D
w

ayne Sm
ith 

BOCC@
elbertcounty-co.gov 

oem
@

co.w
ashington.co.us 

Byron.M
cDaniel@

elbertcounty-co.gov 
chief 52@

rattlesnakefirerescue.com
 

chris.richardson@
elbertcounty-co.goy 

D
ave.Fisher@

elbertcounty-c0.gov 
dschnacken@

dcsheriff.net_ 
D

w
ayne Sm

ith@
elbertcounty-co.gov 

C
hief 

C
hair, 

BO
CC 

U
ndersheriff 

Em
ergency M

anager 
D

irector of Public H
ealth 

E
m

ily Palm
er 

H
azard M

itigation Planning Specialist |S
tate DHSEM

 
em

ily.palm
er@

state.co.us 

G
ery Lam

ansky 
K

io
w

a FPD
 

g.lam
ansky@

kiow
afire.com

 
C

hief 
D

irector of Com
m

unity DevelopmenElbert C
ounty 

Services 
G

reg Thom
pson 

G
reg.T

hom
pson@

elbertcounty-co.go 

Elbert FPD 
S

tate D
H

SEM
 

K
io

w
a C

o
n

serv
atio

n
 D

istrict 

A
g

a
te

 Fire D
istrict 

B
ig Sandy Fire D

istrict 
Elizabeth FPD 
North 

Central FPD 
Elbert S

chool 
D

is
tric

t 

Lincoln County 
T

ow
n of K

iow
a 

Elbert County 
A

gate Fire District 
R

attlesnake FPD 
El Paso C

ounty 

S
tate DHSEM

 
Tow

n of Elizabeth 
Elizabeth School D

istrict &
 ECSSG 

m
new

ton@
esdk 12.org 

A
rapahoe County 

E
lizab

eth
 FPD

 

Tow
n of Elizabeth 

C
O

 State Land Board 
E

lbert County 

hom
er.bO

ys@
yaho0.com

 
irene.m

erifield@
state.co.us 

kiow
acd@

gm
ail.com

 
ikrector@

am
tca.net 

jim
irhaus@

gm
ail.com

 
kara@

elizabethfire.org 
kay.osborn@

ncipd.uS 
kloflin@

elbertschool.org 

C
hief 

H
om

er Boys 
Irene M

errifield 
Janet 
Jerrel R

ector 
Jim

m
y H

 
K

ara G
erczynski 

K
ay O

sborn 
Kelli Loflin 
K

en Stroud 
Kim

 Boyd 
K

im
 N

elson 
Larry Rector 
Lloyd S

tandard 
L

onnie Inzer 
M

ark Thom
pson 

M
elvin Berghahn 

M
ike N

ew
ton 

N
athan Fogg 

Nick Carnesi 
Patrick D

av
id

so
n

 

R
achel Turner 

R
ick P

ettitt 

M
itigotion Planning Lead 

M
aloney 

D
eputy 

Chief 
C

hief 
|Fire M

arshall 
Fire C

h
ief 

Superintendent 
E

m
ergency M

anager 
Tow

n A
dm

inistrator 
V

olunteer 
C

h
ief 

Deputy Chief 
E

m
ergency M

anager 

kboyd@
tow

nofkiow
a.com

 
K

im
.N

elson@
elbertcounty-co.gov 

Lrector@
am

tca.net 
chief 

253@
ratlesnakefireresC

ue.com
 

lonnieinzer@
elpasOCO.com

 
m

arkw
.thom

pson@
state.co.U

S 
m

berghahn@
tow

nofelizabeth.org 
SH

M
O

 

C
hief of Police 

Director Safety &
 EM Planning 

E
m

ergency M
anager 

|T
rain

in
g

 B
attalion C

hief 

Tow
n Adm

inistrator 
N

orth 
Central District M

anager 
C

om
m

issioner 

N
F

o
g

g
@

arap
ah

o
eg

o
v

.co
m

 

n.carnesi@
elizabethfire.org 

pdavidson@
tow

nofelizabeth.org 
rachel.furner@

state.co.us 
R

ick.Peititt@
elbertcounty-co.gov 

D
A

L
I 

E
lb

e
rt C

o
u

n
ty

 H
azard

 M
itig

atio
n

 P
lan

 U
p

d
a
te

 

x



M
itigation Strategy W

orkshop-
1

0
/2

5
/2

0
2

2
 

N
a
m

e
 

Title 
O

rganization 
E

m
ail 

P
resen

t 

Rory.H
ale@

elbertcounty-co.goy 
s.m

ackall@
elizabethfire.org 

Shane.Pynes@
elbertcounty-co.goy 

spencer.w
eston@

colostate.edu 
sw

ilson@
bigsandy 100j.org 

Rory Hale 
S

ean M
ackall 

Shane Pynes 
Spencer W

eston 
Steve W

ilson 
im

 Johnson 
Tim

 N
orton 

TJ Steck 
Tony Schiefelbein 
Travis H

argreaves 
Trish Kruse 
W

illiam D
allas 

Z
ane C

ard 

D
irector of Public W

orks 

EM
S Battalion Chief 

E
m

ergency M
anager 

Franktown Field O
ffice Supervisor 

Superintendent 
Em

ergency M
anager 

Sheriff 
C

hief 
C

hief 
Superintendent 

County 
Administrator / PIO 

Superintendent 
D

eputy 
Chief 

Elbert County 
Elizabeth FP

D
 

Elbert 
C

o
u

n
ty

 
CSFS 

B
ig Sandy School D

istrict 
D

ouglas 
C

ounty 
E

lbert C
ounty 

Elizabeth FPD 
Sim

la PD 
K

iow
a Schools 

Elbert County 
E

lizabeth 
School D

istrict 
N

orth C
entral FPD 

Lim
.N

orton@
elbertcounty-co.gov 

tis@
elizabethfire.orgg 

|tony@
tow

nofsim
la.com

 
thargreaves@

kiow
aschool.orgg 

Trish.Kruse@
elbertcounty-co.gov 

bdallas@
esdk12.org 

zane.card@
ncfpd.us 

O
L

IE
 

E
lb

e
rt C

ounty H
a
z
a
rd

 M
itigation P

lan
 U

pdate 





Elbert County Hazard Mitigation Plan 

FEMA Approval and Local Government Adoptions   324 324 

12  FEMA APPROVAL AND LOCAL GOVERNMENT 
ADOPTIONS 



{ "type": "Form", "isBackSide": false }


{ "type": "Form", "isBackSide": false }


{ "type": "Form", "isBackSide": false }


{ "type": "Document", "isBackSide": false }

